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Die Einwohnerschaft in Bergreichenstein
zur Zeit des Dreißigjährigen Krieges

Jan Kilián

Department of History, Faculty of Education
University of West Bohemia in Pilsen

Veleslavínova 42, 301 00 Plzeň
Czech Republic

jkilian@khi.zcu.cz

Bisher hat die Geschichte der Bergstadt im Böhmerwald – Bergreichen-
stein kein wesentlicheres Interesse der einheimischen Historiografie er-
weckt, mit Ausnahme von etlichen kunsthistorischen Studien, die im
Zusammenhang mit den hiesigen beachtenswerten Kunstaufträgen an
der Wende des 15. und 16. Jahrhunderts1 stehen. Eine tatsächlich er-
schöpfende oder zumindest übersichtliche Bearbeitung der Geschichte
der Stadt fehlt immer noch,2 wobei es große Desiderate im Zeitalter
1 Besonders: J. ROYT, Příspěvek k ikonografii archy z kostela Panny Marie Sněžné

v Kašperských Horách, in: Vlastivědné zprávy Muzea Šumavy, 3, 1995, S. 33–55; P.
KOVÁČ, Ikonografie pozdně gotického oltáře Madonny Ochranitelky v Kašper-
ských Horách, in: Vlastivědné zprávy Muzea Šumavy, 3, 1995, S. 56–65 oder Z. PLÁT-
KOVÁ, Nástěnné malby v kostele sv. Mikuláše v Kašperských Horách, in: Sborník
vlastivědných prací o Šumavě, Kašperské Hory 1980, S. 99–108.

2 Veraltete Arbeiten E. PANNI, Die königliche freie Goldbergstadt Bergreichenstein und
die ehemalige königliche Burg Karlsberg, Bergreichenstein 1875 und V. HORPENIAK
a kol., Kašperské Hory a okolí. Příroda, historie, památky, místopis, kultura, Plzeň 1990
können die moderne Literatur nicht ersetzen.
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der Frühneuzeit gibt, obgleich den Forschern im Rahmen des archi-
valischen Fonds besonders außerordentliches Aktenmaterial zur Ver-
fügung steht. Dagegen verursacht vor allem die Absenz von Literatur
(u. a. von mehreren speziellen Stadtbüchern) eine Akomplexität mög-
licher Abhandlungen. Was ebenfalls für die demographische Entwick-
lung der Stadt in der Zeit des Dreißigjährigen Krieges zutreffend ist
– Gegenstand der folgenden Zeilen –, denn zur Verfügung steht nur
ein einziges, überdies lückenhaftes Geburtenregister von 1627 bis 1634.
Einen großen und allseitigen Aufschwung verzeichnet das Gebiet
Bergreichensteins schon im Mittelalter, der in Verbindung mit der in-
tensiven Goldförderung stand, in der Zeit vor der Schlacht am Weißen
Berg begann ihr allmählicher Verfall und wurde durch alternativen Un-
terhaltserwerb ersetzt, hauptsächlich durch den Handel mit Salz, be-
ziehungsweise anderen Handelswaren (Glas, Holz, Vieh). Die Stadt,
nie mit steinernen Wehrmauern umgeben, kaufte allmählich zu Lasten
der Herrschaft der Burg Karlsberg die Mehrheit ihrer Besitzungen und
im Jahre 1617 auch die Burg selbst ab.3 Der Preis für die Entstehung des
kontinuierlichen Landbesitzes mit eigener Regieherstellung war eine
relativ hohe Schuldenlast, die aber bei weitem nicht unerträglich sein
musste, wäre nicht kurz darauf der Dreißigjährige Krieg ausgebrochen,
und zwar mit allen seinen Konsequenzen. Schon zuvor hatten die Berg-
reichensteiner die Rechte einer königlichen Bergstadt erworben und
das Rathaus und eine kompetente Stadtverwaltung errichtet.

Erste genaue Angaben zur Anzahl der Einwohnerschaft in Bergrei-
chenstein wurden im Jahre 1713 datiert, als in der Stadt 850 Einzel-
personen lebten.4 Das ist wirklich nicht viel, aber in dieser Zeit kam
es bereits zu einem markanten demographischen Regress im Zusam-
menhang mit dem Rückgang des Bergbaus, wobei sich die Situation
tiefgreifend erst ein Jahrhundert später verbessern sollte.5 Mindestens
bis Mitte des 17. Jahrhunderts war der Ort hinsichtlich seiner Popula-
3 Dazu besonders J. LHOTÁK, Hrad Kašperk a jeho panství, in: Castellologica bohe-

mica, 11, 2008, S. 325–352.
4 K. KUČA, Města a městečka v Čechách, na Moravě a ve Slezsku II, Praha 1997, S. 842.
5 Im Jahre 1843 wurden in Bergreichenstein schon 2009 Einwohner gezählt. Ebenda.
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tion viel stärker und es ist zu bedauern, dass das Untertanenverzeich-
nis nach dem Glauben nicht erhalten blieb, das uns konkrete Angaben
zum hiesigen Stand nur einige Jahren nach Ende des Dreißigjährigen
Krieg bieten würde. Bergreichenstein hatte im Mittelalter wohl keinen
Mangel an Einwohnern, wenn es sich eine Truppe von 600 Männern
als militärische Hilfe für den König Johannes von Luxemburg erlauben
konnte und dabei den Bergbau nicht unterbrechen musste.6 Und wenn
hier Mitte des 16. Jahrhunderts 123 Bürger lebten, die das Braurecht
hatten,7 lässt sich annehmen, dass schon derzeit die Anzahl der hiesi-
gen Bewohner die Tausend überschritt, wenn nicht gar 2000. Nur zum
Vergleich: Der Goldrausch reihte sogar etwa in der gleichen Zeit die
erzgebirgische Stadt Joachimsthal zu den bevölkerungsstärksten Städ-
ten ein, und auch andere ähnliche Lokalitäten erblühten.

Welche konkreten Möglichkeiten gibt es also, die Bergreichenstei-
ner Bevölkerungsentwicklung in der Zeit des Dreißigjährigen Krieges
zu erkennen? Beiseite lassen können wir wohl verschiedene Steueran-
gaben mit der verzeichneten Anzahl Ansässiger quer durch die Kriegs-
jahre hindurch. Ihre Daten nämlich korrespondieren mit der ökonomi-
schen Stärke der Stadt, nicht mit der realen hier ansässigen Einwoh-
nerschaft. Um 1618 wurde von der Gemeinde für 60 hier Ansässige
gezahlt.8 Im Jahr 1629 führte sie Haussteuer für 64 hier Ansässige ab,9

nach den Peripetien der dreißiger Jahre handelte es sich 1637 nur um
4610 und nach anderen Schwierigkeiten mit dem feindlichem Einfall
6 Vgl. z. B. J. VOGELTANZ, Z dějin kašperskohorských ostrostřelců, in: Vlastivědný

sborník Muzea Šumavy, 7, 2011, S. 255.
7 PANNI, S. 31.
8 Státní okresní archiv (weiter nur SOkA) Klatovy, Archiv města (weiter nur AM)

Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1638, Karton N 16 – 25. Juni 1618 bestätigten die
höheren tschechischen Steuerzahler, dass sie von den Bewohner in der Stadt Berg-
reichenstein eine Sammlung empfingen aus der Gesamtanzahl 125 Ansässiger, wo
aber auch die Untertanen gezählt wurden.

9 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1640, Karton N 16 – Die höhe-
ren tschechischen Steuerzahler quittierten die Bergreichensteiner aus einer Haus-
steuer in der Zahl von 64 Ansässigen im November 1629.

10 Vgl. VOGELTANZ, S. 255.
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(1641) wurde im Jahr 1644 die Abführung auf 33 reduziert.11 Es ist
jedoch beinahe ausgeschlossen, dass diese wirtschaftlichen Schwan-
kungen direkt mit einer Entvölkerung der betreffenden Stadt zusam-
menhängen. Es existieren mehrere Beweise. Primär ist das erhaltene
Personenstandsregister mit den Einträgen über die Geburten in den
Jahren 1627–1634 vorhanden, obwohl viele Jahre davon lückenhafte
sind. Vollständig sind die Anmerkungen aus den Jahren 1631 und 1632,
wobei während des ersten Jahres in Bergreichenstein mindestens 9812

Kinder geboren wurde und während des zweiten Jahres 114 Kinder.13

Mit dem paradigmatisch empfangenem Index „40 Geborene/Jahr =
1000 Einwohner“ würde die Anzahl größer als 2500 Einwohner sein.
Obwohl es sich damals wahrscheinlich nicht um eine Periode nach ei-
ner Populationskatastrophe (zum Beispiel Pestepidemie) handelte, wo
die Natalität natürlich ansteigt, ist maximale Umsicht notwendig. Sol-
che Zahlen sind auf den ersten Blick zu hoch. Aber wenn auch andere
unvollständige Angaben aus dem Personenstandsregister berücksich-
tigt werden, besteht kein Zweifel, dass in Bergreichenstein Ende der
20er und Anfang der 30er Jahre des 17. Jahrhunderts gewiss mehr als
1200 Einwohner gelebt haben.14 Im Register aus dem Jahr 1642, nur ein
Jahr nach dem schwedischen Angriff, sind 120 Wirtschafter mit dem
völligen oder partiellen Braurecht eingetragen.15 In dieser Stadt wa-
ren zweifellos auch viele Haushalte kein Braurecht. In der Steuerrolle
(Berní rula) der ersten Hälfte der 50er Jahre des 17. Jahrhunderts wur-
11 PANNI, S. 31.
12 Neun Kinder sollte inzwischen der Abwesenheit von dem Pfarrer getauft wurden

und es ist nicht klar, wie viel daraus aus Bergreichenstein stammte.
13 Státní oblastní archiv (weiter SOA) Plzeň, Matriky, Kašperské Hory 01 (Narození

1627–1634).
14 Die Anzahl wurde nicht gesunken unter den 60 Angeborenen. SOA Plzeň, Mat-

riky, Kašperské Hory 01 (Narození 1627–1634).
15 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 450, Karton N 6 – Die Brauer-

ordnung der Stadt Bergreichenstein aus dem 15. Dezember 1642.
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den insgesamt 104 Wirtschafter vermerkt und kein (!) wüstes Haus.16

Hundert Jahre später waren hier schon 216 Häuser.17 Das alles scheint
davon zu zeugen, dass die Konsolidierung der Stadt, die noch wäh-
rend des Krieges verlief, vielleicht im Zusammenhang mit den schon
oben genannten militärischen Ersparungen in den 40er Jahren steht,
die mit den Investitionen in den Bergbau rechneten. Die Bevölkerungs-
zahl wurde durch den dreißigjährigen bewaffneten Konflikt in Bergrei-
chenstein jedenfalls nicht dezimiert. In dem folgenden Zeitraum blieb
die Anzahl der Einwohner gleichmäßig.

Etwas komplizierter scheint die Entscheidung bei der nationalen
(bzw. in der Frühneuzeit eher sprachlichen) Zusammensetzung des
Volkes der hiesigen Ansässigen zu sein. Der Autor des ersten Aufsat-
zes über die Bergreichensteiner Geschichte, Engelbert Panini, akzep-
tierte, dass bis zum Dreißigjährigen Krieg dieses Gebiet slawisch war,
bzw. tschechisch, und dass die Ortsdokumente auch hauptsächlich bis
zum Jahr 1630 auf Tschechisch geschrieben wurden. Die Lage und Ver-
bindung zu Bayern sollten aber bald zur Germanisierung beitragen.18

Nicht desto weniger ist eine solche Behauptung verallgemeinernd. Die
Grenzlage trug dazu bei, dass die Bergreichensteiner Einwohner von
Anfang an gemischt waren, tschechisch-deutsch, und mindestens vor
und während der Schlacht am Weißen Berg zum größeren Teil bilin-
gual. Es scheint auch, dass die tschechischen Einwohner leichter und
williger Deutsch lernten als umgekehrt. František Heidecker ließ für
sich bei der Kommunikation mit Ondřej Zmut seinen Bekannten Jiří
Raušer tschechisch sprechen, nur erleichterte er sich dann mit deut-
schen Schimpfwörtern, die aber Zmut sehr gut verstand.19 Zu entschei-
den, welche Familie zur Zeit des Dreißigjährigen Krieges in der Stadt
tschechisch war und welche deutsch, ist sehr schwer zu entscheiden.
16 A. HAAS (Hrsg.), Berní rula 28. Kraj Prácheňský II, Praha 1954, S. 921–924. Vgl.

KUČA, S. 842 und 847.
17 KUČA, S. 842.
18 PANNI, S. 13.
19 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5895, Karton N 55 – Ondřej

Zmut den bergreichensteiner Ratsmänner, undatiert (1621).
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Die Familiennamen allein müssen darüber nichts Näheres aussagen.
Zum Beispiel Zmut’s wurden auch als Schmiedt oder Schmuth20 ange-
führt, obwohl es sich ursprünglich um eine tschechische Familie han-
delte. Jakub Řezník wurde in einer Reihe von Dokumentationen Ja-
kob Fleischer, Pavel Ambrož wurde Paul Ambros genannt und wohl
am typischsten sind verschiedene Verstümmelungen des Namens Pa-
vel Křižan, woraus die hiesigen deutschen Pfarrer Paul Chrisian, Chri-
sten u. ä. machten.21 Deutlich lässt sich der Germanisierungsverlauf
bei der ursprünglich tschechischen Familie Tuček verfolgen, die sich
schließlich völlig verdeutschte und nach dem zweiten Weltkrieg aus
der Stadt abgeschoben wurde. Neben den schon genannten Heideckers
können auch Oelbecks (umgekehrt tschechisch Elpekové), Millers oder
die während des Krieges neu hinzugekommenen Höflings für Deut-
sche gehalten werden. Zweifelsohne fand das Deutsche im Laufe der
Zeit viel praktischere Verwendung – Deutsch sprachen und schrieben
Pfarrer, neue Obrigkeiten aus der Nachbarschaft, Ämter und kaiser-
liche Offiziere. Noch in den 20er Jahren des 17. Jahrhunderts korre-
spondierten die meisten umliegenden Städte, außer der Stadt Wallern,
mit Bergreichenstein auf Tschechisch, seit den 30er Jahren wurde aber
mehr Deutsch verwendet (ganz deutlich u. a. im Fall der Stadt Vim-
perk), obwohl die tschechische Sprache nicht verschwand. Verschwin-
den konnte sie jedoch aus der Schule in Bergreichenstein, deren Ver-
treter mit den Ratsherren deutsch korrespondierten. Nicht einfach ist
auch die Schilderung einer anderen demographischen Problematik,
und zwar die Migration der Bewohner von Bergreichenstein in die-
ser Periode.22 Stadtrechtsbücher, falls sie hier benutzt wurden, sind
20 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1983, Karton N 19 – Das Be-

kenntnis von Ondřej Prinz aus dem 18. Februar 1631, die Namen der Zeugen.
Inzwischen Vilém unterschrieb sich „Zmutt“, Tomáš Ignác schrieb die Variante
„Schmuth“.

21 Vgl. SOA Plzeň, Matriky, Kašperské Hory 01 (Narození 1627–1634). Der Personen-
standregister ist voll von den Verballhornungen der tschechischen Namen, die die
Pfarrer nicht korrekt schreiben konnten.

22 Zum Phänomen der Migration z. B. J. GRULICH – H. ZEITLHOFER, Migrace ji-
hočeského obyvatelstva v období před třicetiletou válkou a po jejím ukončení, in:
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nicht erhalten und andere Anhaltspunkte als kleine Abschnitte zufäl-
liger Erwähnungen sind nicht zur Hand. Im Unterschied zu anderen
tschechischen Städten verlief aber in Bergreichenstein keine starke Mi-
grationswelle – Emigration ist nicht bekannt, Kriegsopfer auch nicht,
bis auf eine Ausnahme (Tod des jungen Jiří Oelbeck an der Pest im
Jahr 1625, wahrscheinlich war das der letzter Angehörige seines Ge-
schlechtes) ist uns nicht bekannt, ob irgendwelche Familien infolge von
Pest oder anderen Epidemien ausgestorben sind. Die Namen blieben
dieselben23 – es kamen, gingen und starben eher nur Einzelpersonen.
Traditioneller Partner des Populationsaustauschs war Schüttenhoffen,
wo sich die Bergreichensteiner Jünglinge und Witwer ihre Bräute aus-
wählten, während die Männer aus Schüttenhoffen sich ebenso nach
Bergreichenstein wandten.24 In Schüttenhoffen lebten übrigens auch
Familien mit übereinstimmenden Namen, u. a. Šperl’s und in Kontakt
waren auch Weißenregners. Gerade das Auftreten übereinstimmender
Zunamen kann über die Migration viel mehr aussagen – auf die Na-
men Prinz und Šváb treffen wir nicht nur in dieser Stadt, sondern auch
in den umliegenden Gemeinden: auf Kastalios in Kvilda, auf Raušers
in Hartmanitz, auf Geigers in Unterreichenstein.25 Aus Wallern lenk-
te seine Schritte nach Bergreichenstein Mates Weissbauer (Wisspaur),26

in Gegenrichtung entweder Matouš Hoch oder erst sein Sohn Tho-
mas, später ein Bürger und Metzger in Wallern.27 Vilém Zmut wählte

Historická demografie, 22, 1998, S. 79–105.
23 Das wurde auch dank den neuersten Angaben bestimmt – bis zum zweiten Welt-

krieg befand sich in Bergreichenstein eine große Anzahl von Familien, die da
schon zur Zeit des Dreißigjährigen Krieges lebten.

24 Vgl. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 120, Ev. Nr. K 67 – Kniha
kontraktů 1568–1698.

25 Vgl.SOA Plzeň, Matriky, Kašperské Hory 01 (Narození 1627–1634).
26 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 120, Ev. Nr K 67, Fol. 104 – Im

Juni 1638 kaufte ein Bürger aus Wallern (Mathes Weissbauer) ein Haus mit einem
Garten in Bergreichenstein von Adam Prinz.

27 SOkA Klatovy, der Fleischerzunft Bergreichenstein 1616–1859, Inv. Nr. 3, Ev. Ein-
heit C 1 – Die Korrespondenz des Fleischerzunftes 1633–1719 – B ) Den 9. April
1639 Tomáš (Thoman) Hoch an die bergreichensteiner Fleischerzunft.
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seine Lebensgefährtin in Hartmanitz,28 Kliment Král aus dem Küni-
schen Gebirge in Stadln,29 bis aus Nepomuk verheiratete sich die ver-
witwete Markéta Pirgner nach Bergreichenstein.30 Matyáš Křižan, ein
Bürger aus Horaschdowitz, wählte seine Lebenspartnerin in Bergrei-
chenstein.31 Noch vor den Ereignissen der Schlacht am Weißen Berg
kaufte in der Stadt ein Pfarrer aus Wolenitz ein Haus für seine Kinder.32

Aus verschiedenen Orten kamen nach Bergreichenstein spezifische Be-
rufsgruppen, hauptsächlich Mägde, Müller und Braumeister (vor al-
lem auch aus der breiten Umgebung), Lehrer (a. a. Stannarius, seine
Herkunft ist aber nicht bekannt), und Beamte – erst als Angestellter des
höchsten Münzmeisters Lobkowitz und später als Ratsherr Wolfgang
Kagerer oder als Stadtschreiber Vít Vodička-Aquinus, der vielleicht aus
Prag stammte. Hingegen stammten aus Bergreichenstein Männer, die
ihr Zuhause wegen eines amtlichen Postens verließen, u. a. der Rats-
schreiber aus Regen Thomas Benedict Bergreichenstein.33 Eine ähnli-
che Migration mit Brennpunkt in weiterer Umgebung beobachten wir
ebenfalls bei den Untertanen aus Bergreichenstein, zu denen am häu-
figsten neue Siedler mit Manumissionsbrief (Entlassung aus der Leibei-
genschaft) aus der benachbarten Herrschaft auf den Grund ihres Part-
28 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 148–

149 – Der Hochzeitsvertrag aus dem Jahr 1634 zwischen Vilém Zmut und den
Eltern seiner Braut Dorota, dem Ehepaar Haslers aus Hartmanitz. Václav Hasler
arbeitete dort als der kaiserliche Steuereinnehmer.

29 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 120, Ev. Nr. K 67, Fol. 72–74
– Der Hochzeitsvertrag aus dem Jahr 1616 zwischen Kliment Král und Markéta
Klessingerová.

30 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 4178, Karton N 41 – Der Bürger
aus Nepomuk, Egidius Pirgner, am 8. August 1641 an die Bergreichensteiner.

31 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3929, Karton N 39 – Matyáš
Křižan an die Bergreichensteiner am Sonntag Jubilate 1619.

32 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1844, Karton N 18 – Undatierte
Geburtsurkunde für Kinder des ehemaligen Pfarrers aus Wallern Jan Voldřichs.

33 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Ne. 6045, Karton N 56 – am 16. Au-
gust 1634 Tomáš Benedicti Pergreichenštejnský an die Bergreichensteiner. Siehe
auch ebenda, Inv. Nr. 4171, Karton N 41 – Jan Jindřich von Dlouhá Ves an die
Bergreichensteiner am 29. März 1638.
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ner kamen, falls er sich nicht hier, direkt außergewöhnlich eingekauft
hatte. Solch ein Fall war aber Caspar Weiss aus dem weit entferntem
Brandenburg, der am Ende den 20er Jahren mit seiner Frau und fünf
Kindern im Alter von 3 bis 16 Jahre kam und freiwillig Untertan in
Bergreichenstein wurde.34

Auch andere demographische Aspekte wurden bei weitem nicht
ausreichend entdeckt, die Natalität kann nur an der Wende der 20er
und 30er Jahre des 17. Jahrhunderts verfolgt werden, die Sterblich-
keit erst nach Ende des Dreißigjährigen Krieges, noch dazu in sehr be-
grenztem Maß. Im betreffenden Zeitraum wurden mehr Jungen gebo-
ren, im Jahr 1631 sogar deutlich mehr, als gegenüber 59 Neugeborenen
männlichen Geschlechts nur 39 Mädchen zur Welt kamen. Anderseits
hatte 2 Jahre später das zarte Geschlecht bis zum Anfang November
1633 (danach fehlen die Angaben) im Verhältnis 31:26 das Überge-
wicht. Eine Entscheidung, ob auch in Bergreichenstein mehr Jungen
starben, kann wegen der Abwesenheit entsprechender Niederschriften
nicht getroffen werden. Die Neugeborenen aber starben in großer An-
zahl, was sowohl das Personenstandsverzeichnis aus der 2. Hälfte des
17. Jhd. bezeugt,35 als auch gelegentliche Vermerke direkt bei den Tau-
fanträgen – dass das Kind unmittelbar danach oder ein paar Tage spä-
ter verstorben ist. Die Verteilung der Geburten auf die einzelnen Mo-
naten im Jahr ist relativ ausgeglichen. Nicht außergewöhnlich waren
auch Fälle von Zwillingsgeburten, aber Nachweise, dass sie die Reife
erreichten, fehlen – sie starben hauptsächlich bald nach der Geburt. In
einem Fall bekamen die Zwillinge die traditionellen Namen Adam und
Eva, in anderen Fällen handelte es sich um verschiedenartigste Vorna-
men. Überhaupt die Skala der Vornamen war in Bergreichenstein sehr
abwechslungsreich, nicht nur bei den Jungen, sondern auch teilwei-
se bei den Mädchen. Beide Geschlechter bekamen die Namen häufig
nach dem Taufpate/In, nach den Heiligen, die ihren Namenstag an
34 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 123, Ev. Nr. K 70 – Kniha

kontraktů 1620–1666.
35 SOA Plzeň, Matriky, Kašperské Hory 17 (Narození, oddaní, zemřelí 1659–1724).
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dem Tag der Geburt oder nahe am Geburtstag hatten. Zum Beispiel
alle drei Jungen, die während der ersten sechs Tage in Jahr 1631 gebo-
ren wurden, bekamen den Namen Kaspar, Anfang Juli desselben Jahres
erschien hier dreimal das Name Vít/Veit. Einige Namen waren ziem-
lich ungewöhnlich: Severin, Viktorie, Cyprián, aber auch Anežka oder
Theodora, deren häufigeres Vorkommen an dem Vornamen der Patin
Theodora Weißenregner lag. Typische Lieblingsnamen in Bergreichen-
stein existieren nicht, in größerem Maß sind diese Namen vertreten:
Johann, Jakob, Mathias (Matěj), bei den Mädchen dominieren Kathe-
rina, Anna, Marie, Eva. 2 Vornamen häuften sich zunehmend, bei den
Mädchen am häufigsten Anna Marie, Marie Magdalena oder Marie Eli-
sabeth. Bei den Jungen ist die Kombination seltener u. abwechslungs-
reicher (Christof Melchior, Johann Albert, u. a.). Die Paten waren am
häufigsten 2 (ein Mann und eine Frau, oft ein Ehepaar), die Anzahl
3 ist selten, manchmal genügte nur ein Pate (bei einem Jungen) oder
eine Patin (bei einem Mädchen). Ebenfalls in Bergreichenstein gab es
Einzelpersonen, die bei den Taufakten sehr begehrt waren, vor allem
Vertreter der hiesigen Elite wie Jan und Eva Weißenregner oder Frau
Primas Elisabeth Sippl. Ondřej Šperl wurde während eines einzigen
Tages sogar zweimal Pate. Taufpaten von unehelichen Kindern u. Fin-
delkindern wurden prominente Einwohner der Stadt, um ihnen ihre
Existenz in Zukunft zu erleichtern. Uneheliche Kinder waren nur we-
nige eingetragen, aber diese Verfehlung betraf nicht nur die niederen
Schichten, die ohne kirchlichen Segen einen Nachkomme zeugten, so
der hiesige Weißgerber, als auch ein Vertreter der absoluten Bergrei-
chensteiner Elite, Georg Weißenregner aus Weissenfeld.36

Die Frage, wann und in welchem Alter die Bergreichensteiner hei-
rateten, und in welchem Alter, sowie warum und in Folge welcher
Krankheiten sie starben, lässt sich nicht beantworten. Prominente Fa-
milien schlossen vor der Hochzeit Heiratsverträge ab, wobei die Jung-
frauen und Burschen hauptsächlich von ihren Vätern oder anderen
Verwandten vertreten wurden – hier wurde genau die Höhe der Mit-
36 SOA Plzeň, Matriky, Kašperské Hory 01 (Narození 1627–1634).
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gift bestimmt, bzw. andere Verfügungen, u. a. die sog. Morgengabe.
Später beschlossen auch einige Partner den sog. ehelichen Verzicht,
wo sie sich gegenseitig ihre Besitztümer mit eventuellen Ausnahmen
zuschrieben (besonders in Form von bestimmten Bargeldbeträgen zur
freien Verfügung). Auf die ersten Verstorbenen treffen wir im Perso-
nenstandsregister erst ab 1666, allerdings auch hier ohne Einzelhei-
ten. Auffallend ist selbstverständlich die Höhe der Kindersterblichkeit,
die mit der schlechten postnatalen Pflege der Neugeborenen zusam-
menhing, sowie mit der Vielfalt an Krankheiten, mit denen der kindli-
che Körper nicht zurande kam. Wir können nur darüber spekulieren,
dass in Bergreichenstein die Menschen außer an der Pest, die hier im
Jahr 162537 u. 163338 ausbrach, auch an Pocken, verschiedenen Lungen-
krankheiten, Alterskrankheiten und am hohen Lebensalter oder in Fol-
ge von Unfall oder Schlaganfall starben. Die zuletzt genannte Krank-
heit, unter dem Volk auch als Schlag (šlak) bekannt, konnte natürlich
auch im Hintergrund dessen stehen, dass manche Einwohner plötz-
lich starben ohne ihren letzten Wille geregelt zu haben.39 Psychische
Krankheiten fehlten natürlich auch nicht (nicht selten also wie heute
mit einem Selbstmord endend): Seinen Verstand und gleichzeitig auch
die Sprache verlor der Müller Šimon Maleš aus einer Mühle unterhalb
Karlsbergs.40

Keine Stadt in der Frühneuzeit bildete einen kompakten sozialen
Komplex. Jede urbane Kommune, ohne Rücksicht auf ihre Größe, war
37 Als ein einziges Opfer der Pest ist nur Jiří Oelbeck bekannt. Národní archiv Praha

(weiter nur NA), Stará manipulace, Inv. Nr. 196, Sign. B 14/21, Karton 108 – A2)
Die Bergreichensteiner angeblich am Anfang des Novembers (publiziert 10. 11.)
1630 an die angeordneten kaiserlichen Kommissare.

38 SOkA Klatovy, Fleischerzunft Kašperské Hory 1616–1859, Inv. Nr. 3, Ev. Einheit
C 1 – Die Korrespondenz der Fleischerzunft 1633–1719 – A) Am 10. März 1633
Mikuláš Světelský an die bergreichensteiner Fleischerzunft.

39 Z. B. auch der Ratsherr Ondřej de Mazulin, angeblich im Jahre 1635. SOkA Kla-
tovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1892, Karton N 59 – Im Jahre 1635 Jiří
Weißenregner von Weissenfels an die Ratsmänner.

40 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listiny, Inv. Nr. 045, Ev. Nr. L 45 – Verkauf
von einer Mühle unter der Burg Karlsberg, 1. Januar 1646.
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vermögensmäßig und gesellschaftlich sehr differenziert. An der Spitze
standen traditionsgemäß die vollgültigen Bürger od. Bürger mit Brau-
recht, manche auch sogar mit einem Adelsprädikat, heute würden wir
sie als Wappenbürger bezeichnen. Solche waren in Bergreichenstein
Weißenregners aus Weissenfeld und Anbaters aus Rozndorf. Außer
den Bürgern standen an der Spitze der Gesellschaft auch niedere
Adelsfamilien (Ritter, Magnaten). Diese Familien hatten entweder ei-
ne kleine oder nur minimale Anzahl eigener Untertanen und besaßen
keinen wirklichen Adelswohnsitz. In Bergreichenstein handelte es sich
nachweislich um Zdislav Vojislav Branišovský aus Branišov, Havel jr.
Katruš aus Weissenfeld (im Haus von Branišovský seit Jahr 1623, nach
Konfiszierung seines Besitzes im Ständeaufstand),41 Salomena Žeberk
aus Vojenice, Zuzana Precht aus Šonov und evtl. auch um ihre Er-
bin Kateřina Žeberk aus Šonov und ihren Ehepartner Jan Sudek aus
Dlouhá. Die Einwohner von Bergreichenstein waren aber über ihre An-
wesenheit nicht begeistert – wie es im Jahr 1618 sehr gut schon der
genannte Branišovský zu spüren bekam. Die Ratsherren beschwerten
sich postwendend in einem Brief bei ihm über seine Zuwanderung in
die Stadt, weil ihnen der Kauf des Hauses ohne ihr Wissen u. Erlaub-
nis zum Verlust der Gemeinde nicht gefiel. Sie hatten sogar Nachricht,
dass er auch ihre Weiden und Wälder bedrohte, protestierten gegen
sein Verhalten und warnten ihn, diese Übertretungen nicht fortzuset-
zen.42 Die Abneigung der Bürger war verständlich, die adeligen Be-
sitzer der Bürgerhäuser hatten oft fiskalische Erleichterungen und wie
man damals sagte: sie „litten“ nicht mit der Stadt. Branišovský vertei-
digte sich damit, dass er um die Einwilligung gebeten hätte, doch ob-
wohl man ihm eine baldige Antwort zugesagt habe, kam diese lange
nicht, und so hat er den Handel realisiert – angeblich nach dem al-
ten Sprichwort: Wer schweigt, der stimmt zu. Er wollte dann ins Rat-
haus kommen und seinen Antrag erneuern, aber er konnte sich wegen
41 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 119, Ev. Nr. K 66, Fol. N 79.
42 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 64, Ev. Nr. K 11 – Die Rats-

männer an Zdislav Branišovský von Branišov (1618).
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Zeitmangel keinen Assistenten besorgen und musste seine Absicht auf
den anderen Tag verschieben. Der tadelnde Brief der Ratsherren über-
raschte ihn deshalb sehr. Noch dazu, wenn er sich an die vielen Wohl-
taten erinnert, die sein entschlafener Vater den Ratsherrn zukommen
ließ. Dennoch hoffe er, dass ihm die Ratsherren den Handel in den
Stadtbüchern bestätigen und ihm die Möglichkeit vergönnen, seinem
Gewerbe zwischen ihnen nachzugehen (!).43 Was er konkret dabei
dachte, schrieb er leider nicht – aber schon die Idee des Adeligen, in
der Stadt einen Handel oder ein Handwerk zu betreiben, ist beachtens-
wert, aber nicht außergewöhnlich.

Auf Angehörige einiger lokaler traditioneller Familien treffen wir
in den Quellen schon seit dem 15.–16. Jahrhundert. Zu wesentlichen
Veränderungen kam es nicht einmal in dem dramatischen Zeitraum
des Dreißigjährigen Krieges, als sich in vielen anderen Orten nicht nur
in Böhmen die Eliten in Folge von Konfiszierung, Rekatholisierung,
Emigration u. anderen Kriegsumständen – Flucht, gewaltsamer Tod,
von Soldaten eingeschleppte Epidemien, einschließlich die gefürchte-
te Pest usw. transformierten. Mit dem Adelsprädikat konnten sich fol-
gende Wappenfamilien rühmen: Weißenregners aus Weissenfeld und
Anbaters aus Rozndorf, die in jeder Generation Ratsherrn, Primaten,
Schultheiße oder kaiserliche Beamten lieferten. Weißenregners dispo-
nierten nach dem Kauf lukrativer Immobilien auch über eigene Un-
tertanen. Anbaters hinterließen ein einzigartiges materielles Andenken
– ein gemaltes Epitaph aus der Zeit vor dem Ausbruch des Dreißig-
jährigen Krieges. Ihrem politischen Einfluss und dem Eigentumsum-
feld konnten in der Stadt die sehr verzweigten Zmuts konkurrieren,
gleichzeitig auch eine der ältesten Familien in Bergreichenstein. Alle
drei genannten Familien verdienten ihren Lebensunterhalt als Metz-
ger und durch Handel mit Salz, Pferden und Getreide, was auch für
Sippls, die Familien Tuček, Miller und Řezník und andere Vertreter der
hiesigen Elite galt. In dem folgenden Zeitraum rekrutierten sich aus
43 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5851, Karton N 55 – Am 21.

Juni 1618 Zdislav Vojislav von Branišov an die bergreichensteiner Bewohner.
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den Familien Miller u. Tuček Vertreter auf den Posten des Bergreichen-
steiner Bergmeisters. Zu diesen traditionellen Familien drangen eher
sporadisch und in den fortschreitenden Kriegsjahren ökonomisch oder
dank ihrer Karriere erfolgreiche Einzelpersonen ein – wie der Ratsherr
u. spätere Hauptmann der Region Královský Hvozd/Künisches Ge-
birge Wolf Kagerer, oder der Nachkriegs-Primas Jan Höfling. Dagegen
ist das Eindringen in die Elite dank lukrativer Hochzeiten in Bergrei-
chenstein nicht belegt. Die hiesigen Eliten waren aber miteinander ver-
wandt, sie heirateten untereinander und wurden auch untereinander
Vormünder oder Taufpaten. Sie besaßen die weiträumigsten und teu-
ersten Häuser mit hochwertigen Ausstattungen, auch mit Untertanen.
Sie konnten ihrer Stadt oder umliegenden Adeligen hohe finanzielle
Beträge ausleihen. Sie beherrschten den Stadtrat – so wurden im Grun-
de genommen nur aus ihren Vertretern Ortsprimase, Ratsherrn, Stadt-
schultheiße, Gemeinderäte und Bergmeister oder Beamte gewählt, die
von dem Herrscher mit der Gebühreneinnahme beauftragt wurden.
Die Vermögenseliten, mit Ausnahme der wenigen Adligen, stimmten
mit den politischen/Rats-Eliten in Bergreichenstein überein. Um das
Bürgerrecht zu erhalten, war natürlich eine Bestätigung der ehelichen
Geburt und eines ehrenhaften Verhaltens nötig. Nicht anders war es
im Fall der Aufnahme in die Gewerbelehre.44 Ob für die Aufnahme in
den Kreis der hiesigen Bürger irgendwelche Gebühren bezahlt wurden
und ob diese sich in der Höhe für die hiesigen Söhne und auswärti-
gen Anwärter unterschied, ist nicht bekannt, lässt sich aber vermuten.
Ein außergewöhnlich interessantes Spezifikum Bergreichensteins war
das Aufteilen der hiesigen Einwohnergruppen zu Beginn der 40er Jah-
re des 17. Jahrhunderts nach dem Anspruch auf das Bierbrauen, als
das Recht auf einen vollen Sud nur 30 Bürger erhielten, während die
anderen 50 Bürger einen 1/2 Sud und die nächsten 40 Bürger einen 1/4

Sud brauen konnten. Auf das Brauen eines ganzen Suds hatten dabei
die hiesigen Bürger Anspruch, die Bergbau betrieben und zwei oder
44 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1845, Karton N 18 – Der Bürger

und Ratsmann von Bergreichenstein Václav Zmut bat für seinen Sohn Jan Jakub,
deren er in die Lehre setzen wollte, um eine Geburtsurkunde.
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mehr Anteile an Gruben hatten. Diejenigen, die über kleinere Anteile
disponierten, sollten sich fürs Brauen des Suds verbinden (entweder zu
zweit oder zu viert), und zwar wieder in Abhängigkeit vom Ausmaß
ihrer Bergbautätigkeit.45 Eine solche Einteilung erhielt sich im Grun-
de genommen auch nach dem Krieg – wobei die erste Gruppe in der
damals angefertigten Steuerrolle den „echt ansässigen Bürgern“ ent-
sprach, diese aber bildeten nur 17 Einwohner, danach folgten die „1/4
Bürger“ in der Anzahl von 32 und „1/8 Bürger“ in der Anzahl von 56.
Sie unterschieden sich in ihrem Reichtum auch im Umfang des bewirt-
schafteten Bodens.46

Nicht alle hatten aber für diese Einteilung Verständnis. Wolf Dorn,
der in beiden Fällen in die dritte Gruppe geriet, beschwerte sich über
diese soziale Ungerechtigkeit im Namen der Anderen im Jahr 1649 bei
dem höchsten Münzmeister Ulrich Adam Popel von Lobkowitz. Er er-
innerte ihn an seine 8 Jahre alten Worte über die Gleichheit aller Bür-
ger in der Stadt und Gerechtigkeit, und daran, als er ein Jahr später
(1642) befahl, dass die Armen nicht zu viel belastet werden sollten. Die
Armen aber hatten so große Not, dass sie eine Supplikation verfassen
mussten, die wahrscheinlich nicht übergeben wurde, und wenn doch,
geschah dennoch nichts. Die Reichsten wollten die einträglichsten Ge-
schäfte an sich reißen, an erster Stelle stand das Bierbrauen. Je nach
dem Brauen wollten sie die Stadt auf drei Teile teilen, was nach den
Worten von Dorn früher nicht war. Ähnlich verhielten sich die Reichen
auch im Falle der Mühle in Nezdice/Nesditz und dem Mahlen von
Getreide, wo die Armen kaum dafür ein Stückchen Brot bekamen. Die
Reichen mit ihrem unfairen Verhalten verdrängten die Armen aus der
Stadt und nahmen ihnen ihre letzten Unterhaltsmöglichkeiten. Wäh-
rend sie früher ein zufriedenes Einkommen aus dem Handel mit Salz
hatten, mussten sie es jetzt in einer vernachlässigbaren Menge selbst
nach Schüttenhoffen und in andere relativ entfernte Städte bringen und
45 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 450, Karton N 6 – Die Brau-

rechtordnung der Stadt Bergreichenstein, 15. Dezember 1642.
46 HAAS, S. 921–924.
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bekamen dafür kaum ein paar Kreuzer. Auf dem Weg gaben sie na-
türlich diesen kleinen Betrag fürs Essen aus, so dass sie sich nach der
Rückkehr sofort wieder auf den Weg machen mussten. Ebenso sollten
die Armen aus dem Getreidemarkt verdrängt werden. Im Jahr 1643 er-
klärte angeblich der Schichtmeister Wolf Kagerer bei dem Bergmanns-
zahlen, wenn sie ihre Pflichten nicht erfüllten, würde er sich nicht nur
darum kümmern, dass sie von hier weggehen müssten, sondern dass
sie auch in keiner Bergstadt Arbeit finden würden. Daraufhin sollte
sich Georg Grobmüller gemeldet haben und den Ratsherrn in die Au-
gen Worte über ihr „böses Regiment“ gesagt haben. Er wurde dafür
bestraft, wohl mit Gefängnis, zusammen mit Dorn, der sich ihm wahr-
scheinlich angeschlossen hatte. Über beide Männer wurden Nachreden
verbreitet mit dem Ziel, die anderen von ihnen fernzuhalten. Und den
Armen wurde angeblich verboten, über ihre Not zu sprechen.47 Es wa-
ren auch die Armen, einschließlich Dorn, die die größte Last mit der
Einquartierung der Soldaten in der Stadt tragen sollten. Als im Jahr
1642 die Ratserneuerung stattfand, verbreitete sich sogar die Nachricht
darüber, dass einige Einwohner die Ratsherren schlagen wollten. Dar-
an zweifelte aber Dorn, weil die Armen sicher Angst hatten, auch nur
ein Wort zu sagen. Die soziale Frage in Bergreichenstein stand also auf
Messers Schneide.

Die übrige Population von Bergreichenstein kann man zu den Ver-
tretern der niederen Schichten einordnen. Relativ solide lebten die Ein-
wohner oder Inwohner, die offenbar bescheidene Häuser mit einfacher
Ausstattung und beschränktem Zubehör (Hof, Garten) am Rande der
Stadt besaßen. In dieser Gruppe können wir höchstens Bergleute vor-
aussetzen. In den Quellen ist es mir nicht gelungen, in Bergreichen-
stein nur einen einzigen „Inmann“ zu finden, also einen Untermie-
ter in einigen der Bürger- oder Einwohnerhäusern. Sie lebten aber in
Pohorsko/Buchholz, Nicov/Nitschowa und in Rejštejn Unterreichen-
stein. Der Müller Martin Vrhel aus Nezdice/Nesditz sprach darüber,
47 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1416, Karton N 14 – Suppli-

kation von Wolf Dorn an den höchsten Münzmeister Oldřich Adam Popel von
Lobkovice (1649).
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dass er sich in Untermiete begeben müsste, falls sein Gläubiger nicht
abwarten und ihn zwingen würde, die Mühle zu verkaufen.48 Eine be-
stimmte Anzahl von Inmietern können wir also auch in der Bergstadt
annehmen, geräumiger Häuser gab es hier genug und der Mietzins
kam in schwierigen Zeiten sicher gelegen. Es zeigte sich nur, dass die-
se niederen Sozialschichten in den Quellen wirklich nur sehr schwer
aufzufinden sind. Nicht anders ist es auch bei den Bergreichensteiner
Dienstboten. Ein Untertanenverzeichnis nach dem Glauben fehlt lei-
der, das eine klare Vorstellung von der Struktur der Bürgerhaushal-
te einschließlich Mägden und Knechten lieferte. Dass auch in Bergrei-
chenstein keine Dienstmädchen fehlten, ist jedoch nachgewiesen. An-
fang des Jahres 1631 verschaffte sich Jonáš Řezník eine Untertanin aus
der Herrschaft in Vimperk als Magd für 2 Jahre, die er nach Ablauf des
Diensttermins auch mit ihrem Gehalt entlassen sollte.49 Auch im Haus
von Zuzana Precht aus Šonov fehlten die Mägde nicht.50 Die Berg-
reichensteiner erwarben die Mägde (und auch die Knechte) aus ihrer
Herrschaft, und nicht nur zu ihren Diensten, sondern auch zu Diensten
von auswertigen Bürgern.51 Eine niedere soziale Schicht repräsentier-
ten auch die Alten und die Armen aus dem Spital, die von Almosen
lebten, deren Stellung und Einkommen der Dreißigjährige Krieg noch
verschlimmerte. Vagabunden, Bettler und ähnliche Typen von Men-
schen am Rande der Gesellschaft sind in Bergreichenstein nicht be-
kannt.

Das Zusammenleben in einer kleinen urbanen Kommune, wo ma-
ximal etwa 2000 Personen lebten und wo fast jeder jeden kannte, war
48 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6106, Karton N 56 – B) Martin

Vrhel an die Bergreichensteiner (sine dato).
49 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6021, Karton N 56 – Adam

Kryštof Maršík, der Schreiber der Herrschaft Winterberg, an die Bergreichenstei-
ner (31. 12. 1632).

50 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5862, Karton N 55 – Um Ostern
1619 Zuzana Prechtová von Šonov an die Bergreichensteiner.

51 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3570, Karton N 37 – Am
Faschingsdienstag 1621 Martin Skála, Bürger von Schüttenhofen, an die Bergrei-
chensteiner.
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nicht idyllisch und überhaupt nicht harmonisch. Ob die Kriegsreali-
tät die gegenseitigen Beziehungen unter der psychischen Last noch
verschlechterte oder umgekehrt, ob sich die Kommune mit dem Ziel
des Überlebens noch fester zusammenschloss – die ausländische Lite-
ratur spricht über „die Makroökonomie des Überlebens“,52 wenn die-
sem Aspekt die Mehrheit des Geschehens untergeordnet sein sollte – ist
schwer zu entscheiden. Zu Konflikten, auch mit fatalen Folgen, kam es
auch vor dem Krieg wie danach oder währenddessen. Sie geschahen
in den Familien, auch zwischen den nächsten Verwandten,53 zwischen
den Nachbarn, Einzelpersonen und zwischen den Vertretern der Stadt-
verwaltung, quer durch alle sozialen Schichten, zwischen Einwohnern
der Stadt und ihrer Umgebung. Gemeinsamer Nenner war in den mei-
sten Fällen stets das Gleiche: Besitz, bzw. der Streit darum. Der Besitz
konnte auch der Hintergrund von Voreingenommenheit mit Ehrenbe-
leidigungen oder mit physischer Aggression verbunden sein. Aus den
Quellen sind die Gründe nicht bekannt – nur die Konsequenzen. Da-
gegen zeigten sich aber auch Beispiele gegenseitiger Solidarität, Unter-
stützung, ja auch aufrichtiger Barmherzigkeit,54 und zwar vermutlich
in viel größerem Maße, als die überkommenen Texte beschreiben, die
die Auseinandersetzungen primär dokumentieren.

Der Alltag der Einwohner in Bergreichenstein spielte sich auch in
der Zeit des Dreißigjährigen Krieges in ihrer vertrauten und bekannten
52 P. BURSCHEL, Himmelreich un Hölle. Ein Söldner, sein Tagebuch und die Ord-

nungen des Krieges, in: H. MEDICK – B. von KRUSENSTJERN (Hrsg.), Zwischen
Alltag un Katastrophe, Göttingen 1999, S. 190.

53 Einer der erheblichsten war zwischen den Brüdern Ondřej und Jiří Zmut kurz
vor dem Ausbruch des Krieges. Jiří beschuldigte Ondřej des Betrügens und der
groben Behandlung in der Kindheit. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy,
Inv. Nr. 5847, Karton N 55 – A) Undatiertes Schreiben von Ondřej Zmut an die
Ratsmänner; B) Undatiertes Schreiben von Jiří Zmut an die Ratsmänner; C) Un-
datiertes Schreiben von Jiří Zmut an die Ratsmänner; D) Undatiertes Schreiben
von Jiří Zmut an Ratsmänner.

54 Besonders interessant ist Fall eines Bürgers, der keine strenge Bestrafung an dem
Dieb forderte. Der Dieb brach in der Nacht in sein Haus ein und stahl ihm eine
Stute. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5896, karton N 55 – Am
24. April 1621 Kristián Prinz an die bergreichensteiner Ratsmänner.
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Umgebung ab, in ihren eigenen Häusern und in ihrer nächsten Umge-
bung, also in den Straßen der Geburtsstadt und in ihrem ländlichen
Hinterland. Aus den 17. Jahrhundert hat sich in dieser Lokalität ein
einziges Haus erhalten, wenn auch etwas jünger als die hier verfolg-
ten Kriegsereignisse, während wir das zweite, in dem ein während des
Krieges versteckter Münzenschatz gefunden wurde, auf dem histori-
schen Foto erkennen. Das erste der erwähnten Häuser mit Stockwerk
und Mansarde befindet sich auf dem Marktplatz, das zweite stand an
der Ecke der Straßen Zlatá Stezka und Barvířská (Hausnummer 87).
Ähnliche Häuser, typisch für den Böhmerwald, vermutlich aber jün-
ger, stehen bis heute auf anderen Plätzen in der Stadt, besonders in der
Straße Dlouhá ulice. Im Fall des einen, schon lange untergegangenen
Gebäudes handelte es sich um einen untersetzten ebenerdigen Bau mit
Holzkonstruktion, mit einem massiven Dach, mit gespaltenen Schin-
deln bedeckt, und einem weiträumigen Dachboden. Wertvolle, schon
voll gemauerte Häuser standen auf dem Marktplatz, wo die Bergrei-
chensteiner Elite wohnte, einschließlich einer Schicht von Adeligen, die
sich in der Stadt angesiedelt hatten. Über ein solches Haus schrieb im
Jahr 1621 Jiří Ranske, als er dieses als Besitzer für 700 Schock Meiß-
ner Groschen zu verkaufen versuchte. Nach seinen Worten eignete es
sich zu jedem Unternehmen, Handel oder Handwerk. Dieses Haus hat-
te einen schönen Garten, stand direkt an einer Wasserquelle und war
vermutlich aus Stein gebaut.55 Sogar für 800 Meißner Schockgroschen
wurde zur etwa gleichen Zeit auch ein Haus mit Garten veranschlagt,
das zuerst Weißenregners gehörte, danach Zdislav Vojislav Branišov-
ský aus Branišov und seit dem Jahr 1623 Havel jr. Katruš aus Weis-
senfeld.56 Sowohl Gemüse- als auch Obstgärten mit Bäumen gehörten
zum standardmäßigen Bestandteil der Bergreichensteiner Immobilien.
Zum üblichen Zubehör gehörten neben einem kleinen Hof auch Ställe
und Scheunen hinter den Wohnhäusern.57 Eventuell standen dort auch
55 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1971, Karton N 20 – Am 15. Juni

1621 Jiří Ranske verkauft sein Haus an Martin Frýda.
56 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 119, Ev. Nr. K 66, Fol. N 79.
57 Vgl. z. B. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 120, Ev. Nr. K 67,
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Ställe zum Unterstellen von Pferden und auch Wagen mit beschlage-
nen oder unbeschlagenen Rädern.58 In einigen dieser Räume, wenn
nicht direkt im Haus, konnte auch verschiedenes Werkzeug gelagert
werden.59

Die innere Disposition der damaligen Häuser ist aus den Quellen
nicht erkennbar. Mindestens die Häuser auf dem Marktplatz, wahr-
scheinlich auch in den Hauptstraßen waren unterkellert und hatten ei-
ne Durchfahrt – es handelte sich nämlich um den Besitz der Bürger,
die das Braurecht hatten und die in den Kellern ihr Bier einlagerten.
Der unterirdische Raum war aber auch zum momentanen Einlagern
nicht notwendige Sachen geeignet, wie zum Beispiel altes Eisen.60

Dachböden waren ideal für das Aufbewahren von Heu, bzw. auch von
Stroh – einige hatten dort auch Getreide zur Aussaat vorbereitet.61 Den
Hauptwohnraum bildete die Stube, im Stockwerk oder im Erdgeschoss
(je nach Typ des Hauses), beheizt durch einen Kachelofen, wo sich das
Hauptgeschehen des ganzen Haushaltes abspielte. Falls man hier nicht
schlief, dienten zu diesem Zweck die Nebenkammern (wahrscheinlich
unbeheizt). Direkt von Schlafzimmern als Privatsphäre im Haus konn-
te wohl bisher noch keine Rede sein. Himmelbetten waren in jeder
„besserer“ Familie längst selbstverständlich, allein im Nachlass von
Václav Zmut wurde bereits 5 verzeichnet.62 In den Kammern lassen
sich aus überkommenen Inventaren Truhen voraussetzen, wo neben
Kleidung („Ausgehkleidern“) auch Federbetten, Kissen, Bettwäsche,

Fol. 177 – Der Eintrag aus dem Jahre 1642.
58 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 100–103

– Der Nachlass von Ondřej Šváb aus dem Jahre 1616.
59 Vgl. NA Praha, Stará manipulace, Inv. Nr. 196, Sign. B 14/21, Karton 108 – A

5) Das Inventar des Besitzes von Jan Oelbeck (1604): namentlich eiserner Pfahl,
Schlachtaxt, Serbe, lange Säge, verschiedene eiserne Reifen, Schließkette, Seil,
Schneckenbohrer und alte Hacke.

60 Ebenda.
61 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 100–103.

Ondřej Šváb hatte auf dem Dachboden Roggen und Weizen zum Aussaat (1616).
62 Ebenda, Fol. 82.

32



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

J. Kilián, Die Einwohnerschaft in Bergreichenstein. . . , pp. 13–41

Betttücher, bzw. Tischdecken und andere Haustextilien aufbewahrt
wurden. Gab es im Haushalt eine oder mehrere Töchter, lagerten ihnen
hier die Mütter die sorgfältig vorbereitete Aussteuer ein. Jan Oelbeck
hatte drei Truhen unbekannten Inhalts direkt in der Stube, wo auch
2 Tische und 2 Eckschränke standen.63 Ob die Bewohner die Wände ih-
rer Häuser mit Bildern dekorierten, ist nicht bekannt, in jedem Fall hat-
ten einige auf Regalen auch mehrere Bücher. An den Wänden konnten
Säbel,64 Degen65 hängen, oder Hellebarden66 angelehnt sein. Andere
hatten auch Pistolen.67 An den langen Winterabenden ersetzten natür-
liches Tageslicht Zinn- und Messingleuchter.

Das Essen bereiteten die Hausfrauen in den Küchen zu (in den sog.
schwarzen Küchen). Sie kochten in Geschirr, Töpfen, Kesseln und in
Pfannen aus Eisen, Messing oder Zinn. Der Messingkessel war zum
Beispiel fürs Kochen von Fisch geeignet,68 andere Kessel wurden für
Branntwein verwendet.69 Es wurde auf einem Tisch mit Tischdecke ser-
viert, wo dann von Zinntellern und Schüsseln gegessen wurde – in ei-
nigen Fällen gab es auch luxuriöses Geschirr mit Gravierung dekoriert.
Auch das Besteck konnte aus Zinn sein, dennoch fanden sich im Nach-
lass von Václav Zmut, der 26 Zinntellern besaß (davon 6 gravierte),
63 NA Praha, Stará manipulace, Inv. Nr. 196, Sign. B 14/21, Karton 108 – A 5) Das

Besitzinventar von Jan Oelbeck (1604).
64 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5847, Karton N 55 – A) Unda-

tiertes Schreiben von Ondřej Zmut an die bergreichensteiner Ratsmänner.
65 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1989, Karton N 20 – Supplika-

tion von Wolf Kagerer an die Bergreichensteiner (1643).
66 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5857, Karton N 55 – Ondřej

Zmut in einem undatierten Schreiben an die Bergreichensteiner. Siehe auch SOkA
Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 100–103 – In
dem Nachlass von Ondřej Šváb aus dem Jahre 1616 gab es eine Hellebarde.

67 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1989, Karton N 20 Supplikation
von Wolf Kagerer aus dem Jahre 1643 an die Bergreichensteiner. Kagerer hatte
auch einen Degen und eine Pistole. Eine Pistole besaß ebenfalls der Stadtschreiber
Vít Aquinus: Ebenda, Inv. Nr. 6070, Karton N 56 (22. Juni 1638).

68 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 82.
69 Ebenda, Fol. 100–103 – Der Nachlass von Ondřej Šváb aus dem Jahre 1616.
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ein Messer aus Messing und silberne Löffel.70 Die Getränke wurden in
Zinn-Kannen verschiedenen Inhalts serviert und es wurde aus Schop-
pen des gleichen Metalls getrunken. Nach dem Essen konnte man die
Hände in einem Zinn- oder Messing-Lavoir waschen.71 Zum Vergleich
bieten sich die Verhältnisse in dem anliegenden Dorf an, wo die Haus-
frau ebenfalls den Fisch in einem größeren Messing-Kessel mit Füß-
chen vorbereitete, andere Gerichte in Töpfen, Butter wärmte sie in einer
Blechpfanne, Getränke servierte sie in einer Zinnkanne und mit der Fa-
milie aß sie aus Tonschüsseln mit Holzlöffeln.72 Eine konkrete Form der
Bergreichensteiner Speisekarte ist aber nicht bekannt, man muss von
Analogien zu anderen Lokalitäten ausgehen. Die reicheren konnten
sich oft Fleischgerichte gönnen, von Haustieren, niederen Wildtieren
(wohl von Hasen, Auerhühnern, Haselhühnern, usw.), sowie aus Fisch,
den es genug in den umliegenden Gewässern gab.73 Als Delikatesse
galten geräucherte Forellen74 und als besonders wertvoll auch Lachs.75

In Bergreichenstein sind neben gebackenen Pfannkuchen76 auch exoti-
sche Leckerbissen wie Datteln belegt.77 Die Ärmeren mussten mit
70 Ebenda, Fol. 82.
71 Ebenda, Fol. 153–154 – Der Hochzeitsvertrag aus dem Jahre 1638 zwischen Jiří

Bárta (für seine Tochter Uršula) und Zikmund Pankrác.
72 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 4339, Karton N 59 – Jaroslav

Bukovanský Pinta von Bukovany am 4. Februar 1619 an die Bergreichensteiner.
73 Um wertvolle Teichfische, besonders Karpfen, baten in Bergreichenstein auch die

umliegenden Städte und Obrigkeiten. Siehe z. B. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské
Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3942, Karton N 39 – Am 22. Februar 1632 die Horaschdowitzer
an die Bergreichensteiner. Vgl auch ebenda, Inv. Nr. 6007, Karton N 56 – Matěj Jiří
Žinkovský am 8. September 1630 an die Bergreichensteiner.

74 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6155, Karton N 57 – Die Bestä-
tigung für die Bergreichensteiner von Jan Braun (1. März 1647).

75 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6115, Karton N 56 – Am 30. Au-
gust 1641 die Winterberger an die Bergreichensteiner.

76 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3201, Karton N 34 – Havel d. J.
Katruše von Weissenfeld am 14. Februar 1629 an die Bergreichensteiner.

77 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3578, Karton N 37 – Michael
Hitl (?) aus Prachatitz am 6. Januar 1625 aus Schüttenhoffen an den bergreichen-
steiner Primas.
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einfacher Kost auskommen – in Form von verschiedenen Breien (Erb-
spürree) mit Brot als Hauptbeilage. Es wurde Bier getrunken, die Wohl-
habenderen tranken Wein. Eine erhebliche Rolle spielten Milch und
Quellenwasser, das in die Stadtbrunnen durch eine sinnvolle Holzrohr-
leitung geleitet wurde.

Bis auf eine Ausnahme (das Epitaph von Daniel Anbater) existie-
ren keine Porträts oder andere adäquate Abbildungen, die eine Vorstel-
lung darüber boten, wie sich die Bergreichensteiner in der ersten Hälfte
des 17. Jahrhunderts kleideten, so dass uns die wenigen Erwähnun-
gen in den schriftlichen Quellen ausreichen müssen. Männliche Unter-
wäsche bestand damals aus Strümpfen aus Leinen oder besser auch
Tuchstrumpfhosen, darüber wurden die Hosen angezogen, meist aus
Tuch, aber auch aus Leder.78 Helle Strumpfhosen sehen wir auch auf
dem Epitaph von Anbater. Auf dem Oberkörper wurden meistens Lei-
nenhemden und darauf Joppe oder Wams getragen, diese konnten aus
sehr hochwertigem Material, zum Beispiel aus Samt sein.79 Um den
Hals wurden nach zeitgenössischer Mode wertvolle Kragen getragen.
Die Oberbekleidung bestand aus einem Mantel, eine teure Angelegen-
heit und wertvoller Bestandteil des Erbes, der also ausdrücklich im
Nachlass erwähnt wurde.80 Ohne Mantel (und auch Hut) konnte man
sich wohl kaum auf den Weg gemacht,81 den Gesellen der Leinewe-
berzunft war es in die Ordnung aus dem Jahr 1623 direkt verboten.82

78 NA Praha, Stará manipulace, Inv. Nr. 196, Sign. B 14/21, Karton 108 – A 5) Das
Besitzinventar von Jan Oelbeck (1604).

79 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1993, Karton N 20 – B) Am 2. Ju-
ni 1644 Dorota Gromanová an die Bergreichensteiner. Sie erwähnte, dass Vilém
Zmut von ihr eine Samtveste kaufte.

80 Siehe z. B. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68,
Fol. 100–103 – Der Nachlass von Ondřej Šváb aus dem Jahre 1616.

81 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6070, Karton N 56 – Jan Přeš-
tický (?) am 22. Juni 1638 an Vít Aquinius. Aquinus sollte einen Mantel bei dem
Reitsattel haben.

82 SOkA Klatovy, Cech pláteníků a vlnařů Kašperské Hory 1623–1848, Inv. Nr. 1,
Ev. Einheit L1 – Punkt 12: Kein Geselle darf ohne einen Mantel die Gemeinde
verlassen.
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Diese Kleidung war meistens schwarz – das bestätigte auch Anbaters
Epitaph. Darauf sehen wir, dass auch die Frauen Mäntel oder Pelerinen
trugen.83 Grundlage der weiblichen Kleidung waren Unterhosen und
Mieder, darüber wurde ein Rock (meistens Tuchrock) angezogen.84 Die
Kopfbedeckung bei den Frauen bildeten verschiedene Hauben oder
Hüte und bei Trauergelegenheiten wurden Flor oder Schleier getragen.
Im Winter trugen die Reicheren Pelzmäntel, was auch für die Männer
galt.85 Im Haushalt trugen die Frauen Schürzen mit einem Gürtel, dem
wirklichen Symbol jeder Hausfrau. Der Gürtel war aus hochwertigem
Stoff, mit Silber bestickt und geschmückt. Bestandteil war auch ein Äp-
felchen,86 in dem wohlriechende Stoffe aufbewahrt wurden. In einigen
Fällen gehörte dazu auch eine silberne Kette,87 wohl zum Aufhängen
der Schlüssel. Solche Wertsachen wurden natürlich auch vererbt, oft
mehrere Generationen nacheinander.88 Die Bergreichensteiner Frauen
fertigten ihre Textilien zu Hause selbst an. Aus ihrem Nachlass kennen
wir Garne, sowie gekämmtes oder ungekämmtes Leinen.89

Eine erhebliche Zeit hinsichtlich des langwierigen Verkehrs ver-
brachte der Mensch in der Frühneuzeit auf Reisen. Auch die Berg-
reichensteiner begaben sich auf kleinere oder größere Entfernungen
von Zuhause, sei es zu Fuß, zu Pferde oder mit Wagen. Als im Jahr
83 Vgl. auch SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 120, Ev. Nr. K 67,

Fol. 123.
84 Ebenda.
85 NA Praha, Stará manipulace, Inv. Nr. 196, Sign. B 14/21, Karton 108 – A 5) Das

Besitzinventar von Jan Oelbeck (1604).
86 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6019, Karton N 65 – Der Aus-

zug des Auftrages aus den Waisenbüchern über die Teilung zwischen den Erben
nach Kliment Foltan (30. Juni 1632).

87 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 26.
88 Vgl. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5958, Karton N 55 – Der

Vertrag aus dem 10. Dezember 1627 zwischen den Erben nach Matouš Šperl. Ver-
waiste Tochter Eva sollte erhalten einen silbernen Gürtel, der schon früher ihre
Oma besaß.

89 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68, Fol. 156 –
Der Nachlass von Markéta Šperlová.
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1639 der berühmte Jesuit und Schriftsteller Jiří Plachý-Ferus90 durch
die Stadt reiste, setzte sich für ihn sein adeliger Gönner ein, um für
ihn „einen Klepper (Pferd) oder Wagen“ für seine nächste Reise zu
beschaffen.91 Welche geographischen Horizonte die Bergreichensteiner
damals hatten, lässt sich im Einzelnen nicht feststellen – die meisten
Hiesigen kannten aber sicher die umliegende Region (wo unzählige
Kauf-, Schuld-, und andere Verträge vereinbart wurde), mit Zentrum
in Schüttenhoffen. Viele reisten auch in andere Städte in diesem Gebiet
(Horaschdowitz, Wollin, Pisek, Winterberg, Wallern, Klatau aber auch
Pilsen usw.), zu den benachbarten Gutshöfen (Schihobetz, Rabi, Dra-
zowitz usw.). Einige kamen sogar, meist mit amtlichem Auftrag, in die
Hauptstadt Prag und andere richteten ihren Weg ins bayerische Grenz-
gebiet – vor allem nach Grafenau, Vieshofen und Passau. Zweck der
Reisen waren nicht nur amtliche Dinge, sondern auch der Besuch von
Bekannten und Verwandten. In die Stadt kamen auch offizielle Einla-
dungen zur Hochzeit92 oder zur Beerdigung93 – in beiden Fällen mit
90 Dazu besonders J. LINKA, Jiří Ferus-Plachý SJ a jeho okruh, aneb Dílo nejzáhad-

nějšího českého autora 17. století, in: Listy filologické, 128, 1–2, 2005, S. 145–180.
91 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 6088, Karton N 56 – Ferdinand

Václav Švihovský von Rýzmberk am 24. November 1639 aus Passau an die Berg-
reichensteiner.

92 Siehe z. B. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3368, Karton N 36
– Am 26. Dezember 1621 Zuzana Hradišt’ská von Prachová, Bürgerin aus Písek,
an die Bergreichensteiner. Sie schrieb, dass sie froh wäre, wenn an ihre Hochzeit
mehrere ehrenhafte Menschen kämen und wenn die Bergreichensteiner aus ihrer
Gemeinde dazu jemanden auswählten. Ebenda, Inv. Nr. 3369, Karton N 36 – Am
22. Juli 1629 Viktorín Švantle, Bürger aus Písek, an die Bergreichensteiner, dass ein
junger Mann sich um die Hand seiner Untertanin bewarb und er lehnte ihn nicht
ab. An ihre Hochzeit in seinem Haus lud herzlich ein. Ebenda, Inv. Nr. 3929, Kar-
ton N 39 – Matyáš Křižan, Bürger aus Horaschdowitz, an die Bergreichensteiner
(1619); ähnlich ebenda, Inv. Nr. 4010, Karton N 40 – Jakub Hodánek aus Strakonice
an die Bergreichensteiner (1625).

93 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 5950, Karton N 55 – Am 8. März
1627 Marie Markéta Račínová, geboren Chanovská von Dlouhá Ves, auf Rabí und
Hrádek, an die Bergreichensteiner. Mit der Trauer teilte sie ihnen mit, dass am
18. Februar 1627 ihre Mutter starb. Sie hoffte, dass die Vertreter der Stadt Berg-
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einer gebührenden Bewirtung verbunden. Zu den Freizeitaktivitäten
gehörte sicher auch die Jagd, hatten doch die Bergreichensteiner ein
eigenes Revier, der Fisch- und Vogelfang. Abends saß man oft bis in
die Morgenstunden mit Freunden beim Bier oder Wein und vielleicht
wurden auch Würfelspiele oder Karten gespielt. Zu den edleren Akti-
vitäten gehörte das Lesen, mancher Hausherr studierte abends gelehr-
te Bücher bzw. er las seiner Familie und seinem Gesinde aus der Bibel
vor. Über konkreten Büchern wissen wir allerdings nur etwas aus dem
Nachlass von Daniel Anbater, in welchem das Chronicon Carionis, zwei
Hauspostillen (Predigtsammlungen), das Neue Testament, eine Bibel
und ein „historisches“ Buch über die Vernichtung von Jerusalem er-
fasst sind.94 Besonders beachtenswert ist hinsichtlich des Jahres (1636)
das erstgenannte Buch – ein lutherisches Werk aus der Feder von Philip
Melanchthon! Das bestätigt, dass während des Dreißigjährigen Krieges
ähnliche Bücher auch aus den Haushalten von katholischen Konverti-
ten nicht verschwanden.95 In der Stadt mussten auch Rechtsbücher ge-
wöhnlich erreichbar sein – hauptsächlich Die Stadtrechte des Böhmischen
Königreichs von Kristian Koldín, woraus bei Rechtsstreitereien die zahl-
reichen Bergreichensteiner Nachbarn genau zitierten und mit einzel-
nen Artikel miteinander fochten.96 Mit ihrem intellektuellen Interesse
rechnete übrigens auch M. Adam Rosacius aus Karlsberg, als er ihnen
Ende Novembers 1621 15 (!) Exemplare seines gerade erschienen Wer-
kes über Rathäuser als Geschenk zuschickte und hoffte, dass sie es un-
tereinander verteilen und lesen, damit der Inhalt ihnen zur Erkenntnis

reichenstein „aufs Schloss Rabí ins Haus meiner Trauer“ einen Tag früher für ein
Abendessen kommen, sie über Nacht bleiben, dann ihre Mutter zum Grab beglei-
ten und zurück auf Rabí für ein Mittagessen kommen.

94 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 120, Ev. Nr. K 67, Fol. 127.
95 Vgl. J. KILIÁN, Příběh z doby neobyčejného šílenství. Život a svět krupského koželuha

Michela Stüelera za třicetileté války, Praha 2014 u. a., S. 154–155.
96 Siehe auch SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 1993, Karton N 20

– A) Antwort von Vilém Zmut (16. Juni 1644).
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und zum Nutzen diente.97 Die Frauen kämmten abends gewöhnlich
Leinen, spannen oder stickten.

Wenn der Mensch der frühen Neuzeit, die Bergreichensteiner nicht
ausgenommen, zu einem bestimmte Alter heranreifte, oder wenn er
schwer erkrankte, entschloss er sich, seinen letzten Wille, ein Testa-
ment oder „kšaft/Geschäft“ aufzusetzen. Das aber wieder gilt für die
oberen Schichten. In vielen Fällen kam es auch bei den Reicheren aus
verschiedenen Ursachen nicht mehr zum Verfassen eines Testaments
(hauptsächlich bei plötzlichen Todesfällen). Der hinterlassene Nachlass
wurde dann nach den hiesigen Rechtsgewohnheiten inventarisiert,98

bewertet und früher oder später zwischen dem Erbe und selbstver-
ständlich, wohl auch vorrangig, zwischen den Gläubigern geteilt. Den
minderjährigen Waisen wurden Vormünder bestimmt, die auf ihre Ge-
rechtigkeit und ihr erfolgreiches Gedeihen achten sollten. Die Ansprü-
che der Waisen wurden in speziellen Waisenbüchern registriert, die
nicht überkommen sind. Das Begräbnis war gesellschaftlich mit den
anderen initiierten Zeremonien ein Ereignis mit höherer Teilnahme.
Als Platz der letzten Ruhe wurde von den Bergreichensteinern mei-
stens die Kirche des Hl. Nikolaus ausgewählt. Manche aber ruhten
auch in der Krypta der Pfarrkirche der Hl. Marketa. Zweifellos ließen
sich auch die, die sich es erlauben konnten, kostspielige Epitaphe und
Grabsteine anfertigen. Davon ist nur ein nicht identifizierbarer Grab-
stein in der Pfarrkirche erhalten geblieben – entweder der ganzen Flei-
scherzunft oder eines einzelnen Fleischers, und ebenfalls dort erhalten
geblieben ist ein Grabstein des Hauptmanns Václav Precht aus Rotn-
burk kurz vor dem Ausbruch des Dreißigjährigen Krieges. In der Kir-
che der Hl. Marketa befindet sich ein Epitaph an der Wand aus dem
Jahr 1627, das einem Bürger aus Wallern gehörte, aber es ist nicht be-
kannt, wie es auf seinen Platz kam. Das zweite Epitaph ist ein etwas
Jüngeres und ist im hiesigen Museum ausgestellt. Das Epitaph ließ
97 SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Listy, Inv. Nr. 3569, Karton N36 – M. Adam

Rozacín von Karslperk an die Bergreichensteiner (20. November 1621).
98 Vgl. SOkA Klatovy, AM Kašperské Hory, Knihy, Inv. Nr. 121, Ev. Nr. K 68.
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auch Daniel Anbater aus Rozndorf für sich anfertigen, auf dem er un-
ter einem Kruzifix kniend abgebildet ist, wohl zusammen mit seiner
Frau, zwei kleineren Kindern und mit den schon entschlafenen Eltern
(Beweis dafür ist ein rotes Kreuzchen über ihren Köpfen), im Hinter-
grund eine Gebirgslandschaft mit einer von Mauern umgebenen Stadt
– vielleicht Jerusalem.

Abschließen lässt sich zusammenfassen, dass zum Beginn des Drei-
ßigjährigen Krieges in Bergreichenstein etwa 2000 Menschen lebten
und sich diese Anzahl in den nachfolgenden drei Jahrzehnten im Grun-
de nicht verändert hat, wenn wir das aus den unvollständigen An-
gaben des Personenstandsregisters und aus weiteren komplementären
Quellen beurteilen können. Die Bergreichensteiner waren weder durch
den Krieg, noch durch Emigration oder Pest und andere Epidemien
auf dezimierende Art und Weise betroffen worden, obwohl sich zum
Beispiel die Pest hier wiederholt zeigte (nachweislich 1625 und 1633).
Im Vergleich mit den Städten Nordwestböhmens und auch mit denen
im Bereich Mittelböhmens ist Bergreichenstein also den ausgesproche-
nen demographischen Katastrophen entkommen. Den relativen Wohl-
stand und das solide kulturelle Niveau der hiesigen oberen Schich-
ten beweisen u. a. überkommene Inventare von Hinterlassenschaften.
Es fehlten weder hochwertige Kleidung und Nahrung, noch zahlrei-
ches zinnernes (und auch dekoratives) Geschirr, Silberbesteck, Bücher
auf den Regalen, oder Himmelbetten in den Bergreichensteiner Häu-
sern, viele schon ganz aus Mauerwerk. Die Elite in der Stadt bilde-
ten außer wenigen Angehörigen des hier angesiedelten niederen Adels
zwei Wappenfamilien (Weißenregners aus Weissenfeld und Anbants
aus Rozndorf) und einige weitere Familien (Zmuts, Sippls oder auch
Millers), die auch den hiesigen Stadtrat beherrschten und die lukra-
tivsten Betriebe und wertvollsten Besitz ihr eigen nannten, sogar ein-
schließlich eigener Untertanen. Die zwischenmenschlichen Beziehun-
gen in der Stadt können allerding keinesfalls als idyllisch bezeichnet
werden, denn der Stein des Anstoßes in den meisten Konflikten war
traditionsgemäß immer das Eigentum.
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Abstract

The Population in Kašperské Hory (Bergreichenstein) during the Thirty Years’ War

This study will focus on the limited possible recognition of changes and development

of the population in Kašperské Hory in the period of 1618–1648. It will attempt to

determine its numbers, outline the issue of language/ethnic composition, migration

and other demographic aspects (birth rate, marriage rate, mortality), as well as to dis-

cuss the local elites, everyday lives of the inhabitants and interpersonal relationships.

Keywords

Demography; Population; Kašperské Hory; the Thirty Years’ War; Elites
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under the Reign of Francis I (1815–1835)
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Philosophical Faculty, University of Ss. Cyrill and Methodius in Trnava
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Slovakia
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The Austrian Empire and the Italian Question

Italian “Carbonari”1 represented a highly branched secret organiza-
tion striving first to overthrow the French occupation of Italy at the
1 There is a considerable number of studies and monographs dealing with Car-

bonari and their struggle for Italian independence and against the Austrian
supremacy. See for instance G. BERTI – F. della PERUTA (eds.), La nascita della
nazione. La Carboneria. Intrecci veneti, nazionali e internazionali, Rovigo 2002; R. U.
MONTINI – A. ZANIBONI, I processi Spielberghianni. I fogli matricolari dello Spiel-
berg, Roma 1937; A. ZORZI, Österreichs Venedig. Das letzte Kapitel der Fremdherr-
schaft 1798–1866, Düsseldorf 1990; D. LAVEN, Venice and Venetia under the Habs-
burgs (1815–1835), Oxford 2002; F. PESENDORFER, Eiserne Krone und Doppelad-
ler. Lombardo – Venetien 1814–1866, Wien 1992, pp. 160–161; D. UHLÍŘ, Moravská
epizoda v dějinách italské karbonerie, in: Nový Mars Moravicus, Brno 1999, pp.
366–367; H. REINALTER, Der Geheimbund der Carbonari, in: K. BRANDSTAT-
TER – J. HORMANN (eds.), Tirol – Österreich – Italien, Innsbruck 2005, pp. 571–
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turn of the 18th and 19th century. In the beginning, they were not cen-
trally organized and existed in different branches. Like freemasons,
Carbonari surrounded themselves with mysterious rituals, using the
charcoal burner symbolic, as their name refers to. As opposed to the
apolitical and cosmopolitical goals of freemasonry, however, Carbonari
had pursued the unification and independence of Italy. First Carbonari
lodges were created in the southern Italy, from where they had ex-
panded to the north and crystallized into specific local forms, as for
instance the “guelfi” in the Papal state, “adelfi” or “filadelfi” in Pied-
mont or “federati lombardi” in Lombardy.

Despite Lombardy and Venetia had been affiliated with the Habs-
burg monarchy after the Congress of Vienna 1814/15, Carbonari were
resuming their activities in order to shake off the foreign yoke and join
all the Italian states together. Thus they had become a national chal-
lenge to the multinational Habsburg Empire and the greatest threat to
its security and predominance in the Apennine peninsula.

Being conquered and occupied since 1813, Venetia “had” to be in-
corporated into Austrian Empire after 1815 as compensation for lost
Belgium, for revenues and security to the south as well as for general
Austrian leadership in Italy. Moreover, it was a territory rounding off
Austria and connecting it with Illyria and Dalmatia. Lombardy, how-
ever, was acquired by Habsburg monarchy rather for strategic than
territorial or economic reasons, especially aimed to keep France out
of Italy. There were several groupings struggling for power and in-
fluence in Lombardy already by 1815, reaching from the vice-king Eu-
gène de Beauharnais, pro-French party, the so-called “pure” Italians,
i. e. the Piedmontese expansionists favoring old Savoyard expansion-
ist ambitions in Lombardy, Napoleon’s general and king of Naples
Joachim Murat or even foreign outsider like the British general William

572; E. LENNHOFF, Tajné politické společnosti, Praha 1932, pp. 111–112, 131–132; G.
SCHUSTER, Die geheimen Gesellschaften, Verbindungen und Orden, Wiesbaden 1997,
Vol. 2, pp. 402–403; M. CHVOJKA, Josef Graf Sedlnitzky als Präsident der Polizei- und
Zensurhofstelle in Wien (1817–1848). Ein Beitrag zur Geschichte der Staatspolizei in der
Habsburgermonarchie, Frankfurt am Main u. a. 2010, pp. 41–70, etc.
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Cavendish-Bentinck. As Paul Schroeder put it, the Austrian acquisi-
tion of Lombardy-Venetia was mainly designed “to promote the balance
of power and make Austria secure”, as much from revolution and conspir-
atorial secret societies as from war.2 Despite the obvious conciliation
tendency of the Austrian military and civil authorities towards public
opinion in Lombardy and Venetia, its rule proved inefficient and slow
and disgruntled liberals, army officers and former officials. There are
several political and economic reasons for this phenomenon. First of
all, the new Italian parts of Habsburg monarchy had to be governed
like other provinces of Francis’s centralized patrimonial empire. Thus,
all of the administration, justice and military offices were instructed
rather from remote capital Vienna than from Milan or Venice. Fur-
thermore, the Austrian Emperor Francis I dropped both the idea of
being crowned a King of Lombardy and of introducing Italian self-
government, while substantially limiting the competences of permit-
ted central and provincial congregations. Last phases of Napoleonic
Wars, military rule, Habsburg taxation and post-war economic distress
had not helped Austrians to win Italian minds as well.3 More uncom-
promisingly, the Habsburg political authorities sought to “extinguish
the spirit of Italian unity and ideas about constitution next to killing Italian
Jacobinism”.4

For this particular reason, the newly established Austrian authori-
ties in Lombardy and Venetia introduced an assessment and classifica-
tion policy with respect to political attitudes and activities of all offi-
cials and clerks regardless of rank or position. Numerous lists of vari-
ous Italian officials being characterized as “suspect”, “bad”, “untrust-
worthy” or even “abhorrent to the public” flowed to Vienna in order to
identify and remove prospective opponents of the new regime among
them. Having applied a typical Austrian/German preciseness, there
2 P. W. SCHROEDER, The Transformation of European Politics in 1763–1848, Oxford

1994, pp. 564–570, quotation p. 570.
3 Ibidem, pp. 565–566; H. RUMPLER, Österreichische Geschichte 1804–1914. Eine

Chance für Mitteleuropa, Vienna u. a. 1997, pp. 162–164.
4 D. BEALES, The Risorgimento and the Unification of Italy, London u. a. 1981, p. 41.
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were elaborated descriptions of governmental, provincial and munic-
ipal administration or judicial officials in Lombardy-Venetia, like the
so-called “congregazioni provinciali”, those entitled to sit at the coun-
cilor table, working for the department and city of Venice, prefecture
of Verona and elsewhere, criminal and civil court houses in Padova or
Udine and last but not least, Lombard financial intendants or members
of Procurator General’s office.5

The chief of police6 in Venice, von Raab was ordered to collect as
much information as possible about each and every “former”7 Aus-
trian official in Venetia. He reported in June 1814 that it was impossible
to obtain information about so many office clerks, medical supervisors
or prison guards, because they had been hardly known in the public.
As far as their way of thinking is concerned, however, Raab went on,
“we can assume as true that they were all devoted to the former government,
what they probably cannot be resented for. Initially, since the Austrian occu-
pation, these officials have maintained passive attitudes; many went off with
the enemy troops. Because they are currently anticipating the fate of the Ital-
ian provinces has been decided, they have been approaching the government
5 Haus-, Hof- und Staatsarchiv Wien (thereafter HHStA), Kabinettsarchiv (thereaf-

ter KA), Vertrauliche Akten (thereafter VA), box 50, ff. 63, 65–67 (Verzeichnis ei-
niger übel beschriebener Mailänder Beamten), f. 101 (Verzeichnis der in Ferrara
angestellten des Vertrauens nicht würdigen Beamten), f. 117 (Verzeichnis der vom
Polizeidirektor Raab als verdächtig angegebenen öffentlichen Beamten in Trevi-
so); box 51, ff. 64–74 (Die charakteristischen Auskünfte über die Finanzintenden-
ten der Lombardie), ff. 109–122 (Charakteristik aller italienischen Beamten, die
als zum Ratstisch gehörig angesehen werden können), ff. 142–143 (Charakteristik
der in der Lombardie angestellten Prefekten und deren Stellvertreter), ff. 253–260
(Charakter-Schilderung der Mitglieder der Regenz in Mailand), ff. 265–268 (Ver-
zeichnis der bei dem Kriminal- und Zivilgerichte zu Udine angestellten Beamten),
ff. 314–321 (Charakteristik der bei dem Zivil- und Kriminaltribunal in Venedig
entlassenen Richter), etc.

6 The so-called “general police director” (General-Polizeidirektor).
7 So that such officials are meant who served in Venice and Venetia during the first

Austrian occupation between 1797–1805/6. Thereafter, Venetia had become a part
of Napoleonic Italian Kingdom (until 1814).
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and seeking to win its confidence through hard work and usefulness”.8 The
Venetian chief of police was well aware of the fact that it was “very dif-
ficult to assess public opinion on a public official. Experience has shown that
often those officials were in bad calls, because they have fulfilled their obliga-
tions with rigor and without indulgence; consequently, the most useful, clever
and reliable officials fall into disrepute and are accused of Freemasonry and of
loyalty to the French system in the public”.9 Nevertheless, it emphasizes a
general principle that police excluded, controlled and considered peo-
ple dangerous “because of their freedom, their evil heart, and (. . . ) their
Masonic principles”.10 One had even prepared a list of those persons,
deportation of which was supposed to take place in Lombardy and
Venetia in case of the advance of the enemy.11 Accordingly, persons
like former Capitano provinciale in Venice, Guido Crizzo, renowned
lawyers and freemasons Pietro and Francesco Comaralo or the presi-
dent of Academy of Fine Arts in Venice, cavaliere Zicognara, next to
several others from Treviso or Vicenza as well as from departments
Adige and Friuli should be expelled from Italy.12 Such lists and char-
acteristics might have served as a simple notification, after Napoleon
had been banned to the island of Saint Helena, the warfare finished
in the Apennine peninsula and the Congress of Vienna had restored a
long-expected peace in Europe. It points out clearly, however, that the
transition from French to Austrian rule in Italy had still not been con-
sidered a completed issue. Quite to the contrary, the Austrian political
and police authorities had to keep a watchful eye on Lombardy and
Venetia in order to preserve the newly-made status quo.
8 HHStA, KA, VA, box 50/II, report of Raab from Padova, June 5, 1814.
9 Ibidem.
10 HHStA, KA, VA, box 51, ff. 173–177, Raab to Goess, Venice, September 11, 1815.

Count Julius Strassoldo, the Governor of Lombardy, set up so-called authentic lists
of Freemasons in order to prevent them from maintaining/gaining positions in
the administration. See HHStA, KA, VA, box 51, ff. 52–63, report from Strassoldo,
Milan, November 17, 1815.

11 HHStA, KA, VA, box 51, f. 172, Goess to Hager, Venice, October 1, 1815.
12 HHStA, KA, VA, box 51, ff. 173–177, Raab to Goess, Venice, September 11, 1815.
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Institutional and Secret Tools of Supervision

In his book about Dictatorship and Political Police, the British histo-
rian and sociologist Ernest K. Bramstedt has suggested that one can
compare the activities of the political police against the “enemies of the
state” with a classical three-act-drama. In the first part, the enemies
are being spotted, their plots and organizations discovered. Conse-
quently, the police are chasing and catching them and in the final act,
their punishment and repression is going to take place.13 I’d like to
follow this line of identification, investigation and repression of Car-
bonari by newly established Austrian laws and institutions in the fol-
lowing part. Therefore, I divided it into two sections. In the first one,
we will be looking at the period between the Congress of Vienna and
major Carbonari trials, subdivided further into three phases: (a) final
establishment of Austrian surveillance in 1815–1816, (b) first Carbonari
challenges and the question of Austro-Roman collaboration between
1817–1819 and (c) the years between Carbonari-revolutions and Aus-
trian show trials (1820–1823). In the second part, I will add several
selected generalizing remarks – based on particular source analysis –
about the imprisonment of Carbonari at Spielberg in Brünn, the capital
of the former Habsburg province Moravia-Silesia, between 1822 and
1835.

First, let us have a brief look at the institutional and secret tools of
supervision and administration in Lombardo-Venetia.14 New political
and police institutions were organized in what came to be called the
“Kingdom of Lombardy and Venetia” in order to centralize surveil-
13 E. K. BRAMSTEDT, Dictatorship and Political Police. The Technique of Control by Fear,

London 1945, p. 23.
14 This general part about establishing the Austrian police system in northern Italy

is also based on my previous research in the archives of Vienna and on following
studies: M. CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície s tajným hnutím talianskych
karbonárov po Viedenskom kongrese, in: Historický časopis 56, 2, 2008, pp. 223–
248 and M. CHVOJKA, “Vigilandum Est Semper, Multae Insidiae Sunt Bonis”
or Permanent Police Surveillance in the Pre-March Habsburg Monarchy, in: Nové
historické rozhl’ady – New Historical Perspectives 1, 1, 2011, pp. 45–48.
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lance in Italian territories of Habsburg monarchy. In respective capi-
tals, Milan and Venice, so-called General police directorates (General-
Polizeidirektionen) were established in 1815/16 and their principal
task was to trace and to eliminate the activity of secret societies. New
Austrian police authorities in northern Italy, subordinated to the chief
of the Police and Censorship Court Office in Vienna, Count Joseph
Sedlnitzky and encouraged by Habsburg Foreign Minister Prince Met-
ternich, were seeking already since May 1815 to organize the “post
lodges”15 as an “important vehicle” of surveillance in Italy. These insti-
tutions were created in Milan in 1815 and in Mantova two years later,
while the Austrian attempts to establish them in the Duchy of Tus-
cany had been either significantly delayed (Livorno, 1838) or its sphere
of influence apparently limited (Florence, because of postal treaty be-
tween Tuscany and Piedmont-Sardinia). In addition, Napoleonic gen-
darmerie in Lombardy, established since 1797 in the wake of peace
congress at Campoformio, had been included into the Austrian control
system after 1815, being subordinated to military authorities in Lom-
bardy and Vienna. This paramilitary security force had to submit its
reports both to military and police offices and accounted for state po-
lice affairs to central police office in Vienna.16

In the second half of 1816, Metternich and Sedlnitzky had launched
a political espionage by sending three agents, Chevalier Dumont, Cap-
tain Frizzi and justice official Pietro Dolce to the Apennine peninsula
(especially to Sardinia, Parma, Modena, Tuscany and Rome) and south-
ern France. These agents were charged to collect information about the
folk mood (“Volksstimmung”) in different Italian states, to recruit se-
cret correspondents there and finally to trace secret societies, their ten-
dency, branches and members. These agents had also recruited secret
15 Also called “black cabinets”, i. e. institutions within the usual post office provid-

ing letter censorship by officials specially educated for this regard (opening up the
letters, writing down the content or its parts if interesting and closing and sealing
the letters again in order to be delivered to its recipient).

16 H. GEBHARDT, Die Gendarmerie in der Steiermark von 1850 bis heute, Graz u. a.
1997, pp. 22–24.
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correspondents in Genoa, Livorno, Reggio, Bologna, Rome, Ancona
and Ferrara.17 This basic Austrian network for surveillance of secret
societies was supplementing the role of the Habsburg consuls and am-
bassadors in capitals of bigger Italian states, especially to Rome, Naples
or Turin. They were obliged to organize a local network of spies and
informants in order to provide Austrian state police authorities in Vi-
enna with confidential messages about political situation of the place.
There is a good example concerning one of the most influential Car-
bonari leaders, Count Federico Confalonieri, with respect both to func-
tioning and limitations of this control system. Being perceived as an
engaged and renowned supporter of Italian independence since 1814,
Confalonieri ought to have been closely supervised during his journey
to Naples and Sicily in June 1816.18 Therefore, the General police direc-
tor in Milan, Count Saurau, introduced a two-way scrutiny of this “sus-
picious traveler”. In the first place, a secret agent was employed for this
particular reason, with an obligation to report directly to Milan. Conse-
quently, the Austrian ambassador in Naples, Prince Jablonowsky, was
asked to pay his attention to Confalonieri. Most interestingly, as we
infer from agent’s report, Jablonowsky completely failed in doing his
job, for he “fell in love with the beautiful Countess Confalonieri and made her
exclusive companion”.19 In this case, a bottom-up control proved to be
17 CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 226–229; CHVOJKA, Vigilandum Est

Semper, pp. 45–46.
18 In 1814, Confalonieri led a Milanese delegation urging the Austrian Emperor

Francis I to expand Lombardy at the expense of Piedmont and the Papal state
and to proclaim an autonomous Kingdom of Italy there under an Austrian arch-
duke. See SCHROEDER, p. 566 and RUMPLER, p. 163. For the perception of
Confalonieri, see Allgemeines Verwaltungsarchiv Wien (thereafter AVA), Polizei-
hofstelle (thereafter PHS), box 763, No. 1264 ex 1817, Sedlnitzky to Saurau, Vi-
enna, May 13, 1815 and Saurau to Sedlnitzky, Milan, April 24 and May 31, 1817.

19 The Austrian spy also suggested that there were some positive aspects of
Jablonowsky’s failure. His lively devotion for Countess Confalonieri could have
had a soothing effect on the Neapolitan government, because “the malcontents gen-
erally believed Count Confalonieri was being used by the prince Jablonovsky for the sake
of exploring the mood and feelings of others. The passion for his wife should serve only to
mask this intention”. This reputation was supposed to go ahead of Confalonieri to
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more efficient than a top-down surveillance. In any way, this approach
represents the general principle of the Austrian surveillance in Italy, as
described by Count Saurau: “In order to achieve a correct and safe man-
agement of one part of Italy and to assess its political situation and the mood
of the people, it is necessary to observe both the whole peninsula and contacts
between the malcontents there.”20

Despite of the framework, I have already mentioned, the guardians
of the Austrian “peace, order and security” possessed a rather per-
plexed image of Carbonari, including more or less difference between
hypothesis and reality. The most obvious discrepancy can be seen in
the fact that there was a certainty of intense activities of secret societies
in Italy, but also a growing confusion concerning their hierarchy, mem-
bers or sphere of influence. So-called “Congregazione cattolica apos-
tolica romana” was a first particular group in Piedmont and Lombardy
to attract the working attention of the Habsburg police in June 1816. In
September 1816, this association was claimed to be identical with the
secret society of “Philadelphi”, but there was uncertainty of its affili-
ation with Carbonari. Three months later, the aim of Carbonari was
supposed to be the establishment of Italian republic, while Freemasons
were seen as striving for independent Italian kingdom. Moreover, there
were uncertain reports about the existence of so-called “Guelfi” and
“Concistoriali” allegedly looking for members among the clergy and
“upper class malcontents”. Such information could not but persuade
the Austrian political and police authorities that there was a strong na-
tional independentist movement in different parts of Italy divided gen-
erally between the royalists, “papists” and republicans.21

Sicily, and as the latter had arrived there, he should have been generally avoided
by the constitutionalists, because they took him for a secret spy of Austria. See
AVA, PHS, box 763, No. 1264 ex 1817, Saurau to Sedlnitzky, Milan, April 23, 1817.

20 Ibidem.
21 See CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 226–228.
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First Carbonari Challenges and the Question of Austro-
Roman Collaboration

Whereas Sicily-Naples, Papal state or Piedmont-Sardinia seemed to be
bubbling over with secret societies at the turn of 1816/17, Lombardy
and Venetia looked as an island in the tempestuous sea. This persua-
sion of Foreign minister Prince Metternich and chief of Austrian police
Count Sedlnitzky, however, equaled a self-deception that was going
to be broken already in February 1817. The discovery of Carbonari-
lodge in Ascoli in the Papal province Marches and the escape of its
leader, Count Francesco Merli, to Milan revealing his connections to
Lombardy, set the Austrian police to feverish work. As a result, three
members22 of the discovered lodge entitled “Congregazione cattolica
apostolica romana” had been arrested and a series of house searches
and correspondence controls launched in Milan. As the last measures
didn’t manage to provide enough evidence to convict three arrested
Carbonari of crimes against the state, a closer collaboration and infor-
mation exchange with Rome proved to be absolutely indispensable.23

There were, however, more tasks to solve. First and foremost, the
relationship between Carbonari and Guelfi was to be cleared, since
the latter were said to have established their headquarters in Milan in
June 1817. Gradually, both Austrian and Roman police provided each
other with confidential reports and the confusion of the Austrian for-
eign minister and chief of police with respect to Carbonari had been
lessening. On June 20, Sedlnitzky could report to Metternich that the
secret society of Guelfi was established after Carbonari had become no
secret and thus were limited in their activities. Their purpose consisted
like that of Carbonari in the unity and independence of Italy, be it in
a republican or constitutional form. As for the membership of Guelfi,
however, only Carbonari with a higher degree and the Masons of the
Italian – French creations were allowed to enter this secret society.24

22 Ottavio Albicini, don Antonio Gridoglia and Antonio Masserini.
23 CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 230–231.
24 HHStA, Staatskanzlei (thereafter StK), Noten von der Polizeihofstelle (thereafter
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The attempted insurgence of Carbonari in Macerata southerly of
Ancona and their expansion to Dalmatia and Lombardy posed once
again a question of a real Carbonari-threat within the Habsburg em-
pire. Sedlnitzky didn’t omit to reinforce quiet secret inquiries in this
respect, although the governor of Lombardy, Count Strassoldo, consid-
ered in August 1817 all the possible resonances to be avoided through
the timely Papal action. More importantly, Austrian police authorities
didn’t hesitate to employ arbitrarily looking means in order to main-
tain the peace and order in Italian provinces. For example, because
of being considered a “politically dangerous and corrupted person”,
Count Maghella, former General Police Director in Kingdom of Naples
and one of the closest collaborators of Joachim Murat, was imprisoned
in the Piedmont’s fortress Fenestrelle. Nevertheless, as a Sardinian citi-
zen he repeatedly asked his government to set him free, especially, after
the Habsburg police had failed to provide sufficiently discrediting ma-
terials against him and according to Sardinian government, “the accu-
sations were not so serious to deprive him of his freedom any longer”.25 Both
the Austrian chief of police Sedlnitzky and the general police director
in Milan, Count Saurau, insisted, however, on keeping him further un-
der lock and key for higher state purposes. They regarded him – to
some extent truly – as a “dangerous coryphaeus of an antihabsburg opposi-
tion”. No wonder that his release depended on the level of stabilization
in northern Italy, if one takes into account the expansion of Carbonari
movement there.26

Thus, in dealing with secret societies, the Austrian government ap-
plied a method of secret investigation and close control, aiming at no
“public” steps against the “sect leaders” or higher-ranked promoters of
Italian independence. In addition, it preferred a more precise pursuit
both of the Carbonari and of their attempts to set up new filial lodges

NvP), box 33, Sedlnitzky to Metternich, June 20, 1817.
25 HHStA, StK, Noten an die Polizeihofstelle (thereafter NaP), box 6, Folio 7, Metter-

nich to Sedlnitzky, July 5, 1817.
26 See CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 232–234; CHVOJKA, Vigilandum

Est Semper, pp. 46–47.
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on the Austrian soil as well as to establish contacts with abroad. By
contrast, the Roman police did not hesitate to apply “inquisitorial” and
public measures against secret societies, as the Austrian ambassador in
Rome, Prince Kaunitz, suggested. Accordingly, the chief of Roman po-
lice, Monsignore Pacca, had planned to arrest all the Carbonari-leaders
in Italy on one day and to court-martial them. Consequently, he was
allegedly intending both to publish the verdict with motives and to
grant a full amnesty to all other fraternized, provided that they would
declare their aberrations ruefully within a month at the respective local
authority.27

The data about the activities of Carbonari, Guelfi and Adelfi28 ac-
quired by Prince Metternich at the Congress of Aachen (October 1818)
confirmed once more the importance of mutual collaboration of ultra-
conservative powers in the Apennine Peninsula. After the Carbonari-
lodge in the Venetian province Polesine had been discovered in January
1819, the repressive machine began its work in the Austrian “Italy”,
particularly by establishing the Special investigation commission
(Spezial-Untersuchungskommission) in Venice for the purpose of sup-
pressing the Carbonari-movement more effectively. Count Sedlnitzky,
pointing out that the Carbonari lodge in Polesine had been established
from Ferrara in the Papal State, simultaneously tried to induce the
chief of Roman police, Monsignore Pacca, to make both next and previ-
ously required information from Rome available to Vienna. Neverthe-
less, there was a stumbling block in Austro-Roman collaboration fed
by their different approaches and geopolitical situation. Habsburg po-
lice authorities criticized late information flow from Rome, “too” fast
27 HHStA, StK, NaP, box 7, Metternich to Sedlnitzky, October 8, 1817.
28 In the course of 1818, new information about Carbonari in Lombardy-Venetia

came into the police hands, pointing out Counts Aghutti, Archinto and Crivelli as
the chiefs of Lombardian independentists. In addition, the “sect” of the so-called
“Adelfi” was supposed to exist primarily in Piedmont and to be striving to exert
influence upon different Carbonari and Guelfi lodges. Another reports warned of
the contacts between Russian and Italian “sectarians” as well as of the emergence
of a new secret society called “Societa delfica”. See CHVOJKA, Vigilandum Est
Semper, p. 47.
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detentions of Carbonari by Roman police as well as its “useless” official
publication. Roman authorities, by contrast, disapproved of the tem-
porizing and tepid Austrian strategy and were anxious about the inter-
ference of Austria in Roman affairs.29 Such controversies had affected
the degree of police collaboration between Rome and Vienna on one
hand and the efficiency with respect to preventing Carbonari activities
on the other. It was the weakening vigilance of the Austrian police as
well as the assumption that secret societies would not be able to orga-
nize a revolution for independence successfully without receiving help
from abroad and thus believing the situation in Italy was under con-
trol,30 that had left Metternich and Sedlnitzky completely surprised by
the outbreak of the revolution in Naples in July 1820.

Between Carbonari-revolutions and Austrian Show Trials

The revolutionary outbreak in Naples in July 1820, as opposed to those
in Portugal and Spain four months earlier, alarmed the guardians of
Austrian order and security and provoked a set of rigorous counter-
revolutionary measures.31 First of all, there was a strict supervision of
29 The Papal State suspected Austria because of alleged attempts to gain Papal north-

ern provinces (so-called legations) and thus to strengthen its position in the Apen-
nine peninsula. This hypothesis was false, but based on real Habsburg occupation
right in Papal fortresses Ferrara and Comacchio as a basis for intervention to the
Central and Southern Italy. As Paul W. Schroeder put it, Austria’s acquisition of
Lombardy-Venetia created a deeper problem for the international system. It vir-
tually forced Austria to lead and organize Italy, yet did not really empower her
to do so. Lombardy-Venetia was not big enough as a power base to give Austria
control of the whole peninsula, yet too big for the comfort of others (Piedmont,
Papal State). See SCHROEDER, p. 566; CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície,
pp. 236–237.

30 See CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 239–240.
31 The following text is a short version of my article published in Italian language

(only) – see M. CHVOJKA, Tra nazionalismo e assolutismo. I Carbonari, pri-
gioneri politici di stato nello Spielberg, in: F. LEONCINI (ed.), L’Alba dell’Europa
Liberale. La trama internazionale delle cospirazioni risorgimentali, Minelliana 2012, pp.
31–47.
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borders and passengers travelling from Naples to Piedmont and Lom-
bardy. In late August 1820, the Emperor Francis I proclaimed rigor-
ous punishments against Carbonari in Milan and Venice, reminding
the Austrian subjects of death penalty for treason or life imprisonment
for collaboration.32

In the field of diplomacy, the eastern powers Russia, Prussia and
Austria negotiated the “Italian question” at the congresses in Trop-
pau (Opava) and Laibach (Ljubljana) at the turn of 1820/21.33 Con-
sequently, they resolved upon an antirevolutionary intervention prin-
ciple as well as its particular application in the Kingdom of both Si-
cilies. The Austro-Russian coalition army under the command of gen-
eral Frimont suppressed first the revolution in Naples. After another
Carbonari-revolt had broken out in Piedmont in March 1821, the in-
tervention was extended there as well in order to restore the status
quo. Particular leaders from revolutionary Naples were expelled and
supervised in Austria for “higher political purposes”, following the
example of French exiles (f. e. Joseph Fouché, Anne-Jean Savary) or
Napoleonids. Thus, Police Minister Borelli, Generals Pietro Coletta,
Pedrinelli and Arcovito as well as MP’s Poerio and Pepe found their
forced domicile within city borders of Prague, Graz and Brno. As late
as the congress of Verona had permitted them to choose the residence
of their own except for the Kingdom of both Sicilies.34

Prince Metternich developed also an intense diplomatic offensive
against Switzerland as a “meeting place of all exiled revolutionaries”.
He blamed the Alpine state for giving asylum to political proponents
32 See PESENDORFER, p. 162; CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 240–241;

Seiner Majestät des Kaisers Franz Gesetze und Verfassungen im Justiz-Fache. Für die
Deutschen Staaten der Oesterreichischen Monarchie. Von dem Jahre 1798 bis 1803, Wien
1816, p. 327, §§ 52–55.

33 See for instance P. W. SCHROEDER, Metternich’s Diplomacy at Its Zenith, Austin
1962; J. POLIŠENSKÝ, Opavský kongres roku 1820 a evropská politika let 1820–1822,
Ostrava 1962.

34 See D. UHLÍŘ, Brněnská internace účastníků Neapolské buržoasní revoluce
r. 1820, in: Brno v minulosti a dnes IV, Brno 1962, pp. 32–48; CHVOJKA, Sedlnitzky,
pp. 282–283.
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of constitutionalism and independence of Italy or Germany, what he
came to call “moral abuse” of the Swiss neutrality. His initiatives tem-
porarily succeeded, as the last congress of Pentarchy in Verona (Octo-
ber – December 1822) agreed to a Protocol affirming the expulsion of
political exiles from Switzerland. Moreover, Switzerland proclaimed
so-called “Alien- and Press Conclusum” in July 1823 – limiting free-
dom of the press – under the threat of possible armed intervention of
the “Eastern powers”.35

In Lombardy and Venetia, the Special investigation commission de-
veloped an intense activity meeting with a considerable success. Many
Carbonari leaders were arrested and interrogated whereas a series of
trials in Milan and Venice in early 1820’s demonstrated a climax of
Carbonari-repression. It is fair to mention especially both a “Vene-
tian group” around Felice Foresti and Constantino Munari (1821) and
“Lombardian groups” around Pietro Maroncelli and Silvio Pellico
(1821) as well as Federico Confalonieri and Giorgio Pallavicini (1823).

According to §§ 50–60 of the State Penal Code36 issued by the Em-
peror Francis II in September 1803 and valid from January 1804, Car-
bonari were generally alleged of treason because they had been pro-
moting the society striving to bring about the Austrian sovereignty
in Italy in a violent way, further disturbing the state order by writ-
ings, speeches, railroading the Austrian subjects against the Habsburg
administration as well as by omitting proper denunciation of antihabs-
burg movement. They were also accused of heavy police infringe-
ments, mostly because of their membership in secret societies (freema-
son lodges or Carbonari groups). As the Senate of Justice of Lombardy–
-Venetia reported in May 1821, Felice Foresti, for instance, was
convicted that he had worked for and belonged to the Carbonari after
the purpose of this association had already been known. He attended
the Vendita of Ferrara in November 1817, received and distributed
the Carbonari devices, writings and circulars of the Latin Senate. On
35 CHVOJKA, Zápas habsburskej polície, pp. 241–242.
36 See Kaisers Franz Gesetze, pp. 326–328.
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May 22, 1818, he attended the Carbonari midday meal, briefly, he went
on to belong to the Carbonari league faithfully, which he had entered
as a provisional Austrian judge and remained there even as a definitive
k. k. Praetor.37 Similarly, Antonio Villa was known as a loyal friend of
Foresti and proved to be extremely active in spreading of the “sect” in
1818 for the cause of the conspiracy. He was convicted of having en-
tered Carboneria with full knowledge of their criminal purpose. Fur-
thermore, he confessed to have heard from his Carbonari-fellows that
they should really act. Villa admitted to have won many of the con-
spirators for the “sect”.38

As a consequence of these and similar charges, the capital punish-
ment had been imposed on many of Carbonari. The Emperor Francis
I commuted it however, in all relevant cases to temporary or lifetime
imprisonment at Habsburg fortresses in Brno (Spielberg/Špilberk) or
Laibach. The underlying motive can be seen partly in humanity, but
most importantly in security policy considerations. By saying that “I
decided to overlook the death penalty also to the three most culpable (Solera,
Foresti and Munari – M. CH.) of convicts in question and to change it into
a 20-year prison sentence provided they would make more important discov-
eries – to be proven true yet – concerning several important Carbonari and
the Dignitaries of Milan in particular”,39 the Austrian monarch clearly
ordered to use imprisonment as an instrument of obtaining new data
about Carbonari-branching in Italy.

Obviously, the main goal of Carbonari repression was to securitize
the state order along with the general (deterrent effect of punishment)
37 HHStA, KA, Kabinettskanzleiakten (thereafter KKA), box 50, No. 705, Report of

Senate of Justice in Lombardy–Venetia from May 18, 1821.
38 Ibidem.
39 HHStA, KA, KKA, box 50, ad No. 705, concept of the highest resolution of Em-

peror Francis I to police chief Sedlnitzky (undated). This resolution is to be found
among documents with respect to a show trial with 47 Carbonari, thirteen of
which had been sentenced to death. Firstly, Francis I commuted only ten of them
to temporary imprisonment, while having added later also Felice Foresti, Con-
stantino Munari and Antonio Solera to them.
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and particular prevention (individual correction)40 of political instabil-
ity.

Incarceration of Carbonari at Spielberg under Francis I

During 1820s, there were 23 Italian Carbonari imprisoned at infamous
fortress Spielberg, four of which had died41 there. Most importantly,
we have to mention Silvio Pellico,42 Pietro Maroncelli, Antonio Solera,
Andrea Tonelli, Felice Foresti, Marco Fortini, Antonio Villa, Francesco
Arese, Giorgio Pallavicini, Pietro Borsieri, Gaetano Castillia, Federico
Confalonieri, Cesare Albertini, Luigi Manfredini, Constantino Munari
or Silvio Moretti. Between 1833–1835, further nineteen Italians had
been arrested there, mostly as a consequence of Austrian repression
against Young Italy movement.43

40 Regarding the general deterrence, punishment of the offender functions by exert-
ing influence on the public in general and by deterring others from committing
criminal acts like the former. According to the specific deterrence, the punish-
ment is having an effect on perpetrators themselves and works to educate and
improve them, or at least protects society from them. See H. ORTNER, Gefängnis.
Eine Einführung in seine Innenwelt, Basel 1988, p. 46.

41 For example, Fortunati Oroboni died in 1823, Antonio Villa in 1827 or Silvio
Moretti in 1832.

42 Silvio Pellico spent more than 10 years in one of the harshest Habsburg fortresses.
His memoirs (in this article, I am referring to “Memoirs of Silvio Pellico or My
Prisons, New York 1844”), however, were written in a quite moderate way, but
simultaneously providing the reader with a detailed description of the cruel liv-
ing conditions there. Metternich is notorious for his expression that this book had
harmed Austria more than a lost battle. See H. von SRBIK, Metternich. Der Staats-
mann und der Mensch, München 1925, Vol. 1, p. 490. However, it is important to
note that Pellico is not absolutely objective in his otherwise very valuable account.
For instance, he doesn’t mention the organization of Carbonari, its objectives and
activities as well as his role there in particular, but makes only some general re-
marks in this respect. Consequently, he appears to be completely innocent and the
way of his imprisonment unjust and extraordinary harsh in his book (chapters 57,
61, 71–72, 85), which is not true, for he was trialled legitimately and according to
particular paragraphs of the Austrian penal code from 1803.

43 See O. FRANĚK – O. TOMAN, Špilberk, Brno 1968, pp. 85–91; L. CONTEGIA-
COMO, Spielberg. Documentazione sui detenuti politici Italiani. Inventario 1822–1859,
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Spielberg represented a closed penal institution which was consid-
ered to be one of the harshest fortress prisons in the Habsburg monar-
chy, most importantly due to unbearable sanitary and climatic living
conditions. If a prisoner convicted of treason had been allowed to
move from Spielberg to castle of Laibach in order to pass the rest of
his punishment there under the same conditions, it was still seen as a
moderation of the sentence.44 No wonder that the change of climate
represented a substantial alleviation of living conditions provided that
Carbonari had to be confined in fetters in solitary and double cells45

with restricted and predetermined food portions.46

There was an internal differentiation of inmates according to the
type of crime and sex at Spielberg. At the end of May 1823, there
were 266 male and 58 female prisoners, guided totally by 79 super-
visory guards.47 Carbonari – as political prisoners – were separated
from the other inmates of Spielberg fortress.48 The chief of Austrian

Rovigo 2010.
44 For example, Giorgio Pallavicini asked to be transferred to a location with more

clement climate repeatedly. The same asked Giorgio di Castiglia for his son
Gaetano imprisoned at Spielberg. See Moravský zemský archiv Brno (thereafter
MZA), Moravsko slezské gubernium – prezidium (thereafter MSGP), box 953, No.
515/G ex 1832, f. 5 verso, protocol with Pallavicini made by police director Peter
von Muth, April 10, 1832 and box 955, No. 587/G ex 1834, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy,
June 13, 1834.

45 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 403/G ex 1825, fol. 2, cells allocated to Carbonari,
June 13, 1825.

46 See MZA, Policejní ředitelství (thereafter PŘ), box 70, folio 422, Instruction draft
for Spielberg supervisor in chief with respect to Italian Carbonari, §§ 29–33 and
MSGP, box 947, No. 170/G ex 1825, ff. 21–25, Mittrowsky to His Majesty (Emperor
Francis I), December 21, 1824.

47 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, statement on status and numbers of inmates and guards
at Spielberg from May 29, 1823. For a complete register of names of guards see
MZA, PŘ, box 4, ff. 20–30.

48 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 403/G ex 1825, f. 2, cell allocating to Carbonari, June
13, 1825; box 948, No. 418/G and 480/G ex 1826 (arrival of next four (Brescianese)
Carbonari from Laibach); See also box 950, No. 85/G ex 1828 (cells allocated
to Carbonari) or box 953, No. 246/G ex 1833 (eventual imprisonment of new
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police, Count Sedlnitzky, indicated both safety and “higher” state po-
lice considerations in this regard. First of all, Carbonari were to be
prevented from any possible escape attempt49 by keeping an appropri-
ate close watch over them, which was harder to achieve in isolation
and separation. More importantly, however, it was necessary to induce
the imprisoned Carbonari to reveal “complete data” about “machina-
tions” of secret societies in Italy and to “fill some gaps” in their pro-
tocolar assertions. Their isolation was thus supposed to provoke a
more intense secret communication between them and their families or
supporters, possibly providing a desired information source for Aus-
trian police. Both the governor of Moravia and Silesia Count Anton
Friedrich Mittrowsky as a supreme authority in terms of Carbonari
surveillance at Spielberg and Brno police director Peter v. Muth as a
direct subordinate of Count Sedlnitzky were asked to send a relevant
report at least every six months for these explicit reasons.50 Not sur-
prisingly, Muth was obliged by Sedlnitzky in a “strictly confidential
way” both to scrutinize the governor’s actions concerning Carbonari
inconspicuously and without being suspected and to report whether
and how Mittrowsky had been implementing imperial orders.51 Fur-
thermore, the Austrian police and political authorities in Vienna re-
quired regular reports about morality, discipline and health status of
Carbonari.52 Apparently, control and treatment of Carbonari was being

traitors).
49 These considerations were fully justified, for there were not only organized at-

tempts to escape from Spielberg in 1820 and 1822 (MZA, PŘ, box 70, ff. 9–12,
Muth to Sedlnitzky, October 7, 1820; MSGP, box 947, No. 503/g ex 1822, Smerczek
to governorate, December 5, 1822), but also to assassinate the Spielberg supervisor
in-chief Smerczek in April 1826 (see MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 227/g, Governer’s
decree to Sedlnitzky, April 25, 1826).

50 MZA, PŘ, box 2, Sedlnitzky to Mittrowsky, January 22, 1822 and Sedlnitzky to
Muth, January 31, 1822.

51 MZA, PŘ, box 4, f. 7, Sedlnitzky to Muth, June 20, 1825.
52 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 310/G ex 1825, folio 1, Sedlnitzky to Mittrowsky, May

25, 1825 and No. 592/G ex 1825, f. 1, Emperor Francis I to Mittrowsky, November
27, 1825.
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run simultaneously according to general laws,53 particular surveillance
instructions,54 house rules and both specific imperial and state police
directives, examples of which we have mentioned above.

The arrested Carbonari were forbidden to correspond55 with any-
body including their families. Moreover, they should not come into
contact with other criminals arrested at Spielberg as well as with any-
body not officially entrusted with guarding or treating them due to
imperial order from Mid-November 1825.56 As a result, they were con-
fined to “socialize” only with their cell mate and police director Muth.
The priest, physicians and guards had to limit the conversation “to un-
avoidable necessities”. Moreover, Carbonari were to be prevented from
communicating by knocking on the cell walls or discussing through
windows.57 Spielberg supervisor in-chief, Moritz Smerczek, was
obliged to report daily about surveillance of Carbonari to governor
Mittrowsky while three most reliable watchmen58 – Joseph Schiller,
Ernest Kral and Vinzenz Kupitzky – had to guard them.

53 See Kaisers Franz Gesetze, pp. 320–322 (§§ 11–24).
54 Police director instructed the Spielberg supervisor in-chief in detail (§ 60) in terms

of imprisonment, cell furnishing and cleaning, clothing, occupation, spiritual ed-
ucation, nourishment, medical care and surveillance of Carbonari. See MZA, PŘ,
box 70, ff. 418–422, Instruction draft for Spielberg supervisor in chief with respect
to Italian Carbonari; MSGP, box 947, No. 310/G ex 1825, f. 1, Sedlnitzky to Mit-
trowsky, May 25, 1825.

55 Relatives of Carbonari could get messages about their health status only via gov-
ernor of Moravia-Silesia. Otherwise, they were reminded of the fact that accord-
ing to § 13 of the Austrian Penal Code, it was forbidden to supply Carbonari with
messages from outside, be it from relatives or other persons. See Kaisers Franz
Gesetze, p. 320 (§ 13); MZA, MSGP, box 950, No. 473/g ex 1827; box 951, No. 72/g
ex 1829, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy, January 24, 1829.

56 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 570/G ex 1825, f. 1, Emperor Francis I to Mittrowsky,
Pressburg, November 13, 1825.

57 See MZA, PŘ, box 70, f. 422, Instruction draft for Spielberg supervisor in chief
with respect to Italian Carbonari, §§ 44–45, 48, 51, 57–58.

58 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, ff. 10 and 12, Mittrowsky to Emperor Francis I, Decem-
ber 21, 1824.
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Medical Care, Spiritual Control and Question of Work
at Spielberg

As far as medical care at Spielberg was considered, both the “house
physician” Dr. Joseph Bayer and surgeon Linhard were visiting Spiel-
berg regularly three times a week. In specific cases and for not every
physician had been allowed to gain access to Carbonari, the substituted
medical assistant Dr. Steiner von Pfungen was brought in.59 Carbonari
could not correspond with their families, but the latter were supposed
to get trimestrial messages about state of health of their imprisoned
relatives.60 Carbonari were to be healed in their cells, while taking pre-
scribed and necessary (i. e. no redundant) medicaments only. In curing
their illnesses,61 physicians were entitled to ask for alleviations like re-
moving of chains62 or ensuring better food or clothes.63

59 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 170/g ex 1825, ff. 13–14, Mittrowsky to His Majesty,
December 21, 1824.

60 See MZA, MSGP, box 949, No. 146/G ex 1827, medical reports of all Italian Car-
bonari at Spielberg from March and August 1827; box 950, No. 182/G ex 1828,
medical reports from May 1828; box 951, No. 374/G ex 1829, medical reports
from August 1829; box 952, No. 52/G ex 1830, medical reports from February
1830 etc.

61 Carbonari sufferred for example from flatulence, indigestion, blood flow, haem-
orrhoids, angina pectoris, gout or even lymphatic tumour, as a result of which
Pietro Maroncelli’s left leg had to be amputated in June 1828. See medical reports
mentioned in the footnote above and for Maroncelli see MZA, MSGP, box 950,
No. 100/G and 182/G ex 1828; box 951, No. 347/G ex 1828, f. 2 verso, Inzaghy to
Francis I, July 2, 1828 and No. 515/G ex 1828, (artificial limb for Maroncelli); PŘ,
box 4, f. 12, Sedlnitzky to Muth, July 8, 1828.

62 The visitation of police director Muth had revealed in February 1827 that more
Italian prisoners at Spielberg were fastened partly with one chain only, partly
without chains and partly only with handcuffs. Consequently, the authorities in
Vienna required to know the reasons for such alleviations. See MZA, MSGP, box
949, No. 169/G ex 1827, Sedlnitzky to temporary governor of Moravia-Silesia,
Count Klebelsberg, March 29, 1827.

63 MZA Brno, PŘ, box 70, f. 421, Instruction draft for a Spielberg supervisor in chief
with respect to Italian Carbonari, §§ 34–41. See also MZA, MSGP, box 949, No.
434/G ex 1827, Imperial resolution about food for Pellico; box 950, No. 496/G
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Walking and “making use of fresh air” also proved to be very im-
portant measure in terms of health protection of Carbonari, especially
if they had been imprisoned in casemate wall of Spielberg without di-
rect access of sunlight and outside world. Silvio Pellico describes it in
his memoirs as follows: “It had been established from the first that each of us
should have an hour to walk, twice a week. Afterwards this relief was granted
every other day, and still later, every day, except festivals. Each one was taken
to walk separately, between two guards, with muskets on their shoulders.”64

The governor Mittrowsky as a provincial head of Carbonari surveil-
lance was compelled to provide them with such a possibility by im-
perial instructions from December 4, 1824.65 Consequently, they used
the so-called “small terrace” for this purpose, walking two by two66

there according their cell allocation, for the bigger terrace on the other
Spielberg side did not conform to required security regards.67 Its small
size was not the only negative, however, because a smoke was said to
condense there in windy weather. Therefore, the chimneys at Spielberg

and 549/G ex 1827, better food for Pellico, Pallavicini, Solera and Tonelli. In case
of disease, prisoners were given double size of their usual portion. For instance,
12 of 13 examined Carbonari were issued with these double portions in December
1829 (MZA, MSGP, box 952, No. 523/G ex 1829, report of Spielberg supervisor
in-chief, Aloys Dickmann, from December 17, 1829) or 9 of 9 Carbonari in April
1832 (MZA, MSGP, box 953, No. 561/G ex 1832, report of Spielberg supervisor
in-chief, Aloys Dickmann, from April 26, 1832).

64 See Memoirs of Silvio Pellico, p. 65 (chapter LXV).
65 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 170/g ex 1825, folio 1, Mittrowsky to His Majesty,

December 21, 1824.
66 See MZA, MSGP, box 950, No. 43/G ex 1828, Smerczek to governorate’s presid-

ium, January 29, 1828.
67 Firstly, one could dare to jump from the bigger terrace in order to escape through

the forest. Secondly and lastly, it was possible to communicate both with external
world by means of signs and with the wife, relatives and servants of Spielberg
supervisor in-chief, because the windows of his flat were situated towards the
bigger terrace. See MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 170/g ex 1825, ff. 3–4, Mittrowsky
to His Majesty, December 21, 1824.
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were to be extended in spring 1825.68 Since January 1828, Carbonari
were allowed to spend two hours a day walking on the terrace.69

Despite the fact that the overall aim of Carbonari’s imprisonment
was to repress, isolate and marginalize them, there were also strong
pastoral objectives in order to promote their reintegration after release.
Being deprived of possibility to write and read in general, Carbonari
were allowed to read Bible and religious books70 like “La religione
vincitrice” by Antonio Valsecchi,71 “Le confessioni” by St. Augustin
or “Vita e Dottrina di Gesú Christo” by Federico Leopoldo di Stol-
berg.72 The Emperor Francis I placed great emphasis also on spiritual
and pastoral assistance for imprisoned Italians and ordered them to
take part in holy messes on Sundays and bank holidays. It was not
easy to implement this resolution, however, for there were only two
priests at Spielberg for both male and female prisoners so that Car-
bonari were escorted to “house church”73 only on occasion of major
feasts. This was the case, especially if they were to be isolated not
only from other criminals at Spielberg, but even among themselves
by distinguishing a “Lombard” and “Venetian” group.74 Later on, a
particular post of a chaplain for Carbonari had been established and
priest Stephan Paulovich was sent to Spielberg directly from Vienna,
where he had served as a court chaplain, in order to provide church
and confession service for them in Italian language at least every three
68 Ibidem, ff. 2–4.
69 See MZA, MSGP, box 950, No. 43/G ex 1828, Smerczek to governorate’s presid-

ium, January 29, 1828.
70 MZA, MSGP, box 949, No. 54/g ex 1827, Saurau to Mittrowsky, January 9, 1827.
71 MZA, MSGP, box 950, No. 604/g ex 1828, Saurau to Inzaghy, November 20, 1827.
72 MZA, MSGP, box 953, No. 1369/g ex 1832, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy, September 12,

1832.
73 Carbonari were to be separated from each other during holy masses as well. See

MZA, MSGP, box 950, No. 35/g ex 1828, statement of Spielberg supervisor in-
chief Smerczek about division of Carbonari during the holy mass from January
21, 1828.

74 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 170/g ex 1825, ff. 1 and 14–16, Mittrowsky to His
Majesty, December 21, 1824.

65



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

West Bohemian Historical Review V | 2015 | 2

months.75 This was only the first and preliminary step until “a reliable
priest, devoted to government, zealous in catholic education and speaking per-
fect Italian”76 would be found and hired for this purpose in Moravian
capital itself.

While authorities in Brno were looking for a suitable candidate in
the second half of March 1825, imperial instructions77 from Vienna de-
termined main goals as well as scope of employment for priest Paulo-
vich.78 The first one of them is particularly interesting for us because it
concerned the spiritual and pastoral assistance (control) of Carbonari
and its relations to “arrest policy” (Arrestpolizey), pastoring itself as
well as to what was termed as a “beneficial” part. By referring to
“Arrestpolizey”, the priest was reminded not to behave in a way, which
could change or alleviate the punishment itself, especially with respect
to preserving order and security at Spielberg. Thus, he was forbidden
to assess the verdict or to deliver presents or messages of all kinds from
and to imprisoned Carbonari.79 As far as pastoring was concerned,
the pastor had to confine himself to confession for the purpose of in-
vestigating the psychic state of Carbonari and to eschew any insights
into record of proceedings. Further, he ought to make them realize
damnability, culpability and severity of their crimes, to correct their re-
ligious principles if necessary and to evoke remorse and repentance in
them. At the same time, the priest was expected to induce Carbonari
75 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 145/G ex 1825, f. 1, Saurau to Mittrowsky, March

10, 1825; FRANĚK – TOMAN, p. 82.
76 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 145/G ex 1825, f. 1, Saurau to Mittrowsky, March 10,

1825.
77 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 194/G ex 1825, “Instruction for a pastor to be sent

to the Italian prisoners in the castle hill of Brno” and “Directive for a religious
teacher of the arrested criminal persons”.

78 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 194/G ex 1825, f. 1, Saurau to Mittrowsky, Vienna,
March 29, 1825 along with a transcript of imperial order of Francis I from March
28, 1825 (f. 3).

79 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 194/G ex 1825, “Instruction for a pastor to be sent
to the Italian prisoners in the castle hill of Brno”.
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to bear their punishment patiently.80 In the final “beneficial” regard,
there were instructions in case that the imprisoned Italians would re-
veal some new data – as a sort of making amends for commited crimes
– about both persons involved in Carboneria and means promoting
goals of this association. In the beginning, it does not seem as a supe-
rior hierarchical claim to break the seal of confession, for it depended
on the priest to decide to what extent the arrest policy, state security
or an upcoming crime had been concerned. However, the latter was
obliged to report on these issues immediately either to governor (ar-
rest policy) or to Emperor (state security, upcoming crime),81 so that the
existing regime was to benefit from this spiritual service. The directive
for a religious teacher of arrested criminals bore itself in a similar spirit
delimited between arrest policy, non-interference with authority and
moral betterment of prisoners.82

Having seen religious assistance for Carbonari ordered, the impe-
rial order renewed the claim to get regular priest’s reports on Car-
bonari’s piety and their frame of mind as well as on their degree of
improvement.83 Thus, we can lay our hands on interesting psycho-
logical analysis concerning all Italian Carbonari at Spielberg and serv-
ing as a spiritual barometer of Habsburg prison’s system and hard-
ships of its repression. No wonder that most of Carbonari showed
signs of remorse, including Silvio Pellico, Pietro Maroncelli, Andrea
Tonelli, Constantino Munari or Federico Confalonieri.84 Such system
80 Ibidem.
81 Ibidem.
82 See MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 194/G ex 1825, “Directive for a religious teacher of

the arrested criminal persons” (§ 16).
83 MZA, MSGP, box 951, No. 55/G, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy, January 26, 1829; box 952,

No. 87/G, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy, February 24, 1830.
84 Silvio Pellico, for instance, was characterized by priest Vinzenz Žiak in Febru-

ary 1829 as a quiet, almost always sad and sickly man, explaining his offence –
like Pietro Maroncelli – by reading “detrimental” books and contacts with “evil-
minded’ people. He was aware of his guilt, considered punishment as a righteous
act of God’s providence and showed a great respect for every authority. To the
contrary and as an exception, Silvio Moretti went on to claim to be innocent but
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resembles Quaker penitentiaries in Pennsylvania in late 18th century,
viewing offenders as those who had abandoned God and therefore
should be guided back to Him. According to a proverb “a fault con-
fessed is half redressed”, bible reading and the question of atonement
were seen as an inherent part of punishment.85

Work assignment supposed to be one of central issues of the penal
system, though not for the sake of cost-effective utilization, but as a fur-
ther “distraction” and prevention of malicious and pernicious effects
of “idleness”. As in the case of Carbonari’s walks, however, particular
imperial directives were coming into collision with general ones with
respect to their scrutiny. Accordingly, Carbonari should be assigned
an appropriate work to be done two by two or collectively in a bigger
room, but, of course, in isolation from the other inmates at Spielberg.86

For this last purpose, they had not been sentenced to carry out pub-
lic work. Consequently, governor Mittrowsky considered it impossi-
ble to realize such instructions, especially in terms of perpetual over-
crowding of the penitentiary and increasing number of expenses and
supervisory staff.87 Indicating complications connected with activities
like gardening or carpentry, Mittrowsky suggested reading of belletris-
tic, ancient or scientific books except for diplomacy and politics to be
permitted for Carbonari as an appropriate “work” and sign of impe-
rial mercy.88 Such a measure had not been adopted though, because
the general policy pursued a contradictory course.89 The imprisoned

on the other hand, he liked visiting religious lessons. See MZA, MSGP, box 951,
No. 80/G, Vinzenz Žiak’s comment on Carbonari, February 8, 1829.

85 See ORTNER, pp. 24–25.
86 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 170/G ex 1825, ff. 8–9, Mittrowsky to His Majesty

(Emperor Francis I), December 21, 1824.
87 Mittrowsky pointed out, it would be necessary to employ 9 instead of current

three watchmen in order to supervise Carbonari during work in their cells. One
had to bring in either next Spielberg inmates or salaried craftsmen as well in order
to instruct Carbonari in new activity. Ibidem, ff. 9–12.

88 Ibidem, ff. 9–13.
89 In January 1826, Emperor Francis I ordered to send all books and personal be-

longings of Carbonari to Vienna, excluding clothes in which they arrived at Spiel-
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Italians had to get by with activities like wool spinning or socks and
hosiery knitting by means of wooden needles.90 Thus, chronic back-
wardness and ineptness of the penitentiary structure91 as well as re-
quirements of maintaining security and preventing disorder proved to
be considerable limiting factors of the “ordinary” and desired confine-
ment and treatment of Carbonari. These considerations might also lead
the new Emperor Ferdinand I as well as judicial and police authorities
in Vienna to offer Carbonari at Spielberg an option of being deported
to America in 1835.92

Structural-functional Perspectives and Conclusions

As Gresham M. Sykes has suggested, applying a structural-functional
approach to the prison as a microcosmos or small-scale society

berg. Consequently, Carbonari were allowed to read a spiritual literature only
(like Divozioni ovvero Esercizi sacri; Introduzione alla vita divota, composta da
S.Francesco di Sales or Dei fondamenti delle religione by Antonio Valsecchi). See
MZA, MSGP, box 948, No. 83/G ex 1826, Sedlnitzky to Mittrowsky, February 10,
1826 (including list of books brought by imprisoned Carbonari – Silvio Pellico and
Pietro Maroncelli alone possessed more than 70 various works in 154 volumes, in-
cluding Petrarca, Baretti, Homer, Voltaire, Montesquieu, Corneille, Racine or Mol-
liere) and No. 477/G ex 1826, Muth to Mittrowsky, August 2, 1826 (including a
list of permitted devotional books for Carbonari made by Smerczek on July 31,
1826).

90 MZA, MSGP, box 947, No. 170/G ex 1825, f. 11, Mittrowsky to His Majesty (Em-
peror Francis I), December 21, 1824; box 949, No. 426/g, f. 1 verso, Governor’s
decree to Sedlnitzky, August 13, 1827; box 950, No. 506/G ex 1827; box 951, No.
377/G ex 1828; No. 73/G and 93/G ex 1829 or box 952, No. 105/G ex 1830.

91 For attempts to overcome these problems by introducing penal colonies see G. N.
MODONA, Das historische Gleichnis der Strafkolonien, in: M. da PASSANO
(ed.), Europäische Strafkolonien im 19. Jahrhundert, Berlin 2006, pp. 1–6.

92 Pietro Borsieri, Giovanni Albinola, Felice Foresti, Gaetano Castiglia, Argenti as
well as Federico Confalonieri accepted it and were to be transported first to
Gradisca and from there to America. See MZA, MSGP, box 956, No. 876/G ex
1835, Sedlnitzky to Ugarte, December 7, 1835; No. 910/G ex 1835, Sedlnitzky to
Ugarte, December 22, 1835 and No. 98/G ex 1836, Sedlnitzky to Ugarte, February
11, 1836.
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specified questions about the problems of continuity and order, espe-
cially by seeing the prison’s objectives, social and physical environ-
ment, perceptions and social roles of guards and inmates etc. as in-
terrelated elements. Accordingly and in spite of limiting particular
conditions, prison offers the possibility of greater insights on the na-
ture of state’s system of control.93

Without getting too involved with complicated Parsonian theory of
social system94 here because of space absence, I consider Sykes’s sim-
plified set of basic insights95 fully applicable to and useful for general-
izing of Carbonari’s imprisonment at Spielberg for following reasons.
First and foremost, norms – of both guards and inmates – can be seen
as a function of social structure and thus as shaped by the system of
power and hierarchical surveillance in which they played out their so-
cial roles.96 We have seen the system of a “double” or checked control
with a governor to be scrutinized by police director, Spielberg supervi-
sor in-chief by his subordinate second supervisor or a priest whose in-
structions concerned both religious and political purposes. In addition,
there was a coexistence of general and particular directives contradict-
ing themselves to a certain degree,97 referring to a multiple respects (of
authority, legality, justice, humanity, christianity etc.) to be taken into
account.

We cannot but agree with a statement that imprisonment involved
a set of deprivations that went far beyond the loss of liberty or material
comfort. For instance, there was a number of psychological threats to
the self-conception or sense of worth,98 Italian prisoners had to face.
Various statements on Carbonari’s medical status and frame of mind
93 G. M. SYKES, The Structural-Functional Perspective on Imprisonment, in: T.

BLOMBERG (ed.), Punishment and Social Control, New York 1995, p. 80.
94 See T. PARSONS, The Social System, London u. a. 1991.
95 See SYKES, pp. 78–83.
96 Ibidem, p. 80.
97 For instance concerning medical care, church service, walking or work assignment

of Carbonari.
98 See SYKES, p. 82.
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reveal it entirely, be it because of isolation, length of imprisonment or
after having seen their inmates to be released prematurely while be-
ing excluded from such a mercy.99 As a concequence, much of the be-
haviour of inmates could be understood as conscious or unconscious
attempts to meet and counter the problems posed by the deprivations
of prison life.100 Be it by illegal communications, repeated clemency
appeals,101 expressed desires102 and complaints, loyal and submissive
behaviour or even declarations to His Majesty.

Moreover, a certain degree of “cooperation” between inmates and
guards can be noticed for the sake of a “quiet institution”, especially
in exchange for illegal or forbidden rewards such as guards ignoring
the infraction of prison rules by Carbonari.103 Silvio Pellico mentioned
it in his Memoirs104 and we can confirm such a phenomenon at least
until spring 1826 as police director Muth discovered a series of defi-
ciencies in scrutinizing Carbonari. However, simple casualness and
99 See MZA, MSGP, box 953, No. 1224/g ex 1832, ff. 1–2, Muth to Inzaghy, Au-

gust 23, 1832.
100 See SYKES, p. 82.
101 MZA, PŘ, box 4, f. 17, Sedlnitzky to Muth, July 18, 1828 (Villa, examination in

memoriam); MSGP, box 954, No. 237/G ex 1834, Governor’s decree to Sedlnitzky,
March 19, 1834 (clemency appeal of Borsieri, Confalonieri, Castiglia); box 955, No.
587/G ex 1834, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy, June 13, 1834 (rejection for Castiglia). In
following cases, Carbonari had been released from prison – MZA, MSGP, box 952,
No. 346/G ex 1830, Sedlnitzky to Inzaghy, July 27, 1830 (remission of punishment
for Maroncelli, Pellico and Tonelli); box 953, No. 334/G ex 1832 (remission of
punishment for Alexandre Andryane); PŘ, box 71, f. 49, governor Ugarte to Muth,
March 24, 1835 (remission of punishment for Munari and Bacchiega).

102 Except for usual desires of Carbonari to get better food or clothes, new books or
opportunity to correspond with relatives, there were also specific wishes, like An-
tonio Villa desiring a wig of Federico Confalonieri requesting a lathe. See MZA,
MSGP, box 947, No. 730/g, f. 9 verso, Mittrowsky to Francis I, December 21, 1824;
box 948, No. 418/G ex 1826, f. 4, Mittrowsky to Francis I, May 19, 1826; box 949,
No. 161/G ex 1827; box 950, No. 470/G ex 1827 or box 952, No. 589/G ex 1830.

103 See SYKES, p. 81.
104 See Memoirs of Silvio Pellico, p. 65 (chapter LXIV – food offers for Pellico by

Schiller), p. 70 (chapter LXXI – conversations with Schiller) or p. 78 (chapter
LXXIX – sleeping of guards).
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service neglect105 might come into consideration as well, though to a
limited degree, for only the most reliable106 guards were entrusted with
supervising Carbonari.

There is also a claim that behavior patterns of inmates sprang from
values, attitudes and beliefs finding expression in the so-called “inmate
code”. That implies a search for a theoretical and empirical variable to
find out the extent of inmate’s conformity to such a “code”. I tend
to agree with Gresham M. Sykes that it demonstrated more an ideal
than a description of how inmates behaved,107 especially if we take
into account a special treatment of Carbonari at Spielberg, their general
isolation from other inmates and subdivisions among themselves as
well.

Well, let me come to my conclusions. The clash between ultracon-
servative monarchical order and nationalist emancipation movement
of various Carbonari groups demonstrates a classical example, when
security of the state had opposed and actually was forced to oppress
the liberty of its people (nations) for the sake of (inter-)national peace
and order. However, there were first clear indications that the seem-
ingly insurmountable ideological dichotomy of these political actors,
which had not been channeled by gradual change of the political sys-
tem in Austria, could only be overcome by the revolution, i. e. by an
instrument tracing back its legitimacy to French, American or even
English revolutions. Following this point we can suggest a paradox-
like thesis, that preserving peace and order in general does not always
mean the absence of violence and of revolutions in particular.
105 Except deficiencies discovered by police director Muth in spring 1826, there was

also one even more fatal offence in September 1824, as watchman Urban aban-
doned his post in front of Carbonari prisons and had been discovered in a pub,
addicted to drinking. Urban was kept in prison for 68 hours and afterwards
25 days in solitary house arrest and four months in usual house arrest. See MZA,
MSGP, box 947, No. 152/G ex 1826, ff. 1–4, Smerczek to governorate’s presidium,
March 10, 1826.

106 For guards imposing silence or enforcing regulations see Memoirs of Silvio Pellico,
p. 63 (chapter LXIII), p. 65 (chapter LXIV) or p. 68 (chapter LXVIII).

107 See SYKES, p. 82.
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The very fact that the revolutions of 1820s in Italy and partially in
Greece – as opposed to those in France, Spain and Portugal – had been
activated and run by secret societies, proved to be the main factor in
increasing and intensifying the repressive and preventive (censorship,
travel restrictions etc.) police measures in the Habsburg Empire. From
then on, the fight against real or imagined secret societies had become
the principal task of Austrian police, occupying its authorities until the
end of Pre-March period in 1848.

Despite of severe punishments against Italian Carbonari, the trials
had not been run completely arbitrarily and the treatment of the pris-
oners of the state complied to some extent with the general regards
of Christianity and humanity, especially if compared to brutal deten-
tions and torturing under totalitarian and authoritarian regimes of the
20th century. Nevertheless, the close confinement in the fortress for
political reasons reminds us of the exceeding value which basic hu-
man rights/liberties associated with civil or political activity demon-
strate for us today. Finally, the lasting contribution of national move-
ments towards democratization and juridification of society cannot be
denied. Nevertheless, to paraphrase Quentin Skinner from the Cam-
bridge School of the history of political ideas, the current developments
(especially after 9/11) are making us aware even in 21st century that the
dangers of insecurity might prevail over freedom and liberty regard-
less of the type of political system.108

Abstract

This study deals with the Italian question in the Habsburg Monarchy between 1815

and 1835 in terms of the Austrian political and police sources. In the introduction,

the author points out the shortcomings of the newly acquired Austrian Italian territo-

ries Lombardy and Venetia as well as the measures seeking to suppress nationalism,

constitutionalism and jacobinism there. Since the Austrian authorities had not con-

sidered the incorporation process by far as concluded, the nature of the documents

108 Public evening lecture entitled “Liberty and Security. The Early Modern De-
bate”, delivered at the conference “Sicherheit in der Frühen Neuzeit” (Philipps-
University at Marburg, Germany) on September 15, 2011.
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mentioned above follow the line of strict surveillance and threat identification, inves-

tigation, arrest and repression. In the last section, the attention is being paid to var-

ious questions concerning the incarceration of Carbonari at the notorious Moravian

prison fortress Spielberg, e. g., the way of their treatment, medical care or spiritual

control.

Keywords

Absolutism; Nationalism; Carbonari; Surveillance
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During the so-called Pre-March Period from the end of the Napoleonic
Wars in 1815 to the revolutionary upheaval in 1848, Italy played an im-
portant role in the European States System as created at the Congress
of Vienna.1 Standing midway between the Ottoman Empire, entirely
left out of this system of the public law of Europe, and Germany, pro-
tected by its legal rules as well as the strong bonds of the German Con-
federation, Italy was a member of the European family but politically
disunited, formed by small states without any supranational body that
would have offered them protection against external threat. Conse-
quently, the Apennines after 1815 were an easier target for the Great
Powers’ ambitions than Central Europe, where the German Confeder-
ation granted extraordinary security to its members while simultane-
ously preserving their sovereignty. The result for Italy was that in the
decades following the Congress of Vienna it represented a vulnerable
1 This paper has been written as a part of the research project GA15-04973S financed

by the Czech Science Foundation (GA ČR).
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point in the lower regions of the Continent, in other words of the or-
der established at this congress, by attracting the attention of the self-
serving and sometimes even illegal conduct of the European Powers
and failing to offer a suitable environment for the better cooperation of
its usually minor princes jealous of their own sovereignty, something
the German Confederation actually did.

How problematic Italy was for the European States System before
1848 is also evident from the fact – often neglected by historians and
political scientists – that the first war between two European countries
after the end of the Napoleonic Wars occurred in the Apennines ow-
ing to the Sardinian Kingdom’s invasion of Austria’s Lombardy. In
fact, the attention paid to Italian events in surveys of the functioning
of this system is surprisingly low. One can mention here the promi-
nent works in the Anglo-Saxon and German speaking milieus: Paul
W. Schroeder’s Transformation of European Politics with little attention
paid to Italy and Matthias Schulz’s Normen und Praxis almost omitting
it, for example, completely ignoring the important Anglo-Neapolitan
Sulphur Crisis of 1840.2 There are naturally a considerable number of
studies on particular issues concerning Italy, including some surveys
of the relations between specific countries of the peninsula and various
European Powers, but they usually lack a more complex – all-European
– outlook.3 The result is that an in-depth evaluation of Italy’s role in the
European States System in 1815–1848 has never been offered.

If one attempts to embark upon this ambitious task and evaluate
Italy’s importance on the Pre-March diplomatic chessboard, it is neces-
sary to take into consideration several challenges which must first be
overcome. Primary among them is not to get mired in the phraseology
of the Risorgimento, in other words not to attribute too much value to
2 P. W. SCHROEDER, The Transformation of European Politics 1763–1848, Oxford 1996;

M. SCHULZ, Normen und Praxis. Das Europäische Konzert der Großmächte als Sicher-
heitsrat, 1815–1860, München 2009.

3 See for example G. BERTI, Russia e stati italieni nel Risorgimento, Torino 1957; N.
ROSSELLI, Inghilterra e regno di Sardegna dal 1815 al 1847, Torino 1954; P. SILVA, La
Monarchia di Luglio e l’Italia. Studio di storia diplomatica, Torino 1917.

76



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

M. Šedivý, Italy in the European States System. . . , pp. 75–90

Italian nationalism, something of secondary importance for the analy-
sis of Italy’s position in the European States System before 1848. It is
much more important to remain upon the solid ground of legal norms
which form the pillars of every political system and the willingness of
the countries to obey to them: the extent of this willingness contributes
to the stability or fragility of the system. This means to analyse pri-
marily the competition of the Great Powers in Italy, their relations with
Italian princes and, last but not least, the mutual relationships between
these princes. Although the question of nationalism and political re-
form constituted an important factor influencing the decision-making
of the Great Powers as well as the individual Italian princes, one can-
not overestimate its importance on the predominantly pragmatic and
egoistic conduct of the political elites. After all, the Sardinian attack
against Austria in 1848, which equalled an offence against the whole
states system, resulted rather from dynastic ambitions of the Savoyan
dynasty than from Italian-nationalist aspirations.

Another obstacle that is necessary to overcome is the Risorgimento
legend or rather legends concerning the conduct of the various players
on the chessboard of European-Italian politics, especially the Austrian
Empire, which was a popular target of numerous imputations raised
by its contemporaries and often blindly adopted by large numbers of
nationalist, liberal, left-wing or simply superficial historians. Despite
the revisionist and from a scholarly perspective respectable approach
of other historians, especially since the mid-20th century, the situation
still resembles a minefield where every step can lead to an explosion.
It is therefore all the more necessary to base one’s research upon a care-
ful study of primary sources of various kinds, with diplomatic corre-
spondence being of course the most important. Even if a considerable
number of official letters have been published owing to the editorial
activities of Italian historians, a vast archival research must be under-
taken at all costs, both in Italian and other European archives.4

4 From excellent revisionist works see above all D. LAVEN, Venice and Venetia Un-
der the Habsburgs, 1815–1835, New York 2002; A. J. REINERMAN, Austria and the
Papacy in the Age of Metternich. Vol. 1: Between Conflict and Cooperation 1809–1830,
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Having placed the research of the topic upon a more realist-legal
and unprejudiced approach and extensive work with primary sources,
one more fact is necessary to keep in mind: Italy constituted a point in-
terconnected with other areas where the Great Powers competed for
influence and supremacy, and therefore the area was influenced by
events in other parts of Europe or even the world, while simultane-
ously serving as a source of similar influence on other regions of the
Continent. It is thus necessary to gain a considerable understanding
of the course of events beyond the Apennines during the period under
study to be able to explain Italy’s role in the European States System
in the wider context of European as well as global politics. What it ac-
tually means will be further explained later in this article focusing on
the later phase of the Pre-March Period from 1830–1848 since it was
not until the July Revolution in France in 1830 that Italy experienced
the renewed competition of Austria and France together with Great
Britain’s increasing interference in Italian affairs as time went by, all of
which undermined the credibility of the European Concert in the eyes
of Italian ruling elites, which, combined with the distrust of a certain
portion of the Italian public, weakened their faith in the stability of the
European States System.

The evidence for such a pessimistic claim can be found in three prin-
cipal periods when Italy played an important role on the international
stage: first, in 1830–1832 when Austria served as the region’s police-
man for crushing several rebellions in the peninsula and France jeal-
ously opposed the extension of the former’s influence, which finally
led to the French occupation of Ancona; second, in 1840 when, in the
first half of the year, Europe witnessed the so-called British-Neapolitan
Sulphur-War and, in the second half, during the so-called Rhine Crisis,
when Italy faced the threat of a general war; third, in 1846–1848 when
Italy experienced turbulent events to which the Great Powers were un-
able to find a response that could protect the order as established in

Washington 1979, and the same: Austria and the Papacy in the Age of Metternich.
Vol. 2: Revolution and Reaction, 1830–1848, Washington 1989.
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1815 and finally witnessed not only the outbreak of revolutionary up-
heaval but also the first open – warlike – breach of the system by the
Sardinian aggression against Austria.

The revolution in France in 1830 represented an important turning
point not only in French history but also in the position of Italy on the
international scene: in the preceding 15 years the traditional compe-
tition of the Habsburgs and France had receded into the background
owing to the general post-Napoleonic fatigue. Although the cabinet
in Paris attentively observed Austria’s steps in this part of Europe and
diplomatically supported the resistance of some Italian states against
Metternich’s attempts to increase Austria’s influence through the cre-
ation of an Italian league or a general police commission in Milan, it did
not dare to pursue a more ambitious and hostile policy to undermine
Austria’s hegemony in the peninsula. When revolutions broke out in
the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies and Piedmont in 1820–1821, France
allowed Austria to crush them without much opposition. After July
1830, however, this tolerance ended and Paris began to play a more
active role.

The reason for this more contrastive policy was the traditional de-
sire of the French political elites regardless of the regimes for France’s
dominance over the Apennines; consequently, they always considered
the Apennines as part of her natural sphere of influence and Austria as
her traditional rival. If before 1830 this arrogant attitude of the French
was predominantly a matter of private debates, then after the July
Revolution it gained an influence on the Parisian cabinet’s decision-
making. The internal weakness of King Louis Philippe’s regime in the
months following the revolution made his policy more vulnerable to
attacks from domestic opposition. A considerable number of voices
called for a more active foreign policy compatible with French “glory”
and “dignity”, even for one supporting the liberal changes in other
parts of Europe with force. France’s attitude was symbolised by the
policy of non-intervention, a principle promoted by her government
on the turn of August 1830 for preventing other Great Powers from
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intervening in neighbouring Belgium where a revolution broke out at
that time.5

For some French diplomats the policy of non-intervention was a
genuine means for aiding the success of revolutionaries in Europe since
this principle was to prevent any counter-revolutionary intervention of
the three conservative Powers – Austria, Prussia, and Russia – against
revolutionary regimes. However, without much exaggeration, for all
French citizens interested in these political issues, including those po-
litically more restrained and with little inclination to spread revolu-
tion beyond France’s frontier, this principle was a suitable means for
destroying Austria’s political supremacy and increasing France’s own
control over Italy. This principle, unilaterally proclaimed by France
and never accepted by the three conservative Powers, served as an
instrument for interfering in the internal affairs of Italian countries:
France tried to dictate which ones could request external military as-
sistance and which ones could not. This ploy was incompatible with
the existing public law since each independent country could ask an-
other one for diplomatic or military assistance and the latter was enti-
tled to offer or decline it; but regarding France’s military strength and
revolutionary potential – the ability to gain the support of revolutionar-
ies beyond her frontiers through revolutionary propaganda, the Italian
rulers had to take her dictatorial attitude into account and expect her
eventual hostile reaction in the event that they called on Austria for
assistance against their own rebellious subjects.6

The danger of France’s adverse reaction became imminent in early
1831 when revolutions broke out in Modena, Parma and the Papal
States and Austria’s military intervention became a distinct probabil-
ity. France threatened with counter-action, and some French diplomats
5 H. A. C. COLLINGHAM, The July Monarchy. A Political History of France 1830–1848,

London, New York 1988, p. 186.
6 COLLINGHAM, pp. 187–190; E. de GUICHEN, La révolution de Juillet 1830 et

l’Europe, Paris [?], p. 171; N. JOLICOEUR, La politique ètrangère de la France au
début de la monarchie de juillet. De la non-intervention à la contre-intervention
(1830–1832), in: Revue d’histoire diplomatique, 121, 2008, pp. 11–29.

80



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

M. Šedivý, Italy in the European States System. . . , pp. 75–90

even claimed that a war in such a case was inevitable. All this rhetoric
had two aims: first, to win public support at home, and, second, to
deter Austria from unilateral actions and force her to cooperate with
France on the issue of resolving Italian problems, thereby sharing the
influence with her. However, Metternich did not want to yield in what
was for him and Austria so crucial a matter as the crushing of the re-
volts in Italy, and he did not hesitate to send Austrian troops to the
aid of the three regimes threatened by revolution. The intervention
was so prompt and successful that France was assigned to the role of
a mere bystander who finally had to accept the outcome. Until that
moment, however, the Italian rulers were severely threatened by the
prospect of a war between the two Great Powers that would have def-
initely brought the Apennines into conflagration.7

To placate France Metternich agreed with negotiations in Rome on
the improvement of the Papal administration, a measure that would
appease the aggrieved inhabitants of the rebellious regions. The French
government could thus present its policy as humanitarian and liberal,
but in fact this merely masked France’s real aim: to force Austria to
recall her troops from the Papal States as soon as possible owing to
the approaching parliamentary elections in France. Metternich, who
wished to strengthen the moderate political forces in France, finally
gave way; when this happened, the French lost most of their interest
in the reforms. This reformatory concern actually never was a genuine
aspect of French Italian policy, which was primarily directed against
Austria’s influence in the following years, and subsequent events soon
proved this when another revolt broke out in the Papal Legations on
the turn of 1831.8

When the Papal troops failed to defeat the insurgents, the pope
again asked Austria for military intervention, which took place in late
January 1832. At that moment, however, the French government did
7 A. J. REINERMAN, Metternich, the Powers, and the 1831 Italian Crisis, in: Central

European History, 10, 3, 1977, pp. 206–219.
8 W. BAUMGART, Europäisches Konzert und nationale Bewegung. Internationale

Beziehungen 1830–1878, München – Wien – Zürich 1999, pp. 278–279.
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not remain passive and reacted by sending troops to the Papal town of
Ancona in the Adriatic; the French soldiers occupied the town, arrested
high Papal dignitaries and hoisted the French flag over the citadel.
The way in which the French expeditionary force seized the town was
shocking, but in principle the main problem lay in the fact that France
invaded a country in peace time. From the point of public law this was
an obvious act of aggression, but given the unequal strength of the two
countries the pope could do nothing more than repeat formal protests
against the violation of his sovereignty. Since Austria was not willing
to wage war with France on behalf of Ancona, the pope finally recon-
ciled himself with the unrequested occupation of Ancona by the French
and formally agreed in mid-April 1832 that the town would remain in
the French hands until the evacuation of the Legations by the Austri-
ans, which did not happen before late 1838. This, however, did not
alter the fact that the sovereignty of the Papal States had been seriously
attacked.9

The French occupation of Ancona was a serious blow to interna-
tional law and was generally understood as such by European gov-
ernments and the public. This act of disdain of a strong nation to-
wards a weak one weakened the trust of smaller countries, naturally
in particular those in Italy, in the fairness of the European States Sys-
tem. They were horrified by the ease of the aggression and the acqui-
escence of the other Great Powers to this infringement of legal norms.
Across Europe people recalled the Battle of Navarino in 1827 when the
British, Russian and French fleets destroyed the Ottoman naval forces
in peace time, much like the French expedition to Ottoman Algeria in
1830 against the Ottoman sultan’s will: the crucial legal difference was
9 N. BIANCHI (ed.), Storia documentata della diplomazia europea in Italia dall’anno 1814

all’anno 1861, Vol. 3: Anni 1830–1846, Torino 1867, pp. 101–114; F. FALASCHI,
L’occupazione francese di Ancona del 1932, in: Rassegna storica del Risorgimento,
15, 1928, pp. 118–142; M. GISCI, Un episodio dell rivalità franco-austriaca nello
Stato Pontificio, in: Rassegna storica del Risorgimento, 17, 1931, pp. 365–447; G.
NATALI, La rivoluzione italiana del 1831–1832 e sue immediate conseguenze, Bologna
1956, pp. 106–110.
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that the Ottoman Empire was situated outside the European States Sys-
tem, whereas the Papal States were, or rather should have been, pro-
tected by the public law of Europe. However, the reality proved to be
very different from theory and the Europeans could see how insecure
the smaller European countries could be against the dominance of the
Great Powers: the latter’s aggression first towards the sultan and then
the pope demonstrated it could be aimed at other European monarchs
at any time. The Ancona affair signified for the ruling elites in Italy the
climax of France’s efforts to violate their sovereignty by the principle
of non-intervention through which she tried to limit the other states’
freedom of action on the international scene. Austria, although acting
in perfect compliance with the legal norms, also suffered from this af-
fair since the Italian rulers observed that she did nothing to defend the
pope’s sovereignty, the Sardinian king even being disappointed that
she did not declare war on France owing to the occupation of Ancona.10

Another reason for the distrust of the existing political system of
Europe was presented to the Italian monarchs by the so-called Sulphur
War of the spring of 1840. The cause of this affair must be sought in
1838 when the king of the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies, Ferdinand II,
granted a French company the monopoly on the trade with Sicilian
sulphur, thereby harming the interests of the British merchants. The
cabinet in London tried for some time to persuade the king to revoke
his decision, and when this did not happen, in the spring of 1840 the
Foreign Secretary, Henry John Temple Viscount Palmerston, ordered
the British fleet to seize commercial vessels sailing under the Sicilian
flag. This act of hostility in peace time forced Ferdinand II to yield
and with the help of France’s meditation to surrender completely to
the British predominance: the result of the whole affair was the king’s

10 M. GISCI, Un episodio dell rivalità franco-austriaca nello Stato Pontificio, in:
Rassegna storica del Risorgimento, 17, 1931, pp. 365–447; N. RODOLICO, Un dis-
egno di Lega italiana del 1833, in: Archivio storico italiano, 93, 1935, pp. 232–233;
D. LAVEN, Austria’s Policy Reconsidered. Revolution and Reform in Restoration
Italy, in: Modern Italy, 2, 1, 1997, p. 19.
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humiliation, the abolition of the monopoly in July and the payment of
indemnities to both the British and French merchants.11

The British actions in the whole affair were not only aggressive with
the capture of about fourteen Neapolitan commercial vessels by British
warships though no war had been officially declared but also illegal
because the Neapolitan king had not violated any treaty stipulations
between the two countries. This opinion on the illegality of the British
conduct was stated later not only by several historians and experts on
international law but also by contemporaries, including British Queen
Victoria’s legal advisor, who changed his mind only under pressure. It
was not international law but the wielding of power that shaped in-
ternational relations, and Ferdinand II had to bow under the weight of
British might. As American historian and expert on this topic Dennis
W. Thomson recently stated, “the British Government was accustomed to
having its way with Naples for many years. Faced with resistance from unex-
pected quarters, Palmerston reacted with anger and disbelief. It was unthink-
able that an Autocratic ruler of a lesser State, whose role was to cooperate or
acquiesce, would presume to challenge the Foreign Policy of a Great Power”.12

Much like the Ancona affair, the conflict over Sicilian sulphur was
generally observed by the European public. The people, even far be-
yond the Alps, could not fail to notice that when faced with this act
of aggression by one Great Power, no other tried to defend the weak
Kingdom of the Two Sicilies against its unjustified claims. Metternich
criticised the British conduct but did not want to protest too much
on behalf of the inept Sicilian king against Great Britain’s overwhelm-
ing maritime power, especially when he needed her cooperation in the
more serious Near Eastern crisis, the Russian tsar did not want to upset
11 H. ACTON, The Last Bourbons of Naples (1825–1861), London 1961, pp. 111–126;

J. A. DAVIS, Palmerston and the Sicilian Sulphur Crisis of 1840. An Episode in the
Imperialism of Free Trade, in: Risorgimento, 1, 2, 1982, pp. 5–22; D. W. THOMP-
SON, Prelude to the Sulphur War of 1840. The Neapolitan Perspective, in: Euro-
pean History Quarterly, 25, 2, 1995, pp. 163–180.

12 Cited in E. di RIENZO, Il Regno delle Due Sicilie e le Potenze europee 1830–1861,
Soveria Mannelli 2012, p. 34.
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Palmerston for the same reason, France was Britain’s accomplice and
Prussia had no direct interests in Italy. Consequently, the members of
the Concert sanctioned this international crime through their silence,
something the weaker countries saw all too well and which gave them
another reason to distrust the Concert’s willingness to be fair.13

The fear of the dictatorship of the Great Powers over other smaller
European states was connected with the aggressive conduct of some of
the former outside the Continent, in other words in the regions situated
outside the public law. For the Sulphur War, the Opium War between
Great Britain and China was of the greatest significance: the grounds
for the British conduct in both conflicts were identical – the effort to
impose on the two countries Britain’s own commercial conditions con-
cerning, in the first case sulphur, in the second one opium. In both
cases the British argued with freedom of trade; however, this merely
masked their economic imperialism, fittingly named later the imperi-
alism of free trade. The similarity between their actions towards the
Kingdom of the Two Sicilies and China was obvious to a considerable
number of Europeans who began to fear that the aggressive policy pur-
sued against the states beyond what they thought of as “civilisation”
would be implemented towards those they considered “civilised”, in
other words that the protection offered by international law was even
less reliable than ever before.14

This widespread sense of inferiority and vulnerability was strength-
ened during the second half of 1840 owing to the Rhine Crisis caused
by the Near Eastern crisis mentioned above. When France disagreed
with the other Great Powers about the settlement of the ongoing cri-
sis in the Ottoman Empire and found herself isolated and humiliated
when they decided to proceed without her concurrence, she began to
threaten a war on the Rhine and in Italy from the end of July. The
whole affair was finally settled peacefully, but until the winter Europe
13 M. ŠEDIVÝ, Metternich and the Anglo-Neapolitan Sulphur Crisis of 1840, in: Jour-

nal of Modern Italian Studies, 16, 1, 2011, pp. 1–18.
14 M. ŠEDIVÝ, Italy during the Rhine Crisis of 1840, in: European Review of His-

tory/Revue européenne d’histoire, 22, 3, 2015, pp. 486–504.
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was seized with a considerable war-scare that also seized the Italian
countries. Although they had nothing to do with the whole dispute
among the Great Powers, they could hardly escape a war because of
France’s probable invasion of Italy in her effort to attack Austria. In
this event, Piedmont would be the first Italian state to be dragged into
the conflict, but one could hardly expect that central Italy would escape
the same fate, especially when France threatened to support her war
campaign with revolutionary propaganda using the discontent of Eu-
ropean liberals and democrats against their conservative governments.
Regarding the actual discontent of the Italians with their living and po-
litical conditions, the outbreak of rebellions throughout the peninsula
was predictable.15

The Italian countries without exception were unsurprisingly eager
to maintain their neutrality in the event of war. However, they greatly
feared that the Great Powers would not allow them to do so and, con-
trary to the public law, would force them to choose sides. This partic-
ularly held for Piedmont because she possessed the best fighting army
of all Italian countries, of course with the exception of Austria, and
controlled important Alpine routes from France to the Apennines. The
temptation came from France as well as the allied four Powers, the
latter being less scrupulous and finally forcing the country to express
sympathies for their case. This little respect for the neutrality of smaller
countries was another expression of the Great Powers’ limited regard
for the international law when they did not find complying with it to
be favourable to their interests. The Italian governments therefore had
one more reason for concern about the conduct of the Great Powers, es-
pecially when the Sulphur War was in living memory and the Ancona
affair by no means forgotten in late 1840: the latter contributed to the
widespread fear of a new French military expedition against a strategic
point on Italian coast, and this eventuality was hotly debated not only
in Italy but also in other parts of Europe.16

15 Ibidem.
16 Ibidem.
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The above-mentioned affairs led to the decrease in the confidence
of Italian governments in the fairness of the existing international sys-
tem, an apprehension also shared by some Italians. It is certain that the
same feeling led to the increase of geopolitical thinking in Germany,
which contributed to the more chauvinistic and aggressive opinions of
some German nationalists against the hostile and self-serving conduct
of Great Britain, Russia and France; it is also evident that Italian na-
tionalists also counted among the reasons for the unification of Italy
the necessity to put an end to the interference of foreign Powers into
Italian affairs. It was a certain paradox that they primarily disliked
Austria though she behaved with much greater respect towards the
precepts of international law than either France or Great Britain. This,
however, meant little for both the Italians dissatisfied with the political
system they lived in and the rulers jealous of Austria’s power and led
to the situation where Italian liberals and democrats hated Austria for
her role as an anti-revolutionary policeman and the rulers disliked her
efforts, albeit quite mild, to guide them.17

This widespread aversion towards Austria climaxed in 1846–1848
owing to several affairs inciting Austrophobia among the Italians,
above all the economic conflict between Vienna and Turin concerning
the transport and sale of salt and Piedmont wines, the annexation of
Cracow by Austria in the autumn of 1846 that was strongly opposed
by the Italian rulers guarding their sovereignty as well as those Italians
calling for national independence, and the strengthening of Austrian
troops in the Papal town of Ferrara during the summer of 1847 that
was generally regarded in Italy as illegal and an affront to the pope.
Consequently, the constitutional and especially national movements
in Italy from late 1847 were inflected with anti-Austrian hatred. The
fact that some criticism of Austria’s Italian policy was exaggerated or
even invented was not important for that moment; when Piedmont at-
tacked the Austrian empire in March 1848 in order to deprive it of its
Italian possessions, and with this step openly breached the order of the
17 C. GATTERER, Erbfeindschaft Italien-Österreich, Wien – München – Zürich 1972,

p. 10.
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Congress of Vienna, she won general approval throughout the Apen-
nines.18

One can thus see that the conduct of some Great Powers, not al-
ways legal, towards Italy had repercussions against the whole Euro-
pean States System, paradoxically striking the one among them that
manifested considerable respect for the public law. The explanation
for this outcome was in part given above but not in full – it is also nec-
essary to search for it in the conduct of the Italian countries themselves,
which reveals that the whole story was not black and white but that the
Italian rulers were also partly responsible for the decay of the European
States System after 1815.

The position of the Italian monarchs vis-a-vis the Great Powers was
often weakened by their mutual distrust, jealousy and commitment to
their independence, which resulted in their reluctance to assume coop-
erative obligations like the German princes did in the German Confed-
eration that preserved the independence of its member states but, si-
multaneously, offered them a solid kind of protection against external
threat. As for their relations with Austria, the Italian monarchs usu-
ally exploited her willingness to help them against revolutions when
necessary but were otherwise generally unwilling to pay anything for
this protection and attentively guarded their sovereignty. The most
suitable examples were the actions of Ferdinand II and Sardinian King
Charles Albert, both counting on Austria’s support in times of need
but unwilling to fulfil their obligations towards this Power if it was not
advantageous for them. Even worse for the Habsburg Monarchy, the
Sardinian king desired to enlarge his dominions at its expense when
presented with an opportune moment to do so, which happened in
March 1848 when the revolutions broke out in Lombardy and Venetia.
Charles Albert opened a military campaign with the aim of expelling
the Austrians from Italy, not for any nationalist reasons which were en-
tirely alien to him but for traditional dynastic ambitions of the House
of Savoy.19

18 G. F.-H. BERKELEY – J. BERKELEY, Italy in the Making. January 1st 1848 to Novem-
ber 16th 1848, Cambridge 1968, p. 64.
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It was therefore not Austria but Piedmont that became in the latter
part of the Pre-March Period the most serious threat for the geopolitical
status quo in Italy. Actually Metternich was forced to pursue a rather
passive policy and nothing changed the well-known Ferrara affair that
was actually a storm in a teacup exaggerated by Italian patriots. Their
zeal, on the other hand, was cleverly exploited by Charles Albert in or-
der to win popular support for his personal ambitions, which he con-
nected with those seen as “Italian”. Not only did he allow the spread
of anti-Austrian feelings in his kingdom but he also contributed to it
through the salt-wine affair, making himself the guardian of Sardinian
or, for those who wanted to believe it, Italian independence against the
alleged aggressiveness of Austria.20

In reality the Austrian Empire attracted Charles Albert’s attention
not because of her aggressiveness that was more imagined than real
– Austria acted throughout the whole period in a more moderate way
than France and Great Britain – but because of her decaying power and
Italian possessions. The Sardinian king was in the position of a beast
smelling the blood of a wounded prey, and a trophy would definitely
add much glory to his crown. He would never have dared to act in a
similar way, for example, towards France, which was in a better finan-
cial state than Austria, had territorial ambitions at his expense (Savoy
and Nice) and could use revolutionary propaganda against him, espe-
cially after the February Revolution in 1848 that established a French
Republic. In brief: the Sardinian kingdom’s war with Austria in that
year could not be excused by any moral sophistry – it resulted from

19 F. BOYER, La Seconde République, Charles-Albert et l’Italie du Nord en 1848, Paris
1967, pp. 24–25; A. COLOMBO, Carlo Alberto e la vertenza austro-sarda nel 1846,
in: Il Risorgimento italiano, 68–69, 1932, pp. 1–31; G. CONIGLIO, Orientamenti
della politica estera napoletana nel 1832–34, in: Archivio storico per le provincie
napoletane, 73, 1953, pp. 311–317; F. J. COPPA, The Origins of the Italian Wars of
Independence, London – New York 1992, p. 147.

20 R. A. AUSTENSEN, Metternich and Charles Albert. Salt, Tariffs, and the Sardinian
Challenge, 1844–1848, The Consortium of Revolutionary Europe 1750–1850, Athens
(USA) 1986, pp. 384–394.
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the territorial hunger of a smaller state that felt overburdened by the
limits of the order of the Congress of Vienna.21

It is open to discussion how far Charles Albert’s conduct in 1848
was influenced by his dislike of the imperialistic tendencies of Euro-
pean Powers and resulting distrust of the European States System, and
consequently to his reluctance to obey the rules of the latter. In any
case, from 1830 to 1848 Italy witnessed scant willingness on the part of
the Great Powers as well as the Italian states themselves to contribute
through cooperation and restraint to the pillars that upheld the sys-
tem. Italy, much like the Ottoman Empire, was an unstable area with
dangerous potential for European peace. If in the 1850s the Ottoman
Empire caused the first war among the Great Powers since 1815, then,
unsurprisingly, Italy produced the first territorial conquest in Western
Europe (not taking into the account the Russo-Ottoman War in 1828–
1829) since the same year. This fact should not be forgotten when one
attempts to evaluate the functioning of the European States System of
the Pre-March Period in an overly positive way.

Abstract

The aim of the paper is to evaluate the role that Italy played in the European States

System in 1830–1848 from a new, more realist perspective paying particular atten-

tion to the policy of Metternich’s Austria in the Apennines. As it attempts to prove,

from 1830 to 1848 Italy witnessed considerable reluctance on the part of the Great

Powers as well as the Italian states themselves to contribute through cooperation and

restraint to the strengthening of the pillars that upheld the system. Italy, much like

the Ottoman Empire, was an unstable area with dangerous potential for European

peace, and it was no accident that the peace restored in 1815 was disturbed for the

first time in Western Europe during 1848 in Italy.

Keywords

Austria; Metternich; Italy; Pre-March Period; European States System; European

Concert; Diplomacy; International Law

21 F. R. BRIDGE – R. BULLEN, The Great Powers and the European States System 1814–
1914, Harlow 2005, p. 108.

90



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

West Bohemian Historical Review V | 2015 | 2

Civic Gentry in Sáros County
in the 19th–20th Century.
The History of Hazslinyszky Family, Part II.

Pál Koudela

Department of International Relations and History, Nemzetkőzi Tanulmányok és
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The Unknown Brother: Tamás Hazslinszky

Discussion on such questions as the role of different groups in
19th century Hungarian social progress, or in any other historical cir-
cumstances, is mostly problematic because of its complexity. The most
adequate and common viewpoint is to deal with the given situation as
a structural matter: measuring the rate of officials of noble origins in
state jobs in a period seems to be the easiest way to express the influ-
ence of the group.1 This is more difficult to distinguish between social
positions and define their effect in close and distant social connections.
1 T. HAJDÚ, Nemesi tisztikarból polgári tisztikar, in: Történelmi Szemle, 4, 1996, pp.

343–351; L. T. VIZI, A magyarországi és az erdélyi nemesség a XVIII–XIX. század-
ban, in: K. SZALAI (ed.), Magyarság, fehérvári polgárság, Székesfehérvár 1996, pp.
8–32.
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To get closer the social networks – the organic texture of a society –
and see how such value transmission works or not is even harder.2 The
most difficult is to describe those values we consider to be influential.
The latter is nevertheless more complicated because of the almost im-
possible case of deciding between those personalities who were fugle-
men, and those who even didn’t leave any trace behind. To extract
such fine and deeply dug material from history we stand life-courses
side by side and one after the other, creating a kind of texture of values
getting out of these lives we dived into.

The Hazslinszky was an impoverished noble family, who lost their
lands during the Rákóczi War of Independence, and, after returning
from exile, lived in their original home, Sáros County in the 19th cen-
tury. Probably the most famous son of the family was Frigyes Hazs-
linszky: founding personality in Hungarian mycology, and maybe the
most popular teacher of the Lutheran Collegium in Eperjes (Prešov).
His life and role in science is described in details in the first part of this
sequel of studies, but he also had a younger brother, hardly known by
anybody. In the following I’m going to add more details to the milieu
of the Hazslinszky family’s first generation. Tamás Hazslinszky was
fourteen years younger to Frigyes, and also became a teacher, history
and Latin, a little bit later, in the Collegium of Eperjes. He also married
to the Jermy family of Késmárk (Kežmarok), a German craftsmen clan.
Her name was Frederike Amalie and was born in 1835 as daughter of
Carl Jermy and Maria S. Weisz. Carl had eleven children, but only two
siblings: a brother (Samuel) and a sister, Maria Susanna. Maria mar-
ried to a farmer, Samuel N. Putz and had three children: Teréz, Fred-
erike and Irén. Teréz became the wife of Frigyes, thus the two brothers,
Frigyes and Tamás married with two cousins. The more interesting is
that Frederike married to Gustav Dietz, and gave birth to Sándor Di-
etz, the famous botanist.3 After the early death of Samuel Putz, Maria
2 P. KOUDELA, A kassai polgárság 1918 előtt és után, at: http://phd.lib.uni-

corvinus.hu/41/1/koudela_pal.pdf, 2007, pp. 126–178.
3 P. KOUDELA, Mágócsy-Dietz Sándor. Mindennapi történet egy egyetemi tanárról, Bu-

dapest 2010.
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Jermy married again to Sándor Mágócsy, son of another old impov-
erished noble family – he became a step grandfather of Sándor Dietz,
who adopted his name later on and became Mágócsy-Dietz Sándor.
Sándor spent his youth at the home of his uncle, Frigyes Hazslinszky,
while he studied at the Collegium of Eperjes, and was student of both
Hazslinszky brothers. Tamás never became as famous scientist as his
brother, but their lives were similar in any other aspects. His lifestyle
was puritan, simple and, according to his painstaking work, – and cer-
tainly to his smaller height – he was called to the “little Hazslinszky”.

Tamás Hazslinszky was born in Késmárk on June 4, 1832. He never
enrolled to elementary school either, but learned at home from his older
brother. He remembered even in his last days of life very brightly to the
case, when Frigyes brought home a textbook, decorated with a golden
rooster, from the Schweiger bookstore, and made him sat on one of his
arms and Linka, the younger sister, to the other, and taught them to
read.

The way was similar, when Frigyes taught him to the elements of
Hungarian from a translation of J. H. Campe’s New Robinson Cru-
soe, and made him love reading by an interesting German book, from
which the short poems he remembered for until even the latest days
of his life. Later, in the first years at the Collegium he, certainly, had
to learn from the Colloquia Latina, and, despite even his hands were
trembling on his first examination, for the second year he became the
first in the class. The following class was arranged along the lines
of the Roman Republic by its teacher, and he immediately started as
a consul in it. He kept this position, despite all the attacks, for two
years. On every lesson each responding pupil had the right to put on a
higher class student for repetition; this was called “decentration”, and
in case of a worse performance, due to the voting of the “curias” (i. e.
the benches in the classroom), the two respondent changed their place.
Tamás Hazslinszky remained eminent during the year of Rhetoric, and
received 60–60 forints grants in both two years. It was not a small
amount in so far as his brother earned only the twice with teaching
in Eperjes.
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Frigyes, who was teaching already at the Collegium that time,
brought his brother to Eperjes, so Tamás finished his elementary stud-
ies there under the leadership of Herfurth and Vandrák as an eminent
fellow student. By that time, thanks to the luck, he became govern at
the upscale Ganczaugh family, and had first chance to learn Hungarian
perfectly. He studied different fields, like law from Csupka, but fin-
ished only the Theology. After he successfully completed his studies,
he visited his sister in Árva County, where Dániel Szontagh, forensic
assessor asked him to establish a private school in Alsó-Kubin (Dolný
Kubín). Szontagh was previously Chief Constable, and a County Mag-
istrate at that time. The invitation was a great honor, but a forensic
assessor could never ask anything of a recently graduated student, ac-
tually just ordered. This happened also to Tamás Hazslinszky, who
founded that private institution, which became very successful: its stu-
dents came from such noble families as the Zmeskall and the Szontagh.
The latter family was an old German landowner noble family origi-
nated from Weimar, where they were already ranked Saxon Knights.4

The pupils made examinations to a committee complemented with the
parents and county officials in every semester. After three years of suc-
cessful operation he was invited to Eperjes as an assistant teacher of
mathematics in October 2, 1854, and he didn’t refuse, especially be-
cause his pupils’ parents supported him to do so. He loved studying
and not only his later subject, Latin classics, but also learned French
and English. His brother’s influence would be hard to deny: he made
him love botany, mineralogy and zoology. Frigyes brought his younger
brother with himself to the Carpathian Mountains already as a child,
and if Tamás couldn’t walk yet, he put on back, and continued explor-
ing nature in such way. Some years later Frigyes even give one of his
collection to Tamás.

In the first year Tamás worked in the Collegium as a temporary
teacher, but in the second he was appointed full professor and became
a form-master in the first class. After these events his career didn’t
4 D. SZONTAGH, Iglói és zabari Szontagh nemzetség származási története és oklevelei,

Budapest 1864, p. 6.

94



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

P. Koudela, Civic Gentry in Sáros County in the 19th–20th Century. . . , pp. 91–120

change a lot: in May of 1887, when the school received the subvention,
he became the teacher of the geometry. Despite of his uneventful life
he was studious, but very sickly. For this reason he was absent many
times, and since May of 1895 the directorate sent him permanent sick
leave, but soon, in December 22, he died. He lived modestly with-
out showing great results: he identified himself as faithful to the slow
construction. As József Hörk, later director of the Collegium wrote
about him: “he tried to make human life precious of its wiser half”.5 With
unassuming appearance, the weak but placid character was loved by
everybody, any complaint was never made against him. Many people
learned the elements of exact sciences and the basics of practical life
from him, though they probably owe his exemplary personality more.
Stable family background and confidence in profession helped him to
“let ambitious people go on their way”.

For this generation we can conclude, that the family simply lost its
noble identity and melted into the German bourgeoisie of Késmárk by
the beginning of the 19th century. Civic values, lifestyle and painstak-
ing work characterized them both as saddlers and teachers. The ques-
tion in the following is, in which ways noble origin influenced the next
generation in their identity, or how this element reappeared, and how
much significance it got?

The Second and the Third Generations: Frigyes and His
Descendants

Frigyes Hazslinszky had eight children. Gusztáv was born in 1855,
and became a singing master and composer. At the Academy of Mu-
sic he was the student of Ábrányi and Mikolits, and later he became
a teacher at the National Conservatory. His wife was also noble de-
scendant: daughter of Imre Csacskó, Supreme Court judge and Emilia
Karolina Barlay of Barla. According to the mourners of time they lived
5 J. HÖRK, Hazslinszky Tamás emlékezete, in: A Tiszai á. h. ev. egyházkerületi Colle-

gium Értesítője az 1895–96. iskolai évről, Eperjes 1896.
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in balanced and happy marriage, but he lost soon his wife.6 In 1910 he
married again, this time with his sister-in-law, the also noble Júlia Tahy.

Gyula Hazslinszky was born in 1847,7 and his first wife was Baron-
ess Mária Stachelhausen, the second Sarolta Bornemissza of Ilosva. Af-
ter Sarolta died, he married with Cornelia Tahy of Tarkeö and Tahvár,
daughter of Jenő Tahy from Eperjes and Cornelia Fejérváry from Kom-
lóskeresztes, in 1900. He studied in the Gymnasium of Pozsony (Brati-
slava) and later agriculture in Magyaróvár and in Germany for three
years. He finished with excellent results and spent his traineeship un-
der the leading of Gyula Thaisz. Between 1872 and 1886 he had been
teaching in Igló (Spišská Nová Ves), then he worked at the Agricul-
tural Academy of Kassa (Košice) until his retirement in 1901. He had
achieved outstanding results in the field of flax production and in the
modernization of agriculture in the Highlands.8

Hugó Hazslinszky9 was born on November 17, 1857 and became
a doctor at the Police and a General Counsel. He also get married
into a similar family: first the daughter of Béla Ivády of Ivád, landed
gentleman and Jozefa Csiti, but after her early death, Hugó married
again to Karola Fényes of Csokaly, sister of Szabolcs Fényes the famous
composer.10 Hugó Hazslinszky graduated in 1881, and after a foreign
study tour opened a free gynecological clinics in Budapest, neverthe-
less it didn’t operate for a long time. After this initial fail he remained
a police employee for 35 years, and in 1929 he was promoted to health
counselor. He left behind a very nice herbarium, which, faithfully to
the family tradition, he bequeathed to the Practicing Gymnasium of
Budapest.
6 J. SZINNYEI, Magyar írók élete és munkái, IV. köt. és hivatkozásai, 1890.
7 Home Office Certificate of Nobility. 111659/1904.
8 M. MIHÓKOVÁ, Stredné školstvo v Košiciach v rokoch 1848–1918, Košice 1981, p.

345.
9 Home Office Certificate of Nobility. 61360/1938.
10 B. TECSŐI MÓRICZ, A dengelegi, érendrédi és csokalyi Fényes család, Budapest 1974.
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Their brother, Marcell, was born in 1850, and worked as a Royal
District Judge,11 when married with the daughter of Albert Horváthy,
a landowner gentleman from Szepesváralja (Spišské Podhradie).

Géza Sándor Hazslinszky12 was born on August 2, 1861 and worked
for the Hungarian Royal Supreme Court as a clerk of council and judge
and later prompter to Forensic President at the Royal Tribunal of Szek-
szárd in 1905. He married Mária Lányi of Jakob, daughter of Bertalan
Lányi, parliamentarian and Minister of Justice that time in the Cabinet
of Géza Fejérváry, and Gizella Vitalis of Vitalisfalva and Stószház on
January 4, 1902.

He belonged to those descendants, who didn’t became intellectu-
als or teachers but part of the genteel middle class, but preserved the
values – the spirit of love for careful construction and work – of their
family. He didn’t consider despicable physical work: on the family
wardrobe, which was made in memory of his father, decorated with
his bust, and which is now in the Museum for Natural Sciences in Bu-
dapest, he carved manually the loading of inlaid himself. It is worth to
mention that the Fejérváry Government – although it is often judged
negatively13 –, not only about its short operation, but also in terms of
the perception of its members, this statement is not fully acceptable.
The personality of Bertalan Lányi, the father-in-law of Géza Hazslin-
szky, who was the Minister of Justice in that cabinet, couldn’t be con-
sidered a second- or third-line politician, and particularly not such pro-
fessional. Not only his jurisprudential work gives rise for this rebut-
tal, but also his literate and composing oeuvre does so: along with his
many books, articles and codification activity, he had time for coediting
of the journal Felvidéki Lloyd since 1872 and for the foundation of and
editing the first Hungarian newspaper in Liptószentmiklós (Liptovský
11 Magyar Nemzeti Levéltár Országos Levéltára (hereinafter MNL–OL), 1906.01.

04.–3. Hazslinszky Marcell besztercebányai kir. járásbírónak a táblabírói cím- és
jelleg adományozása.

12 Home Office Certificate of Nobility. 64271/1904.
13 P. HANÁK, A Fejérvári-kormány kinevezése és fogadtatása, in: Magyarország tör-

ténete tíz kötetben 1890–1918, 7, 1, 1988, pp. 568–572.

97



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

West Bohemian Historical Review V | 2015 | 2

Mikuláš), the Tátravidéki Hiradó in 1877. In addition, he was the sec-
ular supervisor of the Lutheran Church of Hibbe and the Judge of
the Hungarian Lutheran Church Tribunal.14 Géza Hazslinszky was
Lutheran inspector too, in the small village of Lemes (Lemešany) in
1903, for instance,15 and in the Tolna-Baranya-Somogy Counties Dio-
cese and in the Gymnasiums of Sopron and Bonyhád in 1913,16 as long
as it was quite typical for every more educated Lutheran in that era.

Frigyes Hazslinszky had three daughters: Georgina, Anna and Irén.
The youngest girl, Irén, was born in 1866 and married to Captain Emil
Krull.17 Although he had no noble origin, Gyula Hazslinszky adopted
him in August 9, 1905, and assigned the nobility to his brother-in-law,18

who took the Hazslinszky-Krull name. Emil and Irén had a son, Géza,
who was born in February 23, 1900. Géza studied, after the economic
high school, at the Ludovika Academy between 1918 and 1920, and at
the riding and driving teachers’ training school in the military settle-
ment Örkénytábor between 1926 and 1928. Later in life he also com-
pleted a senior officer course in 1941. He started his military career as
a lieutenant at the First Military Hussar Regiment of Budapest in 1920,
continued as a teacher at the riding school in Örkénytábor, and sore up
gradually to lieutenant colonel, appointed in November 1, 1942.

Riding schools of the Austria-Hungarian Monarchy remained on
Austrian lands after the disintegration of the empire. To fill the result-
ing gap new riding schools were founded in Budapest and then on the
army fields of the close Örkénytábor. Several young experts were sent
for study tour to different West-European countries, especially to Italy,
France, Germany and certainly to Austria, where the highest standard
14 J. SZINNYEI, Magyar írók élete és munkái, Vol. VI, 1890.
15 S. POSZVÉK (ed.), A Magyarországi Ág. Hitv. Evang. Keresztyén Egyház Névtára az

1903. évben, Sopron 1903, p. 239.
16 J. HEGEDŰS (ed.), Az ág. hitv. ev. egyház Egyetemes Névtára 1913, Budapest 1913,

pp. 133–166.
17 B. KEMPELEN, Magyar Nemesi Almanach, Budapest 1910.
18 Diploma in: Viena, October 15, 1912. Liber Reg. LXXII. 818.
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equestrian dressing and jumping schools operated.19 The Spanish Rid-
ing School was established in September 1, 1933, between the frames
of the Riding and Eventing Teachers Training School of Örkénytábor.
Hazslinszky-Krull Géza became the deputy commander of the new in-
stitution.

He was a very successful gallop and jumping rider, who educated
several leading Hungarian cavalry officer. In 1930 he was deployed to
the Spanish Riding School in Vienna for a while, but later he continued
his career as a teacher in Budapest. He was appointed to the director
of the Spanish Riding School in 1940 and later to the commander of the
Second Independent Cavalry Regiment and finally to the commander
of the Horse Guards in 1943. After the abolition of the Guards, in 1944,
he went to Bábolna to be a teacher in the riding school of the stud, but
he was soon ordered to the front. Between 1945 and 1948 he was a
prisoner of war in the Soviet Union.

After all of these antecedents he was certainly enrolled on the B-list
in the Rákosi era: his origin and previous activity was enough to expa-
triate, as everybody who “only lost their rank”, after 1951.20 Neverthe-
less he soon returned, first as a night watchman, and later he worked
in agriculture like many of his fellow sufferer. At the same time he
received an unusually influential rank compared to the situation: he
became the professional sports supervisor of the State Farm of Mezőh-
egyes. Although it was a lower rank compared to his previous jobs, but
still surprising in the communist era. Despite all of this, the most sud-
den event in the narrative of his lifecycle was, when, on March 7, 1959,
the Dutch Royal Court asked the Hungarian Government to let his im-
migration to the Netherlands, where he became the teacher and super-
visor of the Royal Dutch Equestrian Federation and, at the same time,
the riding teacher of the Royal Court.21 He was a non-typical example
19 I. MAGYAR – A. GYŐRFFY-VILLÁM, Iskolalovaglás, Budapest 1988, p. 144.
20 S. SZAKÁLY, Honvédség és tisztikar 1919–1945, Budapest 2002.
21 J. S. MAIBURG, The Forgotten Spanish Riding School: The Story of the Royal

Hungarian Spanish Riding School of Budapest and its Last Commander, Lieu-
tenant Colonel Vitéz Géza Hazslinszky-Krull von Hazslin, in: Haute École, 15, 4,
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for the legal emigration from Hungary during the Communism, along
with those of family reunification etc. He received several awards in
his life, like the Knight’s Cross of the Order of Merit of Hungary, Gov-
ernor’s recognition of praise, but also the 1st class Royal Order of the
Sword Swedish Kungliga Svärdsorden and the Knight Grand Cross of
the Order Orange-Nassau.

He performed feats during the war: rescued István Bethlen, for-
mer prime minister, on the day of German occupation, March 19, 1944,
circumventing the German armored units, and making him get to his
first hideout, for instance. Later in the autumn, during the night of Oc-
tober 16 he disarmed his former patrol commander, who defected to
the Nazi Arrow Cross forces, and reported the betrayal. In the Nether-
lands even a challenge-cup was named after him, but his literary oeu-
vre was already quite extensive by that time. He was retired from his
last duty, the national supervisory position, in 1971, but kept his riding
teacher status till his death in 1981 – he taught to ride Queen Beat-
rix. He spoke English, French, Russian and Italian.22 Profession and
political circumstances surely shaped his character, but, despite of our
general knowledge about the Horthy era soldiery, his personality was
rather humane.23

Despite of its extraordinary turning points and events, the life of
Géza Hazslinszky-Krull represented a major type of the 1945-before era
society from different viewpoints. On the one hand, his and his fam-
ily’s integration to Hungarian gentry is important to interpret carefully.
The general view about the era is that value transmission went from the
upside to downwards, meaning the highest ranks to be the most pres-
tigious ones with noble origins, but without the component of current
successfulness. This comes partly from the artificially generated pic-
ture about the lazy and unconstructive, poor but ostentatious noble of-
ficials, appeared in different literate platforms, like Kálmán Mikszáth’s

2007, pp. 2–5.
22 J. ERNST et. al., Gondolatok a lovaglásról, Örkényi lovaglótanárok írásai, Budapest

2001, pp. 11–32.
23 Reiter Zeitung, 1980/2, p. 1.
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novels and short stories, very popular in the period, and first in the
caricatures in newspapers, by, perhaps the most well-known and pop-
ular author of these kind, Aurél Kecskeméthy.24 But getting closer, we
already know that this noble family, his father married in, the Hazslin-
szky, was quite different from this retrograde view of middle classes.
Thus his father’s marriage and his adaptation must be viewed as snob-
bism with doubts. Despite of his father’s German civic origins, the
integration was fully accepted both by contemporaries and later gen-
erations.25 On the other hand, officers with noble origins mostly served
at the cavalry: their gentle behavior obviously proved to be very ade-
quate there, though its role in warfare was secondary that time, and
provided only policing and representative purposes.26 Although at
the Guards differentiation between cavalry, infantry or artillery officers
was not usual, it must have had some importance in social interactions
due to the differences in prestige.

This lifespan was also frequent in so far as more than a half of the
top military leadership, to which the commanders of the Guards be-
longed, came from the detached parts of the country, 17 percent es-
pecially from the former Upper Hungary.27 Coming from a military
family, like him, was also typical, such as many other small details: he
had two siblings, his earning was the average within the officer corps,
and inasmuch he wanted to belong to the elite, for what his social life
provided a basis, this income proved to be very little. As a lieutenant-
colonel he earned 865 pengo monthly, supplemented with some hous-
ing and family allowance, while the dividing line between the middle
24 E. FABÓ, A magyar dualizmus kori karikatúrák és paródiák. A nőkkel kapcsolatos társa-

dalmi sztereotípiák változása az élclapok tükrében, doktori disszertáció, Budapest 2007,
p. 25.

25 E. BANGHA, A magyar királyi testőrség 1920–1944, Budapest 1990, p. 281.
26 T. HAJDÚ, Tisztikar és középosztály a dualizmus korában, in: Előadások a TTI-ben,

15, Budapest 1991, p. 8.
27 S. SZAKÁLY, A magyar katonai felső vezetés társadalmi és anyagi helyzete 1919–

1945, in: T. HAJDÚ (ed.), “A magyar katonatiszt” 1848–1945, Budapest 1989, pp.
85–110, p. 89.
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class and the elite was about 24 000 pengo annually.28 However, com-
paring to the average payments among the genteel middle class, this
income was fairly high since it was equal to the salary of a state secre-
tary.

The Royal Hungarian Guards was established by Miklós Horthy
in 1920 as the successor of the darabont guards.29 Composition and
features of this military body were very peculiar, if for no other rea-
son, because it had no concrete defense functions. Due to its repre-
sentative character and that they considered themselves to the heirs
of the Guards of Marie Therese, it was a “fossil” even in the archaic
Hungarian society of the period between the two world wars. Thirty
two officers, out of the all thirty nine, had noble origins; having re-
gard to the fact that after 1848 not any of the military corps had such
a high rate, this composition was extraordinary, especially if consider-
ing that among the students of the Ludovika Military Academy petty
bourgeoisie dominated already during the years of the Monarchy. Ac-
cording to this social position, officers of the Guards lived in exclusive
apartments with four and five bedrooms, furnished with high quality
wardrobes, decorated with expensive paintings and Persian carpets.
Their social life was characterized by cocktail parties, but under the
surface something else was hidden. Already at the selection there were
cultural aspects, such as speaking foreign languages. Among luxury
fixtures there were books in their homes: light readings, such as Gyula
Pekár, but also classics, historical books and certainly the fashionable
authors of the period, such as Sándor Márai or Ferenc Herczeg. We
can also find a typically bourgeois habit in their everyday life: many of
them played an instrument and often played classical music at home
together. Géza Hazslinszky-Krull was a nationally renowned, erudite
equestrian, but also had a wide range of social connections – everybody
loved him, and had no doubt of his honesty – thus he was an illustri-
28 G. GYÁNI – G. KÖVÉR, Magyarország társadalomtörténete a reformkortól a második

világháborúig, Budapest 2003, p. 259.
29 G. SÁGVÁRI, Gárdák, díszbandériumok Budavárban, in: Tanulmányok Budapest

múltjából, 29, 2001, pp. 185–205, p. 185.
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ous member of this society. Nevertheless, behind this glamorous social
life, personally they could be rather characterized with quietness and
modesty than with ostentatious behavior or even Prussian military dis-
cipline.

Géza Hazslinszky-Krull represented this old world with his think-
ing, social connections and behavior: he was a typical k. u. k. hussar
officer. He believed in honesty and chivalry, society was a “vital fluid”
for him and he was famed as an excellent dancer. Respect for tradition,
proficiency in etiquette, and that he required these not only himself
but others, characterized his view of life. Contemporaries considered
him selfless, helpful and loyal. An example for his humane philoso-
phy was in 1944. When Békássy and Földes guard captains’ lives were
in danger, due to the revenge of Skorzeny, despite he had been only
translating for the Germans, he succeeded for both to survive. Namely,
according to Skorzeny’s request and Lázár’s command, he worked as
an interpreter in the occupied Castle of Buda. When they opened fire
to the Germans, on Horthy’s instruction, and many of them fell, Sko-
rzeny arrested the participating guards, selected the two, mentioned
above, and hinged them immediately. However Hazslinszky enjoyed
good relations with the German aides, according to the frequent meet-
ings, and mentioned them what kind of fate was expected for their
peers. During the evening, when the commander was already suffi-
ciently illuminated, he succeeded to get in and induce him to forgive
the Hungarian officers and let them go.

The contradiction between his position in an obsolete social context
and his personality, represented values can be amended with further
details, if we emphasize some elements in his career. Despite of his
very genteel place at the cavalry, he became finally a teacher and a
scientific expert of his profession. Already as the teacher of the Span-
ish Riding School he taught trainers rather in an explaining and soft-
spoken style and worked patiently, that was pretty rare in the army,
even among military teachers. His commander and fellow teacher, Lás-
zló Hanthy was rather dynamic and inpatient personality: strong, ex-
plosive and energetic just like training officers in general, for instance.
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In this school, which was no more than the both formally and sub-
stantive surviving of the Monarchy’s gentle milieu, the Hazslinszky
grandchild, who became leader in 1940, had an antagonistic role, for
as much his personality was contradictory. He directed a school in
which the introducing hussars wore Hadik-uniforms from the era of
Marie Therese with stand-up collar, gold braid and trim, their blue
dolman was decorated with white-yellow or golden belt with a sabre-
tache hanging on it. All of this unrealistic staff symbolized an atavistic
and retrograde world; the director, perfect in etiquette, permanent and
honored member of society, represented this fossil-like, surviving gen-
try sphere; on the other hand however, several signs pointed out he
doesn’t fit seamlessly into this image.

The contrast between previous generations of the family and the sit-
uation of its member, analyzed above is so important, because this was
not only him, we can characterize this way. Not only Irén’s son served
as an officer, but the son of Marcell Hazslinszky, called László too. He
was a lieutenant-colonel and his daughter, Márta married to a captain,
Ernő Solti. The son of Géza Hazslinszky, Zoltán became a cavalry ma-
jor of the Guards, and the mentioned Géza Hazslinszky-Krull’s sister
married also to an officer: Detlev von Arentschildt, lieutenant-colonel
of the Royal stud. In addition, all of them belonged to that part of the
army, which was verge of extinction in the absence of any function, and
in which the rate of nobility remained the highest all along.

These people lived that time mostly on their relationships, and were
at pains to strengthen their social position by maintaining an illusion-
world: gentlemanly manifesting in home interiors, keeping cars or
private horse-keeping for example. The mentioned other grandchild,
Zoltán Hazslinszky was also a contradictory character. His career can
be considered average: after finishing the Ludovika Academy he stud-
ied riding and got to Örkénytábor, where, entering the footsteps of his
relative, became the commander of the school in 1944. Along with
many honors and awards he was also a modest, kind and consider-
ate person, characterized with the greatest benevolence. As an indi-
vidual, he represented such civic values, which, though, matched his
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professional environment, but still differed. We can say the same abut
Géza Hazslinszky-Krull’s brother in law, Detlev von Arentschildt, who
was the commander of the stud at Bábolna, honorary member of the
Sovereign Order of Malta, and whose son yet started a business career
insomuch he became the chief executive in one of the Swiss Cantonal
Banks later.30

The Other Family Branch: Tamás and His Descendants

Their grandfather’s lifespan personified the civic development in Hun-
gary, but also preserved something from the family’s noble past. Both
of his five sons married with daughters of the gentry, which was by no
means a coincidence. In order to get a broader picture about the family,
we are going to take a look at the descendants of Tamás Hazslinszky
in the following. He had four sons: Rezső Hazslinszky, the oldest was
born in December 4, 1869, in Eperjes. He became a historian, journalist
and museum director. He studied in Eperjes and graduated of history
and archives in Budapest. His doctorate inauguration was in 1894, by
that time he was already a teacher of the Collegium of Eperjes. He
started educational career there in 1890 and two years later followed in
Békéscsaba; Besztercebánya (Banská Bystrica) and Rimaszombat (Ri-
mavská Sobota) came one after the other in the forthcoming years and
finally the Lutheran Gymnasium of Rozsnyó (Rožňava) in 1898, where
he taught history, Hungarian language and literature, geography and
Greek, French and English languages.

In the 1894/95 school year three Hazslinszkys taught at the same
time in the Main Gymansium of the Collegium: Frigyes, Tamás and his
son, Rezső. Rezső became also the director of the Museum of Rozs-
nyó City (today Mining and Metallurgy Museum of Rožňava) since
30 Ganz üzlet brit szemmel, in: Magyar Hírlap, August 26, 1989. The Arentschildt fa-

mily originally came from Hanover, and arrived to the Monarchy in 1866. When
Hannover, the ally of Austria capitulated the Austro-Prussian war, and the winner
Prussia annexed it after the Peace of Prague, the majority of the military leaders-
hip was forced to flee, and this way the family moved to Austria.
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1895. He travelled through Dalmatia, Greece, Germany, Sweden, Italy,
but also took journey to Norway and Middle East. He visited Lon-
don, Paris and Switzerland too.31 His scientific work mostly focused
on ancient Hungarian history, his results were published in local pa-
pers (Rozsnyói Híradó, Sajó Vidék, Gömöri Újság), sometimes under
pseudonym Ahasverus, and in leading national journals like Magyar
Újság, Magyar Szó. He wrote several scientific books: The Throne in
the 16th Century,32 The Sources of the Jagello Era, for instance. The
latter was published in 1895 in Besztercebánya, but wrote about the
fate of the Lutheran Church in Rozsnyó, in the great series, Counties
and Cities of Hungary.33 He also published different travel guides, in
which he wrote about his journeys with his students, but also Latin
textbook and several articles about social problems. He was editor for
some newspapers and journals too, and editor in chief of the Rozsnyói
Hiradó between 1906–1910.

The Archeology and History Association of Besztercebánya was es-
tablished in April 21, 1897. Rezső Hazslinszky was one of its founders
and the one, who achieved its ministerial confirmation. The association
had more than hundred members already at the beginning, and the ex-
hibited articles were sent to Budapest, and were awarded by the Great
Title of the Exhibition there. Three rooms were installed with them and
a considerable library with historical, archeological and natural science
books too. Already in the year of foundation excavation begun in the
cave at Tufna.34

Rezső Hazslinszky was a progressively thinking man, who wrote
historical articles but also patronized sociology: he wanted to make it
31 SZINNYEI, Vol. IV, 1890; P. GULYÁS, Magyar írók élete és munkái, Budapest 1939.
32 R. HAZSLINSZKY, A királyi szék betöltése a XVI. században, Békéscsaba 1893.
33 R. HAZSLINSZKY – J. LISZKAY, A Gömör-Kishont Ág. H. Ev. Egyház szerve-

zete, in: S. BOROVSZKY (ed.), Gömör-Kishont Vármegye, Magyarország Vármegyéi,
Budapest 1903, pp. 415–422.

34 The cave is close to Alsóhermánd (Dolný Harmanec), in the Fatra. In: Századok,
31, 9, 1897, p. 660; Hazslinszky Rezső levele Szilágyi Sándornak, OSZK Kézirattár,
Fond IX/246.
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become compulsory curriculum in Rozsnyó schools. The teacher, who
spoke nine different languages, had doubts about social life of small
cities already in Besztercebánya, as the ironic tone of his letter to Sán-
dort Szilágyi, the editor of the Századok journal proofs it. He asked
Szilágyi to mention their community in the journal, hoping this would
affect its life in a good sense and would stimulate both the whole so-
ciety of the town both the members of the association. The journal
Századok was the most prestigious in Hungary that time. When he ar-
rived to the Lutheran Gymnasium of Rozsnyó, he considered its back-
wardness unbearable. In his letter in 1912 to István Apáthy, professor
of the University of Kolozsvár Hazslinszky he wrote this: “We, who
were thrown awarded by fate into infant cities, where all worthwhile indepen-
dent minds are run over and neglected due to selfish interests, can appreciate
your activity very much.”35 (Viz. that he raised his voice on the Inde-
pendence Party rally against brutalities in the Parliament). But it was
exactly his readings out for audiences about sociology, what caused
his downfall in the director election. In desperation he decided to go
to Kolozsvár for a professorate, Apáthy would had helped him, but
finally changed his mind.

Despite all of these, he did everything to improve Rozsnyó’s civi-
lization. He had exceedingly big role in the city’s life: in Cultural As-
sociation of Rozsnyó, what he directed, they organized four-six per-
formances in two cycles; in 1898 he founded the Teachers’ Associa-
tion of Rozsnyó. He was a member of the Hungarian Kárpát Asso-
ciation Gömör Department,36 edited the Sajó-Vidék newspaper, he was
the first director of the local museum. He edited the Rozsnyó Hiradó
(Rozsnyó News) weekly since 1906, contributed to the compilation of
the Gömör-Kishont county issue of the Counties and Cities of Hun-
gary series, maybe the greatest undertaking in publishing business that
time. He was also the executive secretary of the Hungarian Protec-
tive Association (Tulipán Védő Egyesület) and member of the National

35 Hazslinszky Rezső levele Apáthy Istvánnak, OSZK Kézirattár, 2452 Qart. Hung. 2.
36 Túristaság és Alpinizmus, Vol. 1, 1910–1911, p. 218.
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Association of Secondary School Teachers, the Historical Society and
several other scientific associations and societies.37

Rezső Hazslinszky’s first wife was Ilona Baranyai of Nagyvárad,
whom he married in 1901 and divorced in 1906. In the same year
he married with his cousin, Valéria Jermy, daughter of Carl Heinrich
Jermy. Carl, her father, was the brother of Rezső’s mother, Frederike
Amalie Jermy. Among the wide circle of his friends, some are worth
to mention: Károly Markó, famous painter, member of the Hungar-
ian Academy of Sciences and József Pósch, with whom he coedited the
Sajó-Vidék until January 29, 1903, and who originated from a noble
family of Zólyom county and was the mayor of Rozsnyó since 1908
and the superintendent of the Gömör-Kishont Diocese of the Lutheran
Church.38

Jolán Hazslinszky was born in 1866 and became the wife of Farkas
Baloghy of Balog, clergyman, while older sister, Ilona, who was born in
1862, married to Lajos Matherny, who was also a clergyman, but in De-
brecen. Their brother, Kálmán Hazslinszky was born in 1869, worked
as an art teacher in the Lutheran Lyceum of Pozsony (Bratislava) since
1896 and became a well-known painter later. He studied painting in
the Mintarajziskola in Budapest and painted mostly naturalistic char-
acter portraits, of which one still can be seen in the Východoslovenská
Galéria, Košice.39 Kálmán never married, but died very young in 1907
in Pozsony.40

In both family branches entering members were overwhelmingly
noble, which circumstance should not be underestimated. Especially
because this nobility had only symbolic importance without estates,
wealth or any higher social integration. But still it has its own impor-
tance: being a member of a noble society meant a kind of integration for
37 G. TÖKÖLY, Ki kicsoda Rozsnyón, Somorja 1999, pp. 136–138.
38 Rozsnyói Híradó, 37, 1914.
39 Správa o činnosti a hospodárení za rok 2014, Východoslovenská galéria,

Košice, at: http://www.vsg.sk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/SPR%C3%81VA-
2015-VSG.pdf [2015-04-22].

40 POSZVÉK, p. 280.
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itself, for a baseless prestige; it was extremely fashionable to find roots
to the gentry in the era, which entailed those values traditionally asso-
ciated with nobility. Being a member of a social group, marriage is the
most important tie to strengthen or to get in. In this kinship, among the
two teachers, there were a district judge, a council clerk and an army
captain husband, but even the successor, choosing medical profession,
can’t be seen only as a capitalist intellectual, since he worked for the
police as an official, reaching the rank of councilor.

The decrease of the rate of those officials who had noble origins
continued in the 20th century, thus in 1927 only the seventh of the bu-
reaucracy participated to its exclusive membership.41 Their career, we
could outline in the second half of the 19th and the first half of the 20th

century, can by no means be described as homogenous or uniform, as
the group of gentry itself cannot. It’s easy to imagine that the society of
a city in the Hungarian Highland traditionally with German dominant
citizenry had enough assimilative power to shape his own image the
immigrating gentry. So the middle class of noble origins might be clus-
tered into different groups with different values during this period. At
the same time even those, who took over civic values, could preserve
something of the past, what manifested mostly in their integration or
reintegration by choosing a spouse.

Back to the First Branch: the Third Generation

The second son of Géza Hazslinszky, the brother of the previously de-
scribed Zoltán Hazslinszky, was called Bertalan.42 He was born in Bu-
dapest in November 19, 1902. Despite their father was a lawyer and
a magistrate, the family was dominated by values different to a typi-
cal official gentry family. The grandfather, Frigyes and also their uncle,
the mentioned Sándor Mágócsy-Dietz, had great influence on them.
41 A. C. JANOS, The Politics of Backwardness in Hungary 1825–1945, Princeton 1982,

p. 25.
42 Z. KÁRPÁTI, Hazslinszky Bertalan emlékezete, in: Botanikai Közlemények, 55, 3,

1968, pp. 149–152.
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The latter was already a member of the Hungarian Academy of Sci-
ences and a full professor in Budapest at the time of his nephew’s birth.
He is a good example for the dichotomy we are keen to introduce by
the fate of Hazslinszky family, that even the noble Hungarian part of
the genteel middle class can’t be considered uniform and like-minded.
A significant proportion of them had different outlook on life to the
gentry criticized by contemporary István Bibó43 or even to the tech-
nocrat intellectuals. This strata was more open and chosen relation-
ships rather from the middle class with mostly German trader and ar-
tisan ancestry. Such was Gustav Dietz, Sándor’s father, however their
values were closer to each other than to the retrograde gentry’s view
of life, thus, when the grandfather of Sándor Mágócsy-Dietz, Samuel
Putz died young in 1834, his widow, Susanna Jermy – both mentioned
above – married to Sándor Mágócsy in 1838 and give birth to their son
in Debrecen, who was also called Sándor. Sándor Mágócsy originated
from an old noble family and, when Gustave Dietz died, he adopted
the grandson of his wife, who took his name.

Nevertheless it’s easy to misinterpret this case, if we explain it with
the bourgeoisie’s adaptation to the nobility. This is really popular to
depict Hungarian embourgeoisement in such a contradictory way and
justify unusual phenomenon with the lack of bourgeoisie. In this sit-
uation something absolutely different happened. The actively pub-
lishing botanist’s real cause to change his name was that German jour-
nals wrote it in this way: Alexander Dietz, which sounded like a Ger-
man name. His patriotic feeling was against this method, but nothing
came to the editors, thus he decided to choose this way not to be able
to think he is German.44 Patriotism spread among German minority in
Hungary after the 1848 Revolution and had prompted to change their
name; they greatly identified themselves with the Revolution and Inde-
pendence War. Along with the naturally intimate relationship between
43 I. BIBÓ, Értelmiség és szakszerűség, in: I. BIBÓ, Válogatott tanulmányok, Vol. II,

1945–1949, pp. 507–522.
44 Mágócsy-Dietz Sándor naplója (Diary of Sándor Mágócsy-Dietz, privately owned)

1870–1890.
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step-grandfather and grandchild, this reason motivated Sándor, not the
aping of prestigious gentry.

His Hungarian identity didn’t derived from feudal accommodation
or wish to enter genteel society but rather from the pathetic patriotic
feeling connected to the 19th century German romanticism. The pop-
ular generalization about urban citizenry with German origins in the
19th century, which gave up its values and behavior accumulated dur-
ing ages, seems doubtful, because this social strata was highly self-
conscious, overvalued its own role and culture especially to gentry and
deeply condemned the contemporary picture about its frivolous and
dissolute life. Opportunities for upward mobility were available for
them; they could find way to the better half of the Hungarian genteel
middle class through their already existing network system without
contacting with the gentry type of Mikszáth. To proof, how far the
emergence of Hungarian identity among German citizenry was impor-
tant, not only for themselves, but also for the progressive Hungarian
genteel middle class, I cite here the announcement of Rezső Hazslin-
szky. “Dear Mr. Editor! My journey had led to the house of Ferenc Ondera,
citizen of Rozsnyó, by chance, where I found the following script on an in-
ner room roof beam: THIS HOUSE WAS RENEWED BY PETER KRÚS,
ALIAS: SÜVEGES ANNO 1703. Ad futuram memoriam I found it interest-
ing to note that the German and Hungarian nations made their peace agree-
ment in this house, which belonged to the property of the magyarized Péter
Süveges (alias: Peter Krús).”45

Overall, we can say that German urban citizenry was just as ex-
clusive as the gentry, and when, during the 19th and the beginning
of the 20th century, social structures transformed, a new group devel-
oped from the middle class, which could be eliminated not by its mem-
bers’ professions and origins, but with the help of the different value
systems. There were systems of relations, in which every kind of
45 Sajó-Vidék, December 6, 1906. On September 18, 1707 the important meeting,

which was designed to reconcile Hungarian and German Protestants of Rozsnyó,
was in this house; Gáspár Ábrahám, the city’s chief Justice also took part in the
deliberations. In: HAZSLINSZKY – LISZKAY, pp. 415–422, p. 416.
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middle-class people were represented: state officials, teachers, private
clerks and merchants, just like those with noble or civic origins. We
experienced this among the wide range of professions and family ties
chosen by the children of Frigyes Hazslinszky. Grouping by profes-
sions and incomes is difficult anyway, especially among those jobs,
like university professors, who were state employees with high pres-
tige and intellectuals with outstanding scientific activity at the same
time. It is also constrained to categorize county prosecutors with pri-
vate praxis as lawyers or university professors, parliamentarians and
bankers, who are members of the House of Lords at the same time.
Therefore members of the Hazslinszky family belonged to intellectuals,
but also to the genteel society, especially because there were sons, who
had chosen official career without any other intellectual profession like
teaching. As long as members of the first upwardly mobile generation,
Frigyes and Tamás were teachers, among the ten children of the next
generation, born in the middle of the 19th century, only four worked
as teacher, one as a priest and five of them had chosen “genteel” pro-
fession: at the tribunal, as an officer and in other offices or married
to husbands, working in jobs alike. Among the generation of grand-
children eleven had chosen official or military career (or husband) and
only two of them became teacher.

The first generation of the family represented the type of gentry,
who moved to city and received old-school education to step upwardly
on the social ladder. Artisan parents made their children educated,
who, thanked to this, could step upward, became teachers and as a
consequence civic mentality permeated their view of life completely.
They even found wives among daughters from German civic families
of the Szepesség. This typical strategy was replaced by something else
in the next generation. They chose noble wives or husbands and grad-
ually turned their life-strategies to an official or military kind. At the
same time parents’ or grandparents’ civic world left its mark on their
mentality and values. This is not enough to notice fluctuation, but sin-
gle professional groups need to be viewed in a more complex way.
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In the generational transformation of the different social phenom-
ena locality plays a major role anyway; we cannot state that all of these
processes happened in the same way in every cities. The population
of Budapest was large enough, for instance, to let different social pro-
cesses happen in the same place and time, but even in isolation. Every
other town of Hungary was too small in turn; even the largest had
population only between fifty and hundred thousand, for the period
between the two world wars these cities barely exceeded the hundred
thousand because of the slowed development.46 The middle class in
these small cities were proportionally small enough for informal social
networks to be able to enmesh its whole membership. In such circum-
stances, between these frames, this is hard to imagine that independent
development paths could be emerged. In other cases the culture of the
recipient population is conveyed to minority immigrants and shapes
them to its own image. This happened in the case of Eperjes: although
old German citizenry, in terms of its proportion, became minority for
the period of the Dualism, but remained culturally influential to new
settlers.47

We can say the same about Késmárk or Kassa. Later, by the 20th cen-
tury German minority, due to its fast assimilation, almost fully disap-
peared, but those typical civic features, which originated from them, re-
mained. The reduced bipolar view, which was depicted about Hungar-
ian middle class during the Interbellum, and in which only two wrong
alternatives existed – and what actually impugned its existence with
this presumption – was certainly distortive and simplistic representa-
tion. On the whole, indeed, there was no any sufficiently internally
integrated social group we could call middle class, but it was more
than a kind of “unorganized conglomerate”.48 It’s hard to tell exactly
46 P. BELUSZKY, Magyarország településfödrajza, Budapest-Pécs 1999, pp. 193–203.
47 P. KOUDELA, Protestant Education behind Policy. The History of the Lutheran

Collegium in Eperjes, Austria-Hungary in the 19th Century, in: Acta Universitatis
Sapientiae, European and Regional Studies, 6, 2014, pp. 103–121.

48 G. GYÁNI, A középosztály társadalomtörténete a Horthy-korban, in: Századok, 6,
1997, pp. 1265–1304, p. 1297.
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when and by what reasons the Hazslinszky family changed its value
system to such kind we introduced: whether it happened during their
stay abroad in the 18th century or already formed before, perhaps the
society of Késmárk and Eperjes provided adequate context for its birth.
Education, at the same time, was a typical way for landless gentry for
social advancement in the first half of the 19th century, partly because
of the demand effect of the mass availability of intellectual careers.49

What is certain that by the beginning of the 19th century this family
was acclimatized to civic society, but the sons and grandsons didn’t
waive that maintain their claim for preserving relationships with or
even belonging to the genteel middle class both in social life and of-
ficial jobs. György Kövér had similar results from his analysis of the
life-strategies among a Biedermeier Zipser family. Instead of a macro-
level approach, he examined contemporary occupational stratification
formation on micro-level: the correlation between the changes of oc-
cupations, marriages and number of children depicted the matching
of family strategies and social structure. Micro-level analysis proofed
that to pull a sharp line between commercial, official and intellectual
careers, as previous stereotype presumptions did, is not realistic.50

The Life of an Intellectual in the Third Generation:
Bertalan

It was not only the world of commitment to botany and nature, where
the representative of the third generation, the second son of Géza and
grandson of Frigyes was born. It was also a family, in which tradition
49 L. KÓSA, “Hét szilvafa árnyékában”. A nemesség alsó rétegének élete és mentalitása

a rendi társadalom utolsó évtizedeiben Magyarországon, Budapest 2001, p. 258; L. T.
VIZI, “Kövesd példájokat vitéz eleid-nek. . . ” A magyar nemesi felkelés a francia háborúk
időszakában, különös tekintettel Székesfehérvár és Fejér vármegye inszurrekciós szerepére,
Székesfehérvár 2014, pp. 17–25.

50 G. KÖVÉR, Egy biedermeier cipszercsalád életstratégiái, in: “Kőfallal, sárpalánk-
kal. . . ” Rendi társadalom – Polgári társadalom 7, Budapest 1997.
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obliged to work hard and diligent and to seek betterment of society.51

He studied in primary and secondary schools in Szekszárd, Nyitra and
Budapest, and graduated from the Lutheran Gymnasium of Fasor in
the same year with Jenő Wigner. According to his parents request he
enrolled to the Faculty of Medicine, but after six semesters, follow-
ing his own interest changed it to the Faculty of Humanities, where
he studied natural sciences and chemistry. He received doctorate of
botany, geology and chemistry in 1927, but already worked since the
previous year as an assistant and later as an instructor at the Institu-
tion of General Botany at the University, where he gained experiences
and conducted researches determining his later life and scientific ca-
reer. At the end of 1928 he started to work in the National Chemical
Institution in Budapest, where he conducted microscopic examination
of foods even until the end of 1940. Then he started an educational ca-
reer: first as a teacher at the Polgári Iskolai Tanárképző Főiskola (Teach-
ers Training School) in Szeged, later became a professor at the College
of Education, Department of Botany.

The college, based to Szeged in 1928, was created as a result of
the unification of the first college for training teachers to “polgári”52

schools and the first similar college for female teachers, both fouded
by József Eötvös and the latter directed by Janka Zirzen. The decision
to move the college to Szeged was already surprising, although the
educational minister, Klebelsberg had good reasons: decentralization
in science and in teachers’ willingness to work, raising the standard by
connecting it to the university or just simply frugality, but we must also
mention that Klebelsberg became the representative of Szeged in the
parliament in 1927. The formal decree about this decision was never
51 J. KOVÁCS, Hazslinszky Bertalan emlékezete, in: Élelmiszervizsgálati Közlemények,

12, 1966, pp. 49–51.
52 This type of four year secondary school was organized in 1868 for a rather prac-

tical education adn existed until 1948. The word polgári means literally civic. K.
FEHÉR, Oktatásügy a századforduló körüli évektől a trianoni békeszerződésig,
in: T. I. KOLLEGA (ed.), Magyarország a XX. században, Vol. 5, Tudomány 2, Tár-
sadalomtudományok – Szekszárd 1996, pp. 457–458.
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issued and, in addition, schools lost a lot with this change: firstly be-
cause both college moved out from excellent conditions and spacious
buildings to a former “polgári” school’s narrow building, from which
they couldn’t be freed for decades; secondly because the cooperation
with the university caused rather disadvantages than benefits.53

The year 1940 was also a great change in the school’s life, at least be-
cause the educational minister, Bálint Hóman presented the bill about
required education and eight-class folk schools to the Parliament May
7, that year. The similar act, numbered 20, was issued later in the
year and transformed former six-class school to eight-class. This in-
fluenced the future of “polgári” schools through the training of their
teachers. Since the Hungarian Soviet Republic this issue was always
on the agenda: the reform of teachers’ training became central dis-
cussion topic, but a complete debate and realization failed due to the
Second World War. In addition, in the same year, according to the
border-change the Franz Josef University returned to its original place:
Kolozsvár (Cluj-Napoca). Instead the new Miklós Horthy University
was established in Szeged. Bertalan Hazslinszky arrived to Szeged in
such circumstances. Professors in the only institution, supplying the
whole country with teachers, preserved their humanity despite the offi-
cial ideology was Christian-National since 1920, which meant far-right
political influence, and despite the atmosphere was more and more
militarized. The building of the college was seized for military pur-
poses in 1944, equipment was brought to Sopron. Professors of the
Department of Botany were forced to go as far as Salzburg, with the
leadership of Hazslinszky, to return the objects, essential for teaching,
finally in 1947. On October 11 Soviet troops entered thus school-year
started on October 31, under the direction of the headquarters.

After the war, on August 18, 1945 the 6650/1945. M. E. no. de-
cree brought eight-year elementary schools alive and definitively di-
minished the “polgári” schools. At least in 1947 the two first pedagogi-
cal college were established in 1947, and later teacher-training colleges
53 S. BERECZKI, A Juhász Gyula Tanárképző Főiskola története, in: A Szegedi Főis-

kola Almanachja 1873–1998, Szeged 1998, pp. 11–349.
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on Budapest and Szeged, the latter as the successor of the Állami Pol-
gári Iskolai Tanárképző (State “Polgári” Teachers Training School).54

Training system developed in this was separating teachers’ education
for eight-year schools lower and upper classes. Not only the former
education system, but also explicit psychological realization stood in
the background that age 9–10 is a turning point in the child’s spiri-
tual development. It is not known how far scientific observations in-
fluenced the shaping of previous school systems instead of daily life
skills. The transformation of education in general and especially of the
college in Szeged would have been inconceivable without the partici-
pation of teachers in it and certainly without the underlying social and
political changes. Bertalan Hazslinszky also has been involved in all of
these processes.

He had been tasked to take lectures in botany at the Veterinary Col-
lege in Budapest, then at the József Nádor University of Technology
and Economy, Veterinary Department already in 1931 and was habili-
tated to university professor there in 1939. He had been teaching there
until 1944, but after 1948 he was also teaching at the University of
Agricultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture and at the University of
Szeged until his forced retirement in 1950. The forty eight years old sci-
entist worked in his prime, when his cathedra was sequestrated, but,
although events indisposed him very much, he could go further: he
was entrusted to be the director of the Natural History Society Mu-
seum and, in addition, to be head of the Hungarian Natural History
Society Biological Research Division in Szeged. He was member of the
Hungarian National Veterinary Association, the Association of Friends
of the University of Szeged and the National Civil “Polgári” School
Teachers Review Committee. In 1951 he received a research scholar-
ship at the Hungarian Academy of Sciences Institute of Botany and was
reactivated in his academic career in 1953, when he started to work as
chief engineer at the Budapest City Food and Chemical Testing Insti-
tute. He was the head of the Biological Laboratories there until his final
retirement in 1963. He lost his first wife Márta Meznerics, teacher and
54 137.485./1947. VI. sz. miniszteri rendelet (Ministerial Decree).
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mother of his son, tragically young in 1948 and only remarried long
after with Ilona Visontay. His son Tamás followed the family tradition
and became horticultural engineer.55

Bertalan Hazslinszky scientific curriculum contained a wide range
of different fields and extended even to examining counterfeit plants
or veterinary botany. He was a very humble, quiet man, who tried to
help everybody and left behind many articles, books and also collec-
tions. The erudite professor was tireless and ready to cooperate; even
ill and confined to bed he gave advices, possible solutions, and would
be visited at home with delicate and difficult tasks to be solved – no
wonder that everybody loved him and considered him an excellent col-
league. The signs of his serious illness appeared since 1954, although
he has no pains, his gait became uncertain and forced him first behind
the writing table then to bed. He worked always painstakingly and
thoroughly, never content with the simpler solutions and was looking
for correlations to the smallest details. He was a worthy successor of
his grandfather according to his scientific results, but also continued
family tradition in representing those values characterized them since
centuries. At the same time characteristics of the strata he belonged
to also remained. Although science as profession or intellectual career
wasn’t an aristocratic privilege during the first half of the 19th century,
the status of a university professor was arguably considered genteel by
the era of Dualism and later during the interwar period due both to
its earnings and prestige. Emil Hazslinszky-Krull had no financial dif-
ficulty to surgically treat his intestinal disease in Vienna even during
the First World War – for instance. It is therefore clear that the mem-
bers of the Hazslinszky family belonged to the genteel middle class not
only due to their origins but to their professions too. Relationship with
others, not belonging to the gentry or later genteel middle class, or the
sometimes contradictory values never excluded them from this strata.
But the resulting network of relatives was very much extended, even
55 Á. NEIDENBACH – S. PUSZTAY, Magyar hegyisport és turista enciklopédia, Buda-

pest 2005.
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to third cousins. Rezső Hazslinszky and his family, for example, was a
frequent guest at the home of Ferenc Sziklay in Kassa, although their
daughter Eva was only the third cousin of the host’s wife.56 How im-
portant it was for the family is shown in the case, when the mentioned
host’s younger son, László visited Sándor Mágócsy-Dietz in his home
in Budapest and revealed that he never heard about the Hazslinszky
family; the kindly old man did something he committed very rarely in
his life: rebuked the young relative.57

Some Final Thoughts

We ought to present a peculiar way of the development of Hungarian
civic society in this study, which altered from the typical non-Hungar-
ian and Hungarian ethnic cases, depicted so markedly in historical
writings. We would have also liked to proof that the generalization
about gentry in the 19th and 20th centuries was somewhat one-sided.
This strata was far from being uniform, though we have seen mem-
bers, representing a part of it, which couldn’t be characterized with
“dead-end” behavior and values. Such approach, through lifespans,
careers and the close look on the everyday of ordinary people, is le-
gitimated by the social context’s similar effect on each fates. This way
we can reconstruct historical narratives with the help of contemporary
observers, institutions and self-constructed reality as a context.58 The
question about historical sources creating their own universe for them-
selves is adequate, but, according to Peter Burke, structures can be un-
derstood through narratives and these structures act as a break on the
events or as an accelerator.59 The way, how we forming sources, car-
ries such meanings, through which not only the given culture appears,
56 P. KOUDELA, A kassai polgárság 1918 előtt és után, at: http://phd.lib.unicorvinus.

hu/41/1/koudela_pal.pdf, 2007.
57 L. SZIKLAY, Egy kassai polgár emlékei, Budapest 2002.
58 G. LEVI, Les usage de la biographie, in: Annales, ESC, 6, 1989, pp. 1325–1336.
59 P. BURKE, History of Events and the Revival of Narrative, in P. BURKE (ed.), New

Perspectives on Historical Writing, Cambridge 1991, pp. 234–237.
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but the creator manifests itself. This interpretation makes possible to
unfold such semantic content, which couldn’t be reached on the linear
dimension of the text.60 In our case the multiple career-line analysis61

investigated the common background characteristics of social groups
largely overlapping each other. Such questions about marriages, births,
family and social origins or even inherited economic positions, place
of existence, education, wealth, religion and experiences in office in-
volved their role in society and especially changes in this role into a
formerly created universe. Combining these two approaches we could
sketch fault lines in the seemingly unit historical view of different mid-
dle classes.

Abstract

In the first part of this sequence to discuss the concept of Hungarian gentry, its char-

acter, role in society and depiction in literature I wrote about the Hazslinszky family,

its roots and most relevant member: Frigyes, representative of the first generation of

a newly emerged gentry society in Hungary. In the following, his brother’s, sons’ and

grandsons’ lives are analyzed from the viewpoint of a more and more controversial

social development during the first half of the 20th century. The signs of belonging to

a rather noble strata appeared in the second generation: marriages show high con-

nectedness, but values were constant. A new administrative stratum evolved in this

period showing a fairly integrated image as a historical formation, but behind the em-

ployment groups, social positions, digging deeply into personal fates we found very

altering value systems. These lives represent an alternate to those mostly described

in Hungarian historiography characterizing a whole period.

Keywords

Embourgeoisement; Gentry; Eperjes; Social History; Hungarian History

60 R. BIERNACKI, Method and Metaphor after the New Cultural History, in: V. O.
BONNEL – L. HUNT (eds.), Beyond the Cultural Turn. New Directions in the Study
of Society and Culture, Berkely – Los Angeles – London 1999, pp. 62–95, 73, 83; K.
HALTTUNEN, Cultural History and the Challenge of Narrativity, in: ibidem, pp.
165–182, 166–167.

61 L. STONE, Prosopography, in: Daedalus 100, 1, 1971, pp. 46–71.
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At the end of 1890’s, the situation of China was bad. Foreign powers
took advantage from China’s weakness, seized various ports in China
and declared entire provinces their “spheres of influence”.1 The coun-
try was tormented by natural catastrophes and general unrest. At the
Imperial court in Beijing a bitter struggle between reformists and reac-
tionaries took place, and the latter party prevailed. The Guangxu Em-
peror was arrested by the Empress Dowager Cixi,2 who became regent
and ruled in his name. The victorious reactionary clique, represented
by Manchu aristocrats and led by Prince Duan (1856–1922), was hos-
tile to foreign influence. On 24 January 1900, Prince Duan reached his
long-term goal and secured appointment of his son Pujun (1886–1929)
heir apparent.
1 This study is one of the outcomes of the grant “The Political and Economic Inter-

ests of Great Britain and Germany in China in 1894–1914”, awarded by the Grant
Agency of the Czech Republic (GA13–12431S).

2 In fact, Cixi (1835–1908) was neither an Empress nor a dowager. She was a con-
cubine of Emperor Xianfeng (ruled 1850–1861) and mother of his only son and
successor, Emperor Tongzhi (ruled 1861–1875). Even after Tongzhi’s death she
maintained her power and secured the succession of the Guangxu Emperor.
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German interests in China were significant. In 1899, there were 115
German companies and 1,134 Germans present in China, out of total
933 foreign firms and 17,193 foreigners settled in the Middle Kingdom.3

The core of German interests in China lay in the province of Shandong.
Since late 1897 the Germans occupied the Jiaozhou Bay and built a new
port Qingdao which became their naval base; they turned the province
into their sphere of influence; and exerted on China excessive economic
rights, which they ruthlessly started to exploit. At the outbreak of the
Boxer crisis, German interests were protected by the 3rd Battalion of
marine infantry, based in Qingdao and led by Major Johannes Christ.
German cruiser squadron in Far Eastern waters was commanded by
Vice Admiral Felix von Bendemann. Since May 12, 1899, Germany was
represented in China by Clemens von Ketteler. He was not liked by
his colleagues. Unlike some of them, von Ketteler was not only a pro-
fessional diplomat, but he was experienced in Chinese matters as well.
In fact, “he considered himself the only China expert among the otherwise
inexperienced crowd”.4 In 1880’s, Ketteler had acted as a translator at
German consulates in China and as a chargé d’affaires in Beijing. Later
he became German minister to the United States (1892–1896) and Mex-
ico (1896–1899). Despite such a background, Ketteler’s mission to the
Chinese court ended in a tragedy.

The province of Shandong was of the most stricken parts of China.
Increasing German activities in Shandong only intensified the unrest
among its inhabitants and preoccupied provincial officials, who failed
to solve other problems. In such a milieu of unrest and despair, a dan-
gerous secret society emerged. In the West, its members are known
as “Boxers”. The origins and the affiliations of the movement are a
matter of controversy. The movement originally called itself Yihequan,
or “Righteous and Harmonious Fists”, hence the nickname “Boxers”.
Sometimes in 1898 or in 1899 it changed the name to Yihetuan, or “Righ-
3 H. B. MORSE, The International Relations of the Chinese Empire. Vol. II, The Period of

Submission, 1861–1893, London – Bombay – Calcutta 1918, footnote 172 on p. 326.
4 L. XIANG, The Origins of the Boxer War. A Multinational Study, London – New York

2003, p. 134.
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teous and Harmonious Militia”. The Boxers were practising magical
rites, suppressing banditry, harassing local Christians, and chanting
“Support the Qing, destroy the foreigner”. It is hard to determine the sin-
cerity of such statements. But the Yihetuan movement as such wasn’t
openly anti-Manchu.

Since early spring 1899, Shandong was administered by a conser-
vative Manchu named Yuxian. The governor failed to suppress the
“Boxer” movement, and he certainly felt sympathy towards their man-
ifested goal of wiping out the foreigners. Using a sugar-and-a-whip
policy, Yuxian suppressed some of less trustworthy “Boxer” leaders
and protected the rest of the Yihetuan movement from his own zealous
subordinates. Encouraged by the ambivalent attitude of the author-
ities towards the movement, the “Boxer” movement gained strength
and started causing much havoc.

Foreign diplomats5 didn’t fail to notice Yuxian’s malign influence.
On 6 December 1899, due to their pressure, Yuxian was recalled to Bei-
jing “on consultations”. He was replaced by an extremely able young
general Yuan Shikai, who was of Han Chinese origin. “The first thing
Yuan did was to test the Boxers invulnerability.” The “Boxers” naturally
failed Yuan’s test. The restoration of order in Shandong didn’t take part
immediately. On December 31, 1899, only after Yuan’s arrival to the
province, British missionary Brooks was slain. But Yuan tried to sup-
press the Yihetuan movement mercilessly. His efforts were somewhat
hindered by the central government which was meanwhile consulting
the matter with Yuxian.6 In middle March 1900, the court seemingly
finally “solved” the problem of Yuxian: the Manchu dignitary was ap-
pointed governor of Shanxi,7 whereas Yuan Shikai became regular gov-
ernor of Shandong.
5 In 1900, there were eleven countries represented in Beijing: Germany, Austria-

Hungary, the United Kingdom, Japan, Russia, France, Italy, the United States,
Belgium, the Netherlands, and Spain.

6 XIANG, pp. 117–119 and 143.
7 L. K. YOUNG, British Policy in China, 1895–1902, Oxford 1970, p. 115.
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The unrest in Shandong was directly affecting German activities
in the province, especially those of the Shandong Railway Company
(SEG; Shantung Eisenbahn Gesellschaft). Since September 1899, the
company was constructing a railroad track from Qingdao to the pro-
vincial capital of Jinan. The construction of the railway greatly up-
set Chinese people along the proposed track. At the turn of the years
1899–1900, the turmoil in the province reached such a degree that the
construction had to be stopped until February 1900.8 Still, the bulk of
“Boxer” forces moved from Shandong to the neighbouring province
of Zhili. Zhili was not an ordinary province; it was a centre of the
Sinocentric world, for it surrounded the Chinese capital of Beijing with
its xenophobic court. Moreover, the most important Western targets in
northern China were located there: foreign entrepreneurs in the great
port of Tianjin, and numerous foreign establishments and legations in
the diplomatic quarter in Beijing.

It is not easy to date the exact beginning of the Boxer Uprising; and
it is certain that the very term “Boxer Uprising” is incorrect. Its mem-
bers didn’t call themselves “Boxers”, and they didn’t rebel against the
central government; in fact, they manifested their support of it. Chi-
nese court was at this time extraordinarily indecisive, as far as the
“Boxer” movement was concerned. Manchu reactionaries naturally
didn’t trust any Chinese heterodox sect, but the “Boxers” were profess-
ing loyalty to the dynasty. The court feared that the already widespread
Yihetuan movement, if persecuted, would turn against the Manchus.9

As was already shown in Shandong in 1898–1899, the court didn’t have
enough reliable troops to maintain order at the country and defend the
area against the possibility of foreign attack. The defence of Beijing
8 C. WENDELS, Die Schantung Eisenbahn. Das Interesse der Finanzwelt an der

deutschen Bahnlinie in Ostchina, Siegburg 2012, pp. 45–46.
9 On May 27, Sir Robert Hart, Inspector-General of the Chinese Imperial Maritime

Customs Service, observed: “The Court appears to be in a dilemma: if the Boxers are not
suppressed, the Legations threaten to take action – if the attempt to suppress them is made,
this intensely patriotic organization will be converted into an anti-dynastic movement!”
XIANG, p. 222.
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was the priority, so the order at the countryside was insufficiently pro-
tected. Violent attacks on foreign and Christian targets followed, which
inevitably further enraged the foreigners.10

During the first few months of 1900, the disturbances grew to an
unprecedented scale, and at the end of May most foreigners started
to feel extremely threatened. At the end of May, German minister re-
ported that “A seditious trash of Boxers, 4,000 to 5,000 men strong, perme-
ated to the immediate vicinity of Peking, occupied the railroads from Tientsin
to Peking and from Paotingfu to Peking, some 30 km far from here, expelled
foreign employees and wounded some of them, and burned the stations.”11

Even though some governmental troops were fighting the “Boxers”,
the foreigners didn’t trust their commitment. The deteriorating situa-
tion led to a series of conferences of foreign diplomats in Beijing and,
eventually to a sort of embarrassment for Ketteler himself. The first
meeting of 20 May 1900 has been summoned by French Minister Pi-
chon, who was strongly in favour of calling for legation guards.12 At
that meeting Ketteler expressed his doubt about the effectiveness of a
presence of marine detachments13 and recommended concentration of
foreign warships off Shanhaiguan.14

Other meetings of the same nature would follow. On 26 May the
ministers asked the Zongli Yamen15 for permission to summon troops
for protection of the legations, but the permission was denied.16 In-
stead, the Chinese court deployed some policemen in the legation
10 J. W. ESHERICK, The Origins of the Boxer Uprising, Berkeley – Los Angeles – Lon-

don 1987, pp. 284–286.
11 Die Grosse Politik der europäischen Kabinette, 1871–1914 (further only GP). J. LEP-

SIUS – A. MENDELSOHN-BARTHOLDY – F. THIMME (Hrsg.), Berlin 1922–1927,
Bd. XVI, Berlin 1924, Nr. 4511, pp. 3–4, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 29. 5. 1900.

12 MORSE, pp. 194–195.
13 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4513, pp. 5–6, Ketteler an Bülow, 2. 6. 1900.
14 MORSE, p. 195.
15 The Zongli Yamen was created in 1861 in order to manage dealings with foreigners.
16 H. KEOWN-BOYD, The Fists of Righteous Harmony. A History of the Boxer Uprising

in China in the Year 1900, London 1991, p. 48.
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quarter.17 The day earlier, on 25 May, Ketteler received a telegram
from State Secretary for Foreign Affairs Bernhard von Bülow.18 He
was instructed not to take part on collective actions of the diplomatic
corps, using an alleged lack of instructions as a pretext. At the same
time, he was expected to explain to the Chinese discreetly that Ger-
many was strong enough to obtain compensation for any losses single-
handedly and independently on other powers.19 Yet at the meeting
of 28 May he paraphrased the second part of this message to his col-
leagues. Other diplomats considered it a hint of German intention to
divide China, consulted the matter with their superiors, and finally
even Bülow learnt about the matter. On 31 May 1900 he asked Ket-
teler for an explanation,20 which he found unsatisfactory and repri-
manded the German representative. At the end of his telegram, Bülow
expressed his disappointment by minister’s conduct by these words:
“Not any truth must be necessarily told.”21 Such an “advice” was hardly
welcomed by a 47-years old high-ranking diplomat. These rumours
surely worsened the image of Germany and especially of Ketteler in
Chinese eyes. The Chinese court suspected the foreigners from prepar-
ing an aggression, and the foreigners gradually started to suspect the
court from hostile intentions. But it may be assumed that neither side
really wished a conflict. After a series of misunderstandings and hasty
decisions, both sides of the dispute found themselves on a sloped plane
leading to the catastrophe of 1900.

Despite Chinese refusal, foreign diplomats in Beijing asked their
governments for detachments, and German Minister to China was not
an exception. On 28 May 1900, he asked Berlin for detachment of 50
troops from Qingdao.22 On 31 May, the Zongli Yamen succumbed to
repeated request of the diplomatic corps and permitted the envoys
17 XIANG, p. 215.
18 On 17 October 1900 Bülow became German Chancellor.
19 GP, Bd. XVI, footnote †† on p. 5.
20 Ibidem, Nr. 4512, pp. 4–5, Bülow an Ketteler, 31. 5. 1900.
21 Ibidem, Nr. 4514, p. 6, Bülow an Ketteler, 5. 6. 1900.
22 Ibidem, Nr. 4511, pp. 3–4, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 29. 5. 1900.
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to summon no more than 30 troops for each legation. The foreigners
failed to fulfil this condition.23 The majority of foreign detachments en-
tered Beijing at the end of May. Their German and Austro-Hungarian
colleagues were the last to arrive; together they entered Chinese capi-
tal on June 3, 1900. German detachment consisted of 50 sailors led by
1 officer, Count Alfred von Soden.24 In Beijing, there were about 451–
458 legation guards altogether.25 Together with armed volunteers of
foreign origin, the overall strength of the foreigners in Beijing didn’t
exceed 530 to 550 men. Which were the prospects of such a force, and
how powerful were its foes?

Even though the total number of Chinese soldiers was, at least on
paper, enormous – one estimate gave the number of 1,752,00026 –, the
actual strength of Chinese army was rather low. Many units had only
a small friction of their alleged strength, and most of them had insuf-
ficient training and antiquated weaponry. But despite the fact that the
Manchu court had suppressed the reform movement in 1898, it defi-
nitely didn’t hesitate to continue reforming the Chinese army. Between
1898 and 1899, the overall shipment of war material to Tianjin, Fuzhou,
Hankou, and Canton increased more than threefold.27 Even the spread
of anti-foreign disturbances in northern China in early 1900 didn’t per-
suade the foreigners – and especially the Germans – to stop import-
ing weapons to China. For example in mid-June 1900 the foreigners
in Tianjin appropriated 50 Mauser rifles and 30,000 rounds of ammuni-
tion, which had been ordered by the Chinese, and handed them over to
civilian defenders.28 After the fall of Beijing the foreigners discovered
23 MORSE, p. 198.
24 GP, Bd. XVI, footnote ∗∗ on p. 4.
25 Legations of all countries with the exception of the Netherlands, Belgium, and

Spain were protected by their own guards. Allegedly to Morse, there were
82 British, 81 Russians, 79 French, 56 Americans, 51 Germans, 41 Italians, 35
Austro-Hungarians, and 25 Japanese. MORSE, p. 280.

26 R. POWELL, The Rise of Chinese Military Power, 1895–1912, Princeton 1955, p. 107.
27 Ibidem, pp. 108–109.
28 C. C. DIX, The World’s Navies in the Boxer Rebellion (China 1900), London 1905, p. 52.
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a hidden depot containing no less than 100 hitherto unused Krupp’s
cannons and immense numbers of other weapons and ammunition of
foreign origin.29

The great powers had already sent legation guards to Beijing in
1894–1895 and 1898–1899. Yet, the new arrival of foreign detachments
to Beijing humiliated and scared both the Imperial court and the peo-
ple. It is possible that the Chinese overestimated the real number of
foreign troops in Beijing: on 13 June the court forbade any further
strengthening of foreign detachments in Beijing, stating that there al-
ready were more than thousand legation guards altogether.30 A mere
presence of foreign troops in the vicinity of the Forbidden City was
undoubtedly upsetting the Imperial court. Increasing presence of for-
eign warships off Dagu only increased this perception of threat.31 The
Chinese were aware of relatively recent disturbances in Korea, during
which Japanese troops repeatedly (1884 and 1894) took possession of
Korean monarch in order to force him to collaborate.32

Chinese court was protected better than the Korean one. The Guard
Army, the most formidable force in northern China, was led by Man-
chu Generalissimo Ronglu, who was on best terms with the Empress
Dowager. His army consisted of five “armies”, or divisions: The Cen-
tral Army was led by Ronglu himself. The Front Army or “Tenacious
Army” of General Nie Shicheng was well armed by Mauser rifles, ar-
tillery, and even machine guns. The Left Army (or the Resolute Army)
of General Song Qing was similarly equipped. The Rear Army of Gen-
eral Dong Fuxiang was nicknamed the “Gansu Braves”, and was com-
posed primarily of Muslims from the province of Gansu. Dong’s troops
were known for their ferocity. By far the best Chinese division was
29 T. v. WINTERHALDER, Kämpfe in China. Eine Darstellung der Wirren und der

Betheiligung von Österreich-Ungarns Seemacht an ihrer Niederwerfung in den Jahren
1900-1901, Wien – Budapest 1902, pp. 422–423.

30 YOUNG, p. 121.
31 XIANG, pp. 213–214.
32 Accordingly to French Minister Pichon, at the beginning of June, Ketteler indeed

suggested “marching on the Summer Palace”. KEOWN-BOYD, p. 58.
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Yuan Shikai’s “Newly Created Army”, or the Right Army. Yuan’s
forces followed their leader to Shandong.33 Aside from Ronglu’s guard
armies, there were also other forces in the vicinity of Beijing; the al-
ready antiquated Eight Banners consisting of descendants of Manchu,
Mongol, and Han Chinese soldiers who had conquered China in the
seventeenth century were the most notable of them. One division of
the Bannermen, the so-called “Tiger and Divine Corps”, was led by
Prince Duan himself. Accordingly to foreign estimates, some 110,000
to 140,000 Chinese soldiers were available for defence of Beijing.34

German policy in general was deeply influenced by the personal-
ity of German Emperor, whose power was less limited than power of
most of his fellow monarchs in other countries. Wilhelm II was a de-
vout Christian, who had a strong sense of superiority over the Asians.
He had long feared and perhaps at the same time looked forward for
the day when the “Yellow Peril” would came into being.35 He no-
ticed rising chaos in northern China, and at the very beginning he pre-
emptively suggested a brutal retaliation. “On 5 June, for example, Wil-
helm had demanded on the Auswärtiges Amt that the city of Wech-huan36 near
Kiaochow be bombarded and occupied ‘if anything happens to a German’.”37

Such a request was not unsubstantiated, even though Yuan Shikai
was already pacifying Shandong. In June 1900, the construction of
the Shandong railway was halted again, and German staff, as well as
33 The organization and strength of Ronglu’s Guard Army are analyzed by Jerome

Ch’en and Ralph Powell. POWELL, pp. 102–105; J. CH’EN, Yuan Shih-k’ai, 1859–
1916. Brutus Assumes the Purple, Stanford 1961, pp. 51–53.

34 POWELL, pp. 107–108.
35 “Bernhard von Bülow, then Foreign Secretary, later recorded in his memoirs that he had

‘never seen Kaiser Wilhelm [. . . ] in such excitement as during the first phase of the Chi-
nese confusion’. According to Bülow, Wilhelm stated repeatedly: ‘Now it is a joy to be
alive!’” A. MOMBAUER, Wilhelm, Waldersee, and the Boxer Rebellion, in: M.
MOMBAUER – W. DEIST (eds.), The Kaiser. New Research on Wilhelm II’s Role in
Imperial Germany, Cambridge 2004, p. 95.

36 It is difficult to find out the exact identity of this city.
37 MOMBAUER, footnote 13 on p. 95.
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Chinese Christians, had to flee to Qingdao.38 The measure proposed
by Wilhelm II would have undoubtedly embarrassed Yuan Shikai and
perhaps even dragged him into the conflict against his will. Similarly,
on 2 July the Germans suggested conquering fortifications of Qifu, an
important port on the coast of Shandong. They were enraged by fresh
news from Beijing, not by Yuan’s behaviour or by general conditions
in the German sphere of influence.39 Let’s say in advance that the sit-
uation in Shandong throughout the entire “Boxer Uprising” was rela-
tively good. One significant event was burning of an American Presby-
terian mission at Weixian.40 Thereafter Yuan Shikai stated that he was
not able to protect foreigners in the interior of Shandong,41 and the for-
eigners and Christians fled, especially to the German leased area, but
the unrest was manageable. It was even rumoured that the inhabitants
of the eastern part of the province were anti-Boxer; an American news-
paper reported that they had buried 50 “Boxers” alive.42 Still, Wilhelm
II didn’t trust any Chinese, not even Yuan Shikai and his army. On
18 July he explained his worries to Bülow. He was aware of growing
tensions between the British and the Russians. Furthermore he was
afraid of a possible uprising in Korea, with the possibility of Japanese
involvement. Such a turmoil would endanger Qingdao, and its safety
had even higher priority than an advance on Beijing. Wilhelm II there-
fore ordered to withdraw all German troops from Zhili to Qingdao.43

On 22 July Count Bülow sent to the Emperor a quite positive re-
port about the development in Shandong. Generally speaking, German
38 WENDELS, p. 46.
39 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4546, pp. 31–33. Bülow an das Auswärtige Amt, 3. 7. 1900.

The Germans were enraged that the news about Ketteler’s death was confirmed
(see below). Finally, the plan came to nought, because the commander of Ger-
man naval forces in the Far East, Vice Admiral Bendemann, didn’t have sufficient
forces.

40 Not to be confused with Weixian in Zhili, where some Catholic missionaries were
killed by the “Boxers”.

41 WINTERHALDER, p. 93.
42 The Boxer Rising. A History of the Boxer Trouble in China, Shanghai 1901, p. 41.
43 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4576, pp. 59–60, Kaiser Wilhelm II an Bülow, 18. 7. 1900.
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interests weren’t imperilled. Since 3 July the Governor of Qingdao
Captain Paul Jaeschke44 didn’t report any incidents, and both the per-
sonnel of SEG and the missionaries were safe. German leased area of
Jiaozhou was entirely peaceful, and the garrison, consisting of the 3rd

Battalion of marine infantry, was ready to undertake a punitive expedi-
tion into the hinterland of Shandong. Bülow opposed such a move, for
he was afraid of driving hitherto “neutral” Yuan Shikai into the camp
of the reactionary clique in Beijing. He also warned that, in case of
German territorial aggrandizement in Shandong, other powers would
follow German lead: Russia in northern China, Britain in the Yangtze
region. The latter move would seriously damage German trade.45 Af-
ter the end of the Boxer crisis, the Germans only hesitantly returned
to Shandong. The Shandong Railway Company resumed construction
works at the end of 1900 only, and the railroad was complete on 1 July
1904, i. e. in concordance with the schedule.46 To sum up, the events
in German sphere of influence in Shandong in 1900 had only a very
insignificant impact on the development of the “Boxer” crisis. In Zhili,
the situation was extremely different.

Since late May, the situation in Zhili was deteriorating day by day.
On June 4, large numbers of the Boxers started to demolish a railway
station and a bridge at Huangcun near Tianjin. When General Nie’s
troops tried to stop them by force, the Boxers prevailed, and the sol-
diers sustained 80 casualties.47 The German and Austro-Hungarian de-
tachment were quite lucky that they had already reached Beijing. On
6 June British Minister to China Sir Claude MacDonald asked for new
reinforcements, but, so far, in vain. Instead, another man departed for
Beijing: Li Bingheng, former Governor of Shandong, was summoned
to the court. He hated the foreigners and especially the Germans. Prior
to the German seizure of Jiaozhou, he had already been promised the
44 Paul Jaeschke (1851–1901) held the rank of Kapitän zur See, which is equal to

Colonel of ground forces.
45 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4582, pp. 63–65, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 22. 7. 1900.
46 WENDELS, pp. 46–47.
47 XIANG, pp. 220–221.
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viceroyalty of Sichuan. Due to German pressure, he was cashiered and
dismissed from public service instead;48 and now he was in favour of
the court again. On 8 June the foreigners asked the court for permis-
sion to call for additional detachments anew, unsuccessfully.49 In the
next few days, the tension between the foreigners and the Chinese, the
diplomats and the court, only rose. On 10 June Prince Duan was ap-
pointed head of the Zongli Yamen.50 Minister Ketteler asked the Chi-
nese to agree with German occupation of the Beijing railway station,
but in vain;51 instead, the Chinese prevented the foreigners from us-
ing a telegraph connection between Beijing and Tianjin. One of the
last transmissions was sent by Claude MacDonald to British Admiral
Seymour, the most senior among commanders of foreign forces at Tian-
jin and Dagu. MacDonald stated: “Situation extremely grave; unless ar-
rangements are made for immediate advance on Beijing it will be too late.”52

Admiral Seymour complied to this request and prepared an expedi-
tionary force, which was expected to reach Beijing by 11 June. On that
day, Seymour didn’t appear. Instead, chancellor of the Japanese lega-
tion Sugiyama Akira was killed by Dong Fuxiang’s soldiers, and the
Japanese’s body was mutilated.
48 MORSE, pp. 107–109; G. STEINMETZ, Qingdao as a Colony. From Apartheid

to Civilizational Exchange. Paper prepared for the Johns Hopkins Workshops
in Comparative History of Science and Technology, “Science, Technology and
Modernity: Colonial Cities in Asia, 1890–1940”, Baltimore, January 16–17, 2009,
p. 3, at: http://www-personal.umich.edu/∼geostein/docs/Qingdaocolony.pdf
[2015-10-11].

49 MORSE, p. 202.
50 However, the existing head of the office, Prince Qing, wasn’t dismissed.
51 WINTERHALDER, p. 188.
52 MORSE, p. 201. Edmund S. Wehrle explains MacDonald’s request by rivalry

among the great powers. Accordingly to him, British minister had been noticed
of advance of 1,700 Russian troops on Beijing. Therefore MacDonald decided to
prevent any unilateral strengthening of Russian influence by calling for primarily
British reinforcements, thus significantly escalated the situation. E. S. WEHRLE,
Britain, China, and the Antimissionary Riots, 1891–1900, Minneapolis 1966, pp. 170–
173.
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Shortly thereafter Minister Ketteler expressed his nature, brave and
brutal at the same time. On 12 or 13 June he encountered two Chinese,
presumably a father and a son. They were in the middle of the legation
quarter, clothed in Boxers’ attire; the elder Chinese was sharpening a
short sword and shouted “This is for all foreigners!” Unfortunately, Ket-
teler understood him, beat him by his walking stick, forced him to flee,
and took the younger Chinese prisoner. Later, top-ranking Chinese
officials including Zhongli, the commander of Beijing police, came to
Ketteler and asked him for release of the adolescent, but it didn’t hap-
pen. Either Ketteler refused to comply, or the captive had already been
shot during an attempt to escape.53

On 13 June, numerous bands of the “Boxers” entered Peking. The
opponents of the xenophobic clique were killed, looting took place, and
it was evident that armored clash was inevitable. Indeed, in the next
few days occurred many incidents between legation guards on one side
and both the “Boxers” and governmental troops on the other. The for-
eigners definitely weren’t passive. For example on 15 June a group
composed primarily of Germans and British rushed into a church full
of Christians which were being slaughtered by the “Boxers”. The Eu-
ropeans killed the attackers and rescued the survivors into safety.54

On June 17, there was a clash between the “Boxers” and Dong Fuxi-
ang’s soldiers on one side, and German, Austro-Hungarian and British
guards on the other.55 At that time, Seymour’s troops were facing a
huge threat themselves.
53 WINTERHALDER, p. 192; MORSE, p. 204; KEOWN-BOYD, p. 58; M. LEUT-

NER, Die Belagerung der Gesandtschaften oder. Wie der Krieg begann, in: M.
LEUTNER – K. MÜHLHAHN (eds.), Kolonialkrieg in China. Die Niederschlagung
der Boxerbewegung 1900–1901, Berlin 2007, pp. 102–103. These authors vary in de-
tails. Rumours are that Ketteler himself shot the captive – Winterhalder explicitly
claims that the “Boxer” was killed on 22 June, i. e. two days after Ketteler’s death.

54 WINTERHALDER, p. 206.
55 G. SCHUSTA, Österreich-Ungarn und der Boxeraufstand. Dissertation, St. Pölten

1967, p. 78. H. B. Morse claims that on 17 June “a conflict occurred between a small
German guard and Chinese soldiers, in which five of the latter were killed”. MORSE,
p. 212.
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On June 10, Seymour left his ships, arrived to Tianjin, and pro-
ceeded to Beijing with the first part of the allied force. Other detach-
ments followed and reached him, and he had 2,129 to 2,156 troops at
his disposal.56 Next to the British, the Germans were the strongest part
of his force, totalling 512 to 552 men.57 The railroad track was dam-
aged by the “Boxers”, thus the expedition was delayed. Since 11 June
the foreigners were under “Boxers” attacks. On the next day, the ex-
pedition reached Langfang and couldn’t continue. Seymour decided
to safeguard his rear, and asked the French and the Germans to return
to the railway station at Yangcun. Commanders of both units refused,
fearing that the Briton just wanted to delay their arrival to Beijing.58 At
the beginning, Chinese governmental troops peacefully observed Sey-
mour’s advance, but on 18 June the situation changed, and since then
Seymour had to cope with repeated attacks of Chinese regular army.59

What had happened?
After Seymour’s departure, commanders of foreign naval forces lo-

cated in front of Dagu observed the situation in northern China. On
15 June, they organized a meeting presided over by Russian Admiral
Hildebrandt; Germany was represented by Vice Admiral Bendemann.
The commanders got the impression that the Chinese were about to
reinforce the forts at Dagu and lay mines in the Peiho River, thus iso-
lating not only Beijing and Tianjin but also Seymour’s force. In fact,
it was quite possible to reach Beijing by other means, but the com-
manders ignored this fact.60 Bendemann recommended sending a joint
56 The German force reached Seymour on 11 June. Accordingly to C. C. Dix, the

Viceroy of Zhili, Yulu, tried to stop them at Tianjin. DIX, pp. 23–24.
57 H. B. Morse claims that the number of Seymour’s troops was 2,066, including 540

Germans; yet the presented numbers of men in each contingent are equal to 2,156.
H. Keown-Boyd claims that Seymour led 2,129 men, 512 of them being German.
Rudolf Zabel states that no less than 25 German officers and 527 men participated
on the expedition. MORSE, p. 202; KEOWN-BOYD, p. 61; R. ZABEL, Deutschland
in China, Leipzig 1902, p. 134.

58 KEOWN-BOYD, p. 66.
59 MORSE, p. 214.
60 WEHRLE, p. 174.
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ultimatum to Chinese commander at Dagu, asking for surrendering
the forts. With the exception of American Admiral Kempff, the com-
manders supported such a move.61 Of course the Chinese didn’t ac-
cept this ultimatum and started shooting on foreign vessels instead.
As a result, a combined foreign force attacked and captured the forts
early in the morning of 17 June. Furthermore, the foreigners captured
four modern Chinese destroyers, built by German shipyards. Some 900
troops participated on the conquest of the fortresses; 130 of them were
German, and the landing force was led by German Captain Hugo von
Pohl. Moreover, German gunboat Iltis took part on the assault as well;
its captain Wilhelm Lans and many other members of its crew were
killed or wounded.62 The commanders at Dagu advocated their move
in a memorandum which was communicated to moderate statesmen in
central and southern China through German consul at Qifu, who held
the position of doyen of the consular corps there.63

The court in Beijing was infuriated; units of Chinese regular army
started to turn against the foreigners.64 Under these circumstances
Seymour decided not to advance on Beijing, but he was unable to re-
turn to Tianjin by train, for the railroad in his rear was too much dam-
aged. As a result, the allied forces retreated on foot along the Peiho
River, repulsing constant Chinese attacks. Due to German initiative,
four river junks have been seized, facilitating the retreat. On 21 June,
Semour’s chief of staff, British Captain (later Admiral) John Jellicoe,
was seriously wounded, and his duties were transferred to German
commander, Captain von Usedom. On the same day, Seymour’s
army accidentally found a huge arsenal near the village of Xigu and
captured it at night, the British and the Germans executing the main
61 The text of the ultimatum is quoted in: WINTERHALDER, footnote on p. 66.
62 Ibidem, pp. 59–87; DIX, pp. 27–45; ZABEL, pp. 113–117; KEOWN-BOYD, pp.

77–80.
63 YOUNG, footnote 2 on p. 124. The text of the note is quoted by H. B. Morse.

MORSE, p. 227.
64 P. H. CLEMENTS, The Boxer Rebellion. A Political and Historical Review, New York

1915, p. 129.
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attack.65 Fatigued and shaken, Seymour’s corps entrenched itself in
the conquered arsenal, and on 25 June the relief force has been itself re-
lieved by a chiefly Russian troops.66 Seymour returned to Tianjin on 26
June, just in time to ward off sustained Chinese attacks on the foreign
quarter which had started after the conquest of the Dagu forts. Dur-
ing his retreat, Seymour coined a famous phrase: “The Germans to the
front!” During the course of Seymour’s expedition 12 German partici-
pants were killed and 62 wounded.67

The foreigners in Beijing weren’t informed about Seymour’s adven-
tures. At the same time, the outside world lost its last connection with
Beijing. On 17 June the Chinese interrupted even the telegraph con-
nection between Beijing and Russian city of Kiachta, and the foreigners
in Beijing were completely isolated.68 Inevitably, rumours of all sorts
started to alarm foreign governments and public alike.

Already on June 16, 1900 a telegram by the “Exchange Telegraph
Company” shocked the world. Accordingly to the telegram, all lega-
tions in Beijing had been destroyed and German Minister to China had
been killed. German consul at Qifu was ordered to find out more, and
on June 18 he reported that the Japanese confirmed the takeover of the
legations.69 This news reached German Emperor at Helgoland. En-
raged Wilhelm II immediately returned to Wilhelmshaven and wasted
no time. When he received a message about departure of 2,000 Japa-
nese troops to China, he noted that the marine infantry should be mobi-
lized and that the armoured cruiser Fürst Bismarck had already received
orders to prepare for an immediate voyage.70 Later that day he ordered
Admiral Tirpitz to mobilize the marine infantry, and he suggested a
65 KEOWN-BOYD, pp. 93–96; DIX, pp. 86–91.
66 Accordingly to C. C. Dix, Colonel Shirinsky’s force which relieved Seymour con-

sisted from 1,000 Russians, 600 British, and 300 German, Italian, and Japanese
troops, i. e. 1,900 men altogether. DIX, p. 115.

67 CLEMENTS, p. 134.
68 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4525, pp. 12–13, Kaiser Wilhelm II an Bülow, 18. 6. 1900.
69 Ibidem, footnote ∗ on p. 12
70 Ibidem, Nr. 4524, p. 12, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 18. 6. 1900.
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mobilization of “a Prussian infantry division or an [army] corps”.71 He
consulted the situation with Count Metternich, a member of his en-
tourage, and enjoyed the idea of closer cooperation between Germany
and Russia.72

On June 18, Wilhelm II had his doubts about the credibility of the
news from China and about the role of the Empress Dowager Cixi.73

On the next day, he was in a different state of mind. He sent to Count
Bülow a telegram of the most bloodthirsty sort, comparable only to his
famous “Hun Speech”: “A grand military action of a collective na-
ture must be organized immediately [. . . ] Peking must be downright attacked
and levelled to the ground [. . . ] Perhaps I shall appoint the supreme Gen-
eral with pleasure. Then, the course of actions must be grasped by one strong
hand, meaning a European one. [We will never allow the Russians and the
Japanese to solve the situation on their own and prevent us from taking part on
it.] German Minister will be avenged by my troops. Peking must be razed. . .
It is a struggle of Asia against the entire Europe!”74

On the same day, Wilhelm II ordered to mobilize an entire army
corps, yet Bülow opposed such a scheme. He persuaded Wilhelm II
to contend himself with a mobilization of a volunteer battalion and of
both battalions of marine infantry which were present in Europe. Nei-
ther the Reichstag, nor even the Chancellor Chlodwig von Hohenlohe-
Schillingsfürst were consulted.75 As far as the question of supreme
command was concerned, Foreign Secretary Bülow suggested wait-
ing until the antagonism between Franco-Russian and British-Japanese
blocks would emerge. As a compromise, the chief command should be
given to Germany. Wilhelm II strongly opposed: “This is definitely not
71 Ibidem, Nr. 4525, pp. 12–13, Kaiser Wilhelm II an Bülow, 18. 6. 1900.
72 Ibidem, Nr. 4526, pp. 13–14, Metternich an Bülow, 18. 6. 1900.
73 Ibidem, Nr. 4525, pp. 12–13, Kaiser Wilhelm II an Bülow, 18. 6. 1900.
74 Ibidem, Nr. 4527, p. 14, Kaiser Wilhelm II an Bülow, 19. 9. 1900.
75 MOMBAUER, p. 96. On 26 June was published Wilhelm II’s decision to send

1st and 2nd Battalion of marine infantry, an artillery battery, and a detachment of
engineers, under command of General von Hoepfner. GP, Bd. XVI, footnote ∗ on
p. 24.
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the case! There must be no interest conflict, otherwise, the Europeans are sim-
ply lost!”76

For the time being, until the arrival of German reinforcements from
Europe, Germany had to rely on her troops which were already present
in the Far East. On 30 June 1900, Vice Admiral Bendemann received se-
cret instructions about the nature of German policy in China. Among
German goals were: protection of Europeans and their assets in China;
restoration of the status quo and obtaining sufficient guarantees from
the Chinese court; preventing of unnecessary acquisition of Chinese
territory by the powers or of creating further spheres of interest; main-
taining of the Open Door Policy. It was not advisable to support closer
affiliation of Japan to European powers. On the other hand, Bende-
mann was permitted to support any measure of political nature which
would enjoy both British and Russian support (this was an especially
secret point).77

When Wilhelm II started to rage about the alleged assassination of
his representative in China, Ketteler was still alive. It is a widespread
belief that those people who were by mistake considered dead will live
very long. Alas, it was not Ketteler’s case. German minister was well
known to the Chinese for his steadfast and brute attitude. “He was a
man of great courage but little finesse, who doubted the necessity or wisdom
of covering the iron fist with the velvet glove.”78 Examples of his approach
have already been presented; and the final one will be given.

Following the harsh foreign action at Dagu, the Chinese court held
several meetings, at which the xenophobic group gained the upper
hand. On 19 June at 4 p. m. the Zongli Yamen informed the hitherto
isolated foreigners in Beijing about the ultimatum given to the garrison
at Dagu on 16 June. The foreigners themselves were given a ultima-
tum ordering them to leave Beijing within 24 hours under protection
of governmental troops.79 The diplomats saw little point in resisting,
76 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4258, pp. 15–18, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 19. 9. 1900.
77 Ibidem, Nr. 4538, pp. 24–26, Bülow an Diederichs, 30. 6. 1900.
78 KEOWN-BOYD, p. 42.
79 This was hardly encouraging, for the foreigners in Beijing were already clashing
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and asked the Zongli Yamen for arranging a meeting on the next day
at 9 a. m. Most of the ministers were ready to comply with the Chinese
request; Ketteler strongly opposed. On 20 June at 8 a. m. the minis-
ters met together and waited on Chinese reply; by 9 a. m. no reply
came. Enraged Ketteler decided to visit the Zongli Yamen and explain
to Chinese princes in charge of Chinese diplomacy the wrongfulness
of their behaviour; he had already announced his visit in advance. His
colleagues tried in vain to dissuade him from undertaking such a risk,
stressing even the inappropriateness of waiting on the princes; but Ger-
man minister was adamant.80

Shortly after 9:30 a. m., Ketteler and his interpreter Heinrich Cordes
entered two sedan chairs, accompanied by two unarmed ceremonial
attendants. When they were passing by a checkpoint at the Hatamen
Street, a Bannerman named En Hai shot Ketteler into his head. Cordes
tried to escape, but En Hai shot on him as well. Hit in his legs, Cordes
managed to crawl into the nearby American Methodist mission, ob-
served, but not further harmed, by Chinese bystanders. En Hai stole
Ketteler’s silver watches. Both the Zongli Yamen and the foreign com-
munity were informed about the event immediately. German com-
mander von Soden with 20 marines rushed to the scene, but he didn’t
find traces of Ketteler or Cordes. Later that day Cordes and all the
Methodist missionaries and converts were evacuated to the relative
safety of foreign legations. Ketteler’s duties were assumed by his dep-
uty, Claus von Below. Shortly thereafter, the Zongli Yamen dispatched
two notes. The first note discouraged the foreigners from visiting the
Yamen, the second one, sent to the Germans, “demanded to know who
were the two Germans, one of whom had been killed, who had fired into the

with Chinese soldiers for several days.
80 “I will go there and I will be sitting there until they come, even if I had to wait the en-

tire night”, Ketteler explained. D. NOWAK, Der Tod des deutschen Gesandten
Clemens von Ketteler, in: M. LEUTNER – K. MÜHLHAHN (eds.), Kolonialkrieg
in China. Die Niederschlagung der Boxerbewegung 1900–1901, Berlin 2007, p. 112.
Moreover, Ketteler “felt that, having announced his visit, he must pay it”. R. HART,
“These from the land of Sinim.” Essays on the Chinese Question, London 1901, p. 19.
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crowd.No reply was sent to either of these cynical and insulting documents”.81

As a matter of irony, the news about factual Ketteler’s death reached
Europe only after 12 days, i. e. on 1 July,82 and the day after it was
finally confirmed.

Little is certain about the background of Ketteler’s death. After
the fall of Beijing, Ketteler’s murderer En Hai was captured by the
Japanese when he was trying to sell Ketteler’s watches. The Japanese
handed him over to the Germans; he has been interrogated repeatedly,
and he claimed that the troops had been ordered by some Manchu
prince to kill the foreigners. Since he knew neither Prince Duan nor
Prince Qing personally, he was unable to mark the culprit.83 Many for-
eigners were of the opinion that Ketteler’s murder was just a proof of a
plan to exterminate the entire foreign community in Beijing. As Henry
Keown-Boyd summarized it, “by his death he unwittingly saved the lives
of his diplomatic colleagues”.84

Other sources claim that Ketteler was specifically targeted by the
Chinese who hated him personally. Accordingly to Mr. Jamieson, a
member of British legation staff, “No other minister but the German would
have been murdered on his way to the Yamen that day. It was the firm ha-
tred towards him cherished by Li Peng Hêng, who fancied that he had been
deprived of the Governorship of Shantung owing to German representations
that proved fatal to Baron Ketteler.”85 In fact, Li Bingheng had just be-
gun his long journey to Beijing, and he didn’t owe his dismissal to
Ketteler personally. H. B. Morse quotes an unreliable source and sug-
gests that some officials wanted to have Ketteler’s corpse decapitated
and his head exhibited over a gate.86 Edmund Wehrle suggests that
81 KEOWN-BOYD, p. 92.
82 MORSE, pp. 247–248. Accordingly to a contemporary observer, young British

naval officer C. C. Dix, who took part on fighting in China, the foreigners in Tianjin
learned about Ketteler’s death already on 22 June. DIX, p. 66.

83 NOWAK, p. 115.
84 KEOWN-BOYD, p. 44.
85 WEHRLE, p. 176.
86 MORSE, footnote 125 on pp. 223–224.
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Ketteler’s death was a result of faction struggle at the Chinese court:
the war faction disliked a peaceful solution, therefore it arranged for
Ketteler’s murder.87

An opposite view is that Ketteler lost his life by chance. Dominik
Nowak discusses a theory of Xiang Lanxin which is based on the same
notes which Keown-Boyd plainly dismisses.88 Accordingly to this
theory, the German envoy was passing by the checkpoint and the near-
by Belgian legation. Ketteler’s revolver suddenly shot, the Chinese
thought to be under attack, and killed Ketteler. Foreign troops guard-
ing the Belgian legation repeated fire, and Cordes was wounded in a
crossfire. Later, En Hai allegedly found a revolver with five rounds
only inside Ketteler’s sedan chair. In reality, the Belgian legation had
been protected by Austro-Hungarian sailors. On 15 June, shortly af-
ter midnight, the “Boxers” attacked the Belgian legation and were re-
pelled by determined defence. On 16 June the entire legation staff
and its guards had left the isolated building. Austro-Hungarian sailors
were several times a day undertaking patrols towards the legation; yet
Austro-Hungarian officer Theodor von Winterhalder doesn’t mention
their presence at the scene of the fire.89 Any possibility of the crossfire
must be therefore dismissed.

Whatever the intentions of the Chinese court were, after Ketteler’s
death no foreigner did dare to leave the “safety” of the legation quarter.
On 20 June at 4 p.m. the fight against the foreigners in Beijing began.
Several thousands of Chinese converts, protected by about 40 French
and Italian troops, were isolated in the Beidang Cathedral. Most of the
foreigners, less than thousand people, were besieged in the legation
quarter. The diplomats had at their disposal little more than 410 troops
and several tens of armed volunteers; and they had to take care of hun-
dreds of foreign non-combatants and thousands of Chinese Christians.
The Germans were protecting their legation and part of the wall of the
87 WEHRLE, p. 176.
88 Xiang’s theory is summarized by Dominik Nowak. NOWAK, pp. 115–117.
89 WINTERHALDER, pp. 49, 203–204, and 212.
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Tartar City; to the west of them were the Americans. Both sides were
hiding behind barricades; at the walls of the Tartar city, the fighting
was especially fierce, and the barricades of both sides were very close
to each other.

At the beginning of the siege, things went wrong for detachments of
both German powers. In the morning of 22 June, German commander
was informed by an American messenger that the Americans had left
their position at the walls of the Tartar city. Fearing that the Chinese
would take advantage of this gap in the defence, Captain Thomann
ordered general retreat into the British legation. When the situation
became clear, the troops returned to their posts. Thereafter the com-
mittee of foreign representatives – unattended by both its German and
Austro-Hungarian members Below and Rosthorn – decided to recall
Captain Thomann from supreme command.90 Instead, the leadership
was entrusted to Sir Claude MacDonald, who had been an officer of
the 74th Regiment of the British army.91

How could the besieged foreigners be saved? The Germans con-
sidered a desperate suggestion by British consul at Tianjin Carles: to
threaten the destruction of Manchu ancestral tombs. Accordingly to a
report from 1 July, Wilhelm II didn’t consider it opportune; Vice Admi-
ral Bendemann had objections as well.92 British Prime Minister Lord
Salisbury was afraid of reaction of the British public opinion; too few
troops were available to undertake such an expedition; and a compro-
mise has been reached: the great powers stated that “all authorities at
Peking of whatever rank will be held responsible in person and property for
any act of violence against the Legations”. Germany agreed, and in the
first week of July the warning has been handed to Chinese minister to
London.93

90 Ibidem, pp. 234–238; KEOWN-BOYD, pp. 104–106; S. LESZKOVICH, Die Donau-
monarchie und der Boxeraufstand in China, Diplomarbeit, Wien 1991, pp. 33–34;
SCHUSTA, p. 84.

91 KEOWN-BOYD, p. 41.
92 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 5439, pp. 26–27.
93 YOUNG, pp. 143–145; GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4545, pp. 30–31, Richthofen an Bülow,
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Meanwhile, on 2 July 1900 reliable news about Ketteler’s factual
death finally reached the Emperor. Wilhelm II was preparing to speak
to the first German contingent of marine infantry which was about to
start the journey from Wilhelmshaven to the Far East. German emperor
explained: “Into the midst of the deepest peace – alas, not surprising to me –
the torch of war has been hurled [. . . ] The German flag has been insulted, and
the German Empire held up to scorn. This demands an exemplary punishment
and revenge.” The Emperor also reminded his troops of broader aspects
of their task: “Maintain a good comradeship with all the troops whom you
will join with there. Russians, Englishmen, Frenchmen, and whoever else –
they all fight for one cause, for civilization. Yet we also bear in mind some-
thing higher, our religion, and the defense and protection of our brothers over-
seas, some of whom have stood up for their Savior with their life.“94 On the
same day, Wilhelm II ordered to organize a brigade 7,000 men strong95

and composed of volunteers. Finally, German expeditionary corps con-
sisted of six infantry regiments, one cavalry regiment, one artillery
regiment, and was commanded by General von Lessel.96 The expe-
ditionary corps consisted from about 520 officers and 11,000 soldiers.97

3. 7. 1900. Still, Under-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs Richthofen was of the
opinion that Germany could threaten the destruction of tombs unilaterally.

94 The text of the speech is available online at: The World War I Document
Archive, Kaiser Wilhelm II on German Interests in China, http://wwi.lib.
byu.edu/index.php/Kaiser_Wilhelm_II_on_German_Interests_in_China [2015-
10-08]. Accordingly to this website, the editors of the official version of the speech
deleted the sentence: “I hope [. . . ] to take revenge such as the world has never yet
seen.” The moderate variant of the speech is included in a contemporary edition
of Wilhelm II’s speeches, printed in 1904. L. ELKIND (ed.), The German Emperor’s
Speeches. Being a Selection from the Speeches, Edicts, Letters, and Telegrams of the
Emperor William II, London 1904, pp. 313–314.

95 MORSE, p. 266.
96 ZABEL, pp. 151–152.
97 Bundesarchiv-Militärarchiv Freiburg (further only “BArch-MA”), RM3/4745, Nr.

90. Betrifft Meldung über Massnahmen des Reichs-Marine-Amtes, welche die Ak-
tion in China betreffen. An Seine Majestät den Kaiser und König.
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Moreover, Germany sent the 1st division of battleships to East Asian
waters.98

Long mistrust of German Emperor towards China became justified.
In retaliation for Ketteler’s death, the Germans suggested not only the
aforementioned conquest of the forts at Qifu, but also seizing and sink-
ing of Chinese vessels at Yangtze. Fortunately, they didn’t have enough
naval forces in the Far Eastern area, thus neither of these measures was
adopted.99 The Chinese apologized almost immediately. On 3 July,
while the foreigners in Beijing were fighting for their lives again, the
Chinese court tried to start negotiations with foreign powers. The Chi-
nese adopted a different approach to each country: the British were re-
minded of the importance of their trade with China, whereas the Amer-
icans were asked for mediation. The Chinese apologized to Germany
for Ketteler’s murder and promised to punish the culprits.100

In mid-July the Chinese court received a more palpable warning
than mere threats of responsibility. The international force defending
the foreign quarter of Tianjin was being steadily reinforced. Since 18
June there were about 600 German sailors present. On 19 June two
companies of the 3rd Battalion of German marine infantry, or, 265 men
under command of Major Christ, left Qingado, on 22 June they landed
at the mouth of the Peiho River and on the next day they entered
the foreign-controlled part of Tianjin.101 Among returning Seymour’s
troops were about 500 more Germans, about 450 of them able-bodied.
Ironically, while other countries were bringing reinforcements, the Ger-
mans started withdrawing their men from Zhili, out of concern for the
safety of Jiaozhou. As a result, the withdrawn German marine infantry
returned to Qingdao on 6 July 1900.102 On the same day there were
98 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4546, pp. 31–33, Bülow an das Auswärtige Amt, 3. 7. 1900;

ibidem, Nr. 4559, pp. 46–47, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 8. 7. 1900.
99 Ibidem, Nr. 4546, pp. 31–33, Bülow an das Auswärtige Amt, 3. 7. 1900.
100 MORSE, p. 248.
101 ZABEL, pp. 128–129; WINTERHALDER, p. 88.
102 WINTERHALDER, p. 93. The author quotes a Russian estimate of the overall

number of landed troops, including the legation guards – I have excluded these.
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about 17 100 foreign troops available in northern China; about 1100
of them German.103 On 13 July about 12,000 foreign troops104 started
an assault on the Chinese part of Tianjin. Russian and remaining Ger-
man troops were encircling the city from the east and north-east, forces
of other nations were attacking from the south, and the city fell on
14 July.105 Tianjin had already been plundered by the Chinese them-
selves, and the foreigners followed suit. “Some of the Russian, the French,
the Indian, and the German troops distinguished themselves as highway rob-
bers. . . it is certain that the three shortest of the Ten Commandments were
constantly violated on an excessive scale.”106 Shortly after the fall of Tian-
jin the Germans withdrew their remaining forces back to Qingdao.107

Most of xenophobes started changing their mind and Cixi ordered
to stop harassing the legation quarter in Beijing; this armistice lasted
until 29 July. At that time, Li Bingheng had finally arrived to Beijing.
He gained favour of Cixi, was appointed Generalissimo, like Ronglu,
and he urged renewing hostilities. Furthermore, he arranged execution
of five ministers who have proven their goodwill towards foreigners.
Among the executed was a distinguished diplomat Xu Jingcheng, who
had been representing China in Germany and other European coun-
tries several times since 1884. Despite the renewal of hostilities, foreign
diplomats in the legation quarter kept contact with the Zongli Yamen
until the arrival of international forces.

On the same day when Tianjin fell, other “news from Beijing”
reached Europe: On 8 July, the “Boxers” and Dong Fuxiang’s troops
had allegedly overrun the defences of the legations in Beijing and

Taking the context into the account I assume that the Russians didn’t count the
marine infantry in Qingdao.

103 Ibidem, p. 98. Winterhalder further quotes a telegram from 14 July by Japanese
General Fukushima. According to him, there were 13,500 foreign troops in Tianjin,
500 of them Germans. Ibidem, pp. 321–322.

104 MORSE, p. 264.
105 ZABEL, pp. 144–149; MORSE, p. 244; KEOWN-BOYD, pp. 134–143.
106 MORSE, p. 246.
107 ZABEL, pp. 155–156.
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slaughtered everyone. This news was attributed to a notable Chinese
enemy of the “Boxers”, namely Sheng Xuanhuai, who was in charge
of Chinese telegraphs. Sheng immediately denied any responsibility,
but the world didn’t care.108 Only after the Chinese court allowed
the besieged envoys to send ciphered telegrams to their capitals, the
people started to believe that the foreigners in Beijing still held on.109

Still, defeating the “Boxers” and punishing China was by no means
a single task. Various estimates of the number of foreign troops nec-
essary to capture Beijing ranged from 25,000 to 80,000, besides addi-
tional guards protecting their supply lines running through Dagu and
Tianjin.110 The most widely accepted opinion was that no less than
50,000 foreign troops would ensure the conquest of Beijing. The Ger-
mans were decided to participate on it; and they expected that they
would have enough time to reach the Far East in time.

German armed forces needed to transport large numbers of troops
to the Far East by sea. Since the voyage from Germany to China around
the world was quite long, German government was looking for an-
other route. It seemed sensible to transport German troops through
Austria-Hungary to Trieste, and the Germans asked Austria-Hungary
for military access. On July 11, 1900, Austro-Hungarian emperor Fran-
cis Joseph I, who was at that time at his usual summer residence at
Bad Ischl, permitted German forces to pass through Austro-Hungarian
territory at will.111 On the next day, Count Bülow asked top-ranking
108 MORSE, pp. 248–249.
109 German telegram, dated 21 July, arrived to Tianjin on 29 July. Its text is quoted

in: T. WHITE – J. P. BOYD, The Story of China and Her Neighbours. Their Manners,
Customs, Life and History. Including the Boxer Uprising, Massacre of Foreigners and
Operations of the Allied Powers, [s. l.] 1900, p. 469.

110 MORSE, footnote 20 on pp. 264–265; POWELL, p. 114. The latter author claims
that the estimates ranged from 40,000 to 100,000, including rearguards. At the
same time, “by 13 July Admiral Seymour was calmly reporting that an advance by land
was not feasible ‘until after the rains say early September’”. YOUNG, p. 143.

111 Haus-, Hof- und Staaatsarchiv Wien (further only HHStA), Politisches Archiv
(further only PA) XXIX, China, Karton 14, Liasse Ia, Nr. 2167. Der Kaiser an
Sectionschef Graf Szécsen, Ischl 9. 7. 1900.
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representatives of the Army and the Navy whether or not would they
suggest such a move to German Emperor. They unanimously sup-
ported an urgent sending of further German forces to the Far East, but
preferred Bremerhaven to Triest. As a result, the idea of embarking
German troops at Trieste came to nought.112

Accordingly to the Emperor, the command in China was to be en-
trusted to one of the most prominent German soldiers. Count Alfred
von Waldersee was a former chief of Prussian General Staff and he had
been in close touch with his Emperor for decades. It is a widespread
rumour that in April 1866, prior to the outbreak of the Prusso-Austrian
War, he arrived to Prague in order to gather military intelligence, only
to be arrested within a few days. In fact, Waldersee persuaded his el-
der brother to undertake that mission.113 He distinguished himself in
the Franco-German War, and later he closely collaborated with Hel-
muth von Moltke the Elder. Between 1888 and 1891, Waldersee was a
chief of the Great General Staff. After military manoeuvres of Septem-
ber 1890, Waldersee found himself somewhat estranged from Wilhelm
II, who dismissed him from that position and replaced him by Alfred
von Schlieffen. At the beginning of the Boxer crisis, Waldersee was a
Inspector-General of the Third Army in Hannover. On May 6, 1900,
he was promoted to the rank of Field Marshall.114 Waldersee had been
since the outbreak of the Boxer crisis informed about news from China,
and he was of the opinion that neither German nor foreign diplomats
did truly understand the situation in the Middle Kingdom. “Certainly,

112 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4564, p. 49, Bülow an Admiral Diederichs, 12. 7. 1900, and
footonote ∗ on pp. 49–50.

113 Denkwürdigkeiten des General-Feldmarschalls Alfred Grafen von Waldersee. Auf Veran-
lassung des Generalleutnants Georg Grafen von Waldersee bearbeitet und herausgegeben
von Heinrich Otto Meisner. Erster Band, 1832–1888, Stuttgart – Berlin 1922, pp. 24–
25.

114 Denkwürdigkeiten des General-Feldmarschalls Alfred Grafen von Waldersee. Auf Veran-
lassung des Generalleutnants Georg Grafen von Waldersee bearbeitet und herausgegeben
von Heinrich Otto Meisner. Zweiter Band, 1888–1900, Stuttgart – Berlin 1922, p. 445.
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our Minister to Peking, Ketteler, informed us already six weeks ago that very
serious events were to be expected; but he has not been listened to.”115

On July 27, 1900, another part of German punitive expeditionary
corps left Bremerhaven. German emperor himself appeared in front of
his troops, accompanied by the Chancellor and State Secretary Bülow.
Emperor Wilhelm II was well known for his lack of reservation in
speech,116 and at this occasion he fully professed his contempt of the
Asians and his murderous grief over death of his minister to China
and over supposed slaughter of all Europeans in Beijing. In his famous
“Huns’ speech” (Hunnenrede)117 vengeful German Emperor expressed
his Christian bias and instructed his troops:

“But you can see from this what a culture not based on Christianity comes
to [. . . ] Well you know that you shall be fighting against a sly, brave, well-
armed, and cruel foe. When you come upon the enemy, smite him. Pardon
will not be given. Prisoners will not be taken. Whoever falls into your hands
is forfeit. Once, a thousand years ago, the Huns under their King Attila made
a name for themselves, one still potent in legend and tradition. May you in
this way make the name German remembered in China for a thousand years
so that no Chinaman will ever again dare to even squint at a German! Open
the way for civilization once and for all!”118

115 Denkwürdigkeiten, Zweiter Band, p. 447.
116 As Alfred von Waldersee remarked in May 1896: “He [the Emperor] frequently ex-

presses himself crudely in conversation, although later he often scarcely knows what he
said.” J. C. G. RÖHL, Wilhelm II. The Kaiser’s Personal Monarchy, 1888–1890, Cam-
bridge 2004, p. 712.

117 For wider context of the “Hun Speech”, see: B. SÖSEMANN, “Pardon wird nicht
gegeben!” Staatliche Zensur und Presseöffentlichkeit zur “Hunnenrede”, in: M.
LEUTNER – K. MÜHLHAHN (eds.), Kolonialkrieg in China. Die Niederschlagung
der Boxerbewegung 1900–1901, Berlin 2007, pp. 119–122.

118 The World War I Document Archive, Kaiser Wilhelm II on German Interests in China.
http://wwi.lib.byu.edu/index.php/Kaiser_Wilhelm_II_on_German_Interests_in
_China [2015-10-08]. H. B. Morse translated the most interesting sentences slightly
differently: “Let all who fall into your hands be at your mercy.” MORSE, p. 309. Louis
Elkind presented an absolutely different translation of the crucial part of the
speech: “If you fall into his hands, then know that quarter will not be given, prisoners
will not be made [. . . ].” The reference to the Huns is omitted altogether. ELKIND,
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These sincere words didn’t fail to impress the audience. Both the
Chancellor and State Secretary Bülow asked the audience not to pub-
lish its most striking parts. The authorities published two censored
versions; yet it was inevitable that the full text of the speech gradually
leaked out.119 The impact of Wilhelm’s words was mixed. Inside Ger-
many, this speech aroused much criticism, but many Germans consid-
ered it a fitting response to atrocities of the Chinese. Outside Germany,
the audience was as shocked by alleged slaughter of all foreigners in
Beijing as Wilhelm II himself. German ambassador to France was told
by French Foreign Minister Delcassé that the speech “had made the best
impression throughout the whole of France”. From the technical point of
view, it was difficult to capture a “Boxer” alive. And both the Chinese
and foreign troops were habitually killing captured enemies.

The question of united command of the allied forces was a matter
of controversy among the great powers. The Russians were unwilling
to place their troops under command of a British, Japanese, or Amer-
ican officer, whereas the Japanese refused to submit their troops to a
Russian.120 Some of British statesmen didn’t recognize the need of a
supreme commander at all.121 It was a matter of German honour to
be in supreme command, and Wilhelm II wished to secure a universal
consent with Waldersee’s appointment. At the same time, he hesitated
to propose it on his own. Therefore he asked British government to

p. 315. In German, the most significant passage sounds: “Kommt Ihr vor den Feind,
so wird er geschlagen, Pardon wird nicht gegeben; Gefangene nicht gemacht. Wer Euch
in die Hände fällt, sei in Eurer Hand.” SÖSEMANN, p. 119.

119 SÖSEMANN, pp. 119–120.
120 MOMBAUER, p. 100; GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4548, pp. 34–36, Richthofen an Bülow,

4. 7. 1900.
121 Robert Cecil, Marquess of Salisbury, who at that time held the post of Prime Minis-

ter and Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs simultaneously, was the most resolute
opponent of any joint command. On the other hand, already in late June Admi-
ral Seymour had suggested that “if a march on Peking becomes necessary there would
have to be one [his own emphasis] commander of the combined forces”. T. G. OTTE, The
China Question. Great Power Rivalry and British Isolation, 1894–1905, Oxford 2007,
pp. 186–189.
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suggest Waldersee’s appointment, but the British failed to approve this
plan. Lord Salisbury had originally underestimated the “Boxer” cri-
sis,122 and he distrusted not only Russian, but also German intentions.
German chargé d’affaires in London, Baron Eckardstein, hinted in vain
that British refusal could force the Germans to cooperate with Russia
and France. Some of Salisbury’s colleagues from the British govern-
ment felt that he was too indecisive during the Chinese crisis, and ma-
jor changes in his government took place in November of the same year
– Salisbury himself transferred the Foreign Office to Marquess Lans-
downe.123 Wilhelm II’s Hun Speech of July 27 had further negative im-
pact on Lord Salisbury – but at that time, the Germans ceased counting
on British cooperation, and managed to gain support for Waldersee’s
appointment elsewhere.

On 6 August Wilhelm II turned to Russia, and the Tsar complied:
“I am happy to tell you that I fully agree to the nomination of Field-Marshall
Count Waldersee to that post [. . . ] With full confidence I place my troops
in Petchili [Zhili] under his command.”124 Thus, Nicholas II suggested
limiting Waldersee’s authority to the province of Zhili, while reserv-
ing Manchuria for Russia.125 On 7 August, German Emperor informed
Waldersee about his appointment.126 On 9 August 1900 the British cabi-
net finally consented with German proposal. However, Lord Salisbury
succeeded in making the acceptance conditional. “If the other powers
placed their troops under the field marshal’s supreme direction,127 Britain
would follow their example.”128 On the next day, British Ambassador to
122 Ibidem, pp. 182–183.
123 Ibidem, p. 229.
124 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4602, p. 83, Kaiser Wilhelm II an Bülow, 6. 8. 1900; MORSE, p.

309. Tsar’s consent was announced by Germany on 7 August 1900.
125 A. MALOZEMOFF, Russian Far Eastern Policy, 1881–1904. With Special Emphasis on

the Causes of the Russo-Japanese War, Berkeley – Los Angeles 1958, p. 131.
126 Denkwürdigkeiten des General-Feldmarschalls Alfred Grafen von Waldersee. Auf Veran-

lassung des Generalleutnants Georg Grafen von Waldersee bearbeitet und herausgegeben
von Heinrich Otto Meisner. Dritter Band, 1900–1904, Stuttgart – Berlin 1923, p. 1.

127 Emphasis added by T. G. Otte – compare to footnote 129.
128 OTTE, p. 195.
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Germany Sir Frank Lascelles informed about British consent.129 Other
powers, including the French, approved Waldersee’s appointment. On
18 August 1900 Alfred von Waldersee accepted Field Marshall’s baton
from the hands of his Emperor at Kassel.130 He proceeded to Austria-
Hungary and Italy, and on August 23, he left Naples on board of a
steamer Sachsen.131 But at that time the fighting was already almost
over.

On 4 August German Ambassador to Russia reported that the Rus-
sians didn’t expect an advance on Beijing too soon.Subsequent Bülow’s
report supported this view.132 In fact, already on 4 August the al-
lied force left Tianjin and started its advance on Beijing. These force
totalled less than 20,000 men: 8,000 Japanese, 4,800 Russians, 3,000
British, 2,500 Americans, and 800 French, but no Germans.133 The Chi-
nese were unable to halt the advance of the international forces, and on
14 August 1900 the relief force finally seized Beijing and liberated the
legations.

Of course German forces weren’t idle. On 5 August 1900, two com-
panies of German troops under command of Captain-Lieutenant Phil-
ipp took part on an allied storming of Chinese position at Beicang.134

The lack of German participation on the advance on Beijing has been
caused partly by the assumption that the allied force would advance
only to Yangcun.135 On 9 August 1900, 200 German sailors led by
Captain Pohl joined forces with Austro-Hungarian and Italian detach-
ments, totalling 30 men each, and started their advance from Tianjin

129 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4607, p. 88, Lascelles an Derenthal, 10. 8. 1900. The text in
German edition uses the term “supreme command”, instead of “supreme direction”.

130 ELKIND, pp. 315–316; MORSE, footnote 108 on p. 311.
131 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 5–8.
132 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4600, p. 80, Radolin an das Auswärtige Amt, 4. 8. 1900; ibidem,

Nr. 4601, pp. 81–82, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 5. 8. 1900.
133 MORSE, p. 268.
134 BArch-MA, RM2/1961, Nr. A. 6092 I, Berlin 8. 8. 1900.
135 Ibidem, Nr. A. 6094 I. Bendemann, Berlin 9. 8. 1900.
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to Beijing along the railroad. On the next day, Wilhelm II ordered all
available sailors to disembark and advance to Beijing.136

The Austro-Hungarians were delayed for some time, but all parts of
the expedition reached Yangcun on 11 August and guarded it for one
day against possible Chinese attack – even though Chinese forces had
been repeatedly defeated by the allied force, large hosts of the Chinese
continued fighting and disrupted rear of the foreign armies. On 12
August a new force of 100 Germans reached Pohl’s column. While the
allied armies were entering Beijing on 14 August, Pohl’s mixed force
reached the city of Madou, just in time to repel a Chinese attack on
American troops which were guarding the city. Only on 18 August
Pohl’s forces reached Beijing after a dangerous journey.137 Further 1,200
Germans entered Beijing on 23 August 1900.138

The fighting in Beijing was fierce until the last moment. In early Au-
gust, Yuxian’s troops from Shanxi reached the capital; and they were
well equipped and led by a resolute general. On 12 August the general
came to the barricades and encouraged his troops; and he was killed
by Mr. Bismarck, a German official of the maritime customs service
who had volunteered to defend the legations.139 The last of German
victims was killed on 14 August: a previously wounded soldier who
was killed one hour after his release from the hospital.140 During the
entire siege, German casualties were among the highest. Accordingly
to H. B. Morse, 13 Germans were killed and 16 wounded.141 Winter-
halder claims that 12 Germans were killed and 15 wounded. The differ-
ence between these sources may be explained by the fact that Winter-
136 Ibidem, Nr. A. 6169 I. Berlin, 10. 8. 1900.
137 WINTERHALDER, pp. 417–418.
138 MORSE, p. 286. Morse claims that this was the first German force which entered

Beijing.
139 HART, p. 47.
140 Ibidem, p. 48.
141 MORSE, table on p. 280. Accordingly to this source, the overall number of killed

defenders was 76. 18 French were killed and 50 more wounded; the Italians
claimed 13 killed and 16 wounded as well, but their detachment was smaller.
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halder’s table does count civilian casualties separately.142 The Germans
had the highest death toll among all defenders of the legation quarter
itself. The number of casualties might have been even higher, but the
medical staff in the legation quarter spared no efforts. Among its most
praised members was doctor Welde from the German legation.143 On
21 September 1900 Wilhelm II awarded medals to all German defend-
ers of the legation quarter; Soden was awarded the highest military
order “Pour le Mérite”.144

After the fall of Beijing, the Empress Dowager, the Guangxu Em-
peror and numerous dignitaries fled the Forbidden City. They were
accompanied by Dong Fuxiang and his army; and finally they reached
the city of Xian in the province of Shaanxi, almost 1,000 km far from
Beijing. Ketteler’s murderer En Hai made a fatal mistake when he tried
to sale the silver watches he had stolen. Japanese troops captured him
and later handed him over to the Germans. En Hai’s defence was based
on the fact that he was merely following orders. The Germans were
unimpressed by such a defence and sentenced the murderer to death.
Ketteler’s body was found on 16 August in a coffin near the Hatamen
Street, unmutilated; soon thereafter it was buried with all honours.145

On 16 August, Beijing was divided into occupation zones of interven-
ing powers: Russia, the United Kingdom, France, USA, Japan, and Ger-
many. The German zone was located in north-western part of the Chi-
nese City.146 The Forbidden City was not divided, but on 28 August a
friction of the allied forces paraded through this most sacred ground
in China. The Germans were less represented than some other nations.
800 Russians, 800 Japanese, 400 Americans, 400 British, 400 French, 250
Germans, 60 Austro-Hungarians, and 60 Italians participated on the

142 WINTERHALDER, p. 440.
143 HART, p. 43.
144 BArch-MA, RM3/4745, Nr. A. 7617 I. Wilhelm II, Berlin, 21. 9. 1900.
145 WINTERHALDER, p. 415; MORSE, p. 223.
146 WINTERHALDER, pp. 414–415.
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event.147 At that time the unrestricted rivalry among the great powers
started again.

On 26 August 1900, Russian Tsar announced his intention to with-
draw the bulk of his troops from Beijing. Even though the Germans
have been informed by Russian diplomacy in advance,148 this was a
blow to German interests.149 British cabinet refused to follow Russian
lead; the ministers were both unwilling to let German troops without
British counterweight, and willing to spare Germany the humiliation
of being deprived of command of an international army.150 German
objections were partly based on the obvious fact that the situation was
far from settled.151 Indeed, units of Chinese army and the “Boxers”
were dispersed, but not destroyed. There was still much fighting in
Zhili, in the vicinity of Tianjin as well as Beijing; and many foreigners
in other parts of China still felt threatened as well.

While the Germans contributed almost nothing to the relief of the
Beijing legations, they didn’t fail to react to a failure of British policy
at Shanghai. In August, the British decided to occupy the city in or-
der to protect it from possible Chinese attack. France and Japan fol-
lowed British example, and the Germans landed about 500 troops in
the city as well.152 Lord Salisbury didn’t consider German landing a
147 MORSE, p. 287; WINTERHALDER, p. 431.
148 GP, Bd. XVI, footnote ∗∗ on p. 101.
149 The Russians claimed that it was not an anti-German move; yet Bülow pointed out

that it was perceived as such not only abroad, but also by German public opinion.
GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4646, p. 134, Bülow an das Auswärtige Amt, 17. 9. 1900.

150 OTTE, pp. 198–199.
151 On 14 September 1900 German Ambassador to France Prince Münster informed

Berlin about his conversation with Russian Minister of Finance S. J. Witte. “By the
conquest of Beijing the situation changed, the resistance was broken,” claimed Witte. –
“Nonsense, the slaughter goes on with undiminished strength in western regions,” Ger-
man Emperor remarked. Nevertheless, he approved the following notion: “Good
relationship between Russia and Germany is worth more than entire China.” – “That may
be true.” GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4641, pp. 128–129, Münster an das Auswärtige Amt,
14. 9. 1900.

152 YOUNG, pp. 183–188; OTTE, p. 220.
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threat to British interests.153 On 27 August the new German Minister
to China Mumm von Schwarzenstein, en route to Beijing, appeared
in Shanghai and informed about German plan to send a war vessel
to Hankou.154 The British feared the possibility of German seizure of
forts at the Yangtze, yet in case of a serious clash between the Germans
and the Chinese they were ready to assist the Germans.155 Subsequent
construction of German barracks in the very heart of Shanghai soured
British attitude towards German troops in Shanghai.156 When the Chi-
nese asked German diplomacy to withdraw German forces, German
Minister to China suspected that the British have induced Chinese of-
ficials to make such a move.157 The Germans weren’t persuaded that
the conditions in China were already safe.158 Since August 1901, British
diplomacy tried to reach a simultaneous withdrawal of all occupying
forces.159 The British, French, Japanese, and German forces – totalling
2,000 to 3,000 soldiers each at the end160 – were withdrawn only af-
ter prolonged negotiations which were completed at the end of 1902.
German forces withdrew by 20 December 1902, most of them returned
to Germany, two detachments, 150 and 80 troops strong, were sent to
Jiaozhou and Tianjin, respectively.161

Aside from the question of Shanghai, the British and Germans gen-
erally cooperated. On 16 October 1900 the Germans and the British
concluded the so-called Yangtze Agreement which was aimed at main-
taining territorial status quo in China, as far as the two governments
153 GP, Bd, XVI, Nr. 4717, pp. 217–218, Richthofen an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 4. 7. 1900.
154 YOUNG, p. 191.
155 Ibidem, p. 192.
156 GP, Bd. XVI, footnote ∗ on p. 451.
157 Ibidem, Nr. 4943, pp. 452–454, Mumm an Bülow, 9. 6. 1901.
158 Ibidem, Nr. 4944, p. 454, Mühlberg an Mumm, 9. 8. 1901.
159 Ibidem, Nr. 4945, pp. 455–456, Mumm an Bülow, 9. 6. 1901; ibidem, Nr. 4946, pp.

456–457, Mumm an Bülow, 21. 1. 1902.
160 MORSE, p. 365.
161 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4976, p. 491, Aufzeichnen des Staatssekretärs des Auswärtigen

Amtes Freiherrn von Richthofen, 7. 12. 1902; and footnote ∗ on the same page.
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could exercise their influence.162 The spirit of Anglo-German cooper-
ation survived for some time, and for some time it seemed possible
(at least to the Germans) to create an alliance between Germany and
the United Kingdom, with possible participation of Japan. But the Ger-
mans were too eager to bind the United Kingdom to the Triple Alliance
formally, a move which the British resolutely opposed. Thus, the only
result of the negotiations became the conclusion of the British-Japanese
alliance on 31 January 1902. It is not necessary to present a detailed ac-
count of all these machinations, for it is already outside the scope of
this article.

The rivalry between the great powers spoiled Waldersee’s com-
mand. On 18 September the German commander reached Hongkong,
embarked on board of German armoured cruiser Hertha, and pro-
ceeded to the north. On 21 September he arrived to Shanghai and met
Minister Mumm; on 27 September he reached Tianjin. On 17 October
Waldersee entered Beijing and enjoyed a spectacular parade of the al-
lied forces inside the Winter Palace.163 In the same palace he also set up
his headquarters. Fedor von Rauch from Waldersee’s entourage listed
members of the staff. Waldersee’s staff was overwhelmingly German,
and this fact undoubtedly contributed to its efficiency. Aside from aux-
iliary personnel and of Waldersee himself there were 38 officers alto-
gether; with the exception of 8 foreign attachés all of them were Ger-
mans.164 There was one genuine Hun in Waldersee’s staff: Captain
von Etzel165 from the General Staff. Major General von Gayl held the
crucial post of Oberquartiermeister. Waldersee’s chief of staff was Major
162 Full text of the treaty is quoted by Kajima. M. KAJIMA, The Emergence of Japan as

a World Power, 1895–1925, Rutland – Tokyo 1969, pp. 91–92.
163 F. v. RAUCH, Mit Graf Waldersee in China. Tagebuchaufzeichnungen, Berlin 1907, pp.

115–117.
164 RAUCH, pp. 14–16. Rauch lists 51 people altogether, but 12 of them were clerks

and surgeons and had no officer rank. Waldersee’s own memoires enumerate the
number of members of staff: 38 officers and clerks, 30 NCO’s and 146 soldiers.
Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, footnote 1 on p. 5.

165 “Etzel” means “Attila” in German.
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General Karl Julius Gross von Schwarzhoff. Colonel Yorck von Warten-
burg was a noted historian. Among notable German commanders out-
side the staff of the allied forces was Major Erich von Falkenhayn, who
had been between 1899 and 1903 working as a military instructor to
Chinese army and later became one of the most notable German com-
manders during the First World War. On Waldersee’s request Falken-
hayn became German representative in the Tianjin Provisional Gov-
ernment, an autonomous body in charge of the city, composed from
foreign officers.166 General Lothar von Trotha led a brigade; four years
later he distinguished himself by slaughtering Herero rebels in German
Southwest Africa.

Directing an international force was an enormous problem. The
presence of large contingents from various countries led to frictions
and renewal of national animosity. Initially good relations between
Waldersee and French commanders have slightly worsened. Despite
this fact, the relationship between German and French soldiers was
generally good, much better than between the French and the British.167

Even during the closing phase of the campaign the Germans were of-
ten fraternizing with unruly French troops.168 Waldersee enjoyed much
less respect than a “Weltmarschall” would deserve.169

After his arrival, Waldersee immediately found himself in the mid-
dle of a dispute between the Russians and the British. The Russians had
166 MORSE, p. 292.
167 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, p. 45.
168 “In June [1901], a serious clash occurred over the closing of a brothel [in Tianjin]; over

200 of the French attacked with drawn swords and needle bayonets; a pitched battle ensued
with the British and Japanese on one side, the French and Germans on the other; about a
score were killed and wounded.” YOUNG, pp. 251–252.

169 “The French, Japanese and American generals stated that they had not received definite
orders to place themselves under the field-marshal’s command.” MORSE, footnote 113
on p. 312. “The French and Russians ignored him, the Japanese barely tolerated him,
the Americans thought him amusing.’’ YOUNG, p. 157. C. C. Dix had a much better
opinion of Waldersee: “For the rest of the operations he showed the greatest capacity
and tact, and did much not only to bring the campaign to a close, but to preserve at any
rate the semblance of a Peace between the Allies, who, immediately after the fighting was
over, began to quarrel among themselves.” DIX, p. 299.
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already seized railroads between Beijing and Manchurian border, run
by the British.170 A compromise has been reached: the control of the
track from Beijing to Yangcun was given to Waldersee, whereas the rest
to Shanhaiguan remained in Russian hands.171 Thereafter Waldersee
negotiated with the Russians about return of the railway from Yang-
cun to Shanhaiguan. The British disliked the terms of the treaty and
asked the German government to instruct Waldersee not to sign the
treaty until the British expressed their objections.172 British Ambas-
sador Lascelles stated that the situation was “exceedingly grave” and
could seriously damage British-German relationship. Bülow had his
doubts about the best course of actions, but he didn’t object to post-
poning of the signing of the treaty. Moreover he suggested that General
Schwarzhoff should sign the treaty instead of Waldersee.173 The treaty
has been signed on 17 January 1901. Another treaty from 15 Febru-
ary 1901 gave the control of the railway to British military authorities.
In accordance with Bülow’s suggestion, both treaties were signed by
Schwarzhoff.174

The inhabitants of Zhili cared little of such machinations of the for-
eigners; they were living under threat of foreign punitive expeditions.
H. B. Morse states that between 12 December 1900 and April 1901, 46
expeditions took place, 35 of them solely German, 4 Italian, 1 British,
1 American, the rest mixed.175 Fedor von Rauch lists 61 punitive expe-
ditions which took place at Waldersee’s command or were reported to
him. Rauch doesn’t enumerate those operations which had been con-
ducted prior to 29 September 1900. Accordingly to him, 40 of these
170 MORSE, p. 322.
171 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4757, pp. 261–262, Aufzeichnung des Vortragenden Rats im

Auswärtigen Amt Klehmet, 11. 12. 1900.
172 Politisches Archiv des Auswärtigen Amtes, Berlin, (further only PA AA), R 17822,

Nr. 270, Berlin 5. 1. 1901.
173 Ibidem, Nr. 162, Berlin 6. 1. 1901.
174 German text of both treaties is quoted by Fedor von Rauch. RAUCH, pp. 421–424

and 425–430.
175 MORSE, p. 317.
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expeditions were German, 8 Italian, 3 Austro-Hungarian, 2 Japanese,
1 British, 1 American, and 6 mixed.176 Susanne Kuß states that 76 ex-
peditions took place in Zhili, 51 of them solely German. Moreover, the
Germans were involved in 29 cases of fighting with the Boxers or Chi-
nese soldiers.177

Such punitive expeditions were facilitated by attitude of many Chi-
nese commanders and officials. The most astute of Chinese statesmen,
Marquess Li Hongzhang, had for a long time been trying to negotiate
on China’s behalf. He tried to mitigate Wilhelm II’s wrath. In August
1900 he humbly asked Emperor Francis Joseph I for an intercession,178

but the aged Emperor refused to undertake any steps.179 On 1 Octo-
ber, Li re-assumed the duties of Viceroy of Zhili. At the same time,
he was appointed China’s negotiator during the peace talks, together
with Prince Qing. The attitude of Li Hongzhang towards foreign oc-
cupants of Zhili was rather compliant. He ordered Chinese garrisons
to retreat just before arrival of foreign troops.180 What was more im-
portant for the poor inhabitants of Zhili, Chinese governmental troops
turned against the “Boxers”.181 The exact number of Chinese victims of
the suppression of the Yihetuan movement will remain unknown, but
it is certain that tens of thousands of people lost their lives.

Only several punitive expeditions in Zhili will be summarized
shortly. On 11 September 1900, both Hoepfner’s battalions of marine
infantry, accompanied by Indian cavalry, surrounded and conquered
a small city of Liangxiang held by Chinese troops and the “Boxers”.
176 RAUCH, pp. 417–420 and 439–445.
177 S. KUß, Deutsche Strafexpeditionen im Boxerkrieg, in: M. LEUTNER – K.

MÜHLHAHN (eds.), Kolonialkrieg in China. Die Niederschlagung der Boxerbewegung
1900–1901, Berlin 2007, pp. 136–137.

178 HHStA, PA XXIX, China, Kt. 14, Liasse 1a, Nr. 6266, 20. 8. 1900.
179 SCHUSTA, footnote 198 on pp. 197–198.
180 MORSE, p. 318.
181 For example on 17 May 1901 Waldersee reported that a “Boxer” group had been

defeated by Chinese regular army. BArch-MA, RM2/1863, Telegram Nr. 231.
Waldersee, Peking 17. 5. 1901.
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Accordingly to Susanne Kuß, all adult males were summarily exe-
cuted, and the city was burned.182 Theodor von Winterhalder states
that 800 Chinese were killed during the fighting and 150 “Boxers” were
executed. Among the defenders were people who had taken part on
siege of the legations in Beijing.183 On 16–17 September 1900, a coor-
dinated punitive expedition of the allied forces took place to the west
of Beijing. H. B. Morse claims that its target was a city of Sanjiadian,
whereas Th. von Winterhalder states that the goal was a city of
Badazhu. Both authors are describing the same expedition. Accord-
ingly to Morse, three columns were supposed to surround the city,
but the German one didn’t appear, and so the Boxers fled.184 Winter-
halder states that the column in question, consisting of 1500 Germans,
100 Austro-Hungarians, and 170 Italians, arrived on time, but that the
Americans attacked too early.185 Among more notable cities occupied
by the Germans and other allied forces were Kalgan, an important city
on the border with Inner Mongolia, or Baojingfu, the capital of Zhili.

The greatest punitive expedition ever didn’t take place. In early
1901, Waldersee gradually formulated several different goals. In his re-
port from 12 January he evaluated the possibilities of expanding Ger-
man influence in Shandong. He didn’t consider necessary to seize the
port of Qifu. In case of speedy advancement of peace talks with China,
he suggested sending of 5,000–6,000 German troops from Zhili to Qing-
dao in order to enlarge German leased territory.186 Shortly thereafter
the situation changed. On 15 February 1901 Waldersee conversed with
Minister Mumm, who was disappointed by the conduct of the negotia-
tions with China.187 On the same day Waldersee issued a general order
in which he suggested to renew hostilities on a large scale. Accordingly
to Waldersee’s plan, some 13,000 foreign troops should advance some
182 KUß, pp. 142–143.
183 WINTERHALDER, pp. 454–455.
184 MORSE, pp. 314–315.
185 WINTERHALDER, pp. 455–456.
186 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 84–85.
187 Ibidem, p. 98.
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700 miles to the province of Shanxi in order to put pressure on the Chi-
nese court. Waldersee had consulted this idea with French commander
Voyron who had agreed. Even British commander Gaselee supported
the plan, but finally this idea has been rejected by the diplomats.188 On
28 March 1901 Waldersee reported to Chief of Staff Alfred von Schli-
effen that he had to abandon his plan; the most important reason was
that he had too few troops available. Basically, he could rely on 9,000
Germans, plus relatively few Austro-Hungarian and Italian troops.189

His plan was indeed hazardous, and it was widely criticised at Reich-
stag, even though some observers advocated it.190 Waldersee’s scheme
of enlarging German leased territory in Shandong came to nought as
well.

In China as well as at abroad, there were many complaints on be-
haviour of various armies, especially of the Germans. Already on 18
October an American newspapers “New York Nation” wrote: “It is hard
to avoid the conclusion that the greatest single obstacle of peace is the intran-
sigeant attitude of Germany [. . . ] It is to Germany that the primacy belongs
in aggression and mischief-making.”191 But the Germans already had in
American eyes a rather undeserved reputation of being unenlightened
and aggressive.192 Indeed, Waldersee’s army had been suggested to be
aggressive. Alfred von Waldersee fully shared his Emperor’s attitude
towards China. On February 21, 1901, he wrote in a private letter: “Our
Kaiser was the only one who wanted to tackle the Chinese properly: if one had
followed him we would long have had peace.”193

Both Germany and China had been represented at the First Hague
Conference of 1899.194 Yet China did not ratify the 1899 “Convention
188 MORSE, pp. 343–344; Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, p. 98; YOUNG, pp. 247–249.
189 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 116–118.
190 RAUCH, pp. 368–369.
191 MORSE, p. 319.
192 R. KAGAN, Nebezpečný národ. Zahraniční politika USA 1700-1900, Sv. I, Praha 2008,

pp. 324–325.
193 MOMBAUER, p. 95.
194 The list of Chinese representatives at the First Hague Conference is available in:

161



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

West Bohemian Historical Review V | 2015 | 2

with respect to the laws and customs of war on land” until 12 June
1907.195 Germany and many other great powers ratified this Conven-
tion on 4 September 1900,196 but their troops were behaving as if they
had never heard about any regulations at all. As a matter of irony,
Waldersee’s chief of staff General Schwarzhoff had been a technical ex-
pert of German delegation at the First Hague Conference of 1899. As
such, he had taken a special care of legal definition of combatants and
non-combatants.197 But his participation on the conference seemingly
had no impact on behaviour of international or German forces.

Not only the “Hun Speech”, but also “Hun letters” impressed mind
of Germans. Many German soldiers were disgusted by the enormous
bloodshed, and expressed their disgust by letters which they sent
home. These letters were widely exploited by the Socialists and their
leader August Bebel, and also by the Liberals. On 19–20 November
1900 a lively debate in Reichstag about China took place.198 Eugen
Richter (1836–1906), a distinguished Liberal statesman, criticised both
various aspects of the “Hun Speech” and the subsequent conduct of
German military:

“In general I mean: politics and religion shouldn’t be mixed together.
Should it happen, not only politics, but also religion will be spoiled. . . Un-
doubtedly, many Chinese have been captured; taking into the account the lim-
ited fighting ability of Chinese troops it should be admitted; but so far we
haven’t heard that Chinese prisoners had been anywhere taken into custody199

J. B. SCOTT (ed.), The Hague Conventions and Declarations of 1899 and 1907. Accom-
panied by Tables of Signatures, Ratifications and Adhesions of the Various Powers and
Texts of Reservation, New York 1918, p. 8.

195 Ibidem, p. 130.
196 Ibidem, p. 129.
197 J. B. SCOTT, (ed.), The Reports to the Hague Conferences of 1899 and 1907, Oxford

1917, pp. 140–142.
198 U. WIELANDT, Die Reichstagsdebaten über den Boxerkrieg, in: M. LEUTNER –

K. MÜHLHAHN (eds.), Kolonialkrieg in China. Die Niederschlagung der Boxerbewe-
gung 1900–1901, Berlin 2007, pp. 165–172.

199 On 20 December 1900 Major Erich von Falkenhayn explained to the Tianjin Provi-
sional Government the fate of some captured and presumably innocent Chinese.
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[. . . ] Herr von Levetzow says: ‘I have experienced a war as well, and the
soldiers may have behaved in a similar way, too.’ That happens. But in the
previous wars, I believe, it didn’t happen that the supreme commander had
said in advance: ‘Pardon will not be given.’”200

Of course, some people defended Wilhelm II’s speech and actions
of German military. During the parliamentary debate Minister of War
said that Wilhelm II’s conduct was “from the human point of view, nice”.201

Rudolf Zabel argued in his book that German soldiers in conquered
cities weren’t encountering peaceful Chinese – truly peaceful Chinese
had already fled out of fear of the “Boxers”.

“Therefore, when a Boxer army retreats to such a city as Liangsianghsien
and holds a new position there, then we may assume that the few ‘peaceful
Chinese’ who remained in the city under such circumstances are to be consid-
ered to a certain degree accomplices of the Boxers. Even the Chinese knows
well: ‘Together captured, together hanged.’ So why did he stay there? [. . . ]
But the war generalizes.”202

Waldersee’s opinion of the Chinese was not entirely unfavourable.
German Field Marshall noticed that many Chinese settlements were as
clean as cities in Germany or France.203 He spotted Chinese frugality,
even though he wasn’t impressed by some of its aspects, like eating
cadavers.204 Meanwhile, Waldersee was experiencing the better part
of Chinese culture. A decade ago he had met a courtesan named Sai
Jinhua, who was at that time a concubine of Chinese minister to Berlin,
Hong Jun. When Alfred von Waldersee arrived to China, Sai Jinhua
introduced herself to him again. She gained some influence over him

“These prisoners had already been handed over. . . it was in contrary to German custom
to keep [emphasis mine] prisoners.” MORSE, p. 299.

200 Richter’s entire speech is available at a website dedicated to Richter’s memory:
Eugen-Richter-Archiv, Eugen Richter zur Hunnenrede Wilhelms II., http://www.
eugen-richter.de/Archiv/Reden/Reichstag_20_11_1900.html [2015-10-10].

201 SÖSEMANN, p. 120.
202 ZABEL, p. 382.
203 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 85–86.
204 Ibidem, pp. 95–96.
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and presumably persuaded him to treat the Chinese less harshly. There
was even a suspicion that these two were in fact lovers.

The conditions in China were by no means good for the Germans.
Among notable victims of conditions in China were: Colonel Count
Yorck, who died on 27 November 1900 on a suffocation by carbon
monoxide,205 Captain Bartsch, “treacherously shot by a Beijing worker”,
and a notable military surgeon Prof. Kohlstock, who died of illness.206

Moreover Governor Jaeschke and Major Christ died in Qingdao at the
beginning of 1901 and 1902, respectively. At the night of 17/18 April
1901, large part of the Winter Palace was destroyed by a huge fire. The
fire originated in a house at the palace courtyard; Waldersee himself
had lived there and later he moved to a modern asbestos house nearby.
In the neighbouring house lived Major General Schwarzhoff who be-
came the only victim of the fire. At its beginning Schwarzhoff was
absent, walking in the neighbourhood, but then he returned and man-
aged to save some of the most important documents which he kept at
his flat. Thereafter he wanted to save his dog which was sleeping un-
der his desk; and he disappeared. His corpse has been found the next
day. Schwarzhoff’s burial took place on 20 April.207

At that time, the withdrawal of the allied forces has already been
underway. On 28 March Waldersee expressed fear that the German ex-
peditionary force could be drawn into British-Russian hostility. More-
over he was afraid of spread of infectious diseases among the troops.
From these reasons he suggested withdrawal of the Germans from
China.208 On 6 April 1901 Field Marshall Waldersee proposed partial
retreat of foreign contingents.209 At that time there were still tens of
thousands of foreign troops in Zhili.210 On 3 June 1901 German Field
205 RAUCH, p. 174; Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, p. 62.
206 RAUCH, pp. 325–326.
207 Ibidem, pp. 324//345; Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 126–129.
208 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 114–116. Waldersee’s report from 28 March

1901.
209 YOUNG, pp. 253–255.
210 Ibidem, p. 253. Young claims that no less than 60,000 troops were present in
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Marshall himself left China for good. He arrived to Hamburg at the
beginning of August; on 12 August he met the Emperor in Homburg;
and he returned to his post of Inspector-General of the Third Army.211

Similarly, the allied forces were gradually withdrawing from Zhili. In
July 1906 there were still more than 5,000 foreign soldiers, excluding
the legation guards; 450 of them were German.212

At that time, the negotiations between China and the foreign pow-
ers which had started in December 1900 were still underway. Gener-
ally speaking, throughout the entire negotiations the Germans enjoyed
support of their allies from the Triple Alliance, i. e. Austria-Hungary
and Italy. Among the most controversial questions was the fate of the
noblest culprits. The Germans continuously insisted on punishment of
the worst criminals, including prince Duan himself.213 Finally, Duan’s
life was spared, but Duan was deprived of his ranks and banished, and
his son Pujun lost the position of heir-apparent. After prolonged nego-
tiations, the “Boxer Protocol” has been signed on 7 September 1901.214

It assured satisfaction for the murder of Minister Ketteler. China had to
send a prince as a special envoy to Berlin, and a marble arch had to be
erected at the place where Ketteler had lost his life. China agreed to pay
an enormous indemnity: 450 million taels (67.5 million pounds), plus
interests. Throughout the negotiations the Germans claimed 91,287,043
taels, and they were ascribed 90,070,515 taels, or 20 % of the enormous
sum. China had to repay this sum in instalments until 1940. The lega-
tion quarter had to be rebuilt, fortified, and garrisoned by a standing
force of legation guards. The area of the German legation had grown

Zhili at that time. Some of his figures are inflated: he states that 17,800 French
and 18,700 Germans were present, whereas Morse estimates that there were some
44,000 foreign troops at the end of 1900, 9,000 to 11,000 of them being German.
MORSE, pp. 319–320.

211 Denkwürdigkeiten, Dritter Band, pp. 170–171.
212 YOUNG, footnote 2 on p. 255.
213 GP, Bd. XVI, Nr. 4643, pp. 130–132, Bülow an Kaiser Wilhelm II, 15. 9. 1900.
214 The terms of the Boxer Protocol are analyzed in: MORSE, pp. 347–359.
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ten times: from 2.5 to 25.5 acres.215 Germany was allowed to station 300
legation guards in Beijing, together with 5–6 cannons and 6 machine
guns. Furthermore, foreign forces gained the right to occupy various
points at the way between Beijing and the sea, whereas Chinese forti-
fications in the area were destroyed. Weapons import to China in the
next two years was forbidden. Among other provisions of the treaty
were: punishment of high-ranking culprits and posthumous rehabili-
tation of moderate ministers, or capital punishment for membership in
anti-foreign societies.

At the time of the signing of the Boxer Protocol, the penitentiary
mission had already arrived to Germany. On 12 July 1901216 Chinese
court sent to Germany a special envoy, Zaifeng, Prince Qun, who was
a brother of the powerless Guangxu Emperor and a future father of the
last Chinese Emperor Puyi.217 Prince Qun was requested to perform
the ritual of kowtow in front of the German Emperor, but he refused
to do so. On 4 September 1901 he was granted an audience at Pots-
dam and apologized for Ketteler’s murder. Wilhelm II replied in a
conciliatory manner, even though he remained adamant as far as the
punishment of guilty Chinese was concerned.218 German Emperor be-
lieved in cooperation between foreign powers and China, and the Em-
press Dowager Cixi shared this attitude. On 7 January 1902, Chinese
Imperial court returned to Beijing. The entire diplomatic corps was in-
vited to observe its return. On 24 January 1902, the Empress Dowager
and the Guangxu Emperor granted an audience to foreign represen-
tatives in Beijing.219 At this occasion, those diplomats, who had been
appointed only after the defeat of the Boxer Uprising, presented their
215 Ibidem, pp. 355–356.
216 Ibidem, p. 348.
217 K. MÜHLHAHN, Kotau vor dem deutschen Kaiser? Die Sühnemission des

Prinzen Chun, in: M. LEUTNER – K. MÜHLHAHN (eds.), Kolonialkrieg in China.
Die Niederschlagung der Boxerbewegung 1900–1901, Berlin 2007, pp. 204–209.

218 Wilhelm II’s speech to Prince Qun is recorded in: ELKIND, pp. 316–317.
219 HHStA, PA XXIX, China, Kt. 7, Berichte 1902, Nr. 3/Vertraulich, Czikann an

Gołuchowski, Peking 25. 1. 1902.
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credentials; as the first of them, Minister Mumm, the others followed.
It was clear that the Boxer Uprising was over; but the dynasty was al-
most over as well.

Abstract

In late 1890’s, a xenophobic Yihetuan (“Boxer”) movement emerged in German

sphere of influence in Shandong. In 1900, the movement spread into the neighbour-

ing province of Zhili and was largely tolerated by anti-foreign officials. Foreign diplo-

mats failed to understand this threat. As a consequence of hasty and miscalculated

moves of both sides, the Chinese court found itself in the middle of an open conflict

with the great powers. Since mid-June, foreign detachments were fighting with gov-

ernmental troops in Zhili; on June 20, German Minister to China was killed and the

siege of the Beijing legations began. German forces in the Far East were too limited

to participate much on the fighting. Germany sent a large expeditionary force to the

Far East, but these troops arrived too late to take part on the conquest of Beijing on

14 August 1900. Allied forces under supreme command of German Field Marshall

Alfred von Waldersee occupied Zhili and conducted many punitive operations at the

country. During the crisis, Germany gained bad reputation for the conduct of her

troops.
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Bismarcks Entlassung als Anfang vom Ende?
Der Bismarck-Mythos in Autobiographien
der Weimarer Republik und des frühen
„Dritten Reiches“

Marc von Knorring
Institute for Modern and Contemporary History

Faculty of Arts and Humanities, University of Passau
Philosophicum, Innstraße 25, D-94032 Passau

Germany
marc.vonknorring@uni-passau.de

Gegenstand und Vorgehensweise der Untersuchung

Als Deutschland Ende 1918 mit der schmerzlichen Niederlage im Welt-
krieg und dem Untergang der Monarchie gleichsam eine doppelte Zä-
sur erlebte, stürzte dies weite Teile der Gesellschaft im Reich in eine
Sinnkrise.1 Die Suche nach Erklärungen für das Geschehene und vor
1 Zum Folgenden im Detail M. von KNORRING, Die Wilhelminische Zeit in der Dis-

kussion. Autobiographische Epochencharakterisierungen 1918–1939 und ihr zeitgenössi-
scher Kontext (Historische Mitteilungen – Beihefte, 88), Stuttgart 2014, S. 11ff, mit
Einzelnachweisen. Vgl. besonders W. HARDTWIG, Der Bismarck-Mythos. Ge-
stalt und Funktionen zwischen politischer Öffentlichkeit und Wissenschaft, in: W.
HARDTWIG (Hrsg.), Politische Kulturgeschichte der Zwischenkriegszeit 1918–1939
(Geschichte und Gesellschaft, Sonderheft 21), Göttingen 2005, S. 61–90; R. GER-
WARTH, Der Bismarck-Mythos. Die Deutschen und der Eiserne Kanzler, München
2007.
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allem nach Orientierung in einer Gegenwart, die von deutlich verän-
derten Rahmenbedingungen bestimmt war, lenkte in der Folge den
Blick vieler Menschen geradezu zwangsläufig auf die eigene Geschich-
te. Angebote zur Sinnstiftung kamen dabei zum einen aus der institu-
tionalisierten Geschichtsschreibung, aus Populärwissenschaft und Pu-
blizistik. Man richtete hier den Blick auf so unterschiedliche Dinge wie
etwa das antike Germanentum oder die Revolution von 1848, auf die
deutsche Kulturgeschichte im zeitlichen Längsschnitt oder die Befrei-
ungskriege, und selbstverständlich auch auf die Julikrise von 1914 und
die Ursachen des Weltkriegs. Eine wichtige Rolle spielte dabei nicht
zuletzt die Beschäftigung mit den „großen Männern“, die Geschichte
gemacht hatten und an deren Beispiel und Vorbild man sich aufzurich-
ten und zu orientieren suchte. In diesem Zusammenhang erhielt insbe-
sondere der schon im Kaiserreich grundgelegte Bismarck-Mythos neue
Nahrung; der Kult um die Person des Reichsgründers – als eines alles
überstrahlenden Heroen, ohne den das Reich zugrunde ging – erfuhr
noch einmal einen deutlichen Aufschwung.

Unterdessen machten sich immer mehr Zeitgenossen in Deutsch-
land daran, ihre Lebenserinnerungen niederzuschreiben und zu veröf-
fentlichen.2 Die Publikationszahlen im Bereich der Autobiographien-
und Memoirenliteratur stiegen rasant an, auch dies eine Folge des Zu-
sammenbruchs von 1918.3 Und auch hier ging es den Verfassern dar-
2 Zum Folgenden KNORRING, S. 19f, 311ff.
3 Vgl. hierzu unter anderem E. SCHÜTZ, Autobiographien und Reiseliteratur, in:

B. WEYERGRAF (Hrsg.), Literatur der Weimarer Republik 1918–1933 (Hansers Sozi-
algeschichte der deutschen Literatur vom 16. Jahrhundert bis zur Gegenwart, 8),
München – Wien 1995, S. 549–600, 724–733, hier S. 549–552; P. STADLER, Memoiren
der Neuzeit. Betrachtungen zur erinnerten Geschichte, Zürich 1995, S. 51; P. SLOTER-
DIJK, Literatur und Lebenserfahrung. Autobiographien der Zwanziger Jahre (Literatur
als Kunst), München – Wien 1978, 63f. In der Geschichtswissenschaft wird heu-
te zumeist die Irrelevanz der theoretischen Unterscheidung von Autobiographien
und Memoiren betont, wenn es um ihre Heranziehung als Quelle geht. Vgl. da-
zu statt vieler M. BRECHTKEN, Einleitung, in: F. BOSBACH – M. BRECHTKEN
(Hrsg.), Politische Memoiren in deutscher und britischer Perspektive – Political Memoirs
in Anglo-German Context (Prinz-Albert-Studien – Prince Albert Studies, 23), Mün-
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um, über die Vergangenheit zu reflektieren – natürlich über den Ver-
lauf ihres eigenen Lebens, seine Höhe- und Tiefpunkte, seine Brüche
und Kontinuitätslinien, aber auch über die Rahmenbedingungen, un-
ter denen sich dieses Leben abgespielt hatte, über politische, gesell-
schaftliche, wirtschaftliche und kulturelle Umstände und Entwicklun-
gen, die es beeinflusst hatten. Auf dieser Ebene, in den Autobiogra-
phien und Memoiren wurde daher schließlich auch diskutiert, was Hi-
storiographie und Publizistik eher vernachlässigten: Was war das für
eine Zeit vor dem Weltkrieg? Was prägte die untergegangene Epoche
(die im Rückblick für die meisten schon 1914 zu Ende gegangen war,
während der Weltkrieg als eigene Phase des Umbruchs gesehen wur-
de)? Wie lässt sich die Wilhelminische Zeit (wie sie schon damals nach
dem letzten Hohenzollernkaiser apostrophiert wurde) charakterisie-
ren? Durch die Thematisierung in den Lebenserinnerungen wurden
auch diese Fragen ein nicht unwesentlicher Teil der Geschichtsdebatten
nicht nur der Weimarer Republik, sondern – mit den zwangsläufigen
Einschränkungen – auch noch des frühen „Dritten Reiches“.

Als Beginn der Wilhelminischen Zeit wurde und wird immer wie-
der das Jahr 1890 genannt,4 und diese Zuschreibung bezieht sich na-
türlich auf die Entlassung Bismarcks als Reichskanzler und preußi-
scher Ministerpräsident am 20. März dieses Jahres, gewissermaßen als
Startschuss für das von Kaiser Wilhelm II. bereits lang ersehnte „per-
sönliche Regiment“. Vor diesem Hintergrund stellt sich nun beinahe
zwangsläufig die Frage, inwieweit in der Autobiographien- und Me-
moirenliteratur zwischen den Weltkriegen Verbindungen zwischen der
Entlassung Bismarcks einerseits sowie dem Charakter und dem Schick-
sal der Wilhelminischen Epoche andererseits hergestellt werden. Spie-
gelt sich der Bismarck-Mythos in diesem Zusammenhang in den Le-
benserinnerungen wieder, und wenn ja, in welchem Ausmaß, in wel-
cher Weise und mit welchen Auswirkungen? Dieser Frage soll im

chen 2005, 9–42, hier 18f; siehe auch KNORRING, S. 25, Anm. 78, mit weiteren
Einzelnachweisen.

4 Vgl. KNORRING, S. 24, mit Einzelnachweisen.
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Folgenden nachgegangen werden. Die Grundlage dafür bilden 141 Er-
innerungswerke, die in den Zwischenkriegsjahren geschrieben und
publiziert wurden. Ihre Verfasser haben jeweils die gesamte Zeit von
1890 bis 1914 bewusst erlebt und geben klar zu erkennen, dass sie die-
se auch tatsächlich als geschlossene Epoche ansehen; zugleich bilden
sie die damalige deutsche Gesellschaft in ihrer ganzen Breite und Viel-
falt ab.5

Bevor es jedoch um die Lebenserinnerungen selbst gehen soll, ist
es zunächst notwendig, Entstehung, Entwicklung und Ausprägungen
des Bismarck-Mythos in ihren Grundzügen nach der Forschungslitera-
tur zu rekapitulieren. In einem zweiten Schritt sollen dann die
einschlägigen Passagen der untersuchten Autobiographien und Me-
moiren näher beschrieben, systematisiert und auch bereits in den zeit-
genössischen Diskussionskontext eingeordnet werden. Drittens und
abschließend werden die Ergebnisse in einem Fazit zusammenzufas-
sen und zu bewerten sein, und auch auf die anzunehmenden Folgen
der Debatte soll hier dann eingegangen werden.

Bismarck-Kult und Bismarck-Mythos nach 1890/98

Ungeachtet des umjubelten Abschieds aus Berlin, der Fürst Otto von
Bismarck Ende März 1890, also gut eine Woche nach seiner Entlassung
bereitet wurde, überwog in der deutschen Öffentlichkeit angesichts sei-
ner Demission doch insgesamt eine Mischung aus Ignoranz und Aufat-
men – schließlich waren die letzten Jahre seiner Regierung weithin als
Zeit des Stillstands empfunden worden.6 Es dauerte allerdings nicht
lange, und der Altkanzler, Altministerpräsident und unfreiwillige Ru-
heständler wurde populärer als jemals zuvor. Dies lag ebenso an der
5 Im Detail dazu KNORRING, S. 43–47.
6 GERWARTH, S. 21; M. STICKLER, „. . . denn wo du bist, ist Deutschland“ – Bis-

marckkult und Bismarckdenkmäler im Kaiserreich, in: B. HEIDENREICH – H.-C.
KRAUS – F.-L. KROLL (Hrsg.), Bismarck und die Deutschen, Berlin 2005, S. 169–181,
hier S. 170f; H.-C. KRAUS, Bismarck. Größe – Grenzen – Leistungen, Stuttgart 2015,
S. 303.
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Politik seines Nachfolgers General Graf Leo von Caprivi, die bald als
völlig unzulänglich wahrgenommen wurde, wie an den chaotisch an-
mutenden Versuchen des jungen Kaisers, die Geschicke des Landes
selbst in die Hand zu nehmen und ein „persönliches Regiment“ zu
führen.7 Der „Neue Kurs“ Wilhelms II. geriet in eine „Legitimitätskri-
se“, was zugleich die Mythenbildung um Bismarck nicht unwesentlich
befördern sollte.8

Der Altkanzler trug das seine dazu bei, indem er in der Presse –
zwar anonym, doch zumindest für aufmerksame Beobachter offenkun-
dig –, vor allem in den „Hamburger Nachrichten“ teils scharfe Kritik
an Kaiser und Regierung übte, was diese wiederum zu unangemes-
senen Gegenreaktionen verleitete, die Bismarck Popularität nur noch
steigerten, wie etwa die unselige Episode um seinen Aufenthalt in Wi-
en im Jahr 1892 zeigt.9 Gezwungenermaßen inszenierte man zwei Jahre
später die „Versöhnung“ zwischen dem Kaiser und dem Altkanzler –
die Stimmung blieb unterdessen frostig.10

„Bismarck war großen Teilen der Bevölkerung mehr als genialer Staats-
mann und Reichsgründer in Erinnerung geblieben denn als preußischer Mi-
nisterpräsident und ostelbischer Junker.“ Frühere Ressentiments gerieten
schnell in Vergessenheit, sowohl im nationalliberalen und im konser-
vativ-agrarischen Lager des protestantischen Nordens als auch im eher
liberal-konservativ geprägten katholischen Süden.11 Linksliberale,
7 GERWARTH, S. 22f; R. E. FRANKEL, Bismarck’s Shadow. The Cult of Leadership and

the Transformation of the German Right, 1898–1945, Oxford – New York 2005, S. 34,
38; H. R. WAHL, Otto von Bismarck und der Prozess seiner Mythisierung, in: M.
RAASCH (Hrsg.), Die deutsche Gesellschaft und der konservative Heroe. Der Bismarck-
Mythos im Wandel der Zeit, Aachen 2010, S. 19–34, hier S. 24.

8 HARDTWIG, S. 76.
9 GERWARTH, S. 23f; R. F. SCHMIDT, Otto von Bismarck (1815–1898). Realpolitik und

Revolution. Eine Biographie, Stuttgart 2004, S. 274f; L. GALL, Bismarck. Der weiße
Revolutionär, Frankfurt am Main u. a. 1980, S. 712f; FRANKEL, S. 34f; KRAUS, S.
304f. Anlässlich einer Familienhochzeit reiste Bismarck nach Wien, wurde dort
aber auf dringende Bitten aus Berlin hin nicht am Kaiserhof empfangen, wie er es
als verdienter Staatsmann hätte erwarten können.

10 SCHMIDT, S. 275f; GALL, S. 718; KRAUS, S. 305.
11 GERWARTH, S. 22f, 25 (Zitat).
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Zentrum und Sozialdemokratie, von Bismarck einst als „Reichsfeinde“
gebrandmarkt, konnten die Begeisterung freilich nicht teilen; mit ih-
rer Mehrheit im Reichstag verhinderten sie dann auch 1895 eine Gruß-
adresse des Parlaments zum 80. Geburtstag des früheren Regierungs-
chefs. Die reichsweiten Feiern und Huldigungen zu diesem Anlass
bildeten unterdessen einen vorläufigen Höhepunkt der Bismarck-
Verehrung, deren Konjunktur der Jubilar durch seine publizistischen
Aktivitäten weiterhin kräftig unterstützte, zuletzt durch seine aller-
dings erst posthum veröffentlichten Memoiren.12 „Bismarck war großen
Teilen der Bevölkerung mehr als genialer Staatsmann und Reichsgründer in
Erinnerung geblieben denn als preußischer Ministerpräsident und ostelbi-
scher Junker.“ Frühere Ressentiments gerieten schnell in Vergessenheit,
sowohl im nationalliberalen und im konservativ-agrarischen Lager des
protestantischen Nordens als auch im eher liberal-konservativ gepräg-
ten katholischen Süden.13 Linksliberale, Zentrum und Sozialdemokra-
tie, von Bismarck einst als „Reichsfeinde“ gebrandmarkt, konnten die
Begeisterung freilich nicht teilen; mit ihrer Mehrheit im Reichstag ver-
hinderten sie dann auch 1895 eine Grußadresse des Parlaments zum
80. Geburtstag des früheren Regierungschefs. Die reichsweiten Feiern
und Huldigungen zu diesem Anlass bildeten unterdessen einen vor-
läufigen Höhepunkt der Bismarck-Verehrung, deren Konjunktur der
Jubilar durch seine publizistischen Aktivitäten weiterhin kräftig un-
terstützte, zuletzt durch seine allerdings erst posthum veröffentlichten
Memoiren.14

Nach seinem Tod im Sommer 1898 wurde Bismarck dann endgül-
tig mythisiert und zum Helden verklärt, was nun selbst Kaiser Wil-
helm II. für seine Zwecke zu instrumentalisieren suchte; aus den Rei-
hen der früheren Bismarck-Verächter vollzog zumindest das Zentrum
12 GERWARTH, S. 24–26, 28f; SCHMIDT, S. 270–274, 277; GALL, S. 711, 719; KRAUS,

S. 305f; WAHL, S. 25; STICKLER, S. 171.
13 GERWARTH, S. 22f, 25 (Zitat).
14 GERWARTH, S. 24–26, 28f; SCHMIDT, S. 270–274, 277; GALL, S. 711, 719; KRAUS,

S. 305f; WAHL, S. 25; STICKLER, S. 171.
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eine Kehrtwende.15 Allenthalben wurden jetzt Denkmäler und „Bis-
marcksäulen“ errichtet, Schulen, Straßen, Museen und andere Bauten
erhielten seinen Namen, Postkarten zeigten sein Bildnis und trugen
das ihre zur Verbreitung des Kultes bei, der durch die eigens gegrün-
deten Bismarck-Gesellschaften entsprechend gefördert wurde.16 Ent-
scheidend für die Verehrung Bismarcks in der Breite der deutschen
Gesellschaft blieb die Rolle des ehemaligen preußischen Ministerprä-
sidenten bei der Reichsgründung, während das Lob der politischen
Rechten für sein angebliches Durchgreifen im Innern demgegenüber
deutlich zurücktrat.17 Betont „nationale“ Kreise knüpften indessen be-
wusst an die Leistung Bismarcks bei der deutschen Einigung an, wenn
sie darin unabdingbare Staatstreue oder deutsches Sendungsbewusst-
sein verwirklicht sahen und hieraus wiederum eine angebliche Not-
wendigkeit von wirtschaftlich-technischer Modernisierung und Welt-
politik ableiteten, nicht ohne zugleich Kritik an der wilhelminischen
Außenpolitik zu üben.18

Die offizielle Propaganda des Ersten Weltkriegs kannte dann selbst-
verständlich auch das Motiv der Reichsgründung, die es zu verteidi-
gen gelte. Sie machte Bismarck aber ebenso im oben genannten Sinne
zum Kronzeugen für etwaige Expansionsbestrebungen, während sich
linke und liberale Gegner von Annexionen gleichermaßen auf den Alt-
kanzler beriefen und dabei dessen Konzepte der „Saturiertheit“ und
der „Realpolitik“ ins Feld führten.19

Nach dem verlorenen Krieg fungierte Bismarck – oder besser ge-
sagt: das, was man inzwischen aus ihm gemacht hatte – für bürgerli-
che Konservative und Nationalisten als Heros schlechthin und damit
15 GERWARTH, S. 29–32; FRANKEL, S. 51ff; zum Kaiser auch STICKLER, S. 171.
16 GERWARTH, S. 34f; WAHL, S. 22; FRANKEL, S. 55ff; zu Denkmälern und „Bis-

marcksäulen“ bes. STICKLER, S. 171ff.
17 GERWARTH, S. 32; WAHL, S. 24; Lob der Rechten: FRANKEL, S. 59ff (passim).
18 GERWARTH, S. 33; FRANKEL, S. 59ff; für die Zeit bis 1914 zusammenfassend

auch HARDTWIG, S. 62–66.
19 GERWARTH, S. 36–40; FRANKEL, S. 88ff.
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als Orientierungspunkt und Vorbild.20 In geschickter Umdeutung sei-
nes Lebenswerks machte man ihn sogar zum Kronzeugen für den er-
strebten Zusammenschluss mit Deutsch-Österreich, was auch über die
politischen Lager hinweg Anklang fand.21 Zentrum und Nationallibe-
rale nahmen die Reichsgründung und ihren Protagonisten unterdessen
ebenfalls zum Bezugspunkt; letztere lobten Bismarcks Außenpolitik
jedoch aufgrund ihrer diplomatischen Raffinesse und ihrer Orientie-
rung an den Realitäten, nicht wegen der angeblich dominierenden „ei-
sernen Faust“.22 Gemäßigte und extreme Linke entwickelten demge-
genüber einen Negativ-Mythos vom vermeintlichen Gewaltmenschen
Bismarck, dessen Maximen es nach innen und außen zu überwinden
gelte.23

Generell bestand auch nach 1918 „ein wesentliches Merkmal des
[in der Öffentlichkeit gepflegten] Bismarckkults [. . . ] in der Konzen-
tration des Bildes des Eisernen Kanzlers auf den Außenpolitiker und
politischen Kriegsheroen“ der 1860er und 70er Jahre, während man
etwaige innenpolitische Fragwürdigkeiten und Fehlleistungen lieber
verschwieg.24 Und mit Blick auf das unrühmliche Ende der Monar-
chie und die für Deutschland zumeist wenig schmeichelhaften Befun-
de über die Vorgeschichte des Weltkriegs ließ sich jetzt erst recht „[d]ie
Zeit seiner Kanzlerschaft [. . . ] als goldenes Zeitalter des Kaiserreiches
lesen“.25

Die weit überwiegend konservative, vom Bismarck-Mythos durch-
aus beeinflusste Weimarer Historiographie26 wertete unterdessen die
20 HARDTWIG, S. 67ff; GERWARTH, S. 53; FRANKEL, S. 106ff.
21 GERWARTH, S. 51; HARDTWIG, S. 88f.
22 GERWARTH, S. 71f; FRANKEL, S. 131f.
23 GERWARTH, S. 77–79.
24 HARDTWIG, S. 75.
25 C. NÜBEL, Der Bismarck-Mythos in den Reden und Schriften Hitlers. Vergan-

genheitsbilder und Zukunftsversprechen in der Auseinandersetzung von NSDAP
und DNVP bis 1933, in: Historische Zeitschrift, 298, 2014, S. 349–380, hier S. 354.

26 HARDTWIG, S. 86f; NÜBEL, S. 350; ausführlich und differenziert hierzu W. E. J.
WEBER, „,Die Linie von Luther zu Bismarck‘, wer wollte sie leugnen?“ Aspek-
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Entlassung des Reichsgründers und das Gebaren Kaiser Wilhelms II.
seit 1890 „als wichtige Ursachen für den Niedergang Deutschlands“;
Bismarcks Nachfolger seien schlichtweg unfähig gewesen und hätten
in der Außenpolitik seine bewährten Grundsätze sträflich missachtet,
was schon mit der Aufgabe des Rückversicherungsvertrages mit Rus-
sland bald nach der Demission begonnen habe.27 Etwaige von libe-
ralen Professoren geäußerte Kritik an der von Bismarck geschaffenen
Reichsverfassung, an seiner Staatskonstruktion und an der daraus re-
sultierenden Verteilung der Macht auf angeblich unfähige, überkom-
mene Eliten, die dann nach 1890 maßgeblich zum Scheitern des Kai-
serreichs beigetragen hätten, blieb eine in Fachkreisen nicht goutierte
Seltenheit.28

Die gemäßigt bis extrem rechtsgerichtete Publizistik stieß in das-
selbe Horn wie die Geschichtswissenschaft;29 „nationalistische und ,völ-
kische‘ Zeitungen waren sich [. . . ] einig, dass mit dem Sturz Bismarcks der
Niedergang des Reiches begonnen habe“, wobei die Schuld sowohl Wil-
helm II. als auch dem ganzen deutschen Volk zugemessen wurde.30

So verschiedene Charaktere wie Gustav Stresemann und Adolf Hit-
ler äußerten sich in den frühen 1920er Jahren entsprechend,31 was die
Spannweite des politischen Spektrums veranschaulicht, in dem die-
se Vorstellungen kursierten. Hitler zeigte allerdings bald ein durch-
aus ambivalentes Verhältnis zur Person Bismarcks und zu dem mit ihr
verbundenen Mythos; wie die NS-Bewegung generell dürfte er schon
vor 1933 Friedrich den Großen als Vorbild noch höher eingeschätzt

te des Bismarck-Mythos in der Geschichtswissenschaft der Weimarer Republik,
in: M. RAASCH (Hrsg.), Die deutsche Gesellschaft und der konservative Heroe. Der
Bismarck-Mythos im Wandel der Zeit, Aachen 2010, S. 79–99.

27 GERWARTH, S. 66 (Zitat); W. JÄGER, Historische Forschung und politische Kultur in
Deutschland. Die Debatte 1914–1980 über den Ausbruch des Ersten Weltkrieges (Kriti-
sche Studien zur Geschichtswissenschaft, 61), Göttingen 1984, S. 77f, 80f, 99f.

28 GERWARTH, S. 66f.
29 JÄGER, S. 86f.
30 GERWARTH, S. 69.
31 FRANKEL, S. 109, 130.
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haben.32 Wenn Bismarck dann gleichwohl nach der „Machtergreifung“
in seiner Bedeutung vom neuen Regime noch einmal aufgewertet wur-
de, spielte die Frage nach dem Charakter der Wilhelminischen Zeit
jetzt keine so große Rolle mehr in Deutschland, dass man offiziell beide
Themen miteinander verknüpft hätte. In Wissenschaft und Publizistik
schrieb man unterdessen die überkommenen Positionen einfach fort.33

Bismarck und die Wilhelminische Zeit in den Lebens-
erinnerungen

Welche Rolle spielt nun Bismarck als historische Persönlichkeit und
als Mythos in den Autobiographien der Zwischenkriegszeit, wenn es
um die Kennzeichen der Wilhelminischen Epoche geht? Zunächst ist
festzuhalten, dass rund 50 der untersuchten 141 Erinnerungswerke, al-
so ein gutes Drittel die Entlassung des Gründungskanzlers in Bezie-
hung zum weiteren Schicksal des Kaiserreichs setzen – keine über-
wältigende, aber doch eine durchaus ansehnliche Quote, angesichts
der Tatsache, dass Themen wie Kunst und Kultur, das Militärwesen
oder die Frauenbewegung in der Wilhelminischen Zeit zum Teil deut-
lich seltener angesprochen werden.34 Alle bereits erwähnten Facetten
des Bismarck-Mythos sind dabei in den Lebenserinnerungen wieder-
zufinden, zugleich aber auch eine Reihe von Differenzierungen und
Ergänzungen bzw. abweichenden Spielarten. Fünf Gruppen von Au-
tobiographen mit unterschiedlichen Deutungen bzw. Schwerpunktset-
zungen lassen sich hierbei unterscheiden, wobei vorauszuschicken ist,
32 Vgl. NÜBEL, passim; T. HIRSCHMÜLLER, Funktion und Bedeutung von Fried-

rich dem Großen und Otto von Bismarck in der nationalsozialistischen Ge-
schichtspolitik. Von der Anfangszeit der „Bewegung“ bis zum Zusammenbruch
des guvDritten Reiches, in: M. RAASCH (Hrsg.), Die deutsche Gesellschaft und der
konservative Heroe. Der Bismarck-Mythos im Wandel der Zeit, Aachen 2010, S. 135–
176.

33 Vgl. KNORRING, S. 18f.
34 Vgl. zu den als epochenrelevant angesehenen Themen in den Autobiographien

ebenda, S. 187f.
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dass die Verfasser jeweils über die Gemeinsamkeiten ihrer Schilderun-
gen hinaus keine besonderen Merkmale aufweisen, die sie miteinander
verbinden würden. Zwar wird der Bismarck-Mythos überwiegend von
(ehemaligen) hohen Beamten, Diplomaten und Militärs, von Schrift-
stellern und Publizisten sowie von Professoren und Privatgelehrten
verschiedener Fächer auf die eine oder andere Weise gepflegt; die fünf
Gruppen, die hier gebildet werden können, sind aber in sich bunt ge-
mischt.35

Eine erste Gruppe, bestehend aus lediglich vier Stimmen, begnügt
sich mit der Feststellung oder auch nur Andeutung, dass Bismarcks
Entlassung fatale Folgen für das Kaiserreich gehabt bzw. dessen Unter-
gang eingeleitet habe. Elisabeth von Maltzahn beispielsweise, Schrift-
stellerin aus mecklenburgischem Adel, spricht hier mit unverkennba-
rem Pathos von den Tagen um den 20. März 1890 als von „den Schick-
salstagen des Reichs“.36 Doppelt so viele Verfasser – die zweite Grup-
pe – werden konkreter und stellen der Reichsleitung, d. h. dem Kai-
ser, seinen wechselnden Kanzlern und den obersten Beamten der nach-
bismarckschen Ära ein teilweise geradezu vernichtendes Zeugnis aus.
Der bayerische Literat Ludwig Thoma etwa beschreibt plastisch, wie
nach der Demission der Reichsgründers „unberufene Hände das Steuer
ergriffen, und wie im gefährlichsten Fahrwasser der Zickzackkurs begann“,37

und der Hamburger, später Dresdner Kunsthistoriker Karl Woermann
konstatiert, „daß die völlige Unfähigkeit unserer nachbismarckischen Staats-
35 Biographische Angaben zu den im Folgenden genannten Verfassern von Lebens-

erinnerungen finden sich mit einschlägigen Literaturnachweisen bei KNORRING,
S. 320–339. Zur besonderen Bedeutung der Kategorie „Beruf“ für die Sicht auf die
Wilhelminische Epoche im Ganzen siehe ebenda, S. 306–310.

36 E. von MALTZAHN, An stillen Feuern. Erschautes und Erträumtes. Ein Lebensroman,
Schwerin 61923, S. 129f (das Zitat S. 130). Vgl. H. RAFF, Blätter vom Lebensbaum,
München 1938, S. 198; A. von SCHLATTER, Erlebtes, Berlin 21924, S. 15f; A. W.
SELLIN, Erinnerungen aus dem Berufs- und Seelenleben eines alten Mannes, Konstanz
1920, S. 102, 106. Hervorhebungen in den wörtlichen Zitaten, die im Original der
publizierten Lebenserinnerungen zumeist gesperrt gedruckt wurden, werden im
Folgenden entsprechend wiedergegeben.

37 L. THOMA, Erinnerungen, München 1919, S. 155 (Zitat), 255f.
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kunst die Hauptschuld an unseren Verhängnis trug“.38 Speziell Kaiser Wil-
helm II., so der aus Ostpreußen stammende Physiker Wilhelm Wien,
habe „durch Bismarcks Entlassung und das persönliche Regiment schwere
Schuld seinem Volke gegenüber auf sich geladen“;39 der Mediziner und Mit-
begründer des Alldeutschen Verbandes Otto Lubarsch wird in diesem
Zusammenhang noch konkreter und brandmarkt „die sprunghafte, auf
äußere Augenblickserfolge hinzielende Politik des Kaisers“.40

Die dritte und mit 15 Verfassern vergleichsweise größte Gruppe von
Autobiographen thematisiert nun speziell denjenigen Aspekt, der auch
den Kern des Bismarck-Mythos in der öffentlichen Debatte nach 1918
ausmachte: die wilhelminische Außenpolitik. Dies geschieht teils indi-
rekt, wie etwa bei der Karlsruher Musiklehrerin Anna Ettlinger, nach
deren Einschätzung mit Bismarcks Entlassung „nicht nur der Gründer,
sondern auch der Hüter des neuen Deutschen Reiches außer Tätigkeit ge-
setzt“ worden sei.41 Teils wird jedoch ein verfehlter Kurs nach außen
hin direkt für den Untergang verantwortlich gemacht: Beispielsweise
hält der bekannte Schriftsteller Emil Ludwig fest, „daß in den Tagen von
Bismarcks Sturz gegen seinen Willen der deutsche Vertrag mit Rußland [=
der Rückversicherungsvertrag von 1887] nicht wieder erneuert und damit
38 K. WOERMANN, Lebenserinnerungen eines Achtzigjährigen, 2. Band – Leipzig 1924,

S. 315.
39 W. WIEN, Ein Rückblick, in: W. WIEN, Aus dem Leben und Wirken eines Physikers.

Mit persönlichen Erinnerungen von E. v. Drygalski u. a., hrsg. v. K. WIEN, Leipzig
1930, S. 1–50, hier S. 12, 41f (das Zitat S. 42).

40 O. LUBARSCH, Ein bewegtes Gelehrtenleben. Erinnerungen und Erlebnisse, Kämpfe
und Gedanken, Berlin 1931, S. 533. Vgl. außerdem E. FEHLING, Aus meinem Le-
ben. Erinnerungen und Aktenstücke, Lübeck u. a. 1929, S. 113; M. HAHN, Dein Vater.
Briefe an meine Tochter, Leipzig 1936, S. 56, 243; F. TIBURTIUS, Erinnerungen ei-
ner Achtzigjährigen (Weibliches Schaffen und Wirken, 1), 2., erw. Aufl. Berlin 1925,
S. 212; R. VOIGTLÄNDER, Robert Voigtländer, in: G. MENZ (Hrsg.), Der deut-
sche Buchhandel der Gegenwart in Selbstdarstellungen, Leipzig 1925, S. 157–203, hier
S. 198f.

41 A. ETTLINGER, Lebenserinnerungen, für ihre Familie verfaßt, Leipzig [1920], S. 166.
Vgl. auch M. Gfin. von BÜNAU, Neununddreißig Jahre Hofdame bei I. K. H. der Land-
gräfin von Hessen, Prinzessin Anna von Preußen, Berlin 1929, S. 75; A. von WILKE,
Alt-Berliner Erinnerungen, Berlin 1930, S. 179.
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[. . . ] die Gefahr des Zweifrontenkrieges, die Basis des Weltkrieges geschaffen
wurde“.42

Die Mehrheit der Stimmen dieser Gruppe verknüpft naheliegender-
weise mit ihrem teils drastisch ausfallenden Negativurteil über die Au-
ßenpolitik seit 1890 gleichermaßen die schon aus der zweiten Gruppe
– wie natürlich auch aus der öffentlichen Debatte – bekannte, direk-
te harsche Kritik am Reichsoberhaupt und dessen Führungspersonal,
die sich zumeist im Diktum der Unfähigkeit verdichtet. Überwiegend
fassen sich die Autoren dabei ebenfalls kurz und stellen lediglich eine
Verbindung zwischen diesen beiden Aspekten des Bismarck-Mythos
her, wie etwa der Gardeoffizier und Diplomat Oscar von der Lancken
Wakenitz, der Bismarck ein „bis in die Fingerspitzen reichendes Gefühl für
Deutschlands geopolitische Lage“ bescheinigt; es sehe danach aus, so Lan-
cken weiter, „als ob gerade dieses Gefühl und die daraus entspringende Vor-
sicht sich bei seinen Nachfolgern in der Leitung der auswärtigen Politik grad-
weise verloren hätte“.43

Weniger zurückhaltend formuliert der ehemalige Gouverneur von
Deutsch-Ostafrika und Vorsitzende des Reichsverbands gegen die So-
zialdemokratie, Eduard von Liebert sein Urteil: Dem deutschen Volk
habe nach Bismarcks Entlassung „die feste Hand eines hoch über ihm ste-
henden Führers“ gefehlt, man „taumelte, schlecht beraten und unsicher
geführt“, in den Weltkrieg.44 Geradezu verzweifelt und resigniert zu-
gleich mutet hier der Ausruf des ehemaligen kaiserlichen Oberstall-
meisters, Oberhof- und Hausmarschalls Hugo von Reischach an: „Wie
soll da Weltpolitik getrieben werden, wenn die Leitung in den Händen ei-
nes Generals und eines Staatsanwalts liegt!“45 – wobei mit dem General
42 E. LUDWIG, Geschenke des Lebens. Ein Rückblick, Berlin 1931, S. 546. Vgl. auch A.

HOCHE, Jahresringe. Innenansicht eines Menschenlebens, München 1934, S. 194.
43 O. Frhr. von der LANCKEN WAKENITZ, Meine Dreissig Dienstjahre. 1888–1918,

Potsdam – Paris – Brüssel – Berlin 1931, S. 268.
44 E. von LIEBERT, Aus einem bewegten Leben. Erinnerungen, München 1925, S. 131f,

192 (die Zitate S. 132, 192).
45 H. Frhr. von REISCHACH, Unter drei Kaisern, Berlin 1925, S. 167f, 172 (Zitat). Vgl.

außerdem E. KORSCHELT, Das Haus an der Minne. Erinnerungen aus einem langen
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natürlich Bismarcks unmittelbarer Nachfolger Caprivi, mit dem Staats-
anwalt Außenstaatssekretär Marschall von Bieberstein gemeint ist, die
hier pars pro toto angesprochen werden.

Eingehender und zugleich differenzierter äußern sich schließlich
die beiden Diplomaten Hermann von Eckardstein und Anton von
Monts, aber auch der Sprachwissenschaftler und Publizist Eduard En-
gel sowie der Bonner Kirchen- und Staatsrechtler Philipp Zorn. Al-
le vier rügen sowohl die großen Linien der wilhelminischen Außen-
politik als auch einzelne Fehlentscheidungen und sparen dabei nicht
mit harten Worten über die „kleinen Geister“,46 die „Dilettanten“,47 oder
„Pygmäen“,48 die hier am Werk gewesen seien, wobei Anton von Monts
wohl das drastischste Urteil von allen fällt: „Indem Wilhelm II. und mit
ihm sehr weite führende Kreise des Volkes [. . . ] den Schöpfer des Deutschen
Reiches von seinem noch unvollendeten Werke und in noch ungebrochener
Kraft fortschickten, begingen sie einen Akt, der dem Selbstmord zu verglei-
chen ist und der sich bei der politischen Unzulänglichkeit von Fürst und Volk
so entsetzlich rächen mußte.“49

Eckardstein und Monts konzedieren allerdings im selben Atemzug,
ähnlich wie ihr bereits zitierter Kollege Lancken Wakenitz, dass der
Verfall langsam eingesetzt habe, weil bis gegen 1900 letzte Kräfte in
Außenamt und Diplomatie tätig gewesen seien, die noch unter Bis-
marck eingestellt und ausgebildet worden waren.50 Während Eduard
Engel unterdessen sogar bis 1914 „ausgezeichnete Botschafter und Gesand-

Leben, Marburg 1939, S. 173f; W. HOFF, Erinnerungen aus Leben und Arbeit, Berlin
1931, S. 53, 124; D. Fstin. von PLESS, Tanz auf dem Vulkan. Erinnerungen an Deutsch-
lands und Englands Schicksalswende, Bd. 1, Dresden 1929, S. 80, 363f.

46 H. Frhr. von ECKARDSTEIN, Lebenserinnerungen und politische Denkwürdigkeiten,
3 Bde., Leipzig 1919–1921, hier I, S. 174.

47 A. Gf. von MONTS DE MAZIN, Erinnerungen und Gedanken des Botschafters Anton
Graf Monts, hrsg. v. K. F. NOWAK – F. THIMME, Berlin 1932, S. 268.

48 P. ZORN, Aus einem deutschen Universitätsleben, Bonn 1927, S. 89.
49 MONTS DE MAZIN, S. 151.
50 ECKARDSTEIN, I, S. 174 (vgl. ansonsten I, S. 112, 174f, 308–311, 316, 320f, 324,

und III, S. 172); MONTS DE MAZIN, S. 187–191, 268 (vgl. ansonsten S. 270).

182



i
i

i
i

i
i

i
i

M. von Knorring, Bismarcks Entlassung als Anfang vom Ende? . . . , pp. 169–191

te“ am Werk sieht, die jedoch seit 1890 von der inkompetenten Füh-
rungsebene geknebelt worden seien,51 zieht Philipp Zorn ebenfalls um
die Jahrhundertwende eine Trennlinie, doch nicht mit Blick auf das ver-
antwortliche Personal, sondern als Zeitpunkt, seit dem „das gewaltige
politische Kapital, das Bismarck für Deutschland angesammelt hatte“, durch
Fehlentscheidungen rasch aufgezehrt worden sei.52

Eine vierte Gruppe von Autobiographen kann unterdessen aus elf
Verfassern gebildet werden. Ihr zumeist ebenso drastisches Urteil
zeichnet sich dadurch aus, dass sie ausgehend von Bismarcks Entlas-
sung das Diktum des Niedergangs nicht nur mit Kritik erstens an Kai-
ser und Führungspersonal sowie zweitens an deren Außenpolitik ver-
binden, sondern mit der Innenpolitik einen dritten Aspekt hinzufügen.
Wenn somit auch insgesamt die besonders wichtige Rolle des Themas
Außenpolitik im Zusammenhang mit dem Bismarck-Mythos durch die
Betrachtung der Lebenserinnerungen bestätigt wird, so tritt hier jedoch
mit der Innenpolitik ein gewichtiger Punkt hinzu, der ansonsten in der
öffentlichen Debatte nach 1918 unterbelichtet gewesen zu sein scheint,
jedenfalls nach den bisherigen Erkenntnissen der Forschung.

Worum ging es den Autobiographen dabei konkret? Die ehema-
ligen preußischen Generäle Friedrich von Bernhardi und Hugo von
Freytag-Loringhoven begnügen sich mit der bloßen Feststellung, dass
die Reichsführung auch in der Innenpolitik inkompetent gewesen sei.53

Der ehemalige hohe Offizier und Schlosshauptmann von Posen Bog-
dan von Hutten-Czapski teilt dieses Urteil und konstatiert zugleich
einen inneren Zerfall des Reichs vor allem seit Beginn der Kanzler-
schaft Bernhards von Bülow 1900;54 der sächsische Gymnasialdirektor,
51 E. ENGEL, Menschen und Dinge. Aus einem Leben, Leipzig 1929, S. 198 (vgl. anson-

sten S. 279–281, 285, und öfter).
52 ZORN, S. 133 (vgl. ansonsten S. 89, 99, 117).
53 F. von BERNHARDI, Denkwürdigkeiten aus meinem Leben, Berlin 1927, S. 175 (Kritik

an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 170, 175, 303f, 531f); H. Frhr. von FREYTAG-
LORINGHOVEN, Menschen und Dinge wie ich sie in meinem Leben sah, Berlin 1923,
S. 65, 150 (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 140, 145–147).

54 B. Gf. von HUTTEN-CZAPSKI, Sechzig Jahre Politik und Gesellschaft, 2 Bde., Berlin
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Altphilologe und Schriftsteller Otto Eduard Schmidt spricht analog da-
zu sehr plastisch von einer „politischen Zersplitterung und Zerfaserung
Deutschlands“, wobei er konkret der nach 1890 stark anwachsenden
sozialdemokratischen Bewegung bzw. Partei hierfür die Schuld
zuweist.55

Eben dieses Motiv der umstürzlerischen, nach Bismarck und ohne
Sozialistengesetz ungehemmt sich entfaltenden Sozialdemokratie fin-
det sich auch bei einer ganzen Reihe weiterer Autobiographen aus die-
ser Gruppe.56 Von ihnen wird nun oftmals zugleich das eben von der
Opposition dominierte Parlament für die innere Misere verantwort-
lich gemacht, was etwa besonders eindrücklich bei dem konservati-
ven Agrarier Elard von Oldenburg-Januschau zum Ausdruck kommt:
„Der Reichstag [. . . ] riß alle Macht im Staate an sich. Das Gift der Demo-
kratie, der mangelnden Ein- und Unterordnung, vernebelte wie kein zwei-
tes Verstand und Herz der Menschen.“57 Auch der Jurist und langjäh-
rige Vorsitzende des Alldeutschen Verbandes Heinrich Claß beklagt,
„daß unter Bismarcks Nachfolgern der Einfluß des Reichstags hemmungs-
los gewachsen war“,58 während Rudolf Huch, nach heutigen Maßstäben
niedersächsischer Schriftsteller und ebenfalls Jurist, für die Zeit nach
der Entlassung „die grauenhafteste Verflachung“ der Parlamentsdebatten

1936, hier I, S. 386f (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: I, S. 182, 334).
55 O. E. SCHMIDT, Wandern, o wandern. Lebenserinnerungen, Dresden 1936, S. 58 (Zi-

tat), 76, 123 (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 58).
56 Vgl. in diesem Zusammenhang auch K. MARTENS, Schonungslose Lebenschronik.

[Erster Teil:] 1870–1900; Zweiter Teil: 1901–1923, Wien u. a. 1921/24, hier I, S. 107,
mit seiner Kritik an den Mängeln „des ,Neuen Kurses‘ mit seinen [. . . ] unzulänglichen
Versuchen in der Sozialpolitik“ (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: I, S. 107, und
II, S. 63).

57 E. von OLDENBURG-JANUSCHAU, Erinnerungen, Leipzig 1936, S. 62f (Zitat), 173
(Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 95f, 173). Vgl. D. SCHÄFER, Mein Leben,
Berlin, Leipzig 1926, S. 159 (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 158f).

58 H. CLAß, Wider den Strom. Vom Werden und Wachsen der nationalen Opposition im
alten Reich, Leipzig 1932, S. 233f (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 22f, 49,
82, 91, 96).
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feststellt.59 Claß bringt schließlich noch einen weiteren Aspekt in die
Diskussion ein: Bismarcks Demission sei auch der Startschuss für eine
verfehlte Polen-Politik der neuen preußischen Regierung gewesen, die
gleichermaßen zersetzend gewirkt habe.60

Ebenfalls auf die innere Verfassung Deutschlands bzw. der Deut-
schen, aber in eine ganz andere Richtung zielt schließlich die Einschät-
zung des Hamburger Journalisten und Redakteurs Ernst Jungmann,
der abgesehen von der üblichen Kritik an Staatsführung und Außen-
politik beklagt, „wie das reiche Erbe Bismarcks vergeudet wurde, wie mit
einem kaum vorher dagewesenen materiellen Aufschwunge der moralische
Abstieg des deutschen Volkes seit 1890 Fortschritte machte“.61 Dieser neue
und allem Anschein nach der Forschung bislang gänzlich unbekannte
Aspekt des Bismarck-Mythos spielt nun eine deutliche, wenn auch frei-
lich nicht die einzige Rolle innerhalb einer wiederum kleineren, fünf-
ten und letzten Autobiographen-Gruppe, deren sieben Verfasser sich
ganz auf die inneren Verhältnisse im wilhelminischen Kaiserreich kon-
zentrieren. Auch hier finden sich das Diktum der verfehlten Polenpo-
litik, dass der ehemalige General Karl Litzmann vorbringt,62 und die
ebenfalls schon bekannte Klage über eine den „Untergang“ bringende
fortschreitende Demokratisierung nach 1890, wie sie auch der Theolo-
ge und Universitätsprofessor Otto Procksch in der Feder führt.63 Wenn
59 R. HUCH, Mein Leben (Die Lebenden), Berlin 1935, S. 42 (Kritik an Führung und

Außenpolitik: S. 43). Der bayerische Gesandte in Berlin Hugo von Lerchenfeld-
Koefering kritisiert dagegen den Bundesrat, der ohne Bismarck zwar freier, aber
orientierungslos gewesen sei. H. Gf. von LERCHENFELD-KOEFERING, Erinne-
rungen und Denkwürdigkeiten 1843–1925, eingel. u. hrsg. v. H. Gf. LERCHENFELD-
KOEFERING, Berlin 1935, S. 193f, 302 (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik:
S. 368, 392, 400, 413, 432, 434).

60 CLAß, S. 82.
61 E. JUNGMANN, Von Bundestag bis Nationalversammlung. Erinnerungen und Be-

trachtungen, Hamburg [1919], S. 5 (Kritik an Führung und Außenpolitik: S. 36f,
40).

62 K. LITZMANN, Lebenserinnerungen. Erster Band, Berlin 1927, S. 109 (vgl. S. 178
zur Führungsschwäche der Regierung).

63 O. PROCKSCH, [Selbstdarstellung], in: E. STANGE (Hrsg.), Die Religionswissen-
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Procksch nun zugleich einen Mangel an „Heldenverehrung“ im deut-
schen Volk moniert,64 mag man darin im Kern das bei Jungmann ange-
sprochene Phänomen des „moralischen Abstiegs“ berührt sehen, das
in den übrigen Lebenserinnerungen dieser Gruppe zum Teil weit aus-
führlicher thematisiert wird.

Carl Sternheim etwa, jüdischer Schriftsteller und Dramatiker, be-
schreibt die Ambivalenz von „materiellem Aufschwung“ und „mora-
lischem Abstieg“ folgendermaßen: „Das Tempo [. . . ] war seit Bismarcks
Fortgang [. . . ] hastiger auf allen Lebensgebieten geworden. Es schien, die
Deutschen [. . . ] brachen auf mystischen, inneren Anruf zu einem formi-
dabel Motorischen auf! [. . . ] Hatte das Durchschnittliche sich bisher nicht
regen dürfen [. . . ], riskierten jetzt Leute, die vor den Dingen, die sie spra-
chen, wie die Kuh vor dem neuen Tor standen, eine mächtige Lippe; brachten
einen Dilettantismus in Mode, der dem Land bald gefährlich wurde!“
Und an anderer Stelle heißt es, hiermit korrespondierend: „Bis in die
höchsten Ämter [. . . ] war nicht mehr das berufliche, sittliche Verdienst,
der angeborene, unbeugsame Ehrbegriff entscheidend[,] doch gleißende
Kunstfertigkeit, Betrug eines Heers von Tartuffen, das ein aus Luthers
und Bismarcks Vorbildern hochanständig geradsinniges Preußen [. . . ]
meuchlings überfiel“.65

Ähnliche Urteile finden sich bei dem ursprünglich aus der Schweiz
stammenden Schriftsteller Walther Siegfried und dem ehemaligen Ge-
neral und Mitarbeiter im preußischen Kriegsministerium Paul von
Schoenaich.66 Letzterer sieht allerdings die Misere bereits in der Zeit
vor 1890 grundgelegt und relativiert damit den Mythos bzw. schlägt

schaft in Selbstdarstellungen, [Bd. 2], Leipzig 1926, S. 161–194, hier S. 168.
64 PROCKSCH, S. 168.
65 C. STERNHEIM, Vorkriegseuropa im Gleichnis meines Lebens, Amsterdam 1936, S.

39–41, 163. Vgl. auch die eher unterschwellig kritische Charakterisierung der neu-
en Zeit bei A. BRANDL, Zwischen Inn und Themse. Lebensbeobachtungen eines Angli-
sten. Alt-Tirol/England/Berlin, Berlin 1936, S. 250.

66 W. SIEGFRIED, Aus dem Bilderbuch eines Lebens, 3 Teile, Zürich – Leipzig 1926–
1932, hier II, S. 222, 224 (Kritik an der Reichsführung: II, S. 157); P. Frhr. von
SCHOENAICH, Mein Damaskus. Erlebnisse und Bekenntnisse, Berlin 1926, S. 92.
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den Bogen zur Bismarck-Kritik: „Die ungeheuren äußeren politischen und
materiellen Erfolge der Bismarckschen Zeit hatten ein überhebliches und rein
materialistisches Geschlecht aufwachsen lassen, das den Glanz von heute hö-
her wertet als die Arbeit um das werdende Morgen.“67 Damit nicht genug,
kritisiert Schonaich an anderer Stelle die Bismarcksche Reichsverfas-
sung als in sich widersprüchlich, was erst nach 1890 voll zum Tragen
gekommen sei;68 hier trifft er sich zugleich mit dem ehemaligen hohen
Reichsbeamten Wilhelm Hoff, der seine Kritik an Regierung und Ver-
waltung des Kaiserreichs unter Wilhelm II. mit der Feststellung verbin-
det, dass die Verfassung mit Blick auf die Machtbefugnisse von Reichs-
oberhaupt und Kanzler für die neuen Verhältnisse ohne Bismarck nicht
geeignet gewesen sei.69 Und auch bei dem schon erwähnten Walther
Siegfried finden sich Anklänge an die liberale Kritik – die freilich ins-
gesamt in den Lebenserinnerungen eine nur marginale Rolle spielt –,
wenn er der Sozialgesetzgebung der 1880er Jahre für die Zeit danach
eine zweifelhafte Wirkung bescheinigt.70

Soweit also die fünf Gruppen von Autobiographen bzw. Autobio-
graphien, die den Bismarck-Mythos auf verschiedene Weise widerspie-
geln bzw. zur Sprache bringen und damit natürlich auf ihre jeweils ei-
gene Art auch beförderten. Der Vollständigkeit halber seien noch drei
Werke erwähnt, die sich ebenfalls unter den besagten rund 50 Lebens-
erinnerungen befinden, die Bismarck und die Wilhelminische Zeit zu-
einander in Beziehung setzen. In ihnen wird die Bedeutung des 20.
März 1890 zumindest relativiert: Der jüdische Kunstdozent, Literatur-
historiker, Lyriker und Erzähler Heinrich Spiero konzediert zwar Unsi-
cherheiten in der deutschen Außenpolitik nach Bismarck, doch sei kein
Niedergang zu verzeichnen gewesen, vielmehr eine bedeutende Stei-
gerung der Wirtschaft und des Außenhandels.71 Eugen von Jagemann,
67 SCHOENAICH, S. 92.
68 Ebenda, S. 67f.
69 A. WERMUTH, Ein Beamtenleben. Erinnerungen, Berlin 1922, S. 122f, 126, 288.
70 SIEGFRIED, II, S. 231.
71 H. SPIERO, Schicksal und Anteil. Ein Lebensweg in deutscher Wendezeit, Berlin 1929,

S. 277.
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Jurist, Aufsichtsrat und ehemaliger badischer Bundesratsgesandter,
konstatiert zwar einen Verlust des „Bismarckschen Gesichtspunkt[s] not-
wendiger Korrelativität von Leistung und Empfang, Pflichterfüllung und
Recht“ in der Wilhelminischen Epoche, doch gedenkt er nur wenige
Seiten später mit Blick auf das Jahr 1914 mit spürbarer Nostalgie „der
friedlichen, trotz sehr vieler Mängel guten alten Zeit“.72 Und Alfred Grot-
jahn schließlich, norddeutscher Mediziner und Universitätsprofessor,
hält gar in seinen „Erinnerungen eines sozialistischen Arztes“ fest, Bis-
marcks Entlassung sei die „einzige politische Aktion während seiner ganzen
Regierungszeit [gewesen], die Wilhelm II. zur rechten Zeit und in richtiger
Erkenntnis ihrer unbedingten Notwendigkeit mit Mut und Entschlossenheit
zur Durchführung brachte“, was 1890, und hier irrt Grotjahn natürlich,
leider „nur die Billigung von wenigen gefunden“ habe.73

Fazit und Einordnung der Ergebnisse

Spiegelt sich also der Bismarck-Mythos in den Lebenserinnerungen der
Zwischenkriegszeit wieder, wenn es dort um die Charakterisierung der
Wilhelminischen Zeit geht, und wenn ja, in welchem Ausmaß, in wel-
cher Weise und mit welchen Auswirkungen? Tatsächlich setzt ein be-
achtlicher Teil der untersuchten Autobiographien und Memoiren Bis-
marcks Entlassung in Beziehung zur Wilhelminischen Epoche, wobei
nahezu alle ihre Verfasser den Bismarck-Mythos auf die eine oder an-
dere Weise pflegen; diejenigen Autoren, die ihn relativieren oder gar
Kritik an Bismarcks Amtsführung und ihren Folgen üben, sind hier
deutlich in der Minderheit – ganz so, wie es auch sonst in der öffentli-
chen Debatte der Jahre nach 1918 gewesen zu sein scheint.

Dabei finden sich in den Lebenserinnerungen in hohem Maße Fa-
cetten des Bismarck-Mythos wieder, wie sie in Politik und Wissenschaft
dominierten. Mit der Entlassung des ersten Kanzlers, so lassen sich
72 E. von JAGEMANN, Fünfundsiebzig Jahre des Erlebens und Erfahrens (1849–1924),

Heidelberg 1925, S. 272, 276.
73 A. GROTJAHN, Erlebtes und Erstrebtes. Erinnerungen eines sozialistischen Arztes,

Berlin 1932, S. 49.
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diese Einschätzungen zusammenfassen, war der Untergang des Kai-
serreichs besiegelt; der seinem Amt nicht gewachsene Monarch Wil-
helm II. und sein ebenso unfähiges Regierungspersonal führten
Deutschland mit ihrer verfehlten Außenpolitik in die Katastrophe, sei
es mit konstantem Tempo oder eben erst ab 1900 ungebremst. Ein nicht
geringer Teil der Autobiographen benennt aber auch Folgen der Entlas-
sung, die ansonsten in den öffentlichen Diskussionen offenbar kaum
eine bzw. gar keine Rolle spielten. Dezidiert wird hier der Reichsfüh-
rung nach 1890 auch die innenpolitische Kompetenz abgesprochen,
werden ihr Fehlentscheidungen und ein sich zunehmend vertiefender
innerer Zwiespalt angelastet, dessen Entstehung – so die naheliegen-
de Interpretation dieser Aussagen – der Gründungskanzler niemals
zugelassen bzw. durch seine vorausschauende Politik gegenüber Op-
position und Minderheiten verhindert haben würde. Und schließlich
habe auch ein moralischer Niedergang, ein Anwachsen von Selbstüber-
schätzung, Unwahrhaftigkeit und rein materieller Lebensorientierung
eingesetzt, nachdem Bismarck hatte gehen müssen.

Auf diese Weise wurde also der Bismarck-Mythos in der öffentli-
chen Debatte der Zwischenkriegszeit durch die Autobiographien- und
Memoirenliteratur nicht nur bekräftigt, sondern auch ausgeweitet. So-
weit sie bis 1933 erschienen war, trug sie damit ihren Teil dazu bei, den
Wunsch nach einer neuen Führergestalt, die Deutschland aus der Mi-
sere der Republik retten würde, zu stärken, wie er oftmals mit der Pfle-
ge des Bismarck-Mythos in Politik und Gesellschaft verbunden war.74

Doch das ist nicht alles. Die Kritik an der Wilhelminischen Zeit, die
wie beschrieben in aller Regel von den rund 50 einschlägig argumen-
tierenden Autobiographen mit dem Bismarck-Mythos verbunden wor-
den ist, findet sich in allen ihren Facetten auch in zahlreichen weiteren
Lebenserinnerungen aus dem untersuchten Gesamtkorpus, die keinen
erkennbaren Bezug zwischen den Ereignissen des März 1890 und den
nachfolgenden Jahrzehnten herstellen.

74 GERWARTH, S. 148ff und öfter.
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Im Kern läuft dabei das Urteil in den Autobiographien und Memoi-
ren darauf hinaus, dass die Jahre zwischen 1890 und 1914 eine Zeit der
Krisen und Umbrüche, ja sogar des Verfalls gewesen seien.75 Diese tat-
sächlich von vielen Deutschen so gesehene Problemlage bestand nun
in der gesellschaftlichen Wahrnehmung auch nach 1918 fort, vor allem
in politischen Konflikten, aber ebenso in gravierenden grundsätzlichen
Spannungen innerhalb von Staat und Gesellschaft der Weimarer Zeit
und nicht zuletzt in einem andauernden Widerstreit von Tradition und
Moderne. Vor diesem Hintergrund wurde ein Wandel vielfach ersehnt
und zunehmend von einem nationalsozialistischen Regime erhofft –
und diese Sehnsucht bzw. Hoffnung wurde durch die Lebenserinne-
rungen potentiell noch verstärkt, die die Zustände in der Wilhelmi-
nischen Zeit nicht als erstrebenswertes Ziel, sondern vielmehr als Ur-
sprung der Misere darstellten und ebenfalls immer wieder den Wunsch
nach einem starken „Führer“ äußerten. Indem nun etliche Autobiogra-
phen zusätzlich zu ihrer Kritik am wilhelminischen Kaiserreich im sel-
ben Atemzug den Bismarck-Mythos beschworen, potenzierten sie ge-
wissermaßen diese naheliegende Wirkung noch – und diejenigen von
ihnen, die ihre Ansichten erst nach 1933 äußerten, mochten so immer-
hin zur Rechtfertigung des Regimes beitragen.

Abstract

Bismarck’s Dismissal as Beginning of the End? The Bismarck-Myth

in the Memoirs in the Weimar Republic and at the Beginning of the Third Reich

The Bismarck-myth, which glorified the founder of the empire as an omnipotent hero,

boomed in Germany after the First World War. At the same time, the increasing genre

of autobiographies and memoirs consistently asked about the nature of the perished

75 Zum Folgenden KNORRING, S. 311–318, mit Einzelnachweisen. Vgl. besonders
G. BOLLENBECK, Tradition, Avantgarde, Reaktion. Deutsche Kontroversen um die kul-
turelle Moderne 1880–1945, Frankfurt am Main 1999, S. 194ff, 275–289; M. FÖLL-
MER – R. GRAF – P. LEO, Einleitung: Die Kultur der Krise in der Weimarer Repu-
blik, in: M. FÖLLMER – R. GRAF (Hrsg.), Die „Krise“ der Weimarer Republik. Zur
Kritik eines Deutungsmusters, Frankfurt am Main – New York 2005, S. 9–41, hier
S. 39.
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Wilhelmine period. In doing so, many authors connected the Bismarck-myth with

the fate of the empire. They adopted the connection between the dismissal of the

first chancellor und the failure of his successors in foreign policy, which often was

postulated in public, and supplemented it by the dictum of inner degeneration after

1890. Thus they extended the Bismarck-myth and supported the increasing demand

after a strong leader.

Keywords

Bismarck-myth; Autobiographies; Interwar Period; Wilhelmine Period
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Beginning at the start of the 19th century, China grew to become an
ever more important region of British interest.1 The linking of Chinese
trade to the economy of the British Empire in particular brought un-
precedented profits to British traders, and as such they endeavoured
to an ever greater extent to expand their activities in the Middle King-
dom. To begin with, however, this trend came up against an enclosed
China, which tried to restrict their influence, in particular because of
the increasing imports of opium to the country. Britain, however, was
dependent on this basically illegal trade, because tea could only be pur-
chased in India using Chinese silver, which British importers acquired
by importing opium to China. But British traders’ increasing activi-
ties in China didn’t just cause a growth in opium imports to China,
but also the number of its consumers. By the second half of the 1830s,
their numbers had already exceeded 10 million.2 This led China’s gov-
ernment to restrict the practice. Emperor Daoguang as such assigned
1 This text is one of the results of the grant “Political and Economic Interests of

Great Britain and Germany in China in 1894–1914” awarded by the Grant Agency
of the Czech Republic (GA13–12431S).

2 W. T. HANES – F. SANELLO, Opium Wars. The Addiction of One Empire and the
Corruption of Another, Neperville 2002, p. 34.
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Commissioner Lin Zexu to wipe out Chinese trade in the drug and pre-
vent foreigners from importing it to China. The outcome was the de-
struction of over 1,000 tons of opium, something which did, however,
lead to conflict.

One of Britain’s leading traders, William Hardine (founder of the
company Jardine Matheson) was able to convince Lord Palmerston’s
government of the necessity of opening China up to British trade. His
company then provided key support to Britain’s military campaigns
during the First Opium War, whose outcome was China’s defeat, for-
malised in the Treaty of Nanking (29 August 1842), which effectively
secured Britain’s economic interests in China through the opening of
five treaty ports in which British traders were able to trade freely. Ar-
ticle III of the treaty was a key point, in which China’s government
handed over the island of Hong Kong to Britain, which was to become
a key fulcrum of British power. Victory in this conflict secured the per-
manent presence of Britons in China, which had again to allow in an
influx of British traders importing opium. Britain’s status in China was
then confirmed in the Second Opium War (1856–1860), which ended in
the Treaty of Tientsin, which opened a further eleven ports to foreign-
ers, and secured their permanent presence in the Middle Kingdom. De-
spite marked internal unrest in China, the second half of the 19th cen-
tury saw an expansion of contacts between the West and the gradually
declining Qing Empire, which was only able to deal with the shock its
defeats at the hand of the foreigners were bringing with great difficulty.

To a certain extent, however, the Second Opium War represented
the pinnacle of British influence in China, and as such its end is said
by some historians to mark the end of the first phase of the so-called
treaty system era (1842–1943), when Britain’s concept of free trade was
dominant.3 Beginning in the 1870s, however, Britain had to face up
to ever greater competition from other world powers – to begin with
mainly France and the USA, but later also Russia, Germany and Japan.
The arrival of Japan in particular dramatically undermined the balance
3 J. K. FAIRBANK, Dějiny Číny, Praha 1998, p. 237.
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of power of the Great Powers in China, thanks to the island empire’s
for some surprising victory in its war with China in 1894–1895.4 The
Middle Kingdom’s exposed weakness triggered the so-called Battle for
Concessions, during which individual powers attempted to consoli-
date their spheres of influence and acquire ports on the Chinese coast.
The wave of Chinese resistance to this pressure which culminated in
the Boxer Rebellion was unable to prevent foreigners from their ever
greater penetration of the country. Evidence of China’s weakness was
the fact that the land operations of the Russo-Japanese War over influ-
ence in Korea and Manchuria were almost completely fought within
Chinese territory – a country which was not involved in the conflict.
These events, however, clearly showed that Britain’s dominance in
China had long ago reached its zenith.

As such, at the beginning of the 20th century, Britain was having to
face up to ever greater competition from other powers who were often
acting more assertively and aggressively towards the Qing regime that
Great Britain was. On the other hand, however, Britain through its
alliance with Japan was able to prevent a number of its rivals from
making advances in the region (especially Russia), and still maintained
a marked dominance in the region. Although its political influence
had weakened, it was still markedly dominant economically. In 1906,
for example, China’s imports came to more than 428 million taels, of
which 144 million came from Hong Kong (this port served as a gate to
mainly British goods), 78 million from Britain itself and 32 million from
the British Raj.5 For comparison, Germany exported goods to a value
of 17 million taels to China, the USA 44 million and Japan 61 million.
One of Britain’s arch rivals in China, Russia, exported goods to a value
of just 550,000 taels.6

4 For more information, see S. C. M. PAINE, The Sino-Japanese War of 1894–1895,
Cambridge 2005.

5 The National Archives, London, Kew (hereafter TNA), Foreign Office (hereafter
FO) 405/171, General Report on China for the year 1906, p. 21, Jordan to Grey,
Beijing, June 1, 1907.

6 Ibidem.
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As such, Britain remained Chinese foreign trade’s key player, and
thus had to adequately secure its interests in China. Britain therefore
carefully monitored anything which could affect its interests and Chi-
nese trade as a whole. If British engagement in China were to be dif-
ferentiated into its main fields of interest, these would be three core
areas:

1. Chinese domestic policy – here, Britain monitored general do-
mestic policy developments in China, both in Beijing and in each
of the provinces. An important area of interest for them was
reforms,7 which could significantly affect Britain’s status in the
country;

2. China’s foreign policy – here, Britain monitored developments in
China’s relations with other countries (especially the Great Pow-
ers) and tried to prevent any particular country from becoming
too much stronger within China;

3. the economy – undoubtedly the most important subject of
Britain’s interest in China.

Britain paid most attention to the following issues: general trade, opi-
um imports, loans, railway construction and the economic concessions
the Chinese government awarded foreign companies. The author of
this article uses an analysis of British interests in China in 1908 and
1909, when China in contrast to earlier and later periods was enjoying
a certain level of stability, its government was attempting to undertake
reforms and Britain was able to promote its interests quite effectively, in
order to probe what interests Britain was monitoring, what method it
promoted them and why it did so. The following account should thus
serve as a typological model of how Britain promoted itself in China
in eras without significant turbulence or confusion (if something like
this can even be said of the actual situation in China at the turn of the
7 D. TWITCHETT – J. K. FAIRBANK (eds.), The Cambridge History of China, Vol. II,

part 2, pp. 375–415.
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19th and 20th centuries), and what interests it monitored. The study will
focus mainly on Chinese domestic and foreign policies, whose conse-
quences were of great importance for British trade and economic con-
cessions.

Domestic Policy

In terms of developments in China’s domestic policy, Britain moni-
tored a fairly consistent political course at the beginning of the 20th

century. Its main interest was if possible to help China ensure a stable
course of developments through moderate reforms. Only this kind of
course could secure Britain’s economic interests. Britain’s ambassador,
Sir John Jordan, as such carefully monitored events in China’s Imperial
Court and its reluctant reform efforts, which also included the prepa-
ration of a Chinese constitution, civil service reforms and an attempt at
boosting the armed forces – all this mostly with the assistance of certain
foreign powers.

It was in 1908 that the possible future Chinese constitution took on
a more specific form. On 27 August, the commission set up for this pur-
pose prepared a clear and specific scheme which involved limiting the
Emperor’s power and creating representative assemblies, including a
Chinese equivalent of a Senate. Jordan acknowledged that the constitu-
tion was to be prepared on the basis of the Japanese model, but he was
sorry that it was far from liberal, as the sovereign retained direct control
of the armed forces without any limitations. He was also able to inter-
fere in the judicial system, as he had decided to hold on to the right to
name court officials. Notwithstanding, Britain considered these devel-
opments desirable, although its ambassador somewhat soberly stated
that China would not be ready to adopt the constitution until at least
1917. He saw danger in the fact that, “there is a complete lack of officials
with the necessary training for the successful execution of the scheme, and it
was probably soon noticed that it was not being undertaken with sufficient
vigour”.8

8 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 26, Jordan to
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Despite Jordan’s sceptical attitude, China’s government implement-
ed the reform with “unusual punctuality”9 when Provincial Assemblies
in 20 of China’s 22 provinces began operating on 14 October 1909. Jor-
dan considered this fact a great success, enabled by the hard work
of Chinese officials in attempting to meet the Emperor’s orders. On
the other hand, however, he could not help but notice that the oppor-
tunity to take part in elections to these assemblies was significantly
restricted to the wealthy and educated, and that their establishment
did not arouse great enthusiasm or interest in their sessions. He also
stated that although mainly local problems were discussed at the ses-
sions, such as education reform, the opium problem and securing pub-
lic safety (in some cases, members also spoke on foreign policy), it was
not “clear that anything practical was accomplished”.10 The preparations
for China’s future constitution underway thus left Britain with more of
an ambivalent impression of a half-hearted and lengthy process which
would still be markedly complex, and a year later Jordan simply drily
and somewhat disappointedly stated that if he could speak of the pro-
spect of when the constitution would be adopted, “no one, however, can
pretend that we are within measurable distance of that time, or that any real
progress has been made in that direction during the past year”.11 Britain be-
came convinced of the fact that the current reforms were insufficient
and the central government was no longer in control of the domestic
situation as a result of the growing dissatisfaction in the provinces, ex-
pressed in a number of rebellions and disturbances,12 which were a
precursor to the coming revolution.

Besides the constitutional reforms, Britain also carefully monitored
the recovery and strengthening of China’s armed forces. At the begin-

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
9 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 37, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
10 Ibidem, p. 38, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
11 TNA, FO 881/9867, General Report on China for the year 1910, p. 49, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 5, 1911.
12 Ibidem, pp. 57–60, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, March 5, 1911.
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ning of the 20th century, China’s army comprised three categories of
soldiers: 1. regular units; 2. provincial poorly armed forces of about
250,000 men; 3. reserves, which were made up of mainly untrained
men whose military value was essentially zero and whose numbers
could not even be estimated. According to British observers, the main
problem with Beijing’s military efforts was that their plans were very
ambitious on paper (China was to have 36 divisions by 1911), but in
reality there were continuously “postponed, altered, or abandoned”.13 In
1908, China thus had only 8 divisions, and an undetermined number of
mixed brigades. Jordan estimated Chinese soldier numbers as around
190,000 men, but he admitted himself that this figure might not be ex-
act as there were no precise records available, something likely no-one
held.14

All the army’s training and new equipment were of foreign prove-
nance. Japan especially was involved in the Chinese army reforms,
having about 70 officers in China. Due to Chinese resentment towards
Japan, however, these instructors had very little authority, and the
troops often refused to listen to their orders, something which made
effective training almost impossible. In terms of other powers, in 1908
there were only 7 German officers in China. Germany’s military and in-
dustrial prestige, however, helped ensure that most orders for arms in
China were taken by German companies.15 Although there was certain
progress in terms of training and material equipment over the course
of 1909, Jordan stated that, “the Chinese army, therefore, though slowly im-
proving and though the rank and file are good material, must, for the various
reasons above given, be still considered as backward in efficiency and prepared-
ness for war”.16

13 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 34, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.

14 Ibidem.
15 Ibidem, p. 35, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
16 TNA, FO 405/195, Annual Report, 1909, p. 44, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, January 31,

1910.
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From a British perspective, Chinese efforts to renew the navy, which
had been fundamentally shaken by defeat in the war with Japan in
1894–1895, were not assessed positively either. Due to a lack of funds,
China was unable to purchase a large number of new ships or addi-
tional arms. There was nothing left to do but to focus on improving
the level of training and creating a new naval organisation. Britain per-
ceived the creation of a Naval Ministry headed by Prince Tsa Hsün as
one of the few positive steps of the Chinese government in terms of
naval reform,17 although insufficient funding prevented the achieve-
ment of any real results. In general, it can thus be said that China’s
armed forces suffered from similar defects to the Chinese government
itself. Indiscipline and corruption were a latent problem which pre-
vented real changes from taking place. This could not be changed by
the fact that the Beijing government was attempting to raise the pres-
tige of the armed forces and the social status of its members, something
which was, nevertheless, quite successful according to observers at the
time.18 As such, Britain took a relatively sceptical stance on China’s at-
tempts at military reforms and continued to consider China a country
which would find it very difficult to defend its territorial integrity in
the event of conflict with any of the Great Powers. Such a course of
events, however, would undoubtedly run counter to Britain’s interests,
and as such was vigilantly monitored.

One of the key issues in China’s domestic policy which Britain mon-
itored was, of course, the situation in the imperial court, which had a
significant effect on the further direction of the Middle Kingdom. Ev-
idently the most significant event in this regard was the almost simul-
taneous death of the Guangxu Emperor (14 November 1908) and the
Empress Dowager Cixi (15 November 1908). Although modern histori-
ans and the media speculate intensely that the Guangxu was probably
17 TNA, FO 405/201, Annual Report, 1910, pp. 75–76, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, March

5, 1911.
18 E. S. K. FUNG, Military Subversion in the Chinese Revolution of 1911, in: Modern

Asian Studies, 9, 1, 1971, p. 105.
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poisoned,19 and even in Beijing at the time there was much wild spec-
ulation worrying the public and foreign diplomats, in the end the fact
these deaths were almost simultaneous was said to be merely a coinci-
dence.20 In his report for the Foreign Office, Jordan rebutted any spec-
ulation and attributed the death of both major figures to poor health.
His unwillingness to countenance the possibility that the Guangxu was
murdered was likely a result of the fact that he was a critic of his role
during the course of the Hundred Days Reform in 1898,21 about which
he had said that the weak emperor had fallen victim to a group of
dreamers who called themselves reformers without having the capa-
bility of effectively changing anything.22 In this context, it is thus no
surprise that Jordan was a greater defender of Cixi’s policies, and ap-
proved of her choice of heir, who became the child Emperor Xuantong
(Puyi), for whom his father, Prince Chun, was to govern as Regent.

Despite the fact that the sudden death of the ageing Cixi repre-
sented a massive change in the balance of powers in the imperial court,
where the Manchu faction and the Chinese stood in opposition to each
other, Jordan rejected the idea that the death of such a prominent fig-
ure who had formulated Chinese policies in prior decades could lead
to a coup attempt. He even claimed that the rival sides were aware of
the seriousness of the situation and peace had reigned between them
for a time. According to Jordan, however, it would depend on what
influences the young emperor would be given during his upbringing
and he hoped that Prince Chun would manage to break the power and
influence of the eunuchs in the imperial court.23 In any case, it can be
19 http://www.danwei.org/front_page_of_the_day/kindergarden.php

[2015-09-25].
20 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 2, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
21 A paradox here is that during this short episode in Chinese history when one

of the most serious attempts at restricting Cixi’s power occurred, and after the
subsequent counter strike, a number of members of China’s reform wing sought
protection in Great Britain. TWITCHETT – FAIRBANK, pp. 346–347.

22 Ibidem.
23 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 3, Jordan to
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said that the foreign community perceived the accession of the child
emperor and his young Regent (Chun was 25 years old) as a funda-
mental watershed in Chinese history. The Regent’s reformist opinions
and also the fact that he was one of the few high imperial representa-
tives who had visited a Western country (in 1900 he had become the
first member of the Qing Dynasty to travel to Europe when he had vis-
ited Germany in order to offer the Emperor’s apology for the death
of German diplomat Clemens von Ketteler in Beijing during the Boxer
Rebellion) aroused great hope.24 These initial hopes, however, were
gradually dashed. Chun proved to be too weak a politician, and in
early 1910 Jordan could only say that, “while giving him credit for good
intentions, all are agreed in regarding him as a weak and rather obstinate man
who places little trust in responsible Ministers, and is inclined to be guided too
much by the views of his brothers and other inexperienced advisors”.25 The in-
fluence of the eunuchs, which had appeared to briefly wane after Cixi’s
death, was restored as a result of Chun’s weakness. In this regard, ob-
servers compared the Regent to the late Guangxu Emperor, hailing in-
stead Prince Tsai Tao and Prince Tsai Hsün, who headed China’s armed
forces.

To at least briefly summarise another domestic policy issue which
foreign observers monitored in China, this was undoubtedly the tem-
porary fall of one of the most important Chinese politicians and sol-
diers, Yuan Shikai, who was suddenly relieved from all his posts at
the start of 1909. This figure, one of the leading representatives of re-
forming forces in the country, was particularly popular amongst for-
eign observers. On the other hand, however, he had a number of en-
emies who were able to take advantage of tremors in Yuan’s powers
after Cixi’s death to remove him from office, which overturned a cer-
tain balance in the capital city in favour of the Manchu.26 Yuan Shikai

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
24 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, pp. 1–2, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
25 Ibidem, p. 2, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
26 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 4, Jordan to
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himself was to remain in enforced exile for more than two years. Except
for this event, foreign observers stated that a surprising calm reigned
in China.27 Few realised, however, that discontent was rising within
Chinese society which would grow into an open uprising against the
Beijing court two years later, and a revolution which would end the
almost quarter-millennia rule of the Qing Dynasty. In 1909, however,
the reports of foreign observers contain little warning of such a course
of events.

Foreign Policy

As was indicated in the introduction to this study, Great Britain was
facing increasing competition from other powers beginning in the
1870s which (to a greater extent from the 1890s) were endeavouring
to acquire their own spheres of influence in the Middle Kingdom. As
such, Great Britain had to promote its interests much more cautiously,
and carefully monitor the steps taken by other powers. At the same
time, it had to deal with a number of major problems in its relations
with China, which affected its status in the Far East and its relations
with other powers.

One of the fundamental problems in Britain’s relations with China
was undoubtedly opium imports, which had increased dramatically
since Britain’s victory in the Opium Wars. Indian-grown opium had
literally flooded the Chinese market and acquired millions of users
throughout China, which is just further proof of the deep demorali-
sation of the whole of Chinese society, which had only with great dif-
ficulty come to terms with the internal convulsions and foreign pres-
sure which had taken away the illusions the Chinese had of their po-
litical and cultural dominance over foreign “barbarians”. According to
contemporary estimates, around 1900 there were roughly 40 million

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
27 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 3, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
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opium smokers in China, at least 15 million of whom were addicted to
the drug.28

Although beginning in the 1880s, growth in the importance of
British (specifically Indian) opium to China fell gradually, this trend
was not the result of falling opium demand, but rather the fact that
many domestic agricultural producers had refocused on growing pop-
pies and producing the drug. This fact then allowed British opium
importers to use the argument against their opponents and moral crit-
ics from the Society for the Suppression of the Opium Trade founded
in 187429 that restricting opium imports from India would solve noth-
ing if the Chinese government did not actively participate in the fight
against the drug. Politicians and many public figures in the USA were
very active in their opposition to the opium trade, and the USA became
the world leader in the fight against the opium trade at the beginning
of the 20th century. The new Liberal government in Britain headed by
Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman took on an increasingly critical stance
to the opium trade, with Campbell-Bannerman telling Beijing that if it
actively attempted to suppress domestic opium production, then the
London government would ensure imports to China were restricted.30

The outcome of these British endeavours was an edict issued by
the Guangxu Emperor on 1 November 1906 which prohibited the con-
sumption of opium. The Chinese authorities were aware, however,
that the idea such an edict could lead to a reduction in consumption
was naïve if it was not accompanied by radical measures. As such, it
ordered major restrictions to poppy cultivation, which was only now
to be permitted if the owner of the field received special confirmation
issued by the state authorities. On land where (at least hypothetically)
28 FAIRBANK, p. 270.
29 For more on their activities, see J. LOVELL, The Opium War, London 2012, pp.

271–274; for more on the fight against opium imports and especially the USA’s
actions in this matter, see H. WRIGHT, The International Opium Commission, in:
The American Journal of International Law, 3, 3, 1909, pp. 668–673.

30 R. BICKERS, The Scramble for China. The Foreign Devils in the Qing Empire 1832–
1914, London – New York – Toronto 2012, p. 358.
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poppies were not to be grown, other crops were to be planted. The
Qing government planned to go down this route to ensure a major fall
in domestic opium production. In order to be able to control the num-
ber of opium users, the Guangxu Emperor’s decree also ensured that
all opium users were required to report to local authorities which were
to issue them with permits for it purchase. Anyone not holding such a
permit caught using opium was to be harshly punished.31 In this way,
the numbers of opium smokers was to be monitored, and any further
increase in the number of consumers was to be prevented.

If, however, the imperial court was serious in wanting to restrict
opium consumption, it had to achieve an agreement with Britain re-
garding reducing Indian opium imports to China. This led to a treaty
with India’s government at the end of 1907. In this, India’s British ad-
ministration promised that over the following three years it would sig-
nificantly (by 10 % each year) reduce the export of Indian opium to
China in exchange for a promise from China that it would ensure pro-
portionate and adequate restrictions in domestic production, and re-
strict opium imports from Persia and other countries of the Near and
Middle East.32 Each point in the agreement came into force over the
course of 1908, when the British authorities in China reduced the num-
ber of licences for importing opium to China. China’s government then
unilaterally restricted imports from Persia and the Ottoman Empire,
as these countries did not have any unequal treaties concluded with
China and thus China’s government was able to regulate trade with
them.33 These attempts at restricting opium imports to China reached
a kind of culmination during a meeting of the International Opium
Commission in Shanghai in 1909 presided by Bishop Charles Henry
Brent of America’s Episcopal Church. The purpose of the meeting was
31 A. BAUMLER, Modern China and Opium, Ann Arbor 2001, p. 67.
32 TNA, FO 371/414, General Report on Opium, Beijing, January 11, 1908; compare

with TNA, FO 881/9229, General Report on China for the year 1907, p. 7, Jordan
to Grey, Beijing, February 27, 1908.

33 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 5, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
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to prepare a recommendation which would serve for further interna-
tional meetings as a model for suppressing the opium trade. Although
Britain more or less acknowledged this development, Ambassador Jor-
dan did make it clear that he considered the issue of opium imports to
China above all a matter of Anglo-Chinese relations.34

This British diplomatic stance was undoubtedly the result of a num-
ber of complaints by British traders who complained that restricting
opium imports to China was a breach of contractual relations. Accord-
ing to Jordan, however, it was Britain’s moral duty to help the Chinese
government in suppressing the use of the drug, and as such he more
or less ignored the calls of British opium importers to lodge an offi-
cial protest with the Chinese government over its restriction. As such,
Jordan essentially restricted Britain to merely checking China was ob-
serving prior agreements, and ensuring Chinese opium producers did
not acquire a monopoly in the distribution of opium in the country af-
ter the restrictions to its import, something which would essentially
negate any kind of endeavour to improve the situation regarding the
trade and use of opium.35 As such, in 1910, Sir Alexander Hosie was
sent on a mission to China in order to assess the current situation and
to determine whether the various points of prior agreements were be-
ing observed. The outcome of his research was more than satisfac-
tory. After travelling through most areas containing domestic opium
producers, Hosie could state that the overall fall in domestic produc-
tion was of the order of 30 %.36 In terms of the fight against opium
use, this represented an extraordinary success for a British policy over
just a three year period. At the same time, since the beginning of the
20th century, this serious problem had been brought to the attention
not just of the public the world over, who expressed their opposition to

34 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 7, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.

35 Ibidem, p. 8, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
36 TNA, FO 881/9867, General Report on China for the year 1910, p. 17, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 5, 1911.
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the continuation of the practice, but also of the Chinese authorities and
scholars.

Over the course of 1909 and 1910, the issue of opium consump-
tion became a common subject of discussion in Chinese newspapers
and at China’s provincial assemblies. This resulted in growing calls
on the government to ban completely the smoking and cultivation of
opium as soon as possible (ideally by 1911). In order that the use of
opium could be further restricted, the Chinese government was to ne-
gotiate with the foreigners to get a promise that opium imports would
be stopped. In provinces were opium cultivation had been eradicated,
imports of the drug were to be completely banned.37 Britain took a
rather reserved and cautious position to the proposals; in any case, the
British government’s endeavours to restrict opium imports to China
had met with indisputable success. While at the start of the period
looked at, 10–15 % of culti-vated land was devoted to opium, this share
had fallen to around 2–5 % by 1914.38

The culmination of this policy supported by other powers was sig-
nature of the International Opium Convention on 23 January 1912,
which was to secure international oversight over opium imports to
China.39 The fall of the Qing Dynasty and subsequent period of chaos
and civil wars, however, reversed this hopeful course. Many local
provincial rulers resorted to growing and distributing opium in sub-
sequent years in order to increase their income so they could purchase
weapons. This new growth in domestic production then led to im-
ports also growing again, since foreign opium producers were able to
argue that China was not observing the agreement which was used
as a basis for import restrictions. As such, despite the endeavours of
British diplomacy, opium became one of the key issues in China’s his-
tory right up to the mid-20th century. Proof of just how strong-rooted
opium use in China was is the fact that even after the new fight against
37 Ibidem, p. 22, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, March 5, 1911.
38 TWITCHETT – FAIRBANK, p. 8.
39 http://www.worldlii.org/int/other/LNTSer/1922/29.html [2015-09-30].
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opium in the 1930s led by the Kuomintang party, there were incidents
at many places in China during which local producers and users tried
to prevent government officials from implementing anti-opium regula-
tions, despite the fact they could face the death penalty for doing so.40

Britain’s endeavours to restrict opium consumption at the beginning of
the 20th century was thus not to be fulfilled until much later.

Besides the issue of opium imports, Britain had to deal with a num-
ber of other problems. These included, for example, Tibet, to which a
British expedition set out in 1903–1904 due to fears (which it should
be noted were exaggerated), of Russian influence in the country and
because of disputes over the Tibet-Burma border.41 In 1908, the British
government’s main interest regarding Tibet was to conclude an agree-
ment on regulating Tibetan trade which was to help Britain penetrate
this remote region economically. It was originally anticipated that the
agreement would be signed during the course of 1907, but as Jordan
bemoaned, delays in discussing the issue were the result of China’s
initial unwillingness to accept the proposals of India’s British admin-
istration.42 In the end, however, China had to give in, and the agree-
ment was signed on 20 April 1908 to apply for ten years. It guaran-
teed British traders free access to the country and the right to trade
anywhere within Tibetan territory.43 Despite this securing of British
interests, however, London was concerned by rumours of a planned
Chinese invasion which, according to available information, was to se-
cure Chinese control over Tibet.44 Despite these fears, it was absolutely
40 LOVELL, p. 308.
41 For more on Britain’s expedition see C. ALLEN, Duel in the Snows. The True Story

of the Young-husband Mission to Lhasa, New York 2004.
42 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 8, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909; compare with TNA, FO 371/408, India Office to
Foreign Office, January 2, 1908.

43 FO 371/412, Wilton to Indian Office, Culcutta, April 23, 1908; compare with C.
BELL, Tibet Past and Present, Delhi 2000, p. 296.

44 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 9, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
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clear that Tibet fell within Britain’s sphere of interests and fears of pos-
sible control of the territory by another power which were a motivation
for the prior British invasion, fell completely by the wayside.

Jordan had to deal with a whole range of partial problems in re-
gard to other major foreign policy issues which arose from Britain’s
economic rights and the operation of British companies within Chinese
territory. Some examples here would be the case of the Anhui Mining
Company or the Kiangpei Ting Coal and Iron Company, which came
up against resistance from Chinese authorities and local opposition, re-
sulting in major losses for both companies, which had to be recovered
from the Chinese government as compensation.45 These cases make
it clear that British companies could only operate in China with the
support of their government, the only institution able to enforce their
interests in the event of any conflict. As such, dealing with such prob-
lems was quite a common task for the British legation in Beijing. In
terms of China’s foreign policy, however, another issue of undoubted
importance for London was the status of the other powers in the Mid-
dle Kingdom. As such, Jordan carefully monitored their relations with
China.

Fairly significant interest was paid in London to the arrival of Japan
in China, its victory in the Russo-Japanese War giving it major interests
in northern China from whose hands it definitively took any kind of
influence over Korean affairs. It is clearly for this reason that relations
between Tokyo and Beijing were markedly tense. China did not ap-
preciate the growing influence of its Asian neighbour in Manchuria,
which had further taken on a certain kind of paternalistic position to-
wards Beijing with Japan’s Foreign Minister, Count Hayashi, recom-
mending China avoid Korea’s fate and rather “set her house in order”.46

The Japanese minister, however, was just fanning the flames with such
statements, as at the same time there were disputes between both states
45 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, pp. 9–12, Jordan

to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
46 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 17, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
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over the railway in southern Manchuria, and the scandal over Japan’s
Tatsu Maru ship which had been seized by the Chinese authorities in
Canton for apparently smuggling weapons in February 1908. This re-
sulted in a major Japanese protest which then triggered a retaliatory
boycott of Japanese products in southern Chinese cities. The first half
of 1908 was thus marked by ever-worsening Sino-Japanese relations,
which didn’t even improve after Hayashi’s removal from his minis-
terial post and the attempts of his successors, Terauchi Masatake and
Komura Jutaro, to improve relations between China and Japan. Jordan,
however, in regard to this attempt merely drily observed: “but in spite
of these demonstrations of friendliness Japan has still the misfortune to be re-
garded with suspicion by China, and it is a strange irony of fate, that the only
nation in the East which has succeeded in working out its own salvation on
modern lines should win the admiration of the Western Powers and fail to gain
the confidence and respect of its neighbours in the East”.47 Not even 1909
saw a more fundamental change. Japan and China found themselves
in protracted disputes over Japanese demands for concessions which
Tokyo was meant to receive on the basis of the Portsmouth peace treaty
which had ended the Russo-Japanese War.48 Japan was furthermore a
British ally, and in this regard was not a greater threat to Britain, al-
though Britain kept a very close eye on Japan’s infiltration of northern
China.

Another of the powers engaged in northern China, specifically
Manchuria – Russia – was notably weakened through its defeat in its
war with Japan, and its influence in China was markedly reduced. Sub-
sequently to 1907, when Russia concluded a convention with Japan
guaranteeing the status quo in the Far East, St Petersburg’s influence
was essentially limited to northern Manchuria where, as Jordan noted,
neither Great Britain nor its subjects had major interests.49 As such,
47 Ibidem.
48 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, pp. 20–26, Jordan

to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
49 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 21, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
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Britain decided more or less not to interfere in Russo-Chinese disputes
over concessions in Russia’s spheres of influence and was basically sat-
isfied with the clear weakening of Russia’s position in the Far East
which was expressed, for example, in the fact that in attempting to
push through its railway concession in northern Manchuria, St Peters-
burg had to rely on support from Tokyo.50 Japan at least to begin with,
however, came into conflict with Russia in regard to Russia’s railway
projects, fearing they could serve as a cover for future Russian expan-
sion, as had been the case before the Russo-Japanese War.51 However,
since it was mainly British companies which were to be involved in the
construction of the railways in northern China, adding the know-how
and funding needed, Japan’s resistance met with their protests. On
the other hand, it should be noted that in order to maintain good re-
lations, Britain tried to accommodate Tokyo and blocked a number of
Russian proposals.52 As such, subsequent to 1905 Russia did not rep-
resent a major threat for Britain in China, which can be demonstrated
by the fact that the volume of Russian trade with China did not even
reach half a percent of Britain’s trade with the Middle Kingdom (when
British colonies and other dependent territories are included).

Of the other Great Powers, Great Britain paid great attention to
France, which was continuously strengthening its sphere of influence
in southern China, something it was significantly aided in by the ac-
quisition of the territory of Guangzhouwan in 1898, and concession for
building the railway from Kunming to Haiphong in Indochina which
was implemented from 1904 to 1910.53 It was in 1908 that the French ac-
quired a pretext for increasing its pressure on China. At the beginning
50 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 29, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
51 TNA, FO 371/410, Memorandum on the Japanese Government’s Protest against

Construction of the Northern Railways, January 8, 1908.
52 TNA, FO 371/410, Memorandum of the Pauling Company Limited, February 4,

1908.
53 For more, see J. F. ROUSSEAU, An Imperial Railway Failure. The Indochina-

Yunnan Railway, 1898–1941, in: Journal of Transport History, 35, 1, 2014, pp. 1–17.
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of that year, a group of Chinese rebels (referred to in documents as rev-
olutionaries) crossed the border between China and Vietnam. When
an officer of the local French garrison tried to apprehend them, he
was killed in the subsequent skirmish. France immediately demanded
intervention by the Chinese authorities against the rebels operating
across the border between China and Vietnam. They also demanded
compensation for the family of the officer killed, and punishment of
the guilty parties. At the same time, however, they also demanded
the removal of the governor of Yunnan Province and an expansion of
its railway concessions, which would significantly increase French in-
fluence and economic penetration in southern China. Although the
French government failed in this regard, it did force Beijing to make
a monthly payment of 4,500 taels which was to be used to protect the
French involved in railway construction.54 In general, however, French
engagement in China can be said to be mostly unsuccessful. French in-
terests remained limited to just southern China, and Jordan often stated
that it was a great problem for French representatives in Beijing to en-
force the fulfilment of the agreements which France demanded from
China. As such, French engagement in China over the period looked
at did not represent a major threat to Great Britain’s interests.55

German penetration of China represented a much more serious po-
tential for danger for Britain. Jordan had noticed that despite a range
of incidents and Germany’s particularly aggressive position over the
course of the Boxer Rebellion, German policy had proven able to ad-
just well to local conditions. In order to correct the poor reputation
it had acquired at the turn of the 19th and 20th centuries, Berlin be-
gan an era of a conciliatory policy towards China. In contrast to other
powers, it did not force any agreements upon China with the threat
of force. Instead, Germany favoured a patient policy of small steps,
which enabled Germany “in large part to rehabilitate her good name, and
54 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 22, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.
55 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 36, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
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has greatly strengthened her chance of participating in the economic devel-
opment of China”.56 Furthermore, Germany was able to very success-
fully take advantage of the weaknesses of its rivals. Britain was in
a certain manner at a disadvantage because China often linked it to
its support for Japanese expansionism, while France was often linked
with attempts a expanding the operations of its Catholic missionaries.
These facts allowed Germany to acquire a range of railway and mining
concessions in the province of Shandong.57

On the other hand, however, Germany was not strong enough to
promote its interests with the Chinese government alone. As such,
Berlin had no choice but to find a strong partner which could open
China’s door to it. As a result, Germany co-operated with Britain, the
only country with sufficient influence to be able to help Germany pro-
mote its interests, in exchange for specific compromises and the option
for British companies to participate in German projects. German en-
voy in Beijing, Arthur von Rex, complained numerous times that this
dependency damaged German interests, because they were dependent
on British consent on the basis of British terms being met.58 A certain
threat not just for German, but undoubtedly also British, interests, was
an ever-strengthening movement in China at the time whose objective
was the national construction of their own railway lines, which would
then be in the hands of Chinese companies instead of foreigners.59 On
the other hand, this trend allowed Britain (and Germany) to finance
such attempts through loans.60

56 TNA, FO 881/9466, General Report on China for the year 1908, p. 23, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, March 26, 1909.

57 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 35, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.

58 L. NOVOTNÝ, Great Britain, Germany, and the Selected Railway Problems in
China 1907–1908, in: Prague Papers on the History of International Relations, 2, 2014,
p. 101.

59 A. SKŘIVAN, Výstavba železniční sítě v Číně do světové hospodářské krize, in:
Acta universitatis Carolinae – Philosophica et Historica, 1, 1974, pp. 15–18.

60 Following the fall of the Qing Dynasty however, there had to be an extensive
reorganisation of Chinese loans. K. C. CHAN, British Policy in the Reorganization
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In regard to relations between Germany and Britain in China, we
should also note the issue of the withdrawal of the Great Powers’ mili-
tary contingents from China after the Boxer Rebellion, something keen-
ly monitored by Britain. In March 1909, Jordan was able to state with
satisfaction that 600 German soldiers had left northern China and re-
turned to Germany. As such, just 159 German soldiers remained in
the area, 120 of whom were based in Beijing, and 39 in Tianjin. He
did warn, however, that Germany had about 2,000 soldiers in Qing-
dao.61 Nevertheless, Britain did not perceive Germany’s engagements
as a threat in terms of power. Its economic policy was, however, crit-
icised, Jordan terming it speculative and reckless.62 He particularly
criticised the fact that German companies were selling goods using a
large loan provided by German banks. Although Jordan claimed that
this policy could bring a certain success, it would lead to German com-
panies making huge losses in the event of unsuccessful trading, and
only contributed to the high level of corruption amongst China’s state
administration representatives.63

In contrast to Great Britain and the other powers, the USA had al-
ways endeavoured to play the role of “friend of the Chinese people”
and essentially did not get involved in most of the core disputes. Its
interest was purely economic, and only exceptionally did America get
involved in the internal affairs of the Middle Kingdom. In 1909 how-
ever, this traditional position underwent a huge change with the arrival
of the Taft administration. William Howard Taft in 1901–1903 had held
the post of Governor of the Philippines, and this had given him a clear

Loan to China 1912–13, in: Modern Asian Studies, 5, 4, 1971, pp. 355–372; for more
on the British loans to China over the period in question, see I. PHIMINSTER,
Foreign Devils, Finance and Informal Empire. Britain and China c. 1900–1912, in:
Modern Asian Studies, 40, 3, 2006, pp. 737–759.

61 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 35, Jordan to
Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.

62 Ibidem.
63 TNA, FO 881/9657, General Report on China for the year 1909, p. 36, Jordan to

Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
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idea of the situation in the Far East and he was convinced that the USA
had to practise a much more active foreign policy. This was one of the
reasons he removed envoy William Woodwill Rockhill from Beijing at
the end of 1909, replacing him with William James Calhoun, who just
ten days after taking office (21st December 1909) publicly announced
that the USA was ready to take up concession entitlements from prior
treaties.64 This fact made Britain markedly wary, as a large American
engagement in China could lead to disturbance of the current balance
of power, something which could have a negative impact on British
trade. On the other hand, however, Jordan also saw a number of ad-
vantages, since America’s aggressive attempt at acquiring a share in
railway concessions in northern China was causing significant worry
in Tokyo. As such, Jordan predicted that an active American policy
in China could also have positive consequences for Britain. On the
one hand, it could strengthen Anglo-Japanese relations and it would
also force Tokyo and St Petersburg to definitively put their past squab-
bles to bed, removing one of the potential sources of conflict in the
Far East. The aggressive American policy also damaged Washington’s
long-enforced “open door” policy, and Jordan expressed the hope that
“the policy of United States will, with further experience, gradually assume
a more practical character”.65 Under this situation, there was thus no
need to be particularly worried about the USA’s greater engagement in
China.

Conclusion

It can generally be said that following the turbulent period of the 1890s
and the first five years of the first decade of the 20th century, it appeared
that the situation in China had at least in part become calmer. Great
Britain had no need in this period to deal with any major crises and
could thus focus on intensifying its economic penetration of the Mid-
dle Kingdom. Although its representatives monitored the domestic
64 Ibidem, p. 30, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
65 Ibidem, p. 32–33, Jordan to Grey, Beijing, January 30, 1910.
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situation in China, unless British interests were under threat they left
events to take their course and did not interfere too much in them.
The same applied more or less to Britain’s relations with other powers.
Although Britain monitored its rivals, it did not get into any major dis-
pute with any of the Great Powers over the period looked at. Although
Britain was concerned by Germany’s penetration into China, on the
other hand it was beneficial for British traders to collaborate with Ger-
mans on a whole range of projects, something British diplomacy also
adapted to. The same more or less applied to the activation of Amer-
ican policy, although this course was not considered a major threat –
in fact, it even appeared to London that the USA abandoning its pre-
vious “open door” practice and favouring more traditional forms of
economic penetration and expanding its power in China could have
a number of benefits for Britain. The only possible threat to British
interests thus could come from within China itself. As such, Britain
monitored the course of Chinese reforms which although occasionally
were hopeful, were more often than not disappointing, such as was
the case in regard to Prince Chun’s policies. The weak Chinese gov-
ernment, the inability of the Qing Dynasty to enforce and undertake
adequate reforms and growing unrest in China led just two years later
to a complete transformation of the situation in the Far East. The years
1908 to 1909 should thus be considered a rare period in China’s situ-
ation at the turn of the 19th and 20th centuries – these were two years
which ran their course in relative calm and allowed Britain to pene-
trate China economically in a peaceful manner. This did not apply in
the subsequent period, however, which brought a number of convul-
sions which transformed not only China’s domestic situation, but also
the status of Great Britain in the Far East. The described period can,
despite the fierce competition Britain was facing, thus be considered to
be one of the pinnacles of British influence in China.

Abstract

At the beginning of the 20th century Great Britain had to guard its interests in China

against the competition of other Great Powers. The British diplomacy therefore payed
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close attention to the internal situation in China. It focused mainly on the enforce-

ment of its economic (especially trade) interests and maintaining its concessions in

China. In order to accomplish these tasks, the British diplomats followed closely the

internal situation in China – especially its efforts to reform its government, military

or law. They also payed close attention to the relation of China towards other Great

Powers and their influence in the Middle Kingdom. Great Britain also had to solve

several important problems in its own relations with China. The most important of

these was the question of the opium trade and the effort of the Chinese government

to supperss its consumption. China was able to accomplish this important task only

with the help of Great Britain.

Keywords

Great Britain; China; USA; Economy; International Relations; Trade; Military; Opium
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Kosovo during the Balkan Wars and World War I,
1912–1918

In 1912, Serbia, Montenegro, Bulgaria and Greece allied against the Ot-
toman Empire. This alliance of four countries defeated the Turks in
the First Balkan War (1912–1913).1 In the London Peace Treaty, which
concluded the war and was signed on May 30, 1913, the Ottoman Em-
pire lost almost all of its European territories. The London Peace Treaty
1 E. NIEDERHAUSER, A két Balkán-háború és előzményei, in: T. KRAUSZ (ed.),

A Balkán-háborúk és a nagyhatalmak Rigómezőtől Koszovóig, Politikatörténeti Füzetek
XIII, Budapest 1999, pp. 11–22.
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dictated on the status of the regions liberated from Turkish rule. An im-
portant element of the territorial revision was that the Ottoman Empire
conceded to the birth of independent Albania.2 However, this brought
up the question: What territories should the Albanian state consist of?

Albanian nationalists intended to create a Greater Albania that in-
cluded all the regions where Albanians lived in majority. Due to the
opposing intentions of Serbs, Montenegrins and Greeks, which were
supported by the great powers as well, a much smaller Albania was
created in 1913. The area of the sovereign Albanian state was 27,500
km2, where 800 thousand Albanians lived. A large part of the Albanian
nation, around 700–800 thousand people, lived within other states. The
territorial arrangements had the following regions with Albanian ma-
jority belong to other states:3

1. The territory of Kosovo was annexed to the Kingdom of Serbia.
This action was made in spite of the fact that the former vilayet
of Kosovo definitely had Albanian majority at the time.4

2. Montenegro gained two Albanian strips of land (the region of
Ulic, West of lake Shkodra, and the region of Plav, North-West
of lake Shkodra)

3. South-Epirus (aka Chameria) was annexed to Greece.

When the Second Balkan War (June 1913 – July 1913), incited by Bul-
garia, was ended by the peace of Bucharest (August 1913), the above
territorial status quo was not changed. Thus Albanian-majority Koso-
vo remained within the borders of the Serbian state.

However, the political elite of the Kingdom of Serbia did not have
time to integrate Kosovo, as World War I started in July 1914. By the
end of 1915, the territory of the Serbian state had been occupied, on the
one hand, by the army of the Austro-Hungarian Empire, and by the
2 Gy. RÉTI, Albánia sorsfordulói, Budapest 2000, pp. 39–41.
3 L. PÁNDI, Köztes-Európa. Térképgyűjtemény, Budapest 1995, pp. 228–229.
4 J. JUHÁSZ, Volt egyszer egy Jugoszlávia, Budapest 1999, p. 13.
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Bulgarian army on the other hand. The Serbian government and the
remnants of Serbian forces fled to the isle of Corfu. In the next three
years, the Kingdom of Serbia, Kosovo included, was under Austro-
Hungarian and Bulgarian occupation. Consisting of mostly French and
Serb troops, the British Balkan army liberated the territory of the Ser-
bian state as late as the end of September, 1918.

During October and November in 1918, South Slavic politicians
(Serbs, Croats, Slovenes, Montenegrins) had multiple negotiations on
the creation of a South Slavic state.5 These resulted in the proclama-
tion of the formation of the so-called Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and
Slovenes on December 1, 1918, in Belgrade.

Albania’s provisional government, in agreement with the Albanian
politicians in Kosovo, adopted the view in 1918–1919 that Kosovo must
belong to the Albanian state.6 But this Albanian demand was ignored
by the Serbs (and the victorious Entente powers, of course), and Koso-
vo became part of the newly formed Kingdom of SCS.7

Within the Yugoslavian State

The relation between the Serb political elite leading the Yugoslavian
state and the Albanians living in Kosovo was obviously hostile
throughout the whole existence of the first Yugoslavian state. Albani-
ans did not want to integrate into the Yugoslavian state. They believed
that Kosovo should belong to Albania. They were perfectly aware that
Kosovo had not been able to join Albania in 1913–1914 and 1918–1919
because the Serbs prevented it.

In parallel, Serbians regarded the Albanians of Kosovo as a for-
eign body within the Yugoslavian state. In their view, Albanians had
5 L. GULYÁS, Délszláv erőközpontok államszervezési koncepcióinak küzdelme

1914–1918, in: Mediterrán és Balkán Fórum, 4, 2008, pp. 12–21.
6 R. GYÉMÁNT – P. TIBOR, A Koszovói Köztársaság Európa legfiatalabb állam. A Pólay

Elemér Ala-pítvány Tansegédletei, SZTE-ÁJTK, Szeged 2008, p. 52.
7 M. KITANICS, Az albán történelem mérföldkövei – a kezdetektől a bipoláris világ szét-

hullásáig. Balkán Füzetek – Pécs 2011, p. 25.
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settled in Kosovo, an ancient Serbian land, during the Turkish reign.
In accordance with this stand-point, the Serbian political elite leading
the Yugoslavian state took measures against the Albanians of Kosovo
in every field of the political-economic life. Such activities of the Serbs
can be described under the following categories:

1. the issue of regional administration

2. the topic of minority rights

3. the field of economics, especially agriculture.

Let us examine what happened in the above three fields in Kosovo
between 1918 and 1941.

Regional Administration

With his decree of January 1919, King Alexander divided the coun-
try into eight provinces (Serbia, Montenegro, Vojvodina, Macedonia,
Bosnia–Herzegovina, Dalmatia, Croatia and Slovenia). As it is seen in
the list, Kosovo did not receive provincial status on its own.8 The rea-
son is that Belgrade assigned the area, being a Serbian land of old, to
the province of Serbia. Belgrade handled Kosovo together with Mace-
donia, usually referring to these regions as South Serbia.

On June 28, 1921, St Vitus’ feast day, the Yugoslavian parliament
voted the first constitution of the state, known as the Vidovdan con-
stitution.9 With a centralistic move, it abolished the eight historical
provinces and instead the law decree of April 26, 1922 created 33 dis-
tricts (counties) (see Table 1 and Map 1).

8 L. GULYÁS, Két régió – Felvidék és Vajdaság – sorsa az Osztrák–Magyar Monarchiától
napjainkig, Budapest 2005, pp. 82–83.

9 E. SAJTI (ed.), Jugoszlávia 1918–1941. Dokumentumok, Szeged 1989, pp. 122–140.
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1 State border 2 Border of districts 3 Central of district

Map 1. The 33 districts (counties) 1922–1929
Source: The author’s compilation

Provinces 1919–1921 Districts 1922–1929

Serbia 12 districts Drina-mellék, Valjevó, Sumadija, Morava,
Požarevac, Timok, Niš, Vranje, Koszovó,
Raška, Utice, Kruslevac

Montenegro 1 district Zeta
Vojvodina 3 districts Bácska, Belgrád, Dunamellék
Macedonia 3 districts Skopje, Bregalnica, Bitola
Bosnia-Herzegovina 6 districts Tuzla, Szarajevo, Mostar, Travnik, Vrbas, Bihac
Dalmatia 2 districts Spilt, Dubrovnik
Croatia 4 districts Primorska-Krajina, Zágráb, Eszék, Szerém
Slovenia 2 districts Ljubjana, Maribor

Table 1. From provinces to districts
Source: The author’s compilation
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Through the abolishment of the historical provinces (Croatia was
divided into four districts or counties, Dalmatia into two, Slovenia also
into two), the Serb political elite wished to eliminate the possibility of
federalism or regionalism. To achieve this goal, Belgrade went as far as
dividing the province of Serbia into 12 districts.

As it can be seen from Table 1 and map 1, one of the 12 Serbian dis-
tricts was the district of Kosovo. Thus the Albanians in Kosovo lived
within the framework of a district from 1922 to 1929. The decree of
1922 gave municipal rights to districts, declaring that a county assem-
bly must be elected in each district and this official body has jurisdic-
tion in many local fields (healthcare, social issues, education). Theo-
retically, these events could have enabled the Albanians of Kosovo to
have a sort of municipal self-governance within the Yugoslavian state.

However, the decree of April 26, 1922 also dictated that a “grand
zupan”, commissioned by the king, is in charge of each of the districts,
controlling district administration through state official bodies. This
includes supervising the operation of the county assembly. The budget
of the districts depended on the government in Belgrade, and county
assembly could be done away with through royal decree.10

On the one hand, the decree of April 1922 gave municipality to the
districts, but on the other hand, took it back for all practical purposes.
The fact that Belgrade did not think district municipal rights seriously
is well presented by that fact that the first county assembly elections
took place as late as 1927, five years after issuing the decree. In other
words, district municipalities could began their operation only in 1927.
Considering that King Alexander abolished the districts/counties in
1929, it is clear that district municipalities worked for only two years.
It is to be noted that the negative aspects of the April 1922 decree
affected each district with a large number of “non-Serb” population.
This means that districts with a significant Croat, Slovene, Bosnian and
Hungarian population suffered from the Serbian centralist measures as
much as Albanians did in the district of Kosovo.
10 L. BÍRÓ, A jugoszláv állam, História Könyvtár, Monográfiák, Budapest 2010, p. 126.
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The Serb political elite succeeded in centralising the Yugoslavian
state in the 1920s, but the other nations – “non-Serbs” – never accepted
this. Croat-Serb opposition was especially strong, as Croats were striv-
ing toward the federalisation of the Yugoslavian state and the auton-
omy of the Croatian territories. This resulted in a permanent political
crisis and instability within the parliament.11

In order to retain the functionality of state in the situation, King
Alexander declared dictatorship on January 6, 1929, the first move of
which was to rescind the Vidovdan constitution. King Alexander also
changed regional admin-istration as well, forming nine so-called ba-
nates, with the capital Belgrade becoming a separate, tenth adminis-
trative unit (see Map 2).

Map 2. Banates at 1929
Source: The author’s compilation

11 R. LAMPE, Yugoslavia as History. Twice there was a Country, Cambridge 1996, pp.
126–159.
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The borders of the banates were artificially created in order to have
a Serb majority in the banate, or at least to maximize Serb propor-
tion. Belgrade’s effort was successful, six of the nine banates, (Vrbas,
Danube, Drina, Zeta, Morava, Vardar) had Serb majority, two (Sava,
Littoral) had Croat, and one (Drava) had Slovene majority.

The district of Kosovo that existed in 1922–1929 became part of Var-
dar banate. As no statistics were done on the ethnical composition of
the banates, one can draw conclusions from the denominational pro-
portions. According to these, the banate of Vardar featured the follow-
ings:

1. 64.4 % of the populace was Orthodox Christian, these being Serbs
and Macedonians;

2. 37.1 % was Muslim. They were the Albanians, Bosnians and
Turks.

The next reform in the regional administration of the Yugoslavian
state took place on August 26, 1939. The Serb and Croat political elites
reconciled and signed the so-called “Sporazum” (i. e. Agreement).12

The Croats immediately started to establish the autonomous Croatian
Banate.13

The birth of the Croatian Banate encouraged the “non-Serb” nations
living within the borders of the Yugoslavian state. The Slovenes de-
manded autonomy similar to that of the Croats as early as August of
1939.14 On November 6, 1939, Muslims in Bosnia declared their de-
mand to create the Banate of Bosnia-Herzegovina. Montenegrins and
Macedonians had similar autonomy demands. The Albanians in Koso-
vo were not an exception.15

Belgrade was frustrated at these initiatives of autonomy, the farthest
the Serb political elite was willing to go was trialism, in other words,
12 L. GULYÁS, A Sporazum, avagy föderalista kísérlet a királyi Jugoszláviában 1939–

1941, in: Közép-Európai Közlemények, 4–5, 2009, pp. 80–86.
13 D. SOKCSEVITS, Horvátország története a 7. századtól, Budapest 2011, pp. 510–514.
14 D. SOKCSEVITS et al., Déli szomdszédaink története, Budapest 1994, p. 257.
15 N. MALCOM, Kosovo. A Short History, New York 1999, pp. 286–288.
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their last acceptable compromise was a Serb-Croat-Slovene trialism.16

However, they turned down any autonomy demands in the cases of
Bosnia-Herzegovina, Macedonia and Kosovo.

It is probable that the next years would have seen serious strug-
gles about the Bosnian (Muslim), Macedonian and Albanian auton-
omy efforts between Belgrade and the involved nations. This never
happened, though, as in April 1941, the Yugoslavian state had to enter
World War II and was disintegrated within a few weeks.

The Issue of Minority Rights

Due to pressure from Entente powers, the Yugoslavian state joined the
Versailles minority protection system on December 5, 1919, accepting
that it must grant minority rights for the minorities living in its ter-
ritory. However, Belgrade failed to fulfil this duty in the case of the
Albanians living in Kosovo.

The Serbian attitude about the issue of mother-tongue education
shows this quite clearly. Article 9 of the minority protection treaty de-
clared the right to native language education in the case of elementary
schools. But Belgrade did not grant these rights for the Albanians in
Kosovo.17 The Serbian reasoning was that this right applied only for
those inhabitants in minority who lived in territories that had become
parts of the Serbian state after World War I. As Kosovo had been part
of the Serbian state before World War I, thus the minority protection
agreements did not apply.18

The minister of education of the Yugoslavian government banned
the opening of new so-called Turkish schools (i. e. Islamic schools) in
September 1919, and they prohibited the operation of non-state schools
one year later. Meanwhile, new state schools were being built in Koso-
vo. According to our data, 487 new schools were opened until 1929.
Belgrade’s intention was obvious: to drive Albanian children into the
16 JUHÁSZ, pp. 67–68.
17 LAMPE, pp. 114–115.
18 BÍRÓ, p. 283.
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state schools, with only Serbian-language education. The Albanian
community, though, resisted the assimilation attempt. As the figures
show:19

1. Only 7655 Albanian pupils attended state schools in the academic
year of 1927–1928. These pupils were educated in Serbian lan-
guage.

2. In the school year of 1930–1931, 7–8 % of the elementary school
pupils had Albanian as mother tongue in Vardar banate, while
the proportion of Albanians was 28 % in this age group.

The question arises: where did Albanian children learn to read and
write? The Serbian state was not able to eliminate the so-called Turkish
schools in the 1920s. Starting new schools could be banned, but they
could not close the old ones. Such move could even have resulted in an
Albanian armed rebellion. Thus Albanian parents registered their chil-
dren into these schools. These schools, their exact name being sibiyan-
mekhbet, were originally established for the religious education of 5–7
year old children. But between the two world wars, the situation in
Kosovo was such that children could attend them up to their tenth
year of age. Most of the imams teaching in the sibiyan-mekhbet did
not speak Serbian, so the education was in Albanian. This is why in
the 1920s, Belgrade considered the operation of these schools adverse.

However, this Belgrade standpoint changed in the early 1930s. This
is well shown by the fact that the starting of 451 new mekhbet was
granted permission between 1931 and 1934 in the region of Vardar
banate.20 The explanation is that Belgrade realised that if they per-
mit the opening of new mekhbets (where Albanians can study in Al-
banian language), then this can be a justification for refusing the Al-
banian demand for Albanian-language education in the state schools.
Belgrade told the Albanians that whoever wants to learn in Albanian
language, they can attend the mekhbet, and whoever wants to attend
19 Ibidem.
20 Ibidem.
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state schools have to accept that the language of education is the state
language, which is Serbian.

The consequence was that, between 1918 and 1941, the Yugoslavian
state did not let the Albanians study in their native language in state
schools. In addition, the religious schools were able to educate only
a small fraction of the school-age population. As a result, 90 % of the
Albanian population that lived within the borders of the Yugoslavian
state was illiterate.21 This is a very high number, especially considering
that the Yugoslavian average was 44.6 % in 1931.22

The situation of Albanians was no better regarding the political
rights of minorities, either. The Albanian land-owner elite organised
their party Dzemijet (Association) in the early 1920s.23 This party as-
sumed a moderate standpoint, accepting that Kosovo is part of the Yu-
goslavian state, and they believed that the Albanian issue could be re-
solved through autonomy. But Belgrade was unwilling to grant auton-
omy to Kosovo, so the Džemijet was practically banned in 1925, as its
leaders were compelled to join the Serbian Radical Party.24

The move, however, only added fuel to the fire, the populace of
Kosovo turned toward the Kachak (meaning refugee or smuggler in
Albanian), a separatist movement waging perpetual guerrilla warfare
against Belgrade. Members of the Kachak movement organised armed
raiding parties and constantly harassed the military and officials of the
Serbian state, who were regarded as in-vaders. It must be noted here
that almost all official positions in the territory of Kosovo were held by
Serbs.

21 L. BÍRÓ, Koszovó Jugoszláviában, in: História, 2, 2007, p. 18.
22 J. ROTSCHILD, Jugoszlávia története a két világháború között, Studium Füzetek 4,

Szeged 1996, p. 100.
23 LAMPE, pp. 121–122.
24 JUHÁSZ, p. 51.
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Economic Aspects

The Yugoslavian state was created in 1918 from regions of differing
economic development level. These regions had huge differences re-
garding economy. Kosovo was the least economically developed re-
gion of Yugoslavia.25 The Yugoslavian state made no serious effort to
bring Kosovo up to standard. Only two greater state investments were
made between the two World Wars. In 1931, the railway line connect-
ing Serbia and Kosovo was constructed, while the 81-km-long Kosovo
Polje-Peć railway section, traversing Kosovo, was opened in 1936.

Agriculture must be addressed separately. After the proclamation
of the Kingdom of SCS (December 1, 1918), land reforms had started
almost immediately. Prince regent Alexander issued a manifesto on
January 6, 1919, stating that most of the large estates would be confis-
cated and distributed among South Slavic peasants. As the land reform
took place between 1920 and 1938, a total of 2,484,481 hectares of land
was distributed among 637,328 persons.26

In the distribution of lands, nationality was a markedly relevant fac-
tor. The vast majority of the confiscated land had been in the posses-
sion of “non-Serb” (German, Hungarian, Croatian, Turkish) landown-
ers, while the families who received lands were explicitly South Slavs
(primarily Serbs). In addition, Hungarian peasants in Vojvodina, just
as Albanian peasants in Kosovo, were excluded from the land distribu-
tion from the start.27

Belgrade closely connected the land reform with the so-called colo-
nisation policy. The Yugoslavian state had two regions where Serbs (or
South Slavs) did not have majority:

1. Vojvodina, where Hungarian and German minorities together
did have majority above the Serbs and

25 L. GULYÁS, Structural Problems Leading to the Dissolution of the First Yugoslav
State, in: Prague Papers on the History of International Relations, 2, 2012, pp. 87–98.

26 I. BODONYI, Idők szorításában. A magyar kisebbség helyzete a szomszédos országokban
1920 és 1933 között, Budapest 2002, p. 187.

27 L. GULYÁS, A királyi Jugoszlávia agrárreformja, különös tekintettel a Vajdaságra,
in: F. GYŐRI (ed.), A tudás szolgálatában, Szeged 2012, pp. 129–150.
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2. Kosovo, with Albanian majority.

It was these two territories whose ethnical picture Belgrade intend-
ed to change through colonisation. This proceeded as follows: To those
lands that were donated in the land reform, volunteers (dobrovoljac)
of Serbian nationality were settled. The dobrovoljac were politically
absolutely reliable Serb and Montenegrin veterans, having served in
the Balkan wars and/or World War I and they were donated lands for
their military service. According to our data, a total of 58–63 thousand
South Slav families (approximately 290–330 thousand people) moved
to a new location within the country. Of these, 17–20 thousand families
(circa 80–90 thousand people) received land in Kosovo.28

Due to the colonisation, and also taking the arriving Serb bureau-
crats and their families into consideration, Kosovo’s ethnical picture
had somewhat changed by the early 1930s.29 The proportion of Serbs
increased, while that of Albanians decreased (see Table 2).

Belgrade used the dobrovoljac who had been moved to Kosovo to
monitor and intimidate Albanians. The dobrovoljac complied will-
ingly. As a result, Albanians in Kosovo were involved in constant con-
flict with not only Belgrade, but with the Serbs in Kosovo as well.

Year Population Albanian Serb Other
capital % capital % capital %

1921 439,000 289,000 65.8 114,000 28.0 36,000 6.5

1931 552,000 337,272 61.0 178,848 32.4 35,880 6.5

Table 2. Kosovo’s ethnical proportion 1921–1931
Source: The author’s compilation

Disintegration of Yugoslavia and the Birth of Greater
Albania

After Yugoslavia proved to be an unreliable ally to Germany in the
spring of 1941, Hitler ordered its destruction. The campaign against
28 BÍRÓ, A jugoszláv állam, p. 218.
29 K. KOCSIS, Egy felrobbant etnikai mozaik, Budapest 1993, p. 18.
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Yugoslavia started on April 6, 1941. It took the German army and its
allies (Italians, Hungarians and Bulgarians) two weeks to destroy the
Yugoslavian state.30 Belgrade fell on April 12, 1941 and the Yugosla-
vian army capitulated on April 17. Meanwhile, on April 10, 1941, the
Ustashas proclaimed the Independent State of Croatia in Zagreb.31

The territorial changes brought by the military operations were con-
firmed at the German-Italian conference in Vienna on April 20–22,
1941.32 After some debate, Germany and Italy divided Yugoslavia’s
territory (see Map 3). The results of the Vienna conference can be sum-
marised as follows:

(a) Germany and Italy recognised the Independent State of Croatia
(ISC).33

(b) Under German control (occupation), the Serbian puppet state
was established.

(c) Crna-Gora (Montenegro) was put under Italian supervision (oc-
cupation).

(d) Slovenian territories were divided and annexed by Germany and
Italy, with an approximate proportion of 2/3–1/3. Germany took
over Northern Slovenia and Italy did so in Southern Slovenia.

(e) The Northern part of Dalmatia and the region of the Bay of Kotor
were annexed by Italy.

(f) Bulgaria was given the larger part of Macedonia (Vardar–Mace-
donia) and the Eastern Serbia territories (Caribrod, Bosiljgrad and

30 L. GULYÁS, Az első jugoszláv állam felbomlása. Államszerkezeti és etnikai
következmények 1941–1944, in: Mediterrán és Balkán Fórum, 1, 2013, pp. 24–35.

31 I. GOLDSTEIN, Croatia. A History, London 1999, pp. 131–134.
32 S. CORVAJA, Hitler és Mussolini. A titkos találkozók, Budapest 2001, pp. 235–236.
33 E. L. BENCZE, A regionalitás kérdőjelei Jugoszláviában, in: Politika – egyház –

mindennapok, Budapest 2009, pp. 299–321; E. L. BENCZE, Külső és belső határok
a Nyugat-Balkán regionális térfelosztásában, in: Közép-Európai Közlemények, 3–4,
2011, pp. 262–276.
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its vicinity) that had been taken from them in 1919 by the then
forming South Slavic state.

(g) Hungary was given back Muravidék, Muraköz and a part of Vo-
jvodina (Bácska and Drávaszög aka Baranja).

(h) Banat (Hungarian: Bánság) remained belonging to the Serbian
puppet state theoretically, but in practice became under German
military administration. The region was actually governed by the
local German minority.

(i) Circumstances led to the birth of Greater Albania.

1 Annexed to Germany (Slovenia and Banat) 2 Serbian puppet state under German
control (occupation) 3 Montenegro and Dalmatia under Italian supervision

(occupation) 4 Annexed to Hungary 5 Kosovo annexed to Italian occupied
Albania 6 Annexed to Bulgaria 7 Independent State of Croatia 8 Declaration

line between German and Italian zones.

Map 3. The partition of Yugoslavia at 1941
Source: The author’s compilation
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Due to the subject matter of this paper, the last entry of the above
list, the formation of Greater Albania is what we have to present in
detail. On April 7, 1939, the 40 thousand strong Italian army attacked
Albania. The Albanian army showed no significant resistance, and Ital-
ian troops invaded the country in three days. Afterwards, on April
12, 1939, Mussolini’s Albanian followers gathered to a constitutive as-
sembly, which accepted the new constitution that had been written in
Rome beforehand, and offered the crown of Albania to the Italian king.
Of course, Victor Emmanuel III, king of Italy, accepted the Albanian
crown.

This meant that, legally, Italy and Albania created a personal union,
connected by the person of the shared king. Obviously, this was just
the legal pretext, Italy practically colonised Albania. The real situa-
tion is shown in that Italy sent 100 thousand soldiers and 50 thousand
functionaries to Albania between 1939 and 1941, to carry out the orders
from the governor who was appointed by the king.34

Meanwhile, the Duce intended to gain the support of the Albanian
political elite with promises of realising Greater Albania. The possibil-
ity to deliver this promise came in April 1941, when Germany crushed
Yugoslavia. As it was mentioned before, the arrangement of the for-
mer Yugoslavian territories took place in Vienna, at the German-Italian
conference on April 20–22, 1941. The following regions were annexed
to Albania (see Map 4).

(a) Kosovo, along with certain West Macedonian regions with Alba-
nian majority.

(b) Two Albanian-inhabited strips of land from Montenegro. One
was the parts from the Western banks of lake Shkodra up to the
seacoast, with the other being a belt North from lake Shkodra.

34 RÉTI, pp. 56–66.
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1 Territorial growth of Albania: (a) and (b) lands from Montenegro, (c) Kosovo,
(d) South-Chameria 2 Lake 3 State borders 4 Towns

Map 4. Greater Albania
Source: The author’s compilation

Some days after the Vienna conference, Greece was also defeated
by the German campaign on April 27, 1941. The Germans took South-
Chameria, mainly inhabited by Albanians, from Greece and annexed it
to Albania.

Due to these territorial changes, Greater Albania was practically re-
alised, as the territories with Albanian denizens became united within
one state. The figures were as follows:35

1. In 1938, Albania’s area had been 27,5 thousand km2, and its pop-
ulation was one million and 64 thousand people.

2. The growth in 1941 was 14,9 thousand km2 and 761 thousand
persons.

35 PÁNDI, pp. 460–461.
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3. As to Greater Albania: its area was 42,4 thousand km2, its popu-
lation was 1, 825, 000.

Now belonging to Greater Albania, Albanians of Kosovo – and for-
mer Macedonia – experienced the 1941 territorial changes as national
liberation. They tried to pay the Serbs back for the atrocities suffered
between 1918 and 1941. In this spirit, large numbers of Serbs (espe-
cially the immigrant bureaucrats and the dobrovoljác who had arrived
with the agrarian reform) were driven away from Kosovo.36 Accord-
ing to Serbian historiography, around 100 thousand Serbs were exiled
from Kosovo between 1941 and 1945. At the same time, 75 thousand
Albanians migrated in.

Though it is the birth of Greater Albania discussed above, we have
to point out that Albania had been under Italian rule since the April of
1939. This means that Greater Albania, created by the territorial addi-
tions in 1941, existed in practice as an Italian colony.

After Italy capitulated in September 8, 1943, the strategic points of
Greater Albania were occupied by German troops. German-friendly
Albanian politicians called a national assembly in October, 1943 and
declared the termination of the personal union with Italy.37

Though German forces did in fact occupied Albania, Germany for-
mally recognised the independence of the Albanian state. Therefore,
the Germans appointed certain administrative tasks to the Albanians
and they tolerated, did not persecute the followers of the Great Alba-
nia idea. A major moment of the German–Albanian cooperation was
that an SS-division of Albanian volunteers was set up. All this show
that German-friendly Albanian politicians believed that Greater Alba-
nia is sustainable with German help.

This can explain the fact that while Tito’s partisan movement was
definitely strong in the larger part of the former Yugoslavia, it had very
36 J. JUHÁSZ, Az albánkérdés Jugoszláviában, in: T. KRAUSZ (ed.), A Balkán-háborúk

és a nagyhatalmak Rigómezőtől Koszovóig. Politikatörténeti Füzetek. XIII, Budapest
1999, pp. 91–98.

37 RÉTI, p. 82.
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poor support in Kosovo. What’s more, the German-friendly Albanian
politicians created the so-called Second League of Prizren to protect
Greater Albania.38 In the autumn of 1944, Yugoslavian partisans at-
tempted to take over Kosovo. However, Albanians in Kosovo resisted
and sparked the so-called Ballist rebellion. It took several months for
Tito’s army to defeat the Albanian armed groups. This is why Tito ac-
quired control of Kosovo as late as the spring of 1945.

Abstract

After the First and Second Balkan Wars (1912–1913) the territory of Kosovo was an-

nexed to the Kingdom of Serbia. This action was made in spite of the fact that the

former vilayet of Kosovo definitely had Albanian majority at the time. However,

the political elite of the Kingdom of Serbia did not have time to integrate Kosovo,

as World War I started in July 1914. After the First World War (1914–1918) the terri-

tory of Kosovo was annexed to Yugoslavian state. Serbians regarded the Albanians of

Kosovo as a foreign body within the Yugoslavian state. In accordance with this stand-

point, the Serbian political elite leading the Yugoslavian state took measures against

the Albanians of Kosovo in every field of the political-economic life. Such activities

of the Serbs can be described under the following categories: 1. the issue of regional

administration; 2. the topic of minority rights; 3. the field of economics. In the first

part of our essay we examine what happened in the above mentioned three fields

in Kosovo between 1918 and 1941. It was in April 1941 when, due to the attacks by

Germany and its allies, the first Yugoslav state collapsed in two weeks. In the second

part of our essay we investigate the consequences of this event. We survey the birth

of Greater Albania.

Keywords

History of Kosovo; History of Balkan; History of Serbs; History of Albans

38 KITANICS, p. 26.
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Péter Krisztián ZACHAR
Gazdasági válságok, társadalmi feszültségek, modern
válaszkísérletek Európában a két világháború között
Budapest: L’Harmattan 2014
ISBN 978-963-236-955-6, 348 pages

On the eve of the 21st century, certain
issues that weren’t debated for many
decades because of the painful experi-
ences of the 20th century are finally start-
ing to get the much needed scientific
attention. The latest book of historian
and high school professor Péter Krisztián
Zachar (Gazdasági válságok, társadalmi
feszültségek, modern válaszkísérletek
Európában a két világháború között)
deals with the important issue of the
European crisis-managements ideas be-
tween the period of the two World Wars,
from the point of view of the European
social corporatist idea. The bloody Sec-
ond World War, and the economic mir-
acle that initiated in the 1950’s some-
how made this period being “forgotten”
for many years. As the Great Recession
started in 2008, and as we had to face sim-
ilar problems like in the interwar period,
more attention was given to that era.
Péter Krisztián Zachar took the great en-
deavour to analyse the interwar period’s
European social corporatist idea in de-
tails, and create a work that summarizes
all the aspects of this political, economic
and social movement. His book deserves
deep study, as history tends to repeat its

self, so we might find answers in the past
to our uncertain future. Péter Krisztián
Zachar’s work collected the European re-
sponses of the interwar crisis, which cer-
tainly contains ideas and experiences that
are still valuable today, maybe more than
ever.

The book is divided into five chap-
ters. In the first chapter, the author de-
scribes the general European crisis in the
beginning of the 20th century, which ul-
timately caused the First World War and
later resulted into the many problems
the old continent had to face after the
conflict. The second chapter deals with
the reformation attempts of the classic
liberal ideology, as well as the appear-
ance of the state-controlled capitalism
(“statism”). The third chapter focuses on
the concept of the European social corpo-
ratist system. This chapter deals mostly
with the classic social corporatist system,
which mostly developed from the Chris-
tian (catholic) solidarity idea. It focuses
on the Christian social-democratic soli-
darism, and the evolution of the Euro-
pean social corporatist ideas, but also
deals with the totalitarian deviant corpo-
ratist systems, such as fascist Italy and
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national-socialist (Nazi) Germany. Also
in this chapter, extensive parts are dedi-
cated to the Austrian pre-Anschluss pe-
riod, the Portuguese “Estado Novo”, as
well as the Hungarian interwar politi-
cal developments that helped the evolu-
tion of a local social corporatist system.
The fourth chapter presents how the so-
cial corporatist system, which mostly ex-
isted in theory before the Second World
War, evolved into the social market econ-
omy, or social market capitalism after the
war. The classic example to this economic
system was West-Germany, which gen-
erated the “German miracle”, based on
the social corporatist ideologies that ulti-
mately initiated the European Christian-
democratic political movements. The
fifth chapter is the last one, containing the
author’s closing remarks.

How can we explain the notion of
the social corporatist system? For a non-
European reader it is quite difficult to
find a local analogue system, and even
inside Europe is difficult to find a per-
fect explanation. The social corporatist
system is a social, political, economic
framework where all members of the so-
ciety understand that their partnership
is necessary to achieve a common wel-
fare. In the economy, mainly where this
system was intended to operate, it is
a framework structure where labourers,
managers and property (corporate) own-
ers cooperate and make joint decisions.
At the political level, it is a framework
where the political class, before mak-
ing a crucial decision (mostly regarding
economic issues) consults with the high-
est representative labour bodies (trade
unions) and the representative bodies

of the business class (chambers of com-
merce, etc.), in order to achieve a solution
accepted by everyone. During the 19th

century “laissez faire” system, the very
notion of this social corporatist system
was unthinkable. Only after the great so-
cial inequalities started to emerge, peo-
ple started to think to alternatives. Some
turned towards Marxism (and later so-
cialism/communism), while others, es-
pecially Christian reformers, followed
Pope Leo XIII “Rerum Novarum” en-
cyclical issue, and formed their “third
way” between liberalism and socialism.
This “third way” position was strength-
ened especially after the First Word War,
when the brutal side of Soviet com-
munism, as well the aggressive nature
of Italian fascism started to take effect.
Later, the inhumane and brutal existence
of Nazi Germany further proved that the
“third way” political idea, or the social
corporatist system, cannot exist, nor can-
not be implemented without democracy.
Unfortunately, the totalitarian Italian fas-
cist and later the Nazi system in Ger-
many used several elements of the eco-
nomic proposals of the social corporatist
system, discrediting the very idea for
many years. Luckily, several democratic-
minded representatives of the social cor-
poratist system became prominent fig-
ures of the post-war West-European po-
litical process. These enlightened polit-
ical figures were the ones who created
the European Christian-Democratic po-
litical parties, and made the social cor-
poratist system’s economic solutions part
of the economy. This was later labelled
as social market capitalism (or European
continental capitalism), and this system
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flourished mainly in Germany and Italy
between the 1950’s and 1970’s, creating
the basis of the European welfare society.
This social corporatist welfare system en-
abled the European integration process,
which ultimately culminated in the cre-
ation of the European Union. This was
a great result, if we take into consider-
ation the many wars that this continent
had to suffer because of the previous in-
equalities. All of these great political and
social results have direct and deep roots
in the (democratic!) social corporatist
ideas of the interwar period, analysing
them is essential to understand the basis
of the post-Second World War European
political and economic recovery. Péter
Krisztián Zachar’s book presents these
ideas to the reader in a coherent and well-
structured manner.

In some cases, the social corporatist
system is still labelled as a “closely
associated ideology with Italian-style
fascism”. Already in the interwar pe-
riod, notably from American scholars, it
was immediately and strongly separated
from fascism. This book also contains all
the reliable evidences, so that the social
corporatist system will never be linked
again with fascism, as they are totally dif-
ferent from each other. The social corpo-
ratist system always intended to function
in democracy, while for fascism, democ-
racy was an obstacle that had to be elimi-
nated. The economic attitude is also mas-
sively different, as the social corporatist
system requires the autonomous, private
and free citizens to interact, while fas-
cism required obedient and controlled,
non-free citizens to function. The so-
cial corporatist system’s proponents, al-

ready by the 1920’s have realized that
the most effective solution against the
totalitarian systems of fascism, national-
socialism, or communism are the small
communities, the small self-governing lo-
cal governments and entities, which is
driven by Christian ethics, and through-
out these Christian ethics that the capital
(the rich elite) and the state is kept un-
der control, in order to create a healthy
democratic system. The social corpo-
ratist system always required a strong
middle class, which is independent and
autonomous, formulated by many small
and middle sized enterprises. These
business entities guarantee personal free-
dom, human dignity and independence
from the capital owners, as well from
the state. In this way, the middle class
will gain moral, financial, political inde-
pendence. This required a state struc-
ture, which was nevertheless based on
the classics liberal-market economy, but
with a strong regulative side. These
ideas perfectly matched with the Chris-
tian solidarity message first appeared
in Pope Leo’s encyclical message, and
was the basis of the Christian-democratic
political movements that flourished in
Europe after the Second World War.
The book chronologically lists all the
mayor ideas of the interwar period,
giving a well elaborated “prehistory”
of the later Christian-democratic polit-
ical movements that shaped the Euro-
pean political scenario well beyond the
end of the Cold War. The author
rightly discusses even the political and
philosophical evolution of the post-war
European social corporatist system, or
as it was called after the war, the so-
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cial market capitalism, as the develop-
ment of this idea is far from over. During
the neo-liberal economic “renaissance” of
the 1980’s and 1990’s, the return of the
“laissez faire” economy, made the so-
cial corporatist or social market capital-
ist idea seemingly fade away. The au-
thor correctly assess that after the Great
Recession, starting in 2008, many schol-
ars started to argue about the necessity
to revisit the social market capitalist solu-
tions, because one of the mayor causes of
the crisis was mainly the almost total ab-
sence of economic regulation. The crisis
created the greatest social crisis since the
1930’s, and in some cases even the demo-
cratic institutions have suffered the polit-
ical consequences of the economic mis-
managements. Solidarity and subsidiar-
ity are still the key words today, as they
were during the interwar debate regard-

ing the social corporatist systems. To-
day, the greatest challenge is to integrate
as much as possible the civil society into
the crisis management, to find a common
interest between employers and employ-
ees, in order to avoid social class war-
fare. By avoiding the social class war,
and the social tensions (similar tensions
were present in the late 19th century), we
can avoid the repetition of the 20th cen-
tury’s catastrophic political events. The
social representative entities, well incor-
porated into the democratic system, can
guarantee joint decision making, and can
provide the basis of peace inside the so-
ciety. Péter Krisztián Zachar’s book con-
tains the historical experience that may
be the key to maintain our bright and
peaceful European future.

Alessandro Marengo
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